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    Professor Doran's research into deep space communication provokes a deadly response from an unlikely origin. Solomon Bondarenko, a young Russian mother, is forced to go on the run. Hunted by police she and her daughter embark on on a perilous journey following a bizarre nursery rhyme. Jack Hamilton, a successful bullion trader, leaves his job in London to try and answer a mystery as old as mankind. Severine Pascal, a French Army Officer, quits after becoming disillusioned at her treatment. Jayanti Kapoor, the Secretary-General of the United Nations, learns her new position comes with unexpected responsibilities. The tense, high-level and ultra secret Middle-East talks between the Israeli representative Benjamin Yogev and the Palestinian representative Saeb Tibi take an unexpected turn. At the epicentre of it all is John Deeth. His quest for a radically new method of refining Gold nearly kills him. Shaken to his core, his research in tatters, he finds that someone has been following his work very closely. Can he discover the true reason mankind has sought Gold for millennia? Or will the dark forces that are gathering on Earth silence him for all time?
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Prologue - Discovery


 


 


19:03  26 October  [16:03  26 October  GMT]


Petersburg Nuclear Physics Institute, St. Petersburg, Russia


 


‘Dermo’ swore Professor Doran in his native Russian.  The late nights, the lost weekends, all had been worth it in his search for a signal.  Just when he thought he was ready to release his findings there it had been, a second signal.


The second signal was troubling indeed.  Not it’s content.  He was not able to decode the signals, so he had no idea what the communication was about.  What troubled him were the relative distances between the two sources of the signals and his receiver.  The first signal was more or less, where he expected it to be, about thirty thousand light years away.  Not a great distance in cosmic terms, about one-third the distance across our own galaxy, but a nice safe distance from us.  Travelling at the speed of light it would take them thirty thousand years to get here.  So, he had thought, aliens exist, they are far enough away not to be a threat but we can communicate with them. 


Then he found the second signal.  Its origin unnerved him.  This was much closer to home, much closer.  He had hardly slept since.  The second signal was not thousands of light years away, not even a few light years.  The second signal originated on earth, from inside Russia itself.  Someone in Russia is communicating with aliens. 


 


It had been three weeks since Professor Doran had discovered the second signal.  A week since he had located its origin.  Has it really been only a week?  He thought to himself, it feels longer.  Scientists are cautious, Russian scientists especially so.  Professor Doran had continued his research, telling no one, just making meticulous notes. 


He rechecked the second signal.  Just to be thorough he decided to recheck the first signal.  It’s been a week since I’ve looked at the first so….That is odd, he thought, he rechecked it again, no, that can't be right, the figures on the display have to be wrong...  The location of the first signal had been thirty thousand light years away; now it was only twenty-five thousand light years away.


Shit, this means...they are moving.  They have travelled five thousand light years in just a week!  A chill ran through the Professor.  At this rate, they will be here in just five weeks.  Fear of ridicule changed to fear of the unknown.  I can't keep this to myself.  I have to tell someone.  I have to get this information out.


If Professor Doran had been a member of a security organisation he might have given thought to what he was doing and its ramifications, unfortunately for him he was not.  He never thought that as he was trying to find the source of the second signal, someone might have been trying to find him.


 


So enmeshed in his own thoughts the Professor never heard the door to his lab open, the quiet but deliberate steps moving towards his back.  The end came quick, a cloth placed over his mouth held there by arms younger and stronger than his own.  He struggled for breath, for understanding, for hope.  In less than a minute his struggle was over, his lungs had absorbed too much of the fumes and his muscles relaxed.


 


 


19:11   27 October  [16:11  27 October GMT]


Petersburg Nuclear Physics Institute, St. Petersburg, Russia


 


The Militsiya, the Russian police force, made their entry now that the fire brigade had extinguished the fire and given the all clear.  Unfortunately there appeared to be some structural damage, although the fire engine had arrived quickly most of the combustible materials were of an “intense burn” type.  The fire chief had said that the fire had burned similar to a small tyre factory and that was why it had taken nearly a day to make it safe. 


The discovery of the body happened quickly; trained on procedure it didn't take an expert to work out that the person lying on the floor was beyond medical care, even though the flames had not touched them.  The officer left the body as he had found it, giving forensics as much to work with as possible.


 


 






 




 


 


 


 


 


 


1 Change


 


 


20:45   07 October  [20:45  07 October GMT]


Research Laboratory, Cambridge University, Cambridge, England.


 


John Deeth hit the carriage return kicking the program into life.  He stretched out his arm retrieving his cup of tea.  A thick skin had formed, not remotely fresh, a cold dark reflection of itself.  John didn’t care, he was used to it this way, even preferred it sometimes.  The program would take some time to run the latest test, giving him the opportunity to slope off for a cigarette.  A man of science he knew the effect the toxins would have on his health, life expectancy, fertility, but like any human, he was also fully capable of fooling himself.  Stepping outside into the courtyard it was night already, and John couldn’t remember when that had happened.  Some days he would hardly leave the lab at all.  His PhD was still troubling him though; it wasn’t going well, at least it wasn’t going as expected.  Not by a long way. 


It was supposed to be a relatively straightforward piece of research but unfortunately, it was providing the wrong results.  John’s dream when he was young was alchemy, creating precious metals from base metals.  He had grown up a lot since then and was now seriously intent on producing a much better method of extracting pure gold from ore.  John didn’t want to extract just some of it or even most of it; John’s vision was being able to extract all of it, every single atom.


It should have been simple enough.  Take some Gold ore, nothing more than dust really, subject it to extreme pressures and low temperatures, not easy given Boyle’s law, but with the right kind of equipment not impossible either.  Then pulverize the ore down to the atomic level and supercharge it with electromagnetic radiation.  This would produce an atomic soup of Gold atoms, plus all the various debris of the base ore, carbon, hydrogen, helium, and rhodium atoms to name a few.  That was not what was happening.  True, I am getting the separation as expected.  I am even getting the gold, well most of it.


He was, by any standard, getting the most amazingly small “loss” using his process, 1x10-12 % or 0.000000000001%.  This was far better than existing methods and he could have left it there.  He could have finished his research, patented the design, and earn a fortune.  However, according to his theory, there should not have been any loss at all.  None.  What made it worse for him was that when he tried upping the experiment, by applying a higher exposure of electromagnetic radiation, the loss went up.  John had tried it again, the loss increased even further, and again, and again.  The rate of loss was now up to 1x10-7 %, ten thousand times greater.  He had just set another test running, ramping up the electromagnetic radiation to the limit of his equipment.  He knew this was poor science but he was frustrated with his lack of progress and just wanted to see some different results.  He stood outside in the dark, drawing down the smoke from his Marlboro.


John’s head hit the ground, knocked off his feet by the pressure wave from an explosion.  The sound was as if an old gas cooker had exploded and thrown off its heavy cast iron door.  John staggered back to his feet, realising with a mixture of intrigue and dread that it had come from the lab, my lab.  As he reached his feet, he passed out, collapsing back to the ground.


 


Universities are communities of people and like most communities; they are interested in events, interested in accidents, and sometimes just plain nosey.  A considerable number of people were now at the scene.  The explosion, not in itself large enough to justify the attendance of police, ambulances, fire crews from three stations, armed police and an anti-terrorist unit; they had been activated in accordance with the University’s Anti-Terrorist plan.  They had stayed on because they couldn’t understand how the explosion had happened. 


John was currently in the refectory, carried there by the attending ambulance crew who had also kindly wrapped him in a blanket and brought him round to consciousness.  Once they were satisfied that John was generally unharmed, just a little shaken they allowed the Task Commander, the head of the attending anti-terrorist unit, to interview him.  John tried his best to explain how his laboratory blew up.  The task was proving difficult because he currently had no idea, or at least not much of one.  He explained that his experiment utilised high pressures, and this could account for the explosion. 


He knew this to be a lie; although the testing chamber was pressurised to 10,000 atmospheres before the explosion, the size of the chamber was only around four cubic millimetres, multiplied out this would have expanded to something about the size of a light bulb.  John looked out of the broken refectory window towards his laboratory and at the hole in the side of the building that you could drive a medium sized van through.  No, definitely not the pressure, he thought.  He had mentioned to the Task Commander that his experiment had also utilised electromagnetic radiation.  He had to refer to it that way having used the phrase with the fire-chief, who had reacted by putting his men in full “Haz-Mat” suits for their own protection.  The Task Commander was more clued up simply making a note for his report.


John’s mind focused on whether he would be able to complete his thesis.  It vaguely troubled him that he could have, would have, been sat in front of the test chamber when it had blown had he not decided to go outside for a cigarette.  In which case he would have been dead and his thesis unfinished.  The latter thought causing him almost as much trouble as the former.  Now however, his thoughts turned to where he would find another test laboratory, new test chamber, electromagnetic source, thirty litres of liquid nitrogen and most importantly more super-conducting materials for the electromagnetic grid delivery system.


Bollocks, he thought, doubting that his “Research Angel” would provide any further funding given his apparent lack of progress.


They might even withdraw my personal bursary.  Out of work and out on the street in one foul swoop.  Damn.


 


 


08:40   08 October  [08:40  08 October GMT]


Cambridge University, Cambridge, England.


 


The following morning saw John returning to the campus.  Walking past the remains of his laboratory, he headed for the faculty offices.  He considered walking straight past the faculty, head to the student union bar, and drink himself into a coma.  No, he thought, I’ll see the head of department, then go and get drunk.  Upstairs he was ushered into the vice chancellor’s office instead.  This was one of those occasions where time itself appeared to slow down.  The room was full with academic and faculty staff, some he knew, others he had never met.  Almost everyone in the room seemed to have their boss there, nothing said, just that feeling you get that everyone is on their best behaviour.  John was handed a simple one-page document, which he read.


[image: ]


John couldn’t speak.  He re-read it thoroughly twice and then scanned it a further three times, only then did he look up and acknowledge all those around him. 


'We’ve also had a call from our supplier…' the Vice Chancellor offered, '…apparently, they have also heard of the accident and somehow seemed to know that money would not be an issue.  They have assured me that they could re-fit the laboratory within a few weeks.  I think that should give you sufficient time to write the report that your sponsor has requested, don’t you think so?'


'Oh yes, yes I think so, yes.’  John stammered. 


Not knowing quite what else to do he decided to excuse himself from the assembled hordes and return to his accommodation, maybe by way of a drink or two.  He needed time and space to think.


             


That, thought John, is the third time the barmaid has smiled at me.  Barmaids in student union bars are not paid to smile making John very dimly aware that she might be offering more than just beer.  However, John was no Romeo, no Don Juan; in short no bloody good with women.  Sure, if I wanted to I could probably talk most women in to bed, that’s easy.  In fact, I wouldn't even have to do much talking, if I just let them talk and listen to them, really listen and show them that I am listening to them then I would be home and dry.  No, as far as John was concerned that was not why his mind was given to him.  The prize he sought was in Stockholm.


He left thoughts of the barmaid behind and returned to his favourite seat.  He decided that trying to make sense of everything that had happened to him over the past twenty-four hours was an impossible task and definitely one that he should not attempt.  Instead, he simply wrote down the events in his trusty pocket notebook in chronological order so that he had them recorded.


 


         [image: ]


This last item regarding the barmaid John wrote down just because she had made eye contact with him again, was very attractive, young and obviously in pretty good shape.  John decided that in order to stop worrying about his problems he should spend the rest of the day and that evening listening intently to someone else's, the barmaid's perhaps...


             


At six foot tall with short, close-cropped blonde hair and a good physique from his daily workout John Deeth appeared quite attractive.  He, however, never considered himself so.  During his teens, he had carried more weight than his classmates causing his self-image to suffer.  He found women complex and relationships confusing, still seeing that chubby child reflected in his bathroom mirror. 


John grew up in a loving but somewhat dysfunctional family.  His father had worked hard all his life, but had lacked the opportunity of a good education.  He had done well providing for his family and the love he showed his family was in his own way.  John's mother was the caring type, almost too caring she feared the unknown so John’s emotional growth was often stifled.


His non-identical twin brother Edward “Eddie” Deeth was currently working as a second-hand car salesman.  Eddie, unlike his brother, was everyone's friend; more outgoing and confident in social situations especially during their teens.


They had both left school with few qualifications and flirted with different jobs but neither could seem to settle.  John was luckier; he managed to gain a place on a short computing course.  An outstanding student it gave him the confidence to apply for direct entry to Cambridge as a mature thirty-four year old studying physics and mathematics.  He was now close to finishing his PhD.


 


 


06:30   09 October  [06:30  09 October GMT]


Student Accommodation, Cambridge University, England.


 


John awoke, startled by the barmaid’s alarm.  His mind was clear now; a good stroll, followed by a cooked breakfast will help me to think straight.  Something he knew he had stopped doing the day before.


             


Back in his own apartment, John took out his pocket notebook and reviewed the list that he had made the day before.  He now realised he had missed two vital items off the list, strictly speaking three items.  Item one was increasing the amount of electromagnetic radiation in the last experiment to the highest available setting; in the previous experiment, it had been less than sixteen per cent.  The second item was that the Research Angel had requested a report and that he had people to review the report and offer suggestions.  This was most unusual, especially when coupled together with the third item.  No one had even batted an eyelid at asking a researcher to produce a report before his work was complete and without any peer review. 


John was convinced that there was more going on than he knew about, much, much more and that his research was at the heart of it.  First, he thought, I need to write this damn report and get my laboratory working again.  Then I can review my work properly and maybe, just maybe, find out what the bloody hell is going on.


 


 


15:38               11 October  [15:38  11 October GMT]


Cambridge University, Cambridge, England.


 


Edward Deeth had taken the afternoon off to visit his brother.  Less than an hour’s drive from his home, university life was a million miles from his own experience.  Eddie was on a mission.  John had not been returning his calls for two days and that was most unlike John, unless, Eddie told himself, John has slipped back under the influence of the Black Dog.  Black Dog was how Winston Churchill had referred to his depression.  John also had, has, Eddie corrected himself, depression. 


Eddie parked on campus, near to John's research laboratory.  As Eddie approached the laboratory, he could hear shouting, a lot of shouting.  He quickened his pace realising that the voice shouting belonged to that of his brother.  As he rounded the corner of the building, he could see his brother shouting at a bricklayer who was trying to rebuild the wall whilst simultaneously trying not to punch John for shouting at him.  Eddie ascertained from what John was shouting that he thought that the whole wall be rebuilt considerably thicker.  Eddie tapped John on the shoulder and managed to avoid the punch that John sent sailing through the air.


'Whoa John, it's me Eddie.'


John's focus fixed on Eddie and the wildness left his eyes.  He hugged his brother rather too hard, like he had been lost at sea and suddenly rescued.


John walked Eddie over to the refectory.  Sitting there together sipping their tea they started chatting aimlessly, a ritual for them both.  Finally, Eddie brought the conversation around to the accident.  John started to recount the event.


'I would have been right in front of it; I was, just a minute beforehand.  See that large hole in the wall?  That would have been me.  Gone.  Dead.'


That is the real issue, thought Eddie, knowing John as he did.  Eddie knew that John would accept death as the natural outcome of being alive.  It was the thought of no more John Deeth.  That was the point.  Since entering the academic realm, Eddie had seen John transformed.  John, who had always argued passionately, often about the smallest things, now had a real focus for both his passion and his perfectionism. 


Eddie and John talked at some length.  Eddie had John recount the accident three times; the third time John managed to recount it all without becoming overwhelmed.  Eddie looked straight at John.


'I think you have been through a traumatic event, I think you don't know how much it has affected you and I think you should talk to someone who knows how to help you.  I really think you need a couple of weeks back in the clinic.'


 


 


17:55                13 October  [17:55  13 October  GMT]


The Branchflower Clinic, Cambridge, England.


 


Two days later Eddie was driving up the gravel drive to the clinic.  It was a revelation, a beautiful converted Tudor manor house; essentially a health spa, but with Psychiatrists, Therapists and Nurses all set in a few acres of wild countryside.  All were friendly, mostly local and those that weren’t spoke good English.  This was not the “insane asylum” that Eddie had seen in movies or read about.  This was a private clinic that cost a lot of money, a fact reflected in the patients.  They had good jobs that provided private health insurance or they could afford to pay for themselves.  These were not people in straightjackets, sitting on their bed in a long ward, rocking back and forth or staring aimlessly out of a window.  These patients were all dressed, casual, but clean and smart; they sat in the “music room” on comfortable, almost palatial sofas, reading or just chatting quietly. 


John poured his brother a cup of tea and guided him to a free sofa.  Alike in so many ways, but so different as well, Eddie kept away from the main issue as he could see his brother wasn’t ready yet.  Instead, he chatted about the family, about times and experiences that they had shared.  Nothing about how John was in the clinic for a second time.


             


John's first time in the clinic was just after his finals.  As a mature student, he had entered the academic realm with little in the way of formal qualifications; certainly, nothing like what was usually required for entrance to Cambridge.  He had been very lucky.  Cambridge was going through another period of diversification offering some places to mature students based on interview alone.  John had gone mostly out of curiosity.  No one in his family had ever gone to university and he didn't really expect to be the first.  He knew he had a good head on his shoulders but frankly, he believed that everyone thought as much and as deeply about everything as he did.  He chose mathematics as he had been good at it at school and he had always found it interesting.  He had no idea what lay in store for him.


Interviewed by the head of the School of Physical Sciences, Professor Neale questioned John’s knowledge of mathematics.  This part was very short.  Sighing, the Professor finished the interview with some general conversation just to be polite.


‘…and finally, whom, within the sciences, do you most admire?’ 


'Albert Einstein'


'Oh really, why?'


‘Einstein worked in a pattern office, he was not, with all due respect, a professor, or other member of academia, and yet his work fundamentally changed physics.'


'I see.'


'Of course his was wrong about the speed of light.’  John added.


‘Was he indeed?  Would you care to expand on that statement?’


'Well,' John began, 'the idea that the universe would impose some arbitrary limit on something like speed is frankly ridiculous.  For example, if nothing can escape a black hole and its gravitational pull on objects increases with their proximity to it, then everything that falls under its influence would accelerate as they approach the centre of the black hole.  Why would photons, which have mass after all, behave any differently?  They wouldn't of course, they would accelerate, and therefore they would exceed their initial velocity or the speed of light if you prefer.'


John stopped, his focus returning to the room.  He had felt that the professor was winding up the interview and that it had not gone well.  He had just wanted to show that he could think for himself.


Professor Neale looked down at his notes, scribbled a bit, and then looked up at John.  'If I were to offer you a place, would you be willing to complete a summer mathematics course I will be running?'


'Yes', John stammered ‘yes I would, of course.'


'Good,' he said, making another note, 'once you complete the course it will be my pleasure to enrol you in a joint degree of Mathematics and Physics; it will give you the chance to prove your theory.'


The summer course proved to be incredibly intense.  There was no curriculum as such, Professor Neale tutored and lectured John in both mathematics and physics.  There were no other students, the professor had taken time away from his own studies to teach and mentor John.  Professor Neale went back all the way to when John's school had frankly abandoned him at age eleven.  Starting there in four solid weeks John had caught up to age sixteen.  In the following four weeks, he completed the equivalent of 'A' levels.  The final four weeks John earned a joint first degree.  The professor having decided that John was capable of attaining a Master’s degree in Pure Mathematics and Quantum Physics.  John went straight into this as soon as he finished his summer course.


John would have just been simply wrecked if he had done his Masters in the normal way; learn enough and move on.  However, he went at it with a passion; he read widely around every subject, questioned everything, and tested himself as well as the professor's patience to the limit.  By the time John finished his thesis it had been too much and he had lost himself in the process.  He went to the doctor’s to get some sleeping pills with the probable intention of taking them all, in one dose.  Fortunately, his doctor recognised the signs; asked how he was feeling, when was the last time he had had fun, handed him tissues when the tears had arrived. 


‘Do you have medical insurance?’


‘I think so, why?  I think it is part of my bursary, I have this letter…’


The doctor took the screwed up piece of paper with the professor's name and number on it and picked up her phone.  Professor Neale was out but his secretary looked up the insurance details.  The doctor phoned the Branchflower clinic and then for a taxi for John. 


‘It’s going to be OK John, you're not going home, not today.' she told him, 'You're going to get some help.'


             


Two years later and John was back in the clinic.  It was different this time, easier for him in many ways.  He didn't feel like a failure.  It was like breaking your leg for the second time when skiing, you know that you shouldn't try the fast, dangerous off-piste skiing but it's been a long time since you broke your leg and the pain and frustration have both faded.  So it was for John, however, this time it was a near death experience that triggered another stay at the clinic.


Eddie sat his cup down; it was nearly time for the relatives group.  Eddie hadn't come to the clinic the first time.  Their mum and dad had come and assured Eddie that John was going to be OK, that John was in a good place and needed to rest.  In truth Eddie should have visited.  Their mum and dad just didn't like to worry anyone.  However, Eddie was here for his brother this time.


When the dinner bell rang, John followed the other patients to the dining hall.  Eddie watched him go, then turned and walked towards the Cherry Tree room for the relatives group.  As he sat down he looked around at the other relatives, they all look quite normal, he thought, just like me.


             


John sat at the dining table, the anti-depressants just beginning to kick in.  He looked across the table at the patient opposite.  She certainly isn't tall, probably not much more than five feet, he estimated, but she is nicely formed.  Long blonde hair, darkly intense brown eyes with just a hint of mischief in them, he decided what the heck and introduced himself.


'I'm Jane.'  She replied. 


Jane it turned out was a journalist with Global Disclosure, an independent worldwide news organisation founded in London and run by journalists.  At thirty-eight Jane looked ten years younger than her true age, but when she talked it was with the experience of having travelled extensively and being widely read.  John decided she had a fine mind, someone with whom he could make a connection.  


They met up again after dinner, outside in the smoking hut.  Others were there and introductions made but John was intent on talking more with Jane, she it appeared was just as interested in finding out more about John.  Jane had two divorces and two children, Rebecca 16 and Julia 7.  John already knew what had driven Jane to the clinic; she had opened up in group therapy that afternoon.


After her supposedly amicable divorce from her second husband Graham, who also worked at Global Disclosure, she had started demanding tougher and tougher assignments, the more dangerous the better.  Even when she was shot on assignment, she barely skipped a beat; once the physical wound had healed, she was back at work, pushing herself further, harder than most.  Her boss worried about her; treading the fine line between caring and interfering, he couldn’t change her assignments without risking sexual discrimination.  He knew that Jane would only pursue that to get to assignments worthy of her, it would be nothing to do with status, money, or equal rights.  Jane was not wired that way; she had dealt with the best and worst of humanity and had found that it had nothing to do with their gender.


Jane found John something of an enigma.  He was good looking, with short blonde hair, rather fetching glasses, a long oval, rugged face but with dimples he had probably had since he was young.  Six feet, with a fit but not overly worked body, Jane could see that he must be popular with women.  He came across as confident, even brash maybe and certainly didn't seem remotely depressed.  However, she sensed another side to him, one where he was actually somewhat shy, unsure of his looks, not even aware of how attractive he was.  This other side of him came through when he talked about why he was there.  Jane found his vulnerability quite endearing.


 


 


18:09                13 October  [18:09  13 October  GMT]


Relatives Group, The Branchflower Clinic, Cambridge, England.


 


Eddie found it all very emotional.  These were everyday people, even though the reason for their relatives to be there were often different, there were some common themes; drink, drugs, gambling, relationships and work all either caused by or lead to a severe, often suicidal depression.  The patients themselves were often successful; many were white collar, often managerial, no person, or job being immune from depression.  A thread running through all of their stories was often that the patients were deeply caring, thoughtful people, who were passionate about life and what they did with it.


Eddie talked about his brother, how they grew up together very much alike but very different.  John often seemed incapable of having fun in Eddie’s eyes, unable to let go, relax, and just “go with the flow”.  Then there was the John who wanted to talk, and talk, and talk he had an opinion on everything and wanted to share it with everyone, but he also had to prove why he was right.  This was not an endearing quality, it made people feel awkward and often resentful.  It didn't help that John was most often right.  Eddie revealed to the group that John always seemed to want to be right, even and often at the expense of being happy and having friends. 


‘…and he always seemed obsessed with “the truth” and “learning”.  He was always so busy, too busy.  Too busy to eat regularly, relax or go out.  He’s being doing much better these last few years, he really has.  He sets reminders for meals and exercise.  If he lived closer we could go out as well, I guess.  I know he can enjoy himself properly, it’s just that he doesn’t; at least not as often as he should.’


This being met with further nods from the group.  The nurse that was leading the group informed them that they could visit their relatives as often as they liked, with special circumstances accommodated where necessary. 


‘Weekends are a particularly important time to visit your relatives as the class schedule ends at lunchtime Saturday and does not recommence until the Monday.  This can make for a long weekend for some, so visits are encouraged.  Visiting however has to be balanced with giving the patients time to talk amongst themselves; this is as much a part of their therapy as any of the classes, except Group Therapy, which, by the way, is the only “compulsory” class.  Now unless there are any other questions I’d like to thank you all for coming.’  The nurse stood up to emphasise that the session was over.


Eddie walked out of the relatives group both worried and reassured.  He understood more of what depression was and that planning suicide can both be a conscious choice and a cry for help at the same time.  No one really ever wants to die before their time; they just have run out of ways to stop their pain and suffering.  Eddie was reassured by the comments of relatives who had been to previous groups, how they had seen their loved one improve and start to return to the person they once knew.


He looked around the music room but John was nowhere to be seen, he enquired at the reception to be informed that he might be out in the smoking hut.


18:47                13 October  [18:47  13 October  GMT]


The Smoking Hut, The Branchflower Clinic, Cambridge, England.


 


John offered another Marlboro; Jane paused briefly before accepting it. 


'I know, I know; I'm a bad influence.’  John apologised, ‘Give me long enough and I'll have you trying to turn physics on its head.'


Jane laughed a little, unsure as to why but aware that he had just shared some inside joke with her.  The reporter in her decided to pursue this further.


'Is that what you are attempting to do, turn physics on its head?' asked Jane.


She was aware that she was almost purring her words out.  She even caught herself, half flicking, half sweeping her hair away from her right eye and over her right ear.  She leaned in closer to John, and her mouth seemed to smile more than usual.  She had known John for less than an hour and already she was flirting with him, and she was pretty sure he was with her.


An exhalation of smoke combined itself with half a sigh as John responded to Jane's inquiry. 


'You have to understand,' he began, 'that I'm not arrogant.'


He cringed, acutely aware that is exactly what someone would say if they were arrogant and protesting that they were not.  He also realised that he was arrogant, very arrogant.  He continued; conscious of what he was saying but incapable of editing himself. 


'It's just that a lot of physics is not truly scientific.  There are people of stature in physics who have helped to write its bible.  The gospel according to Einstein, the gospel according to Heizenburg, the gospel according to Plank and the gospel according to Hawking.' 


His eyes left Jane’s face, moving past her left ear and settling on a tree visible through one of the panes of glass.  He was becoming even less aware of his “audience” and his surroundings than he ought to be.  He continued in full lecture mode. 


'The Bible explains the world in a way that makes sense of our lives.  The bible of physics explains the world in a way that makes sense of many theories.  Several of the theories have been objectively tested, but many have not.  Some can't as they are purely theoretical and others won't be as the experiment would be too large or expensive to do.  Therefore, we are left with a lot of half-truths and guesses.  When physicists are dealing with things that they do not understand, they invent things.  For example, they might invent particles that have the properties that would otherwise be missing in their calculations.  This is perfectly normal.  It's the way that you try to understand things.  However, the problem is that these theories were often never tested.  These untested theories have been passed on, most notably by professors to their students.  The students accept the untested theories as facts and base their studies and theories on these as if they were facts.'


John stopped, suddenly aware that he was lecturing to the entire hut.  Some had stopped their conversations to listen, others because he had been talking so loud.  Jane came to his rescue; she lowered the volume of her voice and leaned in a little closer.


'So what are you working on at the moment?' 


'Gold.'  John replied without thinking.  'I've been working on a fundamentally different way of extracting pure gold from gold ore.  However, my experiment blew up and nearly killed me.  That's why I'm here, post-traumatic stress apparently.'


He managed to stop himself before launching into how the cause of the accident could not be readily explained plus the unusual involvement and interest of the Research Angel.  He took a breath and decided to let Jane speak next.  Then I will move the conversation away from me and my work to her and hers.  Maybe to whether she is single.  No, he reminded himself, I am here to get well...


John inhaled on his cigarette, smiled broadly at Jane and stared deeply into her hazelnut eyes, knowing the disarming effect that his eye contact could have on people.  Jane was caught in the twin blue lasers of John's eyes, transfixed.  He exhaled, the smoke escaping at speed from his pursed lips, the warm fingers of smoke traced down her cleavage, caressing her gently.  Jane gulped quietly before she spoke.


'Gold?’  Jane queried.  ‘That sounds interesting.'


John shook his head, dismissing her interest.  'No, not really, it is hours spent in the lab, running slight variations of the same experiment.  It's nothing like being an international journalist.  What was your last assignment?'


'The Middle East', replied Jane, happy of the opportunity to break John's gaze, finding it arousing and unsettling in equal measure.  'I've been there a few times and have made some good contacts.'  Jane spoke with the understated confidence of someone who is truly successful.


'How do things look from what you've seen?’  John asked; keen to have Jane continue.  He found her voice arousing yet as comforting as an old jumper. 


'Well' she began 'the fundamental issues have not changed, gone away or been resolved and I'm sorry to say that they show no sign of being so any time soon.  You have to remember that the issues there go back millennia, so “any time soon” would still be a very long time.' 


They talked at length about the Middle East and other geo-political issues past and present.  Jane was impressed with John’s wide range and depth of knowledge whilst she surprised him with her drive and passion.  Not only did she care about getting to the “truth” of a story, she also cared what that “truth” meant.  A shadow fell over them.


'Am I interrupting?’  Eddie asked.


'Oh, Hi Eddie.'  John was a little shaken by how engrossed in conversation he had become.  'No of course not, we were just discussing the world and stuff.'


Eddie thrust out his hand.


‘I'm Eddie, John's brother.'


'I'm Jane.’  She replied, placing her hand in his.


 


Eddie spent some fifteen minutes in the hut before leaving just smoking and making small talk.  It is amazing, he thought, how open some of these people are about themselves.  “Hi I'm Julie and I cut myself,” one had told him.  The rest comprised of a drinker, two drug addicts, and two depressives.  One just sat in the corner, chain smoking and visibly shaking.


They returned to the Music Room for a cup of tea.  Taking two of the more intimate chairs Jane talked at length about herself, her two daughters, and her failed relationships.


‘In truth I think that they were never destined to last.  I’ve dealt with Presidents and Terrorists alike but put a man in my life and I seem to have problems.’


Jane wanted to slap herself, here was a perfectly good man, and she was scaring him by combining words like “life”, “man”, and “problems”. 


‘You know,’ John replied.  ‘I have never been in a relationship that has lasted more than a few months.  It seems to me that women want contradictory things.  A man who listens and shares the decision-making but a man who takes control.  A man who is wealthy and can provide for his mate, but one who needs the support of a woman who has her own career.  I think women are fundamentally designed to be disappointed.’


‘Are men any different?’


'Oh yes, men are like dogs, give them regular access to food, sex, a warm bed and a toy and they are happy.'


Jane nearly spilt her tea.


'I guess I should have been born a man.'


'Oh gosh no.' John replied.  'That would never do.' 


'Oh and why is that?'


He looked deeply into her eyes, watching her anger build.


'Because,' He began.


Jane lent forward almost climbing out of her seat ready to argue with whatever he said.


'It would be such a shame to loose from the female gender someone as beautiful as you.'  He said, smiling.


She smiled back and laughed, somewhat self-consciously. 


'You don't quit do you?' she asked.


'I haven't yet.'






 




 


 


 


 


 


 


2 Discovery


 


 


11:00                14 October  [11:00  14 October  GMT]


The Linden Room, Branchflower Clinic, Cambridge, England.


 


It was just before eleven in the morning and the patients were assembling in the Linden Room for their Group Therapy session.  There were nine of them, including John and Jane.  He only just made it before the door was shut.  It was one of the rules of “Group” that once started the session could not be interrupted.  He was dismayed to see that both chairs next to Jane were occupied.  John took the empty chair opposite the Therapist running the session.  Today it was Nikki.


Nikki, John thought, must be in her mid-thirties, but she has the fineness of looks that means she could pass for younger than that.  No, he decided, she is so self-possessed and quietly confident that she must be in her thirties, women in their twenties generally lack true self-belief.  Nikki was also a “hard-ass”, John liked that particular Americanism as it conveyed someone who could be tough when they needed or wanted to be, but didn’t preclude a wilder, fun side.  John’s mind started to drift, thinking about “hard-ass” Nikki’s fun side. 


'Who would like to start?’  Nikki asked of the group. 


Back to reality, thought John as the first of the group said how they were feeling at that moment.  John drifted off again, letting the other patients talk about how they were feeling gave him time to try to decide how he was feeling.  How am I feeling?  He wondered, despite the lingering aches and pains from the force of being thrown to the ground by a violent explosion, I feel surprisingly good.  He didn't think that he was being entirely honest with himself. 


'Well John how do you feel?’  Nikki had repeated herself, somewhat louder and more distinct than the first time.  John realised the question was aimed at him. 


'How am I feeling?’  John said aloud, 'How am I feeling?' he repeated, 'How am I feeling?' another repeat.


Nikki was beginning to wonder about the medication that John was on when he finally focused on Nikki, hitting her full force with his sapphire blue lasers.  Nikki fell silent, stunned by the effect of John's glare, transfixed by it.  Fortunately for Nikki, he broke the silence and his hold on her. 


'I feel surprisingly well for a dead man, thank you Nikki.'  He was quite pleased with his reply.  Although not too sure where it had come from, it did however sound like him.  The group was quiet, all eyes either on John or Nikki.


'Would you like to expand on that John?' 


He smiled.


'I'd be delighted to Nikki.  I was, you see, happily conducting an experiment as part of my PhD.  I had just gone outside when it exploded, blew a hole as large as a van in the side of the wall, right where I had been standing.  So you see Nikki, I feel surprisingly well, for what I should be, a dead man.'


Nikki had now fully regained her composure. 


'You seem angry.’


'Of course I am angry.  My experiment blew up, my lab is ruined, my equipment is wrecked, I can't continue with my research.  I'm stuck in here and I nearly died, so yes you could say I am angry Nikki, yes you could.'  John finished his rant becoming uncomfortably aware that he had lost both his self-control and any semblance of his side of what he was sure had been an argument. 


'If I were to make an observation.'  Nikki began.  'It would be that equipment can be replaced, the lab rebuilt, your research can be continued.  You are only here for a relatively short time and you didn't die, in fact you have hardly a scratch on you.  So, what is it you are really angry about?'


John almost jumped out of his chair having such a traumatic event dismissed so casually.  He clenched his fists, pushing down on his legs so he couldn't rise out of his chair.  He finally responded, his voice heavy with an undercurrent of menace.


'What I am angry about is that I don't know why it exploded.'  He could barely control himself; small muscles in his neck and face twitched.


Nikki looked at John again and opened her mouth ready to speak.


'Thank you John.’


She turned to the person to John's right and addressed her.


'Julie, how do you feel?'


John decided that as he couldn't trust himself not to get angry and upset he would “sit out” the rest of the session by just listening and observing.  He knew that Nikki was right, that his equipment was being replaced, his lab rebuilt and his experiments would continue, and that he needed to get well.  Something else intrigued him, the discovery of his anger at not knowing why the experiment blew up. 


He decided to throw that thought over the wall in his mind between his conscious and his subconscious.  This was something he often did, knowing that his subconscious would come up with the answer in due course and would inform his conscious mind.  Right now, he needed to listen as Jane was speaking.


'I guess it's the same for me.  It started after my first divorce.  Thomas, he was my first husband, never wanted me to be anything other than a mother.  He didn't even really want nor need a wife.  We had a cook, a nanny, a cleaner, and a gardener.  There wasn't much for me to do.  He wanted me to give up my job.  I'm a journalist.  I almost did too.  When I left him, he genuinely couldn't understand why.  In his mind, I had everything.  In truth, the only thing I had in my life that was truly mine was my career.  I didn't even have any friends left outside of my job and the few that I did have I could only see in work.  Therefore, when I left, I got my own place, saw my daughter every other weekend as she was at boarding school and then really let my hair down.  I dated almost continuously for six or seven months, every night was a bottle of wine or more.  Then when I calmed down on the dating, I was still drinking every night; I started dating my second husband Graham less than a year after leaving Thomas.  We married as soon as my divorce came through.  My drinking, I realise now, was not an issue as he was drinking too.  It became less social after my divorce from Graham, I wasn't fussy with whom I drank anymore, spent a lot of time with the graduates.  We would hit the bars and clubs after work.  Then things escalated last year after I was shot on assignment.  It was nothing really; I've seen people die right in front of me, even had my cameraman killed the year before.  After that, I couldn't face the morning or work without a drink, and it wasn't wine anymore.  It had to be vodka so my breath wouldn't smell and I could keep it in my water bottle.'


Several people had been nodding listening to Jane.  Alcoholics tending to have similar stories in that they are quite ordinary people, badly affected by situations and events; some people eat, some gamble, some go to the gym, others drink.  Jane was a drinker.


 


 


13:50                14 October  [13:50  14 October  GMT]


The Smoking Hut, The Branchflower Clinic, Cambridge, England.


             


John walked Jane out to the hut after lunch.  Placing his hand on her right shoulder, he gave her a reassuring squeeze as he guided her.  Jane couldn't find the right words to express how she felt, the closeness she felt to a relative stranger, but this relative stranger knew more about her than even her family.  Jane didn't know John at all; open with his speech he kept his thoughts on a tight leash.  His “outburst” today in Group was the nearest he had come to showing how he felt about anything.                'What are you trying to achieve with your research?’  Jane asked. 


John sat down next to Jane accepting both the cigarette and the light she offered.  He inhaled deeply, staring off into the middle distance.  Jane recognised this as a sign he was preparing to speak, deciding how much he would divulge, and in what manner.  He turned to look at her and began.


'I am trying to perfect a mineral extraction system, primarily for Gold, one that is clean, efficient and one hundred per cent effective.' 


'What is wrong with the current system?' 


'Well it's not clean, efficient or one hundred per cent effective.'


'Perhaps,' she tried again, 'you could tell me how the current system works and how yours differs?'  That should do the trick, she thought, keep him talking in general terms, you can always come back for the specifics later.


'Well my process is similar to the current process up to the point where they have mined the ore and pulverised the rock, then the current process uses all sorts of nasty chemicals, such as cyanide, to “leech” the gold out of the powdered ore.  However, this toxic waste is simply dumped back into the environment.  The chemicals are then free to poison the water supply and anything that depends on it, which would probably be all of the local life forms, flora and fauna alike.  My process would subject the same powdered ore to a different process, one that uses physics rather than chemistry.  The ore would be turned into a “soup” of atoms, from which the gold atoms would be “vacuumed up” like using a strong magnet to pick pins out of a thick carpet.' 


His explanation, although appearing vague was actually very close to his process.  Not that anyone will know until my research is published, but by then I will own the patent.


Jane tried to draw more out of John but he politely but firmly changed the subject at her every attempt.  She was less successful at deflecting his questions, making her re-evaluate her career, her choices, and her life.  She realised that she didn’t like where her life was headed. 


 


 


09:28  25 October  [08:28  25 October  GMT]


Fischer, Blum & Wyss Attorneys at Law, Zurich, Switzerland.


             


The junior clerk sighed as he went through the back file.  The back file, a list of instructions given by clients to be executed on a future date, was one of the least glamorous jobs.  Essential work, executing the pre-planned instructions of their clients, it wasn’t what he wanted to be doing.  He looked at today’s date, one entry.  That’s interesting, he thought, this one was lodged with the firm over nine years ago, it’s not often we have instructions given so far in advance.  A personal letter already addressed to the recipient in St. Petersburg.  Although there was no request for proof of delivery the clerk knew that without one he could not show that he had done his duty and so he ticked the “signature of addressee” box on the mail form.  He placed the form with the letter in the out tray and looked to the rest of his duties.
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Bondarenko Mansion House, Pavlovsk Suberb, 30km south of St. Petersburg, Russia.


 


Solomon Bondarenko turned over in bed, her left leg, slender and well-toned, exposed to the world, her toes playing with the covers like a kitten.  She moved her arms up to her head, crossed them and lay her head upon them with her chin resting in their fold.  The door to her room opened quietly, a figure stole into the room, walking barefoot across the carpet, stalking her.  The figure was carrying something, concealed in the figure’s right hand, pointing at the bed.  Solomon opened one eye and looking straight at the figure as it sprang at her, she rolled over and threw up her arms. 


'Natasha!' Screamed Solomon, embracing her daughter.


'Happy Birthday mummy.'  Natasha said in her native Russian.  Natasha stared wide eyed at her mother, enthralled by her presence.  'Happy Birthday mummy.’  Natasha repeated handing her mother the letters the housekeeper had given to her. 


The large amount of post seemed quite daunting to Solomon.  Although she was now twenty-five, a mother and had served in the Russian army, she was still quite young in many ways.  Solomon flicked through the post looking for the card she knew would be there, hidden amongst the rest.  The card was in an envelope she recognised, from her own stationery, and addressed simply to “Mummy.”  Solomon smiled at her daughter whilst opening the card.  It was not the best-looking card in the world, it was hand drawn, quite badly actually and was decorated in a haphazard fashion with stars and a lot of glitter of differing colours.  Solomon loved it.  Her daughter had made it especially for her, had spent time thinking about it and had wanted to make it the best she could.


'It’s wonderful Natasha dear.'


Natasha beamed and snuggled into her mother’s arms.  Solomon flicked through the remainder of the post, knowing that there would not be one from her father, never had been.  She stopped at one envelope.  It was of a type she recognised.  The envelope was from her own mother’s private stationery, the handwriting on the front was her mother’s.  Solomon’s mother had been dead for over nine years; she had died in a skiing accident whilst on holiday with Solomon's father, the trauma almost causing Solomon to deliver prematurely.


A letter, she sent me a letter.  She sent me a letter before she died to arrive today.  I need to open it.  I need to open it now.


'Natasha darling, be a good girl and make me some coffee and breakfast.' 


Natasha sat upright, smiled at her mother, scrambled off the bed, and raced out of the room.  Solomon turned to the pile of letters and putting the others aside, opened the one from her long dead mother and began to read.


[image: ]


Solomon sat up in bed, her chest heaving with dry tears.  To learn that her mother might be alive, that she and her daughter were in danger; that they were going to have to go on the run.  This was almost more than she could bear.  Solomon had so many questions.  What danger and from who?  Father?  What had mother meant by “not really your father”?  Could mother really be alive after all this time?


Natasha came into the room carrying a large breakfast tray, a look of concentration fixed on her young features she was determined not to spill anything.  Solomon looked at her daughter, any doubts she had evaporated.  We will leave today.  We will follow mother's story so my little Natasha will be safe.


 


Solomon was packing for them both; as they would need to keep alternately warm then cool plenty of layers were required, comfortable inconspicuous clothes, nothing “dressy”.  She had told her daughter that they were going on a short birthday trip and that she could take one toy.  Natasha returned with a small fluffy toy sheep thrust under her left arm. 


'I'm taking Sheepy.’  She announced proudly. 


This was just fine with Solomon, as it looked harmless enough.  They left in Solomon's Mercedes after telling the housekeeper that they were going to stay with friends for a couple of nights.  That, Solomon thought, should buy us a few days or so before we are missed, before my father puts out an alert. 


They headed north into the heart of St. Petersburg and parked close to the train station.  She took Natasha with her to the bank, withdrawing all she could; this would be the last money they would have.  They left the bank and walked over into the busy main concourse of the train station.  Solomon looked for a ticket seller who appeared conscientious.  She approached the counter and spoke in a clear, articulate voice to the assistant.


'May I have two one way tickets to Helsinki please, one for myself and one for my daughter....Natasha stand still please!'


This last part she said loudly and distinctly, more to the assistant than her daughter, who after all was behaving well.


'Thank you,’ Solomon said to the young man, 'what time is the train?'


'16:00' 


'Is it on time?’  Solomon asked, desperate to maintain the conversation and her eye contact with the ticket seller. 


'Yes, yes it's fine...next please.'  The man said over Solomon's shoulder to the old lady waiting in the queue behind her. 


Solomon made a display of herself by tripping over her own suitcase, just to be sure.  She led Natasha towards the platform, but left by an exit close by.  They made their way back to the car where Solomon stashed both of their identities; cards, passports, everything.  They will do us no good from here on.  Solomon also decided that they would leave behind one other thing, her father’s surname.  Solomon Bondarenko and Natasha Bondarenko would now be simply Solomon and Natasha.  


Natasha tugged at her mother's arm. 


'Mummy, aren't we going to Helsinki like the man in the station said?' 


'No dear.'  Solomon looked down at her daughter.  'We are going to play a special game, it’s called follow the story.’


'I love games, tell me how to play it.'


'OK, but first we have to get to the bus station, because that is where the story starts.'


Solomon and Natasha entered the Metro-rail, purchasing tickets for the main bus station.  As the carriage trundled from station to station the cold tingling ache she had been feeling, from her wrists to her shoulders, increased and started to throb.  She knew that this would only be the start of it; nothing in her life had truly prepared her for this.  My military training was based on an enemy I could identify.  Now the enemy is potentially anyone, anyone but Natasha and I.  Solomon suddenly knew what it was to be alone in the world.  She hugged her daughter tightly.


 


 


15:46   27 October  [12:46  27 October GMT]


St. Petersburg Bus en-route to Moscow, Russia.


             


Solomon already regretted that she could not have withdrawn more money and having to leave behind all of her identity including credit cards.  She had grown up in a privileged life.  Money had never been an issue for Solomon; she had never even had to consider the value of one item over another.  Her friends grew up much the same, the children of the elite.  They would buy a pair of shoes that would be a working person's weekly income, a jacket a month's income.  They had wardrobes full of clothes and most of it rarely worn, destined to disappear come the new season.  Now Solomon had just one suitcase full of clothes, and a very limited amount of money.  Natasha seemed to be enjoying herself though.


              Looking down at her playing with her toy sheep Solomon thought back to her own childhood.  She remembered how, when she had been growing up, her mother had always told her different stories at bedtime.  Then she started to repeat one story over and over again, “The Queen and the Princess.”  Natasha stopped playing and looked up at her mother.


'Mummy.'


'Yes dear?’  Solomon replied, ready for any one of a million different questions, Natasha having reached that age when you start to question everything.


'Mummy, you were going to tell me the story.' 


Solomon stroked her daughter's hair.  ‘OK, settle down and I’ll tell you.’


Natasha put her toy aside and sat upright.


'The Queen and the Princess.'  Solomon began.  'The Queen and the Princess escaped from the dragon's lair.  They fooled the dragon by pretending to head north to the land of fins, instead they cleverly headed south to the city of the circus.  They continued on and crossed into the land of the king.  They went on their way to the bird that could not fly and from there they continued into the land of laws and poets.  They crossed the sea into the land of ancient soldiers.  Into the land of clocks and chocolate they stopped where it was both safe and familiar, “Do you have anything for me?”  The Queen asked, “What is your name?”  The Queen told him her name and her date of birth and then she received the gift.  They continued their journey through the land of food and crossed the sea into the land of knights.  Their journey nearly complete they sort out the knight who had served in the town of their birth.  Now they were safe, they could finally relax knowing that the dragon could not get them.'


Natasha looked up at her mother, her lips pursed pensively around the first word.  'It's, it's' she wavered nervously, 'It's not a very good story mummy.' 


Natasha maintained eye contact with her mother, conscious that she had just criticised her mother’s story.  Solomon looked down at her daughter and smiled.


'No, Natasha dear, it is not a very good story.  But I don't think my mother ever intended it to entertain.'


'What do you mean mummy?'


'Oh nothing dear...look you've dropped Sheepy.'


Solomon picked the toy up from beneath her daughter's seat where it had fallen.  Natasha clung to the toy, snuggling it into her, her left arm around it, her right hand stroking its head.


Solomon leaned back into her seat and thought about their escape.  It seemed strange to escape from her own home, her own father.  He is not your father, her mother seemed confident on that point, mostly confident, she reminded herself.  Solomon re-read the words from the letter, “Your father, hah!  He is not your father, not really.  I cannot risk telling you what I know, but I can help you.”  What does “not really” mean?  She wondered.  What could she not risk telling me; after all, she had told me that Natasha and I were in danger, what could be more important than that?


Solomon had only questions.  She did not have anyone to confide in, but she did have a long journey ahead of her to think.  She also had a purpose and a plan.  That will have to do, for the moment anyway.  The bus continued its long journey south towards Moscow and the Moscow Circus.
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Alderman, Nicholson & Myer – ANM Banking Group, London, England.


 


Jack drove at the barrier at some speed, braking sharply to avoid decapitation when it failed to rise.  'Shit', he muttered to himself as he screeched to a halt, his heart racing, urging his blood around his body.  He sat still for a few seconds, beads of sweat forming on his brow, his body reacting to the sudden change in heart rate.  The security officer replaced the phone, gave Jack a cheery wave and the barrier lifted.  Jack pulled the car forward and drove out of the car park leaving his career behind him.


 


Ever since he was five years old, Jack Hamilton’s ambition had been routed in his fascination with gold.  When he discovered that he could earn a living from dealing gold, no other career would do.  After having served in both the British and US Marines, Jack had found the gold trading position he sought with a U.S. bank based in London.  That had been ten years ago.


Now in his fortieth year he had been working on his MBA part-time for the past three years and desperately wanted to finish it.  The outstanding item was his thesis, “Fundamental Value – Tokens and the Gold Standard – The impact of psychology on 10,000 years of the Market System”.  His thesis was to be the definitive work on the importance of gold in economies and how people’s attitude towards gold had shaped the world.  He had just negotiated a sabbatical from his company in order to give him sufficient time to properly develop his theory, research it, and publish it. 


The drive back to his Belgravia residence gave Jack some much needed time to think about this research.  He knew that one of his greatest attributes was that he was very task orientated, situated in the now, rather than worrying about the future.  However he had come to appreciate this “daydreaming” quality that he had seen in others; theories, he had realised, do not come about when worrying about the now.  If Newton had only been concerned with the “now” when that apple had fallen on his head he would have moved away from the apple tree to prevent it from happening again.  Newton had not though, and his concern about the fact of why something happened, defined his as a scientific mind.  Jack realised that he was going to need some help in getting his mind into the right place to be able to develop his theory.  I guess I’m going to have to go and see George.  Jack dialled his brother’s number.


'Hi Jack what can I do for you?'


'I don't want to trouble you George, but I wonder if I could pop in and see you, I need your take on something.'


The knot in his stomach returned becoming a living thing once again.  It spread out, stiffening all of the muscles in his lower back and then climbed up to his neck, almost immobilising him.  It stopped, coiled around the inside of him, daring Jack to make any sudden moves, ready to cause him pain.


'Sure,' George replied, 'It would be great to see you and catch up, I’ll put the kettle on.'


Although Jack and George had generally gotten along, they also had their differences.  The two things that did always bring them together, apart from their strong feeling of family, were their sense of humour and, now occasional, love of beer.  Jack’s issue with George was that he rarely planned, for the future, for tomorrow, for anything, that combined with an almost obsessive lack of personal responsibility had driven Jack to distraction at times.  Jack had matured some, more willing to accept his younger brother for who he was, not who he wasn't.  He still wished that George would get a handle on life, professors of Military History are supposed to be responsible individuals, not “goofing off” to go surfing and partying with their students.  George on the other hand, happy with his life, often wished that Jack would just chill out.


             


Jack breathed deeply standing in front of George’s house in Windsor as he waited for the door to open.  He had bought the house for his brother after George had won his scholarship to Eton.  At ten years older than George, he was nineteen when he had assumed both the moral and legal responsibility for both his brother and his sister Tania.                George Hamilton had his owns feelings about his brother “popping round” to see him.  Whilst he both loved and genuinely liked his brother, he didn't appreciate the way that he could feel Jack judging him and his lifestyle.  His real reason for not seeing his brother more often was that each time reminded them of the loss of their parents.


 


It had happened when George was only nine.  Their father, the US ambassador to Great Britain and their mother, herself the daughter of a British ambassador, were kidnapped while attending a conference abroad.  Held for one hundred and sixty eight days their ordeal finally ended on Christmas day when they were both murdered, execution style with a knife to the throat, film of it given to the news agencies.


After the funeral, George still sat his exams at Eton for the chance of a Junior Scholarship; he attended the interview alone, refusing his housekeeper and nanny to come in with him.  He managed to keep his nerve all the way through until he came to the last part of the interview.  Presented with a standard form of personal details, likes, dislikes, pets and hobbies it required a parent’s signature.  His bottom lip quivering he handed the form back to the head master.  'My apologies sir, I have tried to complete it but unfortunately my...my brother is not here to sign it.'  The headmaster later remarked to the bursar how truly rare it was to find such courage in one so young.


 


When the door finally opened, Jack was treated to the usual aroma, a subtle blend of last night’s curry mixed with used clothes and a dash of stale beer.  Jack followed his brother into the kitchen where the kettle switched itself off in a cloud of steam whilst George rescued two mugs from the sink.  He made an attempt at rinsing them under the tap and reached for the instant coffee.  Jack watched closely.  When George offered one of the mugs to Jack, he decided to take it graciously and opt to drink from the side without the leftover lipstick.  A conquest of some previous night no doubt.


'So what’s up then?'  George asked.


Jack started to explain about his sabbatical from work; how he wanted to finish his MBA and that the only outstanding item was his thesis. 


‘I obviously have some ideas for my thesis but I’d really appreciate your views.’


‘Well,’ George began, ‘that depends upon what you want to find out.  I guess you’ll do all the standard research, where gold comes from, how it’s mined, how much there is, how it was formed, it’s atomic composition and number, it’s 79 by the way, that sort of stuff.  Then I guess you’ll do the uses through history bit; Jewellery, tableware, images of deities, spanning a few millennia and finally I’m guessing you’ll move on to the bit that really interests you, it’s value in trade.  That will be the tricky bit for sure.'


George ended his short sermon by staring off into the middle distance.  This was one of the things that George did that really wound Jack up, speaking as though he were in an auditorium giving a lecture.  Jack caught himself; I came here seeking George’s help because he thinks the way he does, so I can't really criticism him for it.


George finished his gazing and returned to his speech.  'Yes, that will be the tricky bit for sure.  I suppose if you’re looking for a different take on things I’d follow the money and the people but not the gold.'


George was fully engaged now, hardly even aware of Jack’s presence, Jack leaned in closer, his breathing slow and quiet waiting for his brother to continue.


'You see you have to ask yourself why anyone would really want gold, it doesn’t really do anything except sit there and look pretty.  You have to dig out around a hundred tons of ore to get just one ounce of gold and only then after you have subjected the ore to the most expensive and involved of processes.  Why would anyone exchange his or her time or food for it?  Simply doesn’t make sense.  Iron, now there is something worth mining, you can make bridges with it, railroads, and steam engines.  Iron was literally, what the industrial revolution was built on, it goes through a similar but less complicated process to gold, but you can actually do something with the end result.  Or take coal for example, yes, you can only use it once, but at least it produces heat, light, and most importantly energy.  Those are extremely important, heat keeps you alive during cold winters, and light allows you to do more with your day.  Furthermore, you can cook with the heat, improving the flavour and variety of foods one can consume.  Whilst energy allows you to do more, transport goods over vast distances, power refrigeration to preserve food.  If the industrial revolution was built on iron, it was powered by coal.  Yes, Iron and Coal, much better investments than gold.'


There it is, Jack realised, there is the angle, which I would probably have never gotten.  Coal and Iron should have been more sought after than Gold.


Jack stayed just long enough to be polite; as he drove back into London, his mind kept going over his brother’s words.  If Coal and Iron are better investments, then why has gold been so sought after for thousands of years?  Jack started to think about his own job, for the first time ever, he was really considering the fundamental aspect of his job.  Gold trader, a trader in gold, one who buys and sells gold.  But why?  The jewellery industry can buy gold straight from the mines as can the scientific industry.  Why are people trading in gold?  Why have they in the past?  Jack realised that his brother was right, if he followed the gold he would get nowhere, but if he followed the money to the people who had bought gold throughout history and if he could understand their reasons then he would have an excellent basis for his thesis.


 


 


09:17  28 October    [06:17  28 October GMT]


Bondarenko Mansion House, Pavlovsk Suberb, 30km south of St. Petersburg, Russia.


             


General Bondarenko awoke, unsure as to why until there was another knock on his bedroom door.  The knock was loud but timid at the same time, like a naughty child reporting to the head master’s office. 


‘Come in Mrs Golovko.’


The General sat upright in bed as a tired woman in her late fifties entered. 


'I’m so sorry to disturb you Sir.'  She began, her words not as strong as she would have liked.  It is never easy with the General, she thought, such a volatile man, quick to anger and nasty with it.


'That’s OK Tatiana what is it?'


'One of the maids signed for a letter yesterday, only the postman now says that he should have had one of the householders sign and your daughter is not here today, so I wonder if I could ask you to sign please.'


The General’s stomach turned.  I haven’t seen any recorded mail, and Solomon doesn’t have any dealings that should require recorded mail. 


'Where is the postman?'


The General threw back the bed covers, grabbed his dressing gown from the back of a chair, and made for the bedroom door.  Mrs Golovko scurried behind him as he swept from the room.  Taking the stairs two at a time, he ran straight at the postman who flinched at his approach.


'Give me your manifest!'


Unsure as to what the General referred to, the postman simply offered him the only thing he was carrying, the list of recorded mail from the day before.  The General snatched it and ran his finger down the list of addressees.  He found the entry addressed to his house.  It was as he feared, addressed to Solomon, from a firm of Swiss lawyers.  This, he thought, can only mean one thing, that witch I married has conspired against me and now Solomon knows.  She must be stopped no matter the cost.  He threw his signature across the page and dismissed the postman.  Mrs Golovko took her queue and excused herself; she would inform the cook to prepare the General's breakfast at once. 


The General went into his study and withdrew his personal address book from his desk drawer.  He dialled the number and barked into the phone when it was answered. 


'Pushkin, is that you?'


'Yes General, it is.’  Captain Pushkin of the St. Petersburg police force stiffened in his chair and focused his entire attention on the phone call; he knew General Bondarenko’s reputation. 


'I have evidence in connection with the murder of the Professor.'


Pushkin didn't interrupt nor did he bother to ask how the General knew of the death of Professor Doran, let alone that it was now a murder investigation.  That information had not yet been released.  He listened as the General continued.


'The evidence cannot be released to you, at least not yet as there is a question of State Security involved, however one of those involved in the murder was Solomon Bondarenko.'


'But,' stammered Pushkin 'but, that is your daughter.'


'I know it is my daughter!  But she is now an enemy of the motherland and must be stopped, dead or alive.'  General Bondarenko slammed down his phone.


 


 


13:07  28 October   [13:07  28 October GMT]


Chester Square, Belgravia, London, England.


             


Jack hung up the phone.  Sitting in his study, he was not making progress with his research.  The perspective, he felt, that he had gained on his Thesis from speaking with his brother George was inspirational.  However, it didn't leave Jack readily equipped to plunge into his research.  He didn't have much of a clue where to look or where to start.  He had just made an appointment to view a working gold mine in Wales.  Its exact location or existence not advertised, it was on the other side of a small mountain from an abandoned mine that was on the map and he was told that someone would meet him there.  Jack only managed to get an appointment because he knew one of the owners.  So other than a walk around a working mine, I have nowhere to start.  Jack decided to start backwards, rather than finding ancient gold and its owners, he would start by investigating who currently owns significant gold deposits and work back through time, seeing where and who exchanged gold and for what.  Now he had to decide upon a suitable way of capturing and cataloguing the information as he found it.


He picked up a pencil and started drawing on a pad.  Next to three stacked gold bars he had drawn, he wrote, “Total produced in the world to date.”  That's a start, he thought to himself.  Under the three gold bars he drew another, appreciably larger than the others and next to this he wrote, “Object with properties.”  Now his mind was thinking clearly.  He didn't know what he would be finding out, but he knew that he needed to gather as much information as possible and hold it in a flexible way, so that later he could do different types of manipulation on it.


So, he thought, a computer program and database schema it is.  Having decided to go back in time and see where all the gold that had been mined each year went, he continued to add to his list of properties for his object.  “Mined – Location and date; Mine – Owner; Purchase History, Purchaser (Name, Type (Business, Government, Person)), When Purchased, Purchase Cost (Units?), Use (Investment, Jewellery, Industry, Other).  Jack stopped there, he knew instinctively that there would be more, but he wanted a “rough cut” to play with on his computer to check what else he would possibly need.  The question mark he had written next to the “Units” for the property of “Purchase Cost” worried him, it was difficult to think of a globally consistent unit that held constant through time.  He threw that to the back of his mind, it will resolve itself, he reasoned.


 


[image: ]


 


Jack yawned again as he reached for his coffee.  Finding it cold, he looked out of his study window.  Seeing nothing, it took him a second to realise that it was night-time.  Damn, he thought, when did that happen?  Hungry, he had been working at his program now for over seven hours without food or a break.  Time for both.  He felt the program was coming along and was confident he was on the right track.  The one major change he had made to the properties of the object was to add a “Mineral Type” property, this would mean he could collect information on other mined ores to contrast his research into gold with; diamonds, silver, iron and tin most probably, he thought.


One thing was becoming clear to Jack, there was going to be a lot of research involved and he didn't feel like doing it all himself.  I don’t want to spend time searching for the right person then bringing them up to speed with the way I work.  Given all that, he thought to himself, there really is only one choice.


Jack dialled the number for his last intern, she would have finished her degree by now, and I bet this would be right up her street. 


 


 


20:42  28 October   [20:42  28 October GMT]


Moore Terraces, Flat 4d, Brixton Road, Brixton, London, England.


             


Sally Brewer was at home, a two bedroom flat in the heart of Brixton that she shared with Anita.  They had met in the first year of university sharing the same halls of residence.  In their second year, they rented a flat together and hadn't looked back since.  They both had small frames, Anita with dark skin, long black hair that stretched to her waist and deep hazel eyes whilst Sally contrasted with fair skin, platinum blonde shoulder length hair and bright blue eyes.  Sally lent forward and wrestled another slice of pizza out of the box, folded it into a shallow “v” and started nibbling at it.  Spicy but with no meat, Sally had come to enjoy living with a vegetarian.  Not a vegetarian herself she had become much more choosy about what meat she would eat and how much.  The sheer amount and variety of vegetables amazed Sally, who was used to them being on her plate “with something”, rather than “being something”.  Lentils, she thought to herself, where were lentils when I was growing up?


The pizza slice consumed, she reached for her wine, a glass of inexpensive but very good Chilean red.  This is going down a treat.  Curled up on the sofa together, Sally and Anita where engrossed watching their latest choice from the “World Cinema” collection.  This one was telling the story of a young girl growing up pretending to be a boy so that she could get an education.  Sally hit the pause button as Anita reached for the phone. 


'Hello?' said Anita, 'Oh sure, she's right here.'


'Hello?’  Sally said, clueless as to who might be phoning her.  'Oh hi.' 


Anita listened as Sally made lots of “uh huh” sounds, becoming increasingly frustrated that she was not party to the conversation. 


'I see,' Sally finally said something that Anita could understand, 'it sounds like a lot of work.  No, no I'm not saying that I can't do it or that I'm not interested, I was just thinking that there sounds like enough work for two researchers.'


Another “uh huh.”


‘Well I have actually, let me have a word and I'll get back to you if that's OK?'


Sally hung-up the phone, rolled over and looked into Anita's face.  'How do you fancy earning some real good money?'


'What have you in mind?' asked Anita, smiling. 


'No, nothing like that.' said Sally, hitting Anita with a cushion. 


‘That was my old boss.  He needs some research work and we have first refusal.’


Anita cradled her wine glass as she looked down at the floor and spoke.  'But it would be temporary wouldn’t?  What if we miss out on proper jobs?'


'Yes, it would be.’  Sally replied, ‘But Jack is seriously connected and a reference from him would open doors for us both.'


'OK, I'm in, phone him back.'


 


Jack was in the kitchen when the phone rang. 


'Jack Hamilton…Oh hi Sally, thanks for getting back to me so quickly…That's great, I'll see you both here in the morning…The address?  80 Chester Square.  Take a taxi if you like, and keep receipts, I'll reimburse you both for all expenses.’


 


The doorbell rang punctually at half past eight the following morning.  Neither Sally nor Anita had ever seen such a house.  Anita looked at the outside again, the white Georgian masonry, contrasted with the black detailing would be impressive enough, but this was a considerable sized building and in the heart of Belgravia, this Jack bloke must be worth a mint, she thought. 


The door was opened by a tall, very fit man, who, they both had to agree later was also very good looking.  Dark hair and eyes, his olive skin was from a combination of birth and sun, his dark eyebrows arched over his eyes which together with his quite sharp nose gave one the impression of a bird of prey.  Jack was a physically imposing man.


'Good morning.'  He said cheerily to them both 'please come in.'  Jack gave them a guided tour of the place, which with its five bedrooms, four reception rooms and seven bathrooms took considerably longer than he planned.  At the end of the tour, he actually felt slightly embarrassed at having such a home for a single man.


'You're welcome to use the guest bedrooms if you want to.  There is always food in and fresh towels in the airing cupboard.  I have a woman who comes in and “does” for me.'


Jack didn't care for how they made him feel, as if he was special or something.  He felt even worse when he had to correct himself a second later. 


'Well two women actually, although they come on different days.'


After fixing coffee for them all, he showed them into his study and by use of his white-board explained the task at hand. 


‘You will have to maintain rigorous academic standards, so all research will have to be properly referenced.  Also I have gone off the idea of reimbursing expenses.’


Here it comes, thought Anita, first the benefits go, then the pay.


'Instead here is one of my cards and its PIN number; I'll trust you to use it wisely.  In general terms, any direct expenses are of course OK, plus any meals, drinks, travel but I draw the line at clothes, shoes and handbags.' 


Sally and Anita both laughed, slightly unsure as to how serious Jack was.  The card in Sally's hand seemed real enough.


 


 






 




 


 


 


 


 


 


4 Inauguration


 


 


10:00              27 October  [15:00  27 October  GMT]


Floor of the United Nations Building, New York.


 


Jayanti Kapoor paused briefly before entering.  Jayanti, at fifty-five years of age was not frightened, nervous or even remotely concerned; the thought of addressing ambassadors from all of the world’s nations did not worry her in the slightest.  Neither did the thought of it being broadcast live around the world.  The thought that had given her pause was how a low cast Indian orphan came to be here, about to be inaugurated as the new Secretary-General of the United Nations.


Jayanti was born in a Delhi slum.  The first and only child of a young couple who worked for a wealthy landowner, her father died before she was born and her mother during labour.  Jay grew up always knowing how lucky she was just to be alive.  Fortune however smiled on her again as she was taken in by the son of the landowner and was thus spared a life of institutionalisation, begging or worse.


When Jay was old enough, she was sent to boarding school in England.  Jay enjoyed boarding, as it gave her more freedom than being at home.  As the ward of a rich man, she was almost imprisoned within the palatial compound in which they lived.  It was not safe for Jay to go outside, and she was never alone outside until she arrived in England.  Jay was an earnest pupil who thrived on learning and excelled in her exams.  She joined the majority of her friends by studying at Oxford where she chose to read Politics, Philosophy, and Economics determined as any young person to make a difference in the world.  Financially independent, thanks to the continued support of her adoptive father, Jay returned to India to pursue a career in Politics.  Fate intervened again, this time in the shape of the British Ambassador to India.  As a business associate of her father, Jay had met the ambassador at one her father’s lavish parties.  The ambassador explained that, in his opinion, politicians make headlines and civil servants make a difference.  Civil servants, he had explained, especially diplomats and ambassadors work on an entirely different time scale to politicians.  At the moment, he was working on a trade and knowledge exchange programme between their two nations that would last for fifty years.  Politicians don't think in those terms, but those are the terms that make a real difference to a country and its citizens.  His final words had stayed with her pushing her to join the Indian diplomatic corps.  That, she reflected, was more than thirty years ago now. 


Jayanti walked onto the floor of the United Nations and took her place at the podium.  She looked down at her speech, checked it against the teleprompter and noting they were the same she began.


'I stand here before you the orphan daughter of a poor couple from the wrong part of Delhi.  I am certain I would have faced a short life of misery and exploitation if I hadn’t rescued by my adoptive father.  This inspired me to pursue a career serving my country and through that, its people.  My transition to serving the people of the world, through the auspices of the United Nations has brought me closer to my personal goal of being of benefit to all mankind.  Now, thanks to your confidence and support, I am to serve as your Secretary-General, I promise to do all that I am able to best serve, you, this organisation and every man, woman and child.  Thank you.'


Jay took the applause and the almost inevitable standing ovation in her stride, she knew that the real work would begin now; her predecessor had been ill for so long that a lot of crucial work had gone undone.  Even though as Under-Secretary General of the United Nations she had done her very best to keep the wheels moving, the most important and high profile of issues needed the Sec-Gen, Under-Secretary would not do.  Then of course, there was the budget to sort out, that needed the Sec-Gen's approval.  Jay was starting to realise just how busy she was going to be.


 


 


15:08              27 October  [20:08 27 October  GMT]


Office of the Secretary-General, United Nations Building, New York.


             


We have been at this for over two hours now, Jayanti thought to herself, and we are barely a quarter of the way through the agenda.  They were not actually discussing any of the items, they were just “agreeing” with her how relatively important each of the items was.  They came to the Middle East. 


'We are sponsoring secret talks between the main Israeli and Palestinian players.'  One of her senior advisors informed her.


              'Oh' replied Jayanti 'what does that mean in reality?'


'It means' the advisor continued 'that we are in a “no lose” situation and might be able to announce something dramatic fairly soon.'


'What does “no lose” mean and when is fairly soon?'


'Well,' the advisor began 'if I can answer the second question first, fairly soon means probably within five years as it is going quite well.  “No lose” in this context, means that there are no official or unofficial talks going on between the two parties.'


'If there are no official or unofficial talks, what exactly is happening?'


Jay had dealt extensively with this kind of bureaucrat; unfortunately, she had never learned how to get them to the point.  The advisor continued.


'Well, a senior Palestinian is meeting with a senior Israeli, the Americans are facilitating, although for their own legal reasons this has to happen outside of American territory.  They have met several times and each reports directly back to their leaders, this does not get on anyone's radar.  They are therefore free to discuss any issue, nothing is off limits, and this means that they are making genuine progress.  It's slow, but it is positive.'


'Who are the people involved?’  Jay asked. 


'Well,' the advisor began 'it is of course up to you, but you may prefer not to know, that way you will not give anything away, were you to meet them.'


'I think I would prefer to know.'


'Very well.  The Israeli is Benjamin Yogev and the Palestinian is Saeb Tibi.'


'Thank you,' Jay responded 'what's next?'


 


 


19:40              27 October  [00:40 28 October  GMT]


Residence of the Secretary-General, East 57th Street, New York.


             


Jay laid back in the bath, allowing the heat and bubbles to get to work on her body.  She took another sip of the wine she was drinking, an interesting if cheeky Chilean red with subtle flavours of strawberry and plum.  Jay had spent ten minutes like this and she was just beginning to unwind, her mind starting to reflect on her life.  Jay disliked the speech she had made to the United Nations that day, although astute enough to know that her “story” gave hope to millions around the world, she also knew it to be something of a lie.


The glib way in which she had referred to her “rescue” by her adoptive father hid the truth that had she not been adopted by someone of such wealth and influence there would have been no chance of her attaining any acceptable status in life, certainly not the elevated status she now held.  If either of her parents had survived she would be living in Delhi, there would have be no real education for her, she would have worked hard as a domestic servant every day, no holiday, no personal time.  She tried not to think of all the domestic servants who had waited on her, once she was elevated to her adoptive father's stature.  Young girls, just like her but with no education would have risen early and finished late performing all the duties; from washing her clothes, to cooking and cleaning.  Then there was the maintenance of the house and gardens, the cars, the pool and all the rest. 


Jay sighed and took another sip of her wine; this moved her mind on to the Chilean farmers scraping a living from their vines, where lack of educational opportunities combined with social inequality to deny them or their children advancement.  Jay shook herself; she knew she had to stop thinking like this, that only actions, not thoughts change anything.  Jay knew that she would act, had acted already to improve the lives of others.  However, she was also acutely aware how difficult effecting real change was.  It was not a problem finding things to improve; the difficulty lay in prioritising one over another and dealing with the impact on others that a “positive” change for one group would have.  The effect of improving the lives of Chilean wine farmers would ultimately be an increase in the cost of production of Chilean wine; this would normally lead to a reduction in demand for Chilean wine as distributors, responding to consumer demands, switched to other countries for wine of a similar quality.  This meant that addressing Chilean wine farmers would entail addressing the worldwide production of wine.  Then one has to address other types of farming as the improved conditions for wine producers pushes up the cost of farmland and farm labour.  This in turn has a direct impact on developing nations where increasingly manufacturing is competing with farming for labour.  Really, Jay thought to herself, it's a wonder that we achieve anything at all.


Jay's mind switched to her new position.  As Under-Secretary General, she had had power and influence over multiple UN programmes.  Now however, she would be setting policy and directing, guiding, she corrected herself, the UN in all matters.  Jay had a clear idea of what she wanted to achieve with her tenure as Sec-Gen, a world where every individual can succeed to the best of his or her ability, regardless of their start in life.  Unfortunately, Jay had no idea how to achieve this.  Education would be part of it.  However the truth was that an African child who shows great aptitude for quantum physics would have little real prospect of studying in that field, there being too many barriers in the way.  Therefore, someone born to a better life, but with less natural ability and potential takes that place and the world is deprived of a significant opportunity for advancement.  It would take, Jay thought, a global organisation that could make that investment and make use of the people.  It would have to be on a scale never before known, bigger than any country, generating more wealth than any one country could.  Jay sighed again, realising how small the chance of such an organisation coming into existence, smaller still in her lifetime.  The best I could achieve, she thought, would be to bring a little more opportunity and justice into the world.  Jay took another sip of her wine, relaxed and let the heat and bubbles continue their work.


 


 


21:19        27 October  [02:19  28 October  GMT]


Residence of the Secretary-General, East 57th Street, New York.


             


The yellow cab pulled up outside the house.  Sameena Kapoor paid the driver, giving him an adequate, but not overly generous tip and stepped out of the taxi, pulling her shopping bags behind her like a prisoner with a ball and chain.  Sam climbed the steps to her house, mother’s house; she corrected herself as she opened the door.  The smell of roasted garlic and fresh bread reminded Sam how small her lunch had been, and how long ago.  She put her shopping at the bottom of the stairs and slipped off her coat, glad to be in the warm again.  Sam made for the dining room, although she hated eating in there.  A long table with seating for ten, the room was large enough to accommodate twice that number.  The room made Sam feel awkward and uncomfortable.  Sam would have preferred a loft apartment, something with adequate size but none of the “stuffiness” of this mausoleum.  She knew that the house was not of her mother's choosing either, it had come with the job, and her mother would be expected to entertain here.  Sam would love to throw a party in this place, but she somehow doubted whether her mother would approve of her guests.


              Sam entered the dining room.  Her mother, Jayanti was sitting at the head of the table.  In front of her on the table were four silver serving dishes, all covered.  There was a place laid for Sam next to her mother.  Jayanti poured her daughter a glass of wine and topped up her own glass, finishing the bottle.  Sam wagered with herself that it was not the first bottle opened that night.  Jay made a point of looking at her watch.


'You're twenty minutes late.'  Jay said to her daughter, 'what did we agree?'


Sam thought to herself, we never agreed anything, you said and that was it. 


'I know mother' Sam responded politely, 'I'm sorry, the time kind of got away from me.'


'It's not asking too much' Jay said 'for us to have one meal a week together, is it?'


'No mother, of course not.'


She felt like a teenager again, instead of the thirty-five year old woman she was.  They started their meal, Sam complimenting her mother on her speech, which she had made a point of stopping to watch during her day.  Her mother shrugged of the compliment, instead turning the conversation around to Sam and her lack of a job, let alone a career.


'You know' Jay began 'there are a good number of very interesting projects going on within the UN right now.  They may not be in your field, but you don't seem to be doing anything in your field anyway so it would hardly be a waste.'


How many times are we going to have this conversation?  Sam thought.  'That's very kind of you mother, but I'm fine, really I am.  It's not been that long since I finished my Master’s and I am really enjoying helping out at the dog rescue.'


'It's been over three years and you could be doing so much more with your life than re-homing a few stray dogs.'


Jay was more acerbic than intended, but she had had a bottle of wine before this one and she was tired of her daughter wasting her education.  Sam bit her tongue before replying.


'I know you are tired mother, so perhaps we should do this another time huh?'


Jay, seeing the “out” her daughter had offered decided to take it.  'You are right dear' she replied 'I am tired let's not talk of this now.  Are you going out tonight dear?'


'Yes,' Sam replied, ‘we’ve been invited to the opening tonight of a new club.'


 


 


23:15        27 October  [04:15  28 October  GMT]


Club Confidential, 23 E. 65th St., Manhattan, New York, USA.


             


How many times, thought Sameena, do I have to say “no” to this guy?  The guy in question was good-looking, obviously well-educated with success written all over him.  Sam had made a bet with herself that after working as a trader for a few years he had struck out on his own and is now seriously wealthy.  Curious as to whether she was right Sam ventured a question.


'So what do you do?'


The guy smiled as if he had just won a competition.  'Oh' he responded, trying to act as though he hadn't expected the question 'I have my own fund, I run it out of my top floor offices in Midtown.  We're doing really well too, despite everything.'


That was it the guy realised, he had seen the look in Sam's eye as he had added the “doing really well” bit and she had decided that then he was a “no go”.  For whatever reason, he thought to himself, this woman is not impressed by money, status or any of the things a New York female usually looks for in a man.  He decided to cut his losses and be magnanimous. 


'Well it’s been terrific talking to you.  Let me know if you change your mind about that dance, I'll be around for a while.'


Sam was a little sad to see him go.  Not that she was interested, she wasn’t, but he had at least been a gentleman.  Not like many of the men whom I normally meet.  Arrogant, rich and vain.  All typical “Alpha” males, when you meet a group of them you can almost drown in the testosterone, she reflected.  Sam thought about the lack of a man in her life.  She knew more about what she didn't want than truly what she did want.  The only real image she had in her mind was a “Joe the Plumber” type.  An honest, hardworking man who wouldn't mind taking out the garbage or washing the dishes, but at the same time someone who was still a real man.  Sam knew that type was out of her league, for a man to feel a man he needs to be the breadwinner and generally a touch smarter.  Sam thought about her considerable wealth, her high level of education, and all the “successful” men she has known.  Presidents, Prime Ministers, Heads of State and the rest, truly there could not be a “normal” man for me who could compete in that arena.


Anne, one of Sam's closest friends, wandered over to her now that she was alone.  As she approached Sam, she started clapping her hands, in a slow mocking fashion. 


'Well done,' Anne began 'that is almost a record, even for you.  Tell me what is your secret to scaring away attractive and successful men?  Really, tell me, I want to know.'


'He wasn't right' Sam responded, rather feebly she thought. 


'Oh is that so?’  Anne countered 'and what wasn't right about him?  Tall, dark, handsome and obviously rich.  Was he witty and intelligent?'


'Well yes' answered Sam 'he was actually.'


'Well' continued Anne 'what was the problem?'


'He wouldn't take out the garbage....'


Anne was dumbfounded, there was no telling what her friend might say, do or think.  Anne had tried countless times to set her friend up with men, most had never gotten off the ground, the others faltered very quickly.  The men all saying something similar, that Sam was cold and distant.  Anne didn't believe this, she knew her friend too well, but she had to admit that Sam could act very cold if she didn't feel that you were worth her interest.


'Come dance with me' Anne asked Sam.


'OK' Sam replied, deciding that man or no man, she would enjoy herself tonight.


 


 


04:15        28 October  [09:15  28 October  GMT]


Residence of the Secretary-General, East 57th St., New York.


             


Sam tripped up the stairs to her mother's house, just managing to stay upright and not fall.  Key in hand, she entered and tried to act sober.  She knew that her mother would be fast asleep, and likely to rise in just a couple of hours.  Slipping off her high-heels, the cold marble floor of the lobby contrasted against the soft warmth of the Oriental rug that she crossed on her way to the drawing room.  The place is like a stately home, picture perfect and immaculately kept, she reflected, the rug is probably a priceless gift from some king or prince. 


Sam poured herself a drink and curled up in one of the large leather armchairs, feeling like a small child.  She started to reflect on the night, the men who want her and the man she wants what her mother had said and her life in general.  Mother was right about one thing, she thought, I do need to do something with my time, it doesn't have to be forever and I could still help out at the animal rescue part time.  Sam reflected on her education, a degree in Psychiatry, and another in Astrophysics, her Masters was in Business Administration, but running a business did not offer any great appeal to her.  A PhD is the next logical step, but in what?  Sam had no idea, but decided to speak to her old professor tomorrow and sound him out to see where current academic interest lay.


 


 


14:28               28 October  [12:28  28 October  GMT]


N 37º 59’ 30’’ E 20º 51’ 37’’ Off the coast of Kefallonia, Greek Islands.


             


Group 79 had not always had the same name; indeed, they had changed it many times throughout their extremely long history.  Few knew of their existence, fewer still of their purpose and true nature.  They had seen nations born and others lost, civilisations grow and die.  They have always kept their existence a secret for fear that if discovered panic would ensue.  They have guided man’s advancements, medical, technological, and social.  Most of the time their touch had been gentle, influencing writings and teachings.  However, there had been times when they had to be strong direct and intrusive for fear that their ultimate goal would be undone.


The structure of Group 79 whilst not unique was very unusual for such a body.  There was no committee, executive, or head.  They did not vote, at least not as such.  Every opinion was listened to and counted as equal to every other.  There were no arguments over policy or procedure, instead they discussed things in-depth and at length.  Time was always on their side.  They had a charter, but that was more out of courtesy to the non-permanent members than any need or desire to detail their purpose.


They met this day to perform one of their duties.  The last of the reports had come back and everything had checked out, all of the details were correct and so they had decided that Rule 4c should be enacted.


A large screen revealed itself to the left of the room and all was ready for the meeting.


 


 


07:28              28 October  [12:28  28 October  GMT]


40th Floor, United Nations Building, New York.


             


Jayanti Kapoor had been in enough positions of authority to have learned two things; one, no matter what you have learned you can still be surprised and two, when a member of your security detail makes a request treat it like an order, because your life could depend upon it.  It was these thoughts that occupied her mind during the elevator ride to the 40th floor of the 39-floored building. 


The elevator doors opened to reveal nothing more than a very ordinary looking room, unremarkable except for the fact that it had no windows and didn’t officially exist.  She stepped forward into the room, unusually for her feeling some trepidation, and sat down on the single chair at the solitary table.  The lift doors closed behind her, and the large screen on the wall opposite her blinked into life. 


The image she saw was a room with a table, much larger than the one at which she currently sat, but with a number of men and women sat at it.  She did a quick count, twelve, eight men, and four women.  No particular bias on race or colour.  An excellent judge of a situation, she had honed her “people” skills throughout her career.


After nearly fifteen minutes the screen dimmed and the lift doors opened, this made her jump, just a little.  She stepped back into the lift and stared at the member of her security detail who had brought her here, wondering just how much he knew.  She knew not to ask, they had made that very clear, what they had told her was for her alone.  Alone, that was exactly how she felt at this moment and very conscious that there is more going on in the world than even she had known.


 


 


14:43               28 October  [12:43  28 October  GMT]


N 38º 00’ 34’’ E20º 52’ 06’’ Off the coast of Kefallonia, Greek Islands.


             


Group 79 had discharged their Rule 4c requirement.  It wouldn’t stop there of course, continuous surveillance would be maintained for the next twelve, or more months and she would always be monitored now, probably for the rest of her life.  None of the group was troubled by this, not for them the ethical consideration of spying on a diplomat, not least of all because they knew that each of the non-permanent members were still being monitored, and some of them had joined more than twenty years ago.


 


 


16:22               28 October  [21:22  29 October  GMT]


Columbia University, New York.


             


Sam found herself arriving at the campus with both a sense of excitement and one of almost fear.  The excitement generated by the thought of embarking on a new challenge; the fear was at meeting her old professor.  No one had ever treated her like the prof; nothing she ever did had seemed good enough for him, other students shined and received encouragement, Sam always left feeling less than adequate.  Sam was bright enough to know that she sought the approval of a father figure, her own having passed away when she was only five, barely a memory of him existed, except being chased around the orchard, her daddy tickling her remorselessly when he caught her.  Knowing that she was seeking the prof's approval and being able to stop herself from seeking it were two different things, the hole in her life left by the loss of her father was one she felt she could never fill.  It was why she was so choosy about her boyfriends, she had to judge them the way she thought her father would have.  She knocked on the door to the professor's private office. 


'Come in.' the voice from the other side called out.


Sam instantly returned to the subordinate student; she took a breath, reached out to the handle, and turning it gently, entered the room.


Professor Bonas looked up from the papers on his desk at the woman entering the room.  He reflected that she certainly was a woman now, not the “child” he had known ten years previously.  Of all his students, she had been one of the highlights, very bright and gifted with insight, diligent and a hard worker, he would have pushed her even if her mother had not asked him to.  The phone call he had received from her that morning had come out of the blue, it was obvious to him that she was serious though, and somewhat desperate from her tone and inflection.  He waved her to the couch and rose to join her there, a tea tray already laid out with some sandwiches and assorted biscuits.  He reflected again how he had come to America as a young immigrant, no home, no income, but with the drive and passion of ten people.


They talked at some length, mainly around what Sam had been doing since they had last seen each other, how her mother was now Sec-Gen of the UN.  Professor Bonas shared that he was now widowed, his wife passing away three years before from cancer, the pain of the loss still evident on his face.  Sam reached out at that and squeezed his hand tenderly, surprising herself even though it felt the right thing to do.


'So you are sure that you are ready for doctoral work?' the professor asked.


'Yes, I am.  I need the challenge and I would like to contribute something.'


'Well, you are in luck, I spoke to a friend at JPL, and they are looking for someone like you to work on a project for NASA'


'It's not weapons is it?’  Sam interjected.             


'No' the professor replied, his annoyance at being interrupted evident on his face, he continued,  'It is for their deep space division, they want someone to run a project researching the psychological effects of deep space travel, with particular reference to long term sensory deprivation.'


Sam paused before replying, conscious that she didn't want to interrupt him again.


'How would I proceed?'


'Well, if you are genuinely interested I would submit an application on your behalf, if they thought you worthy, which I'm sure they would, they would then be a round of interviews before down selection at which stage you and the other candidates would submit your research proposals.'


'I see' Sam reflected, somewhat down cast, 'I didn't realise that there would be such a rigorous selection process, silly I know, but I just sort of thought that something would be there waiting for me to say I want to do it'.


'Try not to worry I'm sure you'll do just fine.'


They talked for nearly an hour; she left still unsure as to whether she was doing the right thing.  I have to trust the professor though, she thought.


 


 


19:20        28 October  [00:20  29 October  GMT]


Residence of the Secretary-General, East 57th Street, New York.


             


Jay arrived home tired, confused, and not a little angry.  She poured herself a drink and sat down in the drawing room.  She hadn't been able to concentrate all day.  Not since her trip to the windowless room.  That changed everything.  Everything.  Had the previous Sec-Gen been told?  Who else knows?  Who are the group?  So many questions, she had no one to talk to about them, this was for her alone.  She refilled her glass.  She tried to think about what she could do positively with the information she now had in her possession.  I am to tell no one.  They made that very clear.  The implied threat to her life had lingered in the air, tainting the conversation.  I cannot change the UN's activities based on what I now know.  Why had they told her, she had asked.  Because we need you to know, but they refused to say why.  Their message was that there was more to know and that she might be told at some unspecified point in the future.  Great, she had thought, fantastic.  I am privileged with the most important information in human history and I can't tell anyone or do anything.


Jay refilled her glass again and thought about what she could do, rather than that which she had been told she couldn't.  I need more information, she thought, I need to understand this better, to understand how this happened and what effect it has had.  My every move is probably being monitored, she realised that from what they had said, how others in her position had not been told.  That could only mean that the group had determined some of her predecessors to be unsuitable based on first-hand accounts.  This means they must have a team of people at their disposal.  People, she laughed out loud at that, who report to an organisation outside of any single country's authority.  Just like the UN, she realised.


Jay drained her glass, and setting it aside resolved to learn everything thing she could, secretly, that would help her make sense of what she now knew.  As she headed up the stairs to retire, she couldn't help reflect that just twenty-four hours earlier she was almost overwhelmed by her new role as Sec-Gen, now she was nostalgic for its simple complexities.


 


 


20:15        29 October  [01:15  30 October  GMT]


Residence of the Secretary-General, East 57th Street, New York.


             


The following evening saw her chauffeur draw the Mercedes alongside her house.  Jay reflected on her day, it had been even more fraught than previous days.  Department and committee heads had been holding off on flooding her diary with appointments, allowing her a generous couple of days to orientate herself in her new role.  The unofficial honeymoon was now over and her day had comprised almost entirely of back-to-back meetings.  At least I've made a start on my research, not much of one but it's something, she thought.  The truth was that she had achieved precious little in real terms.  The trouble she had found was that there is so much to learn and she didn't know where best to start, every question answered brought up five or ten more questions, and each of those the same.  Jay just wanted some basic information, just to be able to get a handle on where she needed to focus her energies.  Her chauffeur opened her car door and carried her briefcase up and into the house.  Jay followed, lost in thought.


As Jay walked through the lobby she was greeted by the aroma of freshly cooking Spanish sausage, Chorizo, she thought, that means Sameena is cooking Jambalaya.  Jay suddenly remembered the message that she had received from her daughter, I'm making dinner tonight have great news.  Jambalaya was Sam's speciality, she had her own recipe adapted from many others and refined over the years, Jay realised her mouth was starting to water at the thought and smell of it.  She slipped off her coat and headed for the kitchen.


Sam, she saw, was perched on one of the breakfast stools, her right leg crossed over her left, her right foot wrapped into her left ankle, coiled as if she was ready to strike.  Jay knew this position, Sam was excited about something and combined with the cooking and the cigarette she was smoking it had to be important.  Jay picked up the second glass of wine from the table sniffed it noting that Sam had opened one of the better wines.  This must be something very good indeed.


'I want to thank you.’  Sam said simply.


'What for?’  Jay replied, aware that there was an awful lot for which her daughter should be grateful.


'I went to see my old professor yesterday, you remember Professor Bonas right?  Well I have applied for a PhD only I didn't realise how long they normally take, but, well....'


Jay could see her losing her thread.  'What is it dear?'


'Well, I've actually been accepted to research the effects of sensory deprivation on deep space travel for NASA and the JPL.’  Sam finally blurted out.  'It usually takes several months with interviews, submissions, selection days and the like but the Professor has some friends and they just went with his recommendation.'  Sam beamed at her mother, her self-confidence, and plain joy manifestly evident.


'That's wonderful dear' Jay replied, 'you must tell me all about it.'


In all her deliberations, Jay had forgotten the fountain of scientific knowledge that lived under the same roof as her.  Jay would have stayed up anyway to listen to her daughter talk about her new research project, but now she had both a personal and a professional interest in what her daughter said.


They talked all though their meal and late into the evening.  Jay was eager to hear everything, the size of the universe, the relative distances between stars, galaxies, and other heavenly bodies.  Sam was surprised at how interested her mother was, but seeing the opportunity, she talked at length.  Jay did her best to keep up, but when she got lost, Sam would pause to explain that subject better.  At last, sleep called to them and they retired to bed.


Jay couldn’t sleep her mind processing all the information she had gleaned from her daughter.  She was amazed at how much her daughter knew; more amazed still at how much there is to know and how much nobody knows.  Not quite nobody, Jay corrected herself.  The distances were overwhelming.  Jay had raised the question of UFO's.  Sam dismissed them completely. 


The first point is the distances involved.  They are so large, Sam had told her, they cannot be counted in kilometres, or miles, scientists use light years or parsecs.  A light year being the distance light travels in one year, which at three hundred thousand kilometres or one hundred and sixty eight thousand miles a second is very great indeed.  A parsec, apparently and for some reason Jay didn’t follow was equal to three point two six light-years.  Distances in our galaxy, Sam had explained, are generally measured in kilo-parsecs, that is, thousands of parsecs.


Sam’s second point was speed.  Given that the distances are so incredibly large and that nothing can exceed the speed of light then travel times at that speed are going to be long, literarily years to travel even to our closest star.  However, the speed of a rocket is much, much less.  They travel at around sixteen to seventeen kilometres per second against light at three hundred thousand kilometres per second.  This would mean that at rocket speed our closest star is in excess of seventeen thousands years travelling time away.


Sam’s third, and she considered conclusive point, was energy.  The energy required to propel a vessel at a speed that would make a journey practical over the distances required would be truly immense.  The energy, or fuel, required to propel that same vessel and all the fuel it required to carry for the journey would be orders of magnitude greater.  Sam had likened it to a person driving a hundred times around the world, never stopping to re-fuel, the extra weight of the fuel required to drive three hundred thousand miles would necessitate more fuel, and that extra weight more fuel still.  Then the engine would need to be huge to pull the weight of all that fuel plus the tanker in which it would be stored.  Then there would be the weight of all the food and water, again as the driver would not be stopping.  The energy required to move all that food and water.  The energy required to heat and light the vehicle.  Then all this would have to be multiplied by the number of people, which on a space vehicle could be significant.


Sam had left Jay with the distinct impression, “fact” Sam called it, that UFO's are not from other worlds, they are just unexplained.  Jay was left to ponder either aliens are very advanced or we have gotten some fundamental things wrong.


 


 






 




 


 


 


 


 


 


5 Negotiations


 


 


17:42              27 October  [14:42  27 October  GMT]


Kubinka Military Airbase, Kubinka District, 82 km outside Moscow, Russia.


 


The plane taxied along the landing strip, guided by the ground crew to a specially allocated spot, it came to a rest away from most of the Russian Air Force planes based there.  General Sam Colt looked out of the window, not really expecting to see anything special, but he thought what the hell, I'm here anyway...


Sam had seen satellite photos of Kubinka, detailed maps of the airbase and the surrounding area.  He knew the approximate number of personnel stationed here.  In short, he knew a lot.  This however was his first visit to this airbase.  Whilst its proximity to Moscow made it convenient for travel, they could have been scheduled into one of the civilian airports Shermeytov or Domodedovo.  The Russians are making a point, he thought, allowing a US aircraft to land at one of the most prestigious Russian military airports was declaring, we are not frightened and we have nothing to hide.  Sam made a mental note to thank them for the permission to land here and on the efficiency of the airport.


General Sam Colt is a soldier’s soldier; tough, keen, fearless.  ‘The Hammer’ as he is known, has that rare ability amongst enlisted men to be equally capable on both the tactics and strategy of war.  Never one to walk away from a fight, he had never been one to start one either.  Starting fights, he had always contended, was the job of the politicians, they decide who the neighbourhood bully is, and the Hammer pays them a visit.  The Hammer’s visits were supported by his Army Group and normally occurred after an initial visit from the 102nd Airborne, but the Hammer always liked to get involved, personally. 


Sam turned his attention back to his British counterpart, General Sir Charles “Call me Charlie” Beaconsfield.  Sam could never quite figure him out.  Charlie came across to most people as the typical English gentleman, reserved, polite, and “soft”.  Sam knew this was far from true.  Although Sam had known Charlie for some considerable time, he always read up on all of the people with whom he would be negotiating.  Charlie's file always made for interesting reading.  The second son of the Duke of Hampshire, relations between father and son had always been quite strained, although they had softened recently.  Married to Elizabeth with three children, Mark 17, William 16, and Gemma 11.  A career officer, he stood out from the rest by three remarkable events.  Charlie had twice been decorated for bravery under fire by risking his own life to rescue wounded colleagues.  Indeed, he had never left a man behind.  There was also talk of a black op he had been involved in where he had personally killed six sentries; four with a garrotte wire, one with a knife and the last with his bare hands.  All of this lay beneath the surface with Charlie.  His men also respect him a great deal, if Charlie took on a job there would be no end of volunteers.  He also takes care of his men making sure that their kit was always up to date, and where necessary quietly purchasing out of his own pocket, just to ensure his men were always properly equipped and protected.  Now one of the most senior officers in the British Armed Forces, he spends an increasingly large amount of his time fighting with government bureaucrats to try to ensure that all enlisted men have the equipment they need and deserve.


Sam could never understand this about Great Britain.  The British government expected so much from its armed forces but never gave them all the necessary resources.  The average British soldier was half equipped by American standards and yet, Sam was ashamed to admit it, was the better of his American counterpart in most if not all respects.  Size made all the difference, he knew.  The American army was just on a different scale to the British, indeed in terms of personnel only three countries could match or better America; India, China and Russia.  When you factored in quality military training, you were left with Russia.  Then add technical superiority and you are left with America as the superpower.


Sam knew that this couldn't last though.  As a student of military history, he knew that whilst Russia was modernising, India and China were training hard, modernising as well and increasing the technological bias of their fighting forces.  Global manufacturing centres, they are also pushing to the front of the technological innovation queue.  Already nuclear powers, space superiority beckons them both and as their ambitions grow so too does their military-industrial complex.  The next world war, thought Sam, will be fought in Asia.  And in space.


The aircraft finally came to a halt and shortly after the stairs were moved to the aircraft door.  Sam and Charlie disembarked, leaving the matter of their luggage to their batmen.  A smart Russian salute greeted them at the bottom of the stairs, the Russian Colonel rigid, his voice regretful as he spoke. 


'I am sorry to inform you that General Ivanskiy could not be here to greet you both himself.'  He continued ‘I am to take you both to your hotel; the other car will take your men and luggage.' 


The Colonel nodded towards a Russian Zil limousine and then towards the aircraft.  'I will come for you both in the morning at 07:45 and take you to meet the General.' 


Sam and Charlie returned the salute and then shook the Colonel's hand as well.  They departed the air force base in the back of the first limousine.  The Russian Colonel sitting in front next to the driver thoughtfully turned on the radio.  The speech by the new Secretary-General of the United Nations was being carried live, her English being near-instantaneously translated into Russian.  Sam listed intently, a fluent Russian speaker it was giving him trouble listening to two languages that he spoke well, relaying the same information but in a different way and out of synchronisation.  He looked over at Charlie and could tell he was having the same problem.


'What do you think to the new Sec-Gen then?’  Sam asked.


He was curious for his counterparts view but conscious that it would be stilted given their current situation.  Charlie looked at the two Russians in the front of the car, then at Sam. 


'She has all the credentials.  When she speaks, it’s both as a person and as a politician.  I think she'll do her best, but given all the history between the members of the U.N.  I suspect her ability to achieve real change may be limited in scope.'


Sam acknowledged this and couldn't help think that there was a lot of the politician in Charlie, in all Brits actually. 


'I guess you're right.' 


 


 


08:30              28 October  [05:30  28 October  GMT]


MoD Building, Frunzenskaya Embankment, Khamovniki District, Moscow.


             


General Gregori Stephonovich Ivanskiy stood and offered his two counterparts a glass of vodka.  Russians cannot mark special events without vodka, and for the General this was such an occasion.  His counterparts accepted the proffered drinks and downed them in one, Russian style.  They both expected that most of what would happen here today would be like an awkward first date, not much actual progress and a few, often embarrassing, misunderstandings.  They had never met the Russian before, although they both knew him by his reputation, which was formidable by any standards.  However, theirs were not just any standards.  They were all highly respected professional soldiers, men who had reached the pinnacle of their careers by commanding men on the battlefield, and not through political connections or writing reports.


The three of them walked over towards the conference table, a nice solid wooden structure with a mirror glass finish. 


‘It’s Hungarian Oak,’ explained the General, ‘A particular favourite of mine.’


As they took their seats, the Russian General activated a switch under the table the lights dimmed and a map appeared on the table, actually projected onto the glass top.  The map appeared to be extremely comprehensive, showing the topography of the countryside, roads, railway lines, towns, villages, and farms; in fact everything one could have wanted of a battlefield map.  All of the labels had been thoughtfully subtitled in English.


'Very nice General,' offered Charlie in English.  Charlie could have spoken in Russian, but it had been agreed that English would be the first language for this meeting. 


'As you know gentlemen' General Ivanskiy continued 'the aim of this exercise is two-fold.  The first is to establish how our three armies can fight effectively together and the second is to find a strategy for both defending our oil establishments and to re-take them should they be seized by hostile forces.' 


General Sam Colt only just managed to stifle a laugh.  The identity of the expected “hostile forces” was of no great secret, with the world’s largest standing army and sharing an enormous border with Russia, the Chinese were the only force that could be of any concern to the Russian General.


The political will needed to bring about the exercise had been immense.  Military exercises are never popular with national politicians, diplomats, or bureaucrats.  Politicians do not see the value in them, diplomats take the view that they can exacerbate or precipitate aggression, and bureaucrats just can’t stand their imprecise nature.  They also cost money, a lot of money.  Next to an actual war, a full-scale military exercise is the single most expensive activity a country can undertake.  The transportation of tens of thousands of men, vehicles, equipment, and supplies to sustain an exercise of two weeks would roughly equal the entire national output of some of the world’s smaller countries for an entire year. 


None of the generals was particularly clear about how this exercise had been approved, there was the official version where the three countries leaders had met and decided upon “closer ties and cooperation”, and they didn’t doubt that the intentions were genuine.  However, each of them had heard rumours, some that the previous Secretary-General of the United Nations was involved, and another that a private individual or consortium had underwritten the cost.  However, there had been other rumours too.


General Ivanskiy continued his discourse on the planned exercise, laying out what he understood to be each of the positions of their respective governments.  The US position being that both the American and British forces should defend against a Russian attack as the they have fought alongside one another successfully, and that the Russian troop dispositions (when compared to the combined US/UK forces) would be on a similar scale to any Chinese attack.  This was not the view of the Hammer, but as the view of his government, he could not dismiss it entirely without reason.


The British position on the combined exercise being similar to the American one, except they believed that the roles should be reversed; Russians defending against a US/UK attack.  The Russian position on the other hand was held much more passionately, only they should defend mother Russia, but with the tactical assistance of the UK against the Americans, but with the added proviso that the Americans would be limited on their use of technology to a level consistent with the estimated level of the Chinese.  When the general had finished summarising the three positions, he offered his opinion.


'I think we should let our governments fight each other on the battlefield, whilst we govern.’  Gregori Stephonovich let out a roar of laughter at his own joke. 


Indeed, Charlie thought, it would be interesting to see politicians and diplomats on the battlefield, firing wildly in the air, too scared to move and too afraid not to.  Longing for the comfort of their air-condition offices, personal assistants and chauffeured limousines.  The dangers of paperwork and the threat of words are a world away from the frontline. 


Gregori Stephonovich continued.              'I believe that each of our government’s positions has merit, but I do not think any one of them goes far enough.  What I would propose is that we agree here and now to integrate our three armies down to the operating level for the purposes of the exercise, and then to draw from their combined strength two forces; one to represent us and the other the aggressor.  So gentlemen, tell me, what do you think?’


In but a few short sentences the Russian General had thrown away all of the government positions, cut out most of the coming week’s negotiations and probably come up with the most radically simple solution.  That, to the generals, was the heart of it all.  They are soldiers.  Soldiers like to train above all else.  This would be one of the very biggest and best training exercises ever conceived, and both of the Russian’s counterparts felt that as such it should also be the most effective.  To combine the three army groups down to the operating unit level, split them according to the anticipated dispositions of Russian and Chinese troops and then have the two new armies do battle is a stroke of genius, Charlie thought.  Pure bloody genius. 


The rest of discussions centred around defining what an anticipated Chinese attack would look like in terms of men and material, as well as conceiving of a way to ascribe a new command structure that would fit with each of the existing armies methods.  The task was not easy, but they were all committed to it and by dusk, they had drawn up a “heads of agreement”, a charter for the lower level officers to use in deciding which unit is placed where and under whose authority.  The generals, after several toasts of vodka to the success of their upcoming exercise, retired for the night, satisfied that they had each contributed to another monumental step forward in East-West relations.  The beauty of the plan was that no matter what, none of them would come away the “loser” from the exercise and all would gain from having participated.  Sleep came easy to the Generals that night.


 


 


18:03              30 October  [15:03  30 October  GMT]


Domodedovo Airport, Moscow, Russia.


 


Sam and Charlie arrived early at the airport to wait for their wives’ flight to land.  They both knew the hire limousine would be bugged.  They had discussed when and where they would be able to talk candidly on the flight over.  They had agreed that the FSB, the Federal Security Service of the Russian Federation, would not miss the opportunity to eavesdrop on two senior foreign military officers.  No matter the official stand on “peace and cooperation”.  They knew this because their own security services would do the same given the opportunity.  Even though they had hired the limousine from a reputable company, they still expected it to come with the addition of tiny microphones.


 


Lady Elizabeth Beaconsfield had only met Mary Morgan-Colt once before.  It was at an embassy function some three years previously.  She couldn't honestly remember which embassy.  However, she did remember Mary.  Not for the cosmetic surgery she had had done.  A man probably wouldn't notice but a woman does.  No lines around her eyes.  Her lips too full.  A nip here and a tuck there.  Expensive work and not too much of it.  Elizabeth could imagine Mary discussing it with her surgeon.  “I could take ten years off and no one would know”.  That was the secret, thought Elizabeth.  A woman in her fifties can look like she is in her forties and look good.  A woman who shoots for her twenties inevitably misses.  Usually badly.


Elizabeth took out her compact.  Ostensibly, to check her makeup, she actually wanted to remind herself that she still looked good.  I could pass for forties, she thought.  She knew that she was blessed with very good genes.  She had always exercised, sensibly but regularly.  She kept a good diet except for a period of vegetarianism in her teens when her horse died and her father had made a bad joke about horse burgers.  There was also the rebellious phase when she first had her own place.  The vegetarianism long gone she lived on takeaway food for over a year.  Yes, she thought, definitely forties.


Elizabeth turned her thoughts back to Mary and the almost endless conversation they had had on the flight over.  She had accepted her husband's request to join her as a matter of duty.  She knew that the other General's wives would be joining them, expected to occupy themselves most of the time except for when they were to be officially “wheeled out” for ceremonies.  Meeting Mary at Heathrow and sharing the flight over was, without doubt, the best thing that has happened to me in a long while, she thought.


Their discussion had started with the most obvious.  Their husbands and how they are married to their careers.  Next came talk of families with an exchange of photos.  Mary proudly showing her two children to Elizabeth.  There was no need for explanations or questions, Mary's son, and daughter were both obviously oriental and therefore adopted.  Sally 'Cho Hee' Colt 16 and her brother Samuel 'Chin Ho' Colt were, Mary said, Korean by birth but ours by God's grace.  Mary had said and meant that in the most precious motherly way.  Elizabeth could see the memory of a barren womb reflected in Mary's eyes.  Sally and Samuel looked lovely.  She had shared her own with Mary.  Her two sons Mark 17 and William 16 and there unplanned, unexpected little baby girl Gemma now 11.  In the few short hours of the flight, they both managed to recount a lifetime of growing up, marrying and parenting.  They were both looking forward to being grandparents as well.  However, University and a career were ahead for their children first.


They had also discussed their Russian counterpart, General Ivanskiy's wife Anna.  Neither of them had met her.  They didn't really know what to expect.  They both knew Russian women, but they were women who had left their own country behind to settle somewhere else.  People are different in the country of their birth.  All they had to go on was what their husbands had told them, they exchanged what little information they had and started to guess the rest to fill time.  When they had finished they were describing Anna as some sort of half Russian Princess, half Olympic Shot-Put champion.  They both giggled like schoolgirls at the image.  The pressurised cabin and free champagne has certainly made an impact, a stewardess noted as she passed by.


Flight BA0874 rolled to a stop in its allocated spot.  Elizabeth and Mary both disembarked with the other VIPs.  Porters gathered their luggage and accompanied them through customs and into the arrivals lounge.  They could both instantly tell that their husbands had found the bar whilst they had been waiting.  Well, thought Elizabeth, that makes four of us unable to drive, good thing they ordered a limo.


As they entered the car, Charlie leaned in close to his wife and whispered in her ear.  'How was the flight dear?'  


Elizabeth knew this to be code for “is everything OK and what do you think of Mary.”  Elizabeth drew a small breath and whispered back.  'The flight was fine thanks darling, Mary and I chatted endlessly, she really is very nice.'


During the drive to the hotel, they occupied themselves with small talk.  The wives gently probing their husbands for more information about the Russian General's wife Anna.  The little more they gleaned was that their marriage was as much a political one as it was a personal one.  Anna's family apparently being very well connected and the General, then a Colonel with his star in ascendency was as good a match for her, as she was for him.


At the hotel, they had their luggage sent straight to their rooms whilst they all headed for the bar.  The wives looked at each other and shared a thought.  It is going to be one of those evenings.


 


 


10:14               31 October  [07:14  31 October  GMT]


Presidential Suite, National Hotel, Mokhovaya St., Moscow, Russia.


 


Mary awoke, dehydrated, disorientated, and very hung over.  Her husband was long gone.  He is always up so early no matter how much he drinks.  I wonder if soldiers have special training?  She picked up the hotel phone next to her bed and dialled the extension for Elizabeth's room.


'Hello?'


'Hi Elizabeth, its Mary.  Have you had breakfast yet?'


'I haven't even opened my eyes yet...and I won't until the bed stops swaying.'


'I think you'll find the bed is fine, it's the cocktails we had last night that are causing the motion.'


'Are you trying to make me feel better Mary?  Is this some strange American way of trying to improve my state of mind that I have hither to been unaware.  Because I have to tell you, it’s really not working.'


The British, Mary thought to herself; love to use five words when one or two will normally do.


'Look how about we meet downstairs for breakfast?'


'OK' replied Elizabeth, 'just give me fifteen and I'll be down.'


Mary laid there with the phone to her ear and no one on the other end of it.  That was something else she was coming to learn quickly about Elizabeth.  When she ended a conversation she simply stopped speaking, if you didn't catch the intonation in her voice it could be quite unsettling.  She replaced the receiver and composed herself to go down for breakfast.


Breakfast for the both of them consisted of more fruit juice than usual and a mix of cereals and breads.  They decided that a quiet day shopping, possibly for a new outfit for the reception that night, combined with a light lunch would probably be the maximum that either of them could comfortably contemplate.  Mary hoped her husband wouldn't be playing soldiers today.


 


 


11:20               31 October  [08:20  31 October  GMT]


MoD Building, Frunzenskaya embankment, Khamovniki District, Moscow.


 


'The negotiations are going well I think.'  Colonel Petrenko suggested.


'You think so Nickolai Andreovich?' replied General Ivanskiy, more tersely than he intended.


He pulled out his packet of Sorbaine cigarettes and offered one to the Colonel.  The Colonel took it gratefully.


'I do, yes General.'  The Colonel stiffened, ready for the almost inevitable lecture about why and how he was wrong in his evaluation of the situation.


'Well,' the General started, looking deep into his subordinate's eyes 'I guess you may be right.'


The Colonel, very gently, let out the breath he was holding, his shoulders relaxed and the tension he had felt ebbed quietly away.


'You see,' the General continued, ‘they seem to be agreeing to every damn thing we suggest.  It's unnerving.  I don't know if they are just playing for time or if they are planning to spring a big suggestion on us knowing that we would have to swallow it.  You've been dealing with your counterparts, what do you make of their negotiating stance?'


The Colonel took a long draw on his cigarette, let it out under force and stared off into the distance for a couple of seconds, he took another, smaller draw on his cigarette before he finally replied.


'I don't think they have a negotiating stance, at least not anymore.  The impression I get is that they had spent a lot of time going through various scenarios before coming here.  Unfortunately for them, your brilliant plan delivered on day one totally threw all of their preparation out of the window.  I think they have been making it up ever since.'


The General acknowledged the compliment.  So, he thought to himself, Nickolai Andreovich is politic as well as capable of speaking his own mind; this will be one to watch. 


'I think you are right Nickolai Andreovich, I think you are right.'


The Colonel straightened up considerably at such recognition; the General just smiled inwardly to himself and made a note to have the Colonel included in the actual war games.  The General returned to the negotiations intent on understanding what the American and British negotiating positions actually were.  As the meeting reconvened, the General began.             


'We have talked much and agreed much and before we continue I would like to give you both the opportunity to outline' the General paused for the right words 'those areas of greatest concern to you.'


Shit, thought Sam and Charlie almost simultaneously, he has rumbled us. 


'Thank you General,' began Charlie 'and thank you as well for both proposing and hosting these discussions.' 


Charlie had no idea where he was going with this, but he knew the worst thing to do would be to show weakness in front of the Russians.  Both the American and the British delegations at the talks and those back home had been working hard since the first day.  The bombshell dropped by the Russians by proposing a truly joint exercise had swept away all of the Anglo-American planning.  So far, no one had come up with anything remotely satisfactory to replace their previous negotiating stance.  Now Charlie had to succeed in a second where dozens had failed.


'What we were considering, deliberating really…’  Charlie began, hoping that his mind would not fail him '…was...was...whether, as it is going to be such a major exercise, it would be possible to have a military base for our troops in Russia.'


Brilliant, thought Charlie, now to add the final nail in the negotiating coffin.


'And as we see it, it would be beneficial to have that base on a permanent basis to facilitate future exercises.'  Fantastic, thought Charlie, the Russians will do a major shit before ever agreeing to that.  Charlie and Sam looked across at General Ivanskiy.  The rest of the people in the room, from all three delegations held their breath, all attention focused on the Russian General.


'Da' uttered General Ivanskiy.


Da, fucking Da, what the hell does he mean Yes?  Charlie's pulse was racing; a lesser man might have had a stroke.


'Da.  That is yes.  That is something we can discuss I feel.  Though you realise that agreement would have to come from the Kremlin.  It is above the pay grade of a simple Yefreytor, forgive me, a simple soldier such as myself to commit to.  But I do have the authority to discuss these matters.’  General Ivanskiy lied.             


Shit, thought Charlie, shit shit shit, what have I done?  Opening this door will lead to the Russians suggesting a military exercise in Europe or the States and that would lead them on to a reciprocal agreement on having a permanent military base in NATO.


'Well,' interjected Sam 'it looks like we have a new topic for discussion.  How about we call an early lunch and continue this later?'


Sam smiled confidently at his Russian counterpart and to his British one too, but he had a certain look in his eye that was unmistakable to Charlie.


'Da' General Ivanskiy replied 'after lunch then gentlemen.'


The delegations withdrew from the conference room.  Lunch, actually an opportunity to discuss privately amongst themselves, meant travelling to their embassies.  Today the British embassy was hosting the Americans for lunch.  As the door on Charlie's official car closed behind them, Charlie and Sam exchanged another look.  Sam broke the silence.


'Bloody hell Charlie, what have you done?'


'You know very well what I have done.  I've screwed both our countries.  I was in a tight spot and didn't know which way to jump.'


'So you thought, into the lake of fire and alligators it is, oh and why don't I drag my old mate Sam in too.'


So, Charlie thought to himself, Sam isn't that annoyed with me.  After all, he tends to go super-serious when he is really pissed off.  Charlie decided to wind up Sam a bit further.


'Well' Charlie replied, suppressing a grin 'you could have spoken up, added something of your own, you know, actually participate for a change.'


Sam turned sharply to his left so his face was square on to Charlie's, when he spoke it was with the low growl of a man barely controlling his emotions. 


'I have worked my butt off at these talks and you know it.  I have worked for months behind the scenes planning these sessions and preparing our joint position.  I, in short, have worked my fucking brains out on this.'


Charlie maintained Sam's gaze and slowly clapped his hands. 


'Sorry I didn't realise,' Charlie said ‘I just thought you phoned the Russians last week and asked if it would be OK if we popped by for a chat.' 


Charlie finished this off with one of his broad smiles.  He could look like a cheeky little schoolboy when it suited him.  Sam finally caught the joke.  Returning Charlie's smile as a grin, his shoulders relaxed and he sat back into the seat.  He stretched out the fingers of both hands, aware for the first time that they had become fists. 


'OK' said Sam, relaxing even more, 'what do we do next?'


'Oh that's obvious old boy, we have lunch.'


 


 


The Generals took their places, the original agenda for the afternoon session had been shredded, and in its place was now just a single item, a reciprocal arrangement for military bases. 


‘You know,’ Colonel Petrenko said leaning in close to his General, ‘Embassies exist in all countries and are governed by internationally recognised rules and laws.  The land upon which they reside is, for all intents and purposes, the homeland of the country of the embassy.’


‘Da.’ General Ivanskiy nodded and made his decision.  ‘Gentleman it seems that my aide, Colonel Petrenko, has a proposal.’  He looked at his aide, judging how he will react.  ‘Nickolai Andreovich please share your proposal.’


Colonel Petrenko shot to his feet, still more a solider than an officer at heart, he stood rigid his eyes fixed on an imaginary horizon.


‘Honoured guests.’  Nickolai’s English strained under the occasion.  ‘We have Embassies with each other, da?  Our embassy in your country is our land.  If these military bases were embassies then we could have our own land in the other’s country.  We have signed treaties, we know the rules, and so do our political masters.’  Nickolai stood quiet, ‘That is all I have.’  He sat back down next to his General, more relieved than he knew he should have felt.


‘So what do we think?’  General Ivanskiy eyed his counterparts.


‘It would seem an elegant solution to a difficult problem.’  Charlie replied still feeling responsible for his earlier mistake.


The scope was extended to provide for the bases being joint enterprises, with Russian and Coalition troops working and training alongside one another.  There was one major area of difficultly, that being who would “run” the bases.  An Ambassador would not have experience in commanding troops, nor a General in diplomacy. 


Charlie suggested that what was needed was another arm of government, not political, military or civil service but a combination of the best parts of all three.  He kept wondering how General Ivanskiy had been able to gain the agreement of both the military and the Kremlin in his plan to integrate Russian forces with American and British forces.  It is as if Ivanskiy has some special inside track within the Russian political-military complex....


 


 


20:18              31 October  [17:18   31 October  GMT]


Georgievsky Hall of the Grand Kremlin Palace, Moscow, Russia.


 


The British delegation was the fourth to arrive.  Charlie and Elizabeth were travelling in with the Ambassador and her husband.  It is interesting, Elizabeth thought to herself, how far women have come and yet for all kinds of personal preferences and conventions we might as well be living in Victorian times.  Elizabeth was dressed in a truly stunning ball-gown that she had chosen the previous day in a Moscow boutique, she had brought several with her, but felt that she would honour her hosts by wearing a Russian styled, made, and sold dress.  It was off the shoulder and made the most of her figure, especially her slim waist and ample breasts.  The Ambassador made her contemplate women's progress though.  The Ambassador's husband was predictably dressed in black tie, as was her own husband Charlie, and she guessed Sam would be too, there are not any real options for men except for formal state affairs when they can wear their dress uniforms.  The Ambassador though being a woman could not wear black-tie without calling attention to the fact that she wasn't wearing a dress, however to dress-up too much, look too attractive or provocative would undermine her credibility, people would wonder whether she got the job, or her first job, on looks alone.  It is totally unfair, thought Elizabeth, but also totally a reality.  She recognised that the Ambassador had managed to tread the line by showing herself as an attractive woman, but one who looked serious and regal, rather than fun and appealing. 


As their car pulled into the Kremlin Palace, Elizabeth became aware of the scale and splendour of the buildings.  Built in the time of the Czars, it was like a palace from a fairy tale, or several palaces.  The car stopped outside the Grand Kremlin Palace from where they were lead though the gilded halls into the State Room.  No one spoke as they entered the hall.  The ceiling, three stories high, was decorated with the same gold-leaf inlay and detailed carving as the walls, the huge four-tier chandleries hung in the air shining with the brilliance of over a hundred bulbs each like a cluster of brightly lit stars exploding light into the room, their brilliance reflected by all the gold.


They were announced into the room “General Sir Charles and Lady Elizabeth Beaconsfield” and moved along the official reception line, shaking hands, exchanging greetings and generally looking forward to the end of the line and the champagne that was waiting.  Glasses in hand they were met by Sam and Mary. 


'Elizabeth you look stunning, any chance you would drop this guy and run away with me?’  Sam asked.


It was Mary who jumped in next, 'Charlie, as soon as you are free how about flying out to my ranch and help me do a little rustling?' she winked openly at Charlie for good measure. 


'What do you think dear' Elizabeth looked at her husband as she asked him, 'should I abandon you and run off with the gallant American?'


'I guess so...’  Charlie responded giving the appearance of pondering the question, 'you realise that you would be forcing me into the arms of another lady.'  Charlie beamed like a schoolboy.


'Hey!' exclaimed Mary, 'What makes you think I'm a lady?' 


After the remaining guests had arrived the official reception line was stood down and General Ivanskiy at last had the opportunity to head over to the group of four; a slim, but well-shaped brunette on his arm who was wearing a low cut red dress from which it appeared that her large breasts were trying to wrestle their way free.  Four sets of eyes were trained on her, two in an inquiring and challenging way, two more in a much more lascivious way.


'General Sam and Mary Colt, General Sir Charles and Lady Elizabeth Beaconsfield, may I introduce my wife, Anna Stephonova Ivanskiy.'  General Ivanskiy said simply.


After the introductions, the compliments and the usual small talk, the women took their cue and left the men to talk shop.  Mary and Elizabeth were keen to learn more about Anna, not realising that Anna was just as keen to learn about them.


 


 


01:16              01 November  [22:16   31 October  GMT]


Presidential Suite, National Hotel, Mokhovaya St., Moscow, Russia.


 


Mary called to Sam from the bathroom, 'You know, Anna is simply delightful, I never imagined that the General would have such a warm wife.'


'Why, because she is Russian or the wife of a General?'  Sam rolled his eyes, safe in the knowledge that she couldn't see him.


'There's no need for the attitude...or for you to roll your eyes.'


Damn, he thought, how does she do that?


'All I mean is,' she continued, 'is that she is really nice.  Elizabeth thinks so too.  You know she has invited us to her spa whilst you and Charlie are off playing soldiers.  Three days of deep salt scrubs and massages, sounds like heaven to me.'


Yes, thought Sam, somewhat ungraciously, because you and Elizabeth both have such hard lives you need a few days to recuperate.


'I know what you're thinking and we do deserve a little time to ourselves.  We may not play soldiers and we don't get paid for the work that we do, but a lot of people depend on our fund raising activities.'


              Damn it, it's as if she has a bug in my mind.  Sam thought back to when he met Anna.  I hope she wasn't eavesdropping on my mind then...


              'Well I hope you and Elizabeth both have a great time.'


 


 


17:04              01 November  [13:04   01 November GMT]


Health Spa, Volzhsky Utyos, Samara Region, Russia.


 


The spa was women only, the closest men could venture was the entrance allowing Mary, Elizabeth and Anna to relax.  They could just be themselves without feeling that they had to be on public display.  The spa itself had many influences; Czarist Russian, Turkish, French and latterly commercial, with the addition of manicures, pedicures, waitress service and a two star Michelin restaurant.


The three of them had started with a high-pressure water treatment; a kind of super-fast Jacuzzi followed by Turkish style deep punishing massages, mud baths and were now deep cleansing in the sauna.


'You know,' Anna began, 'why I brought you here?'


Mary and Elizabeth exchanged a look but didn't interrupt.


'It's because we can talk here.  There are no surveillance here.'  Anna continued, having slightly stumbled over her English.  'I think it is important that we are friends.  I think it is very important.  Our husbands are starting out on a...Deeyermo' she swore, searching for the right words ‘Opasnoyeh pootyeshyestviyeh ...perilous journey.  Da, a perilous journey from which there can be only two outcomes; one that we become allies and bond, two we fall out and fight.  I know this and I think you know both it too.’  Again, her English letting her down, as the pressure of her meaning defeated her grammar.


Elizabeth responded, 'I am not sure what it is you want from us?'


'I want' Anna continued 'I want your trust in me.  It is important.  I know you do not trust me.  I do not trust you, but it is important that I do.  That we do.  I will have to earn your trust.  I will tell you something, which is not widely known.  My husband has a mistress.  Her name is Valentina Yashina Soboleva.  She is thirty-seven and he has been seeing her for eighteen years.  Now know this.  I love my husband, I am not telling you this to betray him, far from it.  I am speaking to you with his tacit knowledge and approval.  He does not know that I know about his mistress and I do not want him to know, he is happy and he makes me happy.  The point is we can speak’ again she searches for the right Russian word to translate, ‘ot'krito, da, ot'krito, openly, our husbands cannot...yet.  In world of confusion, we must communicate clearly if we are to survive.'


The room was quiet save for the sound of the steam rising off the rocks.  Elizabeth cleared her throat and quietly began.


'What you ask is not impossible.  You are right we do not trust you; at least I do not trust you...yet.  But you are right trust is important between us.'


'Yes, Yes!’  Anna interjected, 'It is like what my Gregori say, he says dorvereeyeh yavlayetsya osnovee cheeveeleezacheiee, trust is the bedrock of civilisation, da, trust is the bedrock of civilisation.  He very clear on this point.’  Anna had become animated with remembering the phrase her husband had used.


Despite the high temperature in the sauna, a chill ran through Elizabeth’s veins.  She stole herself against revealing any emotion. 


'And he is right, Anna Stephonova.  Trust is the bedrock of civilisation.  I will speak to my husband.  And I will give you my trust...for now.'


Mary had sat all through this feeling like a complete outsider.  Finally, the compulsion to be part of the conversation pushed her into an area she would not normally have ventured into. 


'You don't mind that your husband has a mistress?'


'Before Gregori got his...hobby, he was never happy, nothing was ever right for him.  Since, he has become more content and with it kinder, gentler and a more considerate lover.  He is far better father.  It would be much worse if he drank or gambled; besides she is really nice and I know he loves me.'


'Well I'll be a son-of-a-bitch!' exclaimed Mary.


'You will?' asked Anna, missing the meaning and translating it literally.


'No, no,' replied Mary, 'I just meant that it never occurred to me that a woman could see her husband having a mistress as a good thing.'


'You would be surprised how circumstance can changed your views.'  Anna replied.


Elizabeth, ignoring this last exchange was just thinking to herself, this can't be a coincidence, but just in case I will tread lightly.


 






 




 


 


 


 


 


 


6 Enemies


 


 


14:43                31 October  [20:43  31 October  GMT]


Suite 413, Hotel Del Presidente, Mexico City, Mexico.


 


Ordinarily the Swiss would have hosted the meeting.  They could always be relied upon for their discretion, their banking secrecy is nothing compared to their diplomatic secrecy.  This however was different.  There could be no mistakes.  Total secrecy and total deniability was needed.  The first to ensure that word did not get out, the second in case it did.  Officially, only twenty-seven people in the world knew that this meeting was taking place.  Five of the twenty-seven were at the meeting.  There was to be no official host.  The Americans had made the arrangements and were providing an arbitrator and two protection officers.  The remaining two were the negotiators, one only from each side.  Senior men, they could both report confidentially and directly to their respective superiors.


The place chosen was a simple hotel.  A mid-market venue in which five men having a meeting would go unnoticed.  They held three suites between them, the two protection officers taking the twin room, the American's suite hosting the talks.  The official language for the talks was English.  The two negotiators both spoke English fluently.  They were well educated.


The American paced his suite nervously.  This was without doubt his most important assignment to date.  The problem, if you could call it that, was that it was not high profile.  It is no-profile, he thought, if such a phrase exists, a black operation in the field of diplomacy.  As far as his wife and friends were concerned, he was on a diplomatic training course, sharing knowledge and experience with other diplomats at a luxury resort in the Caribbean.  This is not a luxury hotel by any means and Mexico is certainly not the Caribbean.  He checked his watch, again.  14:47. A knock at the door made his heart skip a beat and brought him out of his daydreaming.


He answered the door to a man of dark eyes and olive complexion, a little taller than the American at 5' 10” he had the air and presence of a man who had known death from both sides.  Had he not known who he was, the American would have guessed correctly, he was unmistakably of middle-eastern appearance. 


'Fursa Sa'eeda' the American said, offering a traditional Palestinian greeting.


'It is good to see you again too.’  Saeb Tibi replied in English. 


'I am here first?’  Saeb asked, trying and failing to keep both the tension and his annoyance out of his voice.


'Yes,' the American replied, 'I don't think we will have long to wait, can I get you some coffee?'


'Coffee would be good, thank you.'


Saeb Tibi sat down on one of the sofas, reflecting on his current mission.  He lit up a Rothman after accepting his coffee, which his host had thoughtfully made in the middle-eastern or Turkish fashion.  Deeply infused to produce a deep rich flavour, sweetened well with raw cane sugar, like a thin coffee treacle.  Saeb drew deeply on his cigarette, and thought back to his briefing prior to these meetings. 


He was chosen as he was exactly the wrong man for the job.  He had no background in diplomacy; he had lost so much at the hands of the enemy.  Of his four brothers and three sisters he had lost one of each indirectly, they had died in infancy through lack of medicines.  He had lost two more of his brothers to gunfire at the hands of the enemy and later three of his toes during interrogation.  In truth, he had also lost his entire family; he was married to his work with no time for a wife or children.  The enemy had cost him a great deal, and now he was meeting with one of them on a regular basis and negotiating.  Not for the first time he felt sick with himself.  He also knew that negotiation was the only true way forward for his people.  His people needed a future, a future without war and strife.  A future where we can shape our own destiny.  Their future was in his hands.  He knew that his superiors would make the ultimate decisions and that when his work was done a whole team of negotiators would handle all the detail.  However, his negotiating was the basis for it all.  He drew again on his cigarette and waited.


Another knock at the door.  The American rose from the opposite sofa and answered the door.  The other negotiator had arrived.  He was similar in appearance to the first, although he had piercing blue eyes and his skin colour was lighter, he was also of middle-eastern origin.  The American welcomed the second negotiator into his suite.


'Shalom' the American said, using a traditional Jewish welcome.


'Hello again my friend' replied Benjamin Yogev.  He entered the suite and walked over to Saeb Tibi to greet him as well.  'It is good to see you again Saeb.'


Saeb had stood as Benjamin had entered the room; he took the Israeli's hand and replied.  'It is good to see you too, Benjamin.' 


There was no warmth between them.  None.  The American had insisted, from the conclusion of the first meeting, that they would greet one another as friends.  He did not expect this to have an immediate impact, but he knew that, given time and enough repetition, they would start to see the other as an individual and not the representation of evil that they saw initially.  We need more meetings, the American thought.  They took their seats at the round table set to the left-hand side of the suite, a single water jug and three glasses to mark their seats.  Benjamin, deaf in his left ear sat to Saeb's left-hand side so that his good ear was close to him.  The American spoke first by recapping the last negotiations and the points agreed to date; these were few in number and not of any great significance in themselves.  However, they had reached agreements on certain issues and that was more progress than most had ever made.  Benjamin let the American continue, not paying much attention, he had an excellent memory for detail, and he drifted off, memories running up to the start of this mission calling to him.


Benjamin had been surprised when he was told that there were going to be secret negotiations with the Palestinians.  He had protested at length, given chapter and verse at how much Israel and its people had suffered at their hands, how he had seen his own brother disappear in a ball of flame at one of many suicide bombings.  He was shocked and appalled that his superiors were considering such a course of action, he had asked what idiot they had chosen to give away their land.  “That would be you.”  Had been the reply.  He was mortified at being chosen, how could I, in good conscience negotiate with a Palestinian whom I would rather see dead?  That was why they wanted him he had been told, because of his history and his hatred.  A diplomat would see the common ground, whilst he would see the real issues for what they were.  It was not a volunteer mission, he had been chosen and that was that.


What Benjamin had not said, what he had dared not admit, even to himself, was that he had become increasingly uneasy about Israel's policy towards Palestine and the Arab world generally.  He had grown up through it all.  He had seen men, women and children die on both sides and what had been accomplished?  He wasn't sure.  Surrender was never an option, but victory seemed further and further away.  He wasn't even sure that anyone knew what victory for Israel looked like anyway.  Now he was watching an entire new generation of Jews and Arabs make the same mistakes he and his generation had.  If the only answer to bombs was shells, and neither side was going to run out of either, then what was the future?  It was these thoughts that occupied Benjamin's mind whilst the American was talking.


The American finished, it was Saeb's turn to open negotiations this time.  He shuffled his papers, cleared his throat, and began to speak.


'Thank you,' he began 'I would like to raise the issue of' he was interrupted by shouting coming from outside the suite.  The unmistakable sound of Spanish hailed though a megaphone, followed by the English translation.


'Throw down your weapons and face the wall with your hands on your head.'              The Mexican police sergeant instructed the two protection officers outside the suite.  They, unfortunately, had clear instructions, no one inside.  They both drew their weapons and fell in a hail of bullets from the multitude of police officers.  The door burst open and four Mexican officers stormed in, led by the Sergeant.  The American, startled and confused jumped out of his seat, turned to face the officers.  He reached for the passport that declared him a simple businessman.  This was an unfortunate mistake.  He received four shots to the chest, close together from the Sergeant and the other officer nearest to him.  The American fell down and didn't move. 


Saeb Tibi and Benjamin Yogev both sat quite still at the table, both experienced in warfare they knew their only chance was to keep still and cooperate.  Neither of them had any weapons.


'Put your hands on your heads' the Sergeant instructed them both. 


They complied.  Two of the officers moved around to their backs and locking a handcuff on one wrist, they brought their arms down behind their backs, and secured the other wrist into the other handcuff.  Neither man resisted, or protested. 


'Search them' the Sergeant instructed.


'Nada.'  Nothing the first said in Spanish, the second agreed, yes nothing. 


Odd, the Sergeant thought to himself, these drug dealers always carry weapons.  He looked around the room, no briefcase of money, nor of drugs, no scales, nothing in fact to show this was the drug deal he was tipped off about.  Just the two men out front with guns and the guy on the floor, he pointed to the American. 


'Recover his weapon' the Sergeant instructed one of his officers.


'He hasn't got one' the officer replied, after searching the cooling body thoroughly.


'What?  He was reaching for a gun.  Check his left inside jacket pocket.' the Sergeant was starting to get a very uneasy feeling. 


The officer pulled out the passport and showed it to his Sergeant.


'It's only his passport.  It says he was a machine-tool dealer.'


'Mierda...... mierda mierda mierda, cogida!,' The sergeant swore several times, realising that this was looking less and less like the drug bust he had been expecting. 


'Check those two.' he instructed the officer.


The officer reported that both the others had business cards identifying them as owners of engineering businesses.  The sergeant didn't like were this was going.  But, he thought to himself, I was given a reliable tip.  Fourth floor of the Hotel Del Principado.  He looked again at the piece of paper he had written down the location of the drug deal.  He looked at the hotel's headed paper on the desk against the wall.  Hotel Del Presidente, he read, he read the paper again.  They were similar, but not the same, I'm at the wrong hotel.  I AM AT THE WRONG HOTEL.  I've got to make this right somehow, the thought insisted itself on him.  He pulled out an evidence bag and slid the American's briefcase into it.  I'll deal with this later.  He called for the bodies to be taken to the mortuary and had the two “businessmen” arrested for drug dealing.


 


 


15:27                31 October  [21:27  31 October  GMT]


Booking desk, Central Police Station, Mexico City, Mexico.


             


The desk sergeant was overwhelmed with petty criminals.  When the arresting sergeant offered to book the evidence in the desk sergeant readily agreed.  He knew it was against procedure, but these things tended to be flexible at peak times and he knew that the arresting sergeant would leave him to sign the forms so everything looked official.  The arresting sergeant, alone in the evidence room placed the revolver in the briefcase and took one of the bags of cocaine destined for destruction and placed that in the briefcase.  That should do it, he thought to himself, after all, they might really be drug dealers after all, who knows?


 


 


18:09                31 October  [00:09  01 November GMT]


Interview Room, Central Police Station, Mexico City, Mexico.


             


They had both refused consular access.  They were, after all, holding fake passports, good ones, but officials from the countries of their fake passports would spot them quickly enough.  They both stuck to their cover stories, they were businessmen from two South American countries and were interested in purchasing high quality second-hand machine tools.  The American had come recommended and they were meeting him together to share a container and thus save on shipping costs.  They knew of each other through the person who had recommended the American.  They both had to use the same court appointed lawyer, as they had no one to contact.  When the lawyer arrived, both their hearts sank; he was young, looked tired, and carried a huge pile of case files.  When the lawyer mentioned the find of drugs and a gun in the American's briefcase they could not refute it.  This was supposed to be the first time they had met the American, so they just had to say that they didn't know what was in the American's briefcase.  The lawyer said that this would not be an easy case.  Being in association with a drug dealer carried the same penalty as drug dealing.  In any case, they were looking at a year or more of prison before trial.  They both stuck to their cover stories, aware that more than their lives were at stake.


 


 


19:41                31 October  [01:41  01 November GMT]


Holding Cell 4, Central Police Station, Mexico City, Mexico.


             


Benjamin Yogev had to admit how tired he was, he'd been on the go now for twenty hours.  A consequence of the four and a half hour flight from Israel to London and then the twelve hours of the onward flight to Mexico City added to the two-hour layover and the eight-hour time difference his body was experiencing.  However for all that he had not found the questioning overly stressful.  Sure, he thought to himself, if I had really been the owner of an engineering business then I may have been traumatised but I have been interrogated by professionals.


The memories of his various interrogations took him back through his life.  He thought back to his father's shop in Jerusalem, Abraham's.  He'd spent many happy hours and days there, helping with deliveries, making deliveries and learning to count the Shekels, his love of numbers was probably born there.  He was adored by all who shopped there and was given the nickname of Little Abraham, which was just fine with him.  His father, Abraham, had only a basic education and strived to ensure that all of his children were well educated.


School suited the young Benjamin.  The structure, discipline, and reward system worked to his advantage.  Year on year he grew in both height and intelligence and when his physical height reached its maximum of 5' 9” his intellectual height kept going.  Enlisting as a Paratrooper seemed natural to young Benjamin.  His father was both proud and a little disappointed; he was hoping his first-born would follow him into the business, but secretly he knew that Benjamin had already outgrown being a shopkeeper.


The move from school to military proved to be the making of Benjamin the man.  The tough discipline, hard physical training and the excellent advanced education helped him to be recognised as a rising star.  It was in the Paratroopers that Benjamin took up two of his hobbies, boxing, and triathlon.  He never truly excelled at either, both of his coaches complained he was always holding back, this was particularly apparent in the boxing ring. 


'He has the mind and body of a boxer' his coach had remarked one particular occasion to his commanding officer, 'but he doesn't have the heart of the boxer.  He never closes in for the finish.'


Like his fellow paratroopers, he was schooled in many of the martial arts including Krav Maga, the Israeli method of self-defence.  Here too his ability to finish was questioned, he just seemed that touch more reticent than his peers to go the final step, even if the final step was non-lethal.


So much concern was raised that his commanding officer decided to review his file, with a view to moving him out of the paratroopers.  Pending the review, he was placed on guard duty.


Things changed three weeks later during one of his graveyard shifts of six to six.  Just after two in the morning, his base came under attack.  They breached the first gate, killing all four guards on duty there.  Six assailants were now making for the second gate.  All were wearing backpacks and Benjamin was in no doubt that, they would head for the barracks once inside.  Suicide bombers.  Just like those who killed Ishmael!  Benjamin fired his assault rifle as he sprinted after then dropping immediately, forcing two to stop, and return fire.  Benjamin didn’t stop even when comrade was hit, he continued to fire and one more fell to the ground.  Benjamin pushed on, heart pounding, legs moving with a will of their own, and then a fierce blow struck his shoulder, like a cricket ball moving at speed.  He stumbled slightly, but his trained legs and his momentum kept him going towards his targets, then he felt the pain explode out from the impact area and his left arm became useless.  He held onto his rifle, pointing it up as he ran, then straight towards his targets each time he fired.  Damn, he thought, I can't aim for shit.  However, his fire was sufficient to provide him with some cover as he closed the distance to his targets.  The remaining target firing at him was panicking, he kept looking behind at his comrades running towards the second gate and switching back to see this guard who had appeared out of nowhere running towards him.  Firing off one final burst, he turned to follow the other suicide bombers into the heart of the camp.  It proved a fatal decision.  Benjamin was able to aim roughly ahead of him, and his target virtually ran into his line of fire.  Two down, Benjamin thought, but what about the others?  Then fate turned Benjamin's way, the guards on the second gate stuck to their training and didn't come out to meet the attackers, they activated the blast barrier sealing off the camp to the attackers.  Benjamin didn't miss a beat; he raised his rifle again and shot the two closest to him.  His rifle empty he simply dropped it and kept running, pulling his knife out as he closed the gap to the remaining two attackers.  He lunged at the nearest, who sidestepped and punched Benjamin to the right side of his head.  Stumbling badly this time he didn't fight it, instead he used his moment to roll forward and spring up behind the second, where he plunged his knife into his chest, entering up through the attacker’s abdomen as he reached around the attacker.  Benjamin felt the weight of the attacker fall on to him as his knife pierced the heart.  Benjamin tried to withdraw the knife, but it was lodged solid.  He released the knife, and pushed the body with all of his might onto the remaining attacker.  The attacker dodged the falling body, but it gave Benjamin time to stand-up and face him.  The moonlight reflected off the blade the attacker was now holding, Benjamin made an apparent lunge for him, but fainted to the attackers left.  This put Benjamin on the attacker's unprotected side, in a crouching position; he punched the attacker's left knee from the side with all his strength, it made a satisfying popping sound and gave way.  The attacker, stunned, fell right on top of Benjamin.  Benjamin wrapped his legs around the attacker’s waist and arms, pinning him, his left arm still useless he didn't have the strength to snap the attacker’s neck; he opted instead to choke him with his right arm across the attacker’s throat.  The attacker kicked and struggled, Benjamin held on, only releasing when his attacker had been totally still for a count of thirty.  Benjamin checked for a pulse.  No, no pulse.


Benjamin received a special commendation for outstanding bravery.  The case review was quietly closed, and his former coaches told of his actions so that they could look out for others like him.


Benjamin's mind moved forward in time, to the events that had brought him to this negotiating role, and ultimately to this police cell, he thought grimly.  Benjamin was never quite sure how or when he turned into a politician.  After his time in the Paratroopers, he undertook some special duties for an agency attached to Mossad but operating under different rules.  After this, he was approached by the far right party “The Sons of David” and persuaded to stand for election.  It was in this capacity and as a former soldier, that Benjamin was approached to act as a negotiator.  Why me, had been his obvious question, because you don't want to do it, because it goes against everything you believe and because if someone like you doesn't like the deal then it is not something that we could recommend to the people. 


At first, he had assumed he had been chosen to ensure that there was no peace accord.  Therefore, he had begun by objecting to and demanding anything and everything.  At his third report back, he was asked, told really, to suggest a very small compromise, just to test the water and see the response.  He did.  The response was cautious but positive, the matter in other negotiations would have seemed so trivial, but for an Arab and a Jew to agree on anything, especially this Arab and this Jew, was a miracle indeed.  More small compromises were made by both sides.  Benjamin had started to realise that the process and intent, on both sides, was real.  The enormity of the responsibility had weighed on him greatly.  All of the negotiations to date had been negotiations about negotiating, how would the two sides negotiate?  Who would represent them on both sides?  How many?  How many sessions?  What times would they be?  Where would they be held?  Who would host them?  Who would arbitrate?  How?  A million questions, all politically sensitive and loaded with dangers.


They had made real progress in this.  Now it was all shot to death.  Quite literally.  The loss of the American and our incarceration makes it very unlikely that anyone will continue the negotiations.


Benjamin sighed.  He resigned himself to his fate.  He must keep quiet for the sake of his country lest it be embarrassed and worse still, not make the effort ever again.  That would condemn his country to a very bleak future.  Benjamin sighed again, and started some press-ups, might as well keep fit.


 


 


20:22                31 October  [02:22  01 November GMT]


Holding Cell 9, Central Police Station, Mexico City, Mexico.


             


Saeb Tibi stretched out after his yoga.  He had been born a happy little boy.  Quite content to play on his own or with others, his imagination ever his friend.  However, he was also an intelligent and sensitive child, so by the age of nine he was becoming acutely aware of the injustice that pervaded his and his family’s lives.  This was the birth of his anger and hatred.  It came to colour every aspect of his life, everything wrong in the world, his world, became their fault.  They became the wrong and he became the mighty right.  He was educated in the Hanafi School of Sunni Islam.  Whilst his Imam was radical, and he was influenced strongly by it, he also read parts of the Koran that he was not schooled in, and found it strange that not only were Jews mentioned, they and Christians were respected as "People of the Book.”  This inconsistency he translated quietly in his own mind, if Allah can live with Jews in the world then so can I, but I don't have to put up with their cruelty and injustice.


So, for Saeb, the Jews of the occupation were the ones he fought, and fought with all his might.  The others he would leave alone, for Allah to judge.  His hatred grew with each injustice, with each year, his heart iced over and his soul burned for revenge.


Anger should visit, never stay.  Bodies and minds use anger to produce change, which may be to run away, or protect a family against a predator.  When anger comes to stay, it infects the body and mind.  The body is poisoned with constant stress, years of life expectancy literally worried away.  The mind has it worst of all.  The ever-present anger colours the vision, so that you cannot see what is really there.  It muffles the hearing, so you can only here the bad, never the good.  The mind itself becomes twisted; cause and effect are often reversed so that effects create the cause.  Action is perceived as retaliation, as the mind decides that it knows what others will do and therefore sets you on a preventative path.  All actions seem rational to the angry man.  As the anger builds through more injustice, acts become more radical, more disproportional to the causal event or anticipated event.  In the end it all becomes about feeding the anger, it has consumed the whole of the person, now it reaches out to consume those around it.


This was Saeb before he found yoga, or yoga found him.  He would never have tried it, this bending and balancing, had it not been for a fellow member of “God's Might” the Palestinian group which he had joined after two of his brothers were shot whilst demonstrating.  He too had known pain and suffering, and saw the anger in Saeb, that had once eaten himself.  He insisted that Saeb go with him.


'How can you say you don't like something unless you have tried it ten times?' 


However, for Saeb it only took four times.  He looked forward to his fifth session with keen anticipation.  The sense of peace and satisfaction that he felt upon finishing a yoga session he knew he could never fully describe.  By the tenth or twelfth session, his anger had started to change into something more purposeful.  By his twentieth, he was a man reborn through Allah's will.  A man with a purpose and the passion, forged from his anger, to see it through.  Saeb Tibi was a man reborn to do Great Things.  However, he had found that Great Things call you in their own time, not yours.


Therefore, it was for Saeb.  Through his thirties and forties, he had searched for his Great Thing.  He had found many things, some of them very important.  The one Great Thing eluded him though.  He prayed to Allah to send him the quest, the journey to the achievement of the one Great Thing he felt was his destiny.  For years, he received nothing.  He continued his prayer, taking comfort in the sure knowledge that one day, the right day; Allah would call to him to carry out the Great Thing.


When he was approached to undertake secret talks with a Jew about the future of Palestinians and Jews alike, he had said a prayer of thanks to Allah, as he felt sure that his great mission had arrived.  He undertook the task with a surety of purpose and a degree of humility he had not felt in a long-time.  He was surprised at his Jewish counterpart.  Although understandably cautious, Benjamin Yogev was openly hostile when they started.  He made no secret of the fact that he would rather see Saeb and all Palestinian's dead than anything else. 


The initial talks had not gone well.  It had changed though, slowly over time.  They had been making real progress.  I cannot believe, Saeb thought to himself, that everything we have gone through has been in vain.  To be lost through what had obviously been a mistake by the Mexican police.  My one Great Thing lost through someone else's carelessness.


Unsure what to do, Saeb Tibi turned again to prayer.  The small compass inside his watch pointed the way and he knelt down to pray.


 


 


10:37                03 November  [16:37  03 November GMT]


Prison Transfer Bus to Reclusorio Norte Prison, Mexico City, Mexico.


             


Benjamin Yogev and Saeb Tibi boarded the bus in chains.  Criminals under Mexico's legal system, they could not hope to prove their innocence.  They were bound for a prison just outside Mexico City.  Destined to spend at least a year of their lives there, according to their lawyer, before a trial that, again according to their lawyer, would just be a formality followed by sentencing.  Another formality apparently.  That they were both innocent didn't seem to matter.  It had become readily apparent that even if the cover stories were real, they would still be in the same boat.  Their only hope lay in declaring their true identities neither was prepared to do this.  They kept to their cover stories as neither wanted to betray their country or their cause.  Neither wanted to look weak in front of the other.


As they boarded the prison bus the smells of the police station, decaying bodily fluids slowly being digested by the bacteria covering every surface, evaporated from them as they were assaulted by the intensity of the new odours aboard the bus.  The heat of the day combined with the crush of sweating criminals amplified the smell.  Benjamin hung his head, closed his eyes, and tried to block out the motion of the bus.  Sitting over the back axle just made it worse.  The glare of the sun, coming straight through the side window, slammed down on the back of his head.  Saeb watched as all the colour left Benjamin’s face. 


'Try to imagine,' Saeb began talking to Benjamin, 'that you are somewhere where you want to be, travelling to a favourite picnic spot.  Do not close your eyes; instead try to see with your mind's eye.  Imagine you can hear the birds singing and smell the flowers.'


Benjamin concentrated and a little colour returned to his face.


Saeb was having a different problem with the smell and confinement.  It was taking him back to the camps in Palestine where he grew up.  The lack of proper sanitation.  The sheer density of people both in each tent and within the camps.  There was no escape from other people or the odours they created; they permeated the air, the tents, and your clothes.  They sat upon your top lip to be inhaled with every breath.  They rolled over your tongue so you could literally taste the smell.  Your bed smelt of the people of the camp, so did your food.  There was nowhere to be elsewhere.  After a while, it became everything you knew as normal, until a fresh wind would blow and then you would remember what real air was.  The return of camp air depressed you further still.  The memory of fresh air would stay with you for weeks after, making every breath of stale camp air an ordeal.


These thoughts occupied Saeb's mind whilst the bus made its way ever closer to the prison.  This is not good, he thought to himself, I must maintain a positive attitude otherwise I am doomed to fail in my mission.  He had prayed hard now for three days and nights and each time he had prayed for guidance he had found his mind returning to the same thing, why were Benjamin and I the sole survivors?  That has to have meaning, purpose, I was asked by the most senior representatives of my people to negotiate on their behalf; Benjamin was asked the same by his.  His mind was ticking over now in a way it had not since their capture.  We have not been separated; indeed, we have been thrust together for a long time indeed.  Calm descended over Saeb.  His thoughts cleared.  My important journey, my Great Thing.  It is starting now, I can feel it.  This was the reason for it all.  For my life.  For Benjamin's life.  The loss of the American and his two guards.  All the briefings we have had.  We know all that we need to know.  We can continue negotiations.  We can do this.  We can serve our people.  Thank you Allah.  Thank you for giving me this chance to serve.


Benjamin awoke with a start; the road had become much worse.


'Where are we?'


'I think we are near our destination.  I think this must be the road to the Prison.'  Saeb replied in a matter of fact way.


'How long was I asleep?'


'About forty minutes.  Do you feel better?’  Saeb asked.


'Yes, I dreamt about a meadow.  I don't know why though.'  Benjamin continued, 'Do you know anything about it?'


'Simple suggestion, nothing more I assure you.  I just merely planted the seed of the idea in your mind and suggested that you should relax.  The rest came naturally.  No pun intended.' 


Their first sight of the prison was the white concrete guard towers rising four stories above the top of the prison allowing the guards to see for miles.  Then they saw the slab like walls of the prison perimeter itself.  This wasn't architecture, this was function mixed with an attitude of spend the least but make it intimidating.  They could see open sections now, surrounded by steel wire fencing and topped with razor wire; neither knew their function but guessed at one being an exercise yard.  The bus stopped at an outer gate.  The driver only continuing when one of the prison guards joined the bus and told him it was safe to proceed.  The bus stopped after driving in just past the outer gate.  After a thorough inspection, it proceeded through the inner gate.


The bus came to a halt again and this time prison guards appeared in number to surround the bus.  As they were instructed to leave the bus, they were lined up.  A roll call was taken and each prisoner told his number and to remember it.  The guard then told them the main prison rules and that failure to follow any one of them would result in punishments of varying degrees.


 


 


16:36                03 November  [22:36  03 November GMT]


Exercise Yard, Reclusorio Norte Prison, Mexico City, Mexico.


             


The first three days in prison for Saeb were probably the hardest; he imagined that the same was probably true for Benjamin. 


Adjusting to life behind bars in your own land, amongst your own people, with foods you recognise and a language you understand is hard enough for most people.  However, prison in a foreign land, with people not like you, with unrecognisable foods, a language you do not speak is bad enough.  One, which also relies upon its inmates for a lot of its funding, is not for the faint of heart.  Theirs was just such a prison.  A prison for incarceration, with little hope of redemption or education for a better life.  Benjamin walked over and sat down next to Saeb.


'I've been thinking about what you said the other day.'  Benjamin said.


Saeb had outlined his idea that they should continue the negotiations.


'And?' replied Saeb.


'How do you see it working?'


'I see no reason,' Saeb continued, 'to change the way we were making progress.  It looks like we are going to have plenty of time here.'  Saeb chuckled at his own joke.


‘Go on.’  Benjamin urged, managing a weak smile. 


'We continue to set the ground work for negotiations.  A lot of the work has been done for us.  This is the location.  We start as soon as we can and finish whenever we want, before we die.'  He chuckled again.  'The who is you and I.  We can either do this or not.  We are here either way and at least we would have purpose.'


'We will need supplies.  Paper, pens, pencils, Maps.’  Benjamin offered by way of agreement.


'What we need' replied Saeb 'is money.  I don't know about you but I don’t have access to any more than I had on me and we have to pay rent on our cells, for our food, everything it seems.  Getting the supplies should be OK.  We need the money first though.'


Saeb couldn't help but let some of the desperation he felt creep into his voice.  Money had been on his mind for some time now, and he still didn't have a clue how to raise any.  It depressed him even further to realise that Benjamin was in the same position.


'What have we got that we could trade?' asked Saeb.


'What about ourselves?' replied Benjamin brightly.


'Well you can if you want but I'd rather die first!'


'No, no!’  Benjamin countered, 'I didn't mean anything like that, absolutely not.  But it seems to me that you and I are, how should I put it, experienced in both the defensive and offensive arts.  We, together, could provide protection, in exchange for money.'


'You mean a protection racket.'  Saeb couldn't keep the disgust out of his voice.


'No, I mean a genuine service.  We cannot be the only innocent people in here.  One or more of them may feel threatened; we protect them and get paid.  Call us Soldiers of Fortune.'


'OK' replied Saeb, convinced.  'Soldiers of Fortune it is.  So how do we find someone who wants protection?'


'We shall watch the new arrivals.  God will provide.'


 


 


17:40                04 November  [17:40  04 November GMT]


The Dining Room, The Branchflower Clinic, Cambridge, England.


 


John was entering his fourth week in the clinic when Eddie joined him and the other patients for dinner.  John just assumed that Eddie was after a “free” meal.  As the dishes of the main course were cleared the lights dimmed, and the patients and staff started up a rousing course of “Happy Birthday” to both Eddie and John.  John looked at Eddie knowing without doubt that this was his idea, he also noticed something that suggested that Jane was in on it too.


After the last of the birthday cake was finished Eddie went to his car and returned with a large pile of clothes, a carton of cigarettes and some cash for John.  They ventured outside to sit in the Smoking Hut, and after passing on the birthday wishes from their parents Eddie asked John about the accident again. 


John recounted the details of the explosion, how he was still at a loss to explain it and the speed and the unusual offer from his Research Angel.


'What does unlimited mean?’  Eddie asked.


'That' replied John, 'was a question I asked.  Apparently, the Research Angel is with one of the biggest and soundest banks in Switzerland and when the vice-chancellor inquired, he was told simply that all costs in my research would be met, professional and personal.  All of them, without question.'


'You should get a Ferrari.'  Eddie quipped.  'I could get you a great deal on a second-hand one, not that you would need a great deal, heck I might double the price and get one for myself.'


John's tutting brought Eddie back from his daydream. 


'I need to know what happened Eddie, I really need to know.'


'OK little bro' talk me through what you were doing.'  Eddie replied.


'Well,' John began 'the experiment is run on a purpose built machine, and believe me you could buy a fleet of Ferraris for what it cost, several fleets in fact.  It provides a small reservoir, around four cubic millimetres, into which is placed some finely ground gold ore.  It is pressurised to ten thousand atmospheres, cooled to minus two hundred and fifty degrees Celsius, and subjected to an intense electromagnetic field.  It was the field that I ramped up to maximum on the last run, when it exploded.'


'OK' said Eddie, 'what could have caused the explosion?'


'That's just it I don't know.'  


Eddie smiled and continued.


'I don't care what you know or don't know; I just want to know what could have caused such an explosion.'


There it lay before them both; the truth was that John hadn't been thinking straight. 


'Let's make a list shall we?' offered Eddie.


They went down the list, when a thought occurred to John. 


'You know,' he said to Eddie, 'there wasn’t any heat, none.'


'Is that important?' asked Eddie. 


John told him it was and that it meant that most of the explosion types on the list could be excluded for that very reason. 


'It comes back to pressure' John told Eddie 'but the chamber was only four cubic millimetres.  At ten thousand atmospheres, that’s forty thousand cubic millimetres, which is a cube roughly three and a half centimetres on each side.  That’s smaller than a cricket or baseball.  There’s no way that could have removed the quarter of a ton of solid steel that was broken from the machine and went through the wall.'


John remembered the hole in the wall and the fact that the quarter ton block of steel from the machine had been angled slightly downwards and had therefore buried itself in the ground, otherwise the result to the cafeteria would have been devastating.  He lit another cigarette and drew on it heavily.  Something, John told himself, had impacted on the wall of the chamber with enough force to smash a solid forged steel machine table into two pieces.  He couldn’t see how anything in the chamber could have done it.  Even if the elements in the chamber had reacted with one another, they couldn’t have gained enough momentum nor had enough mass to do the damage.  However, he also had to admit that the force of the explosion was localised in the chamber so it had definitely originated there.


'So,' he announced to Eddie, vocalising his thoughts 'what I have is a large explosion, with no heat, originating from the test chamber where nothing in it could have caused it.'


'So something hit the chamber then?’  Eddie asked, more to himself than John. 


'Yes,' said John, not really having focused on what Eddie had said 'something hit the chamber.................Something hit the chamber.  Something hit the chamber.  Something hit the chamber…or at least it hit something in the chamber!  That’s it Eddie!  You’ve got it!'  John became animated, his face unusually expressive he smiled at his brother, a beacon of hope.  'The experiment didn’t cause the explosion, not directly anyway.  Something in the chamber was hit by something else passing through the chamber.  That something else must have had tremendous momentum.  Now given that nothing of any significant size entered the chamber, it must be extremely small, with incredible mass and velocity.'


Eddie looked at John and asked.


'What does that all mean?' 


'It means,' John replied barely able to control his excitement 'that I may have discovered a new particle, one that is much faster than light.'


 






 




 


 


 


 


 


 


7 Arrests


 


 


18:07   06 November [00:07  07 November GMT]


Banks Jewellers, Av Presidente Masaryk, Polanco District, Mexico City.


 


Closing time had officially passed.  Leroy started cashing up, the least glamorous job in any store, it is usually undertaken by the most junior of staff; Leroy never minded it though.  Leroy was used to cashing up; often relishing it.  The day's takings are quite good, Leroy thought, the manager of this store appears to be doing a fine job for the owner.  That thought made Leroy smile, as he was the owner of the store, and not just this one.  Leroy Banks was a successful jewellery retailer with a chain of seven high quality stores. 


Leroy grew up in the worst part of L.A., whilst some of his African-American peers went on to deal drugs; he decided that was not the life for him.  Leroy had gotten a job early in his life working in a local jewellery store.  He had paid attention and learnt all he could; rising quickly to store manager, when the owner came to retire and having no children, it seemed natural to offer to sell the business to Leroy.  In an amazing gesture of faith in him, his boss even acted as guarantor on the loan he persuaded the bank to give Leroy to buy the business.  Leroy never looked back after that, but nor did he forget what his old boss had done for him.


Leroy was helping the manager to close up in store number five.  Leroy thought of all his stores like children, this was the fifth one born into his retail business, Banks Jewellers.  As Leroy was cashing up he was also keeping a watchful eye on one of the last patrons.  He looked local, nervous and out of place.  Banks Jewellers catered for the elite.  This patron looked high on something.  That was not uncommon.  Some of his best clients looked like they slept rough; it was just a question of style and background.  Those with new money, especially made in film or music, tended to dress down, a lot.  This guy however looked different; his clothes were cheap, not expensive trying to look cheap.  Now there was just the guy and an elderly woman.  The woman, he could tell, came from old money, the broach she wore obviously a priceless antique.  The nervous guy had backed up to the entrance.  Shit!!, thought Leroy, a fraction of a second before the nervous guy grabbed one of the young sales assistants pushing her into the centre of the store, pulling out a hand gun and pointing it at Leroy.  He threw his backpack onto the counter.


'Fill this up!'  .


Leroy picked up the backpack and started putting the cash into it but keeping an eye on the thief's gun.  This was not Leroy's first robbery.


'Faster!'  The thief shouts, unhappy with the speed at which Leroy is filling the backpack, to show he is serious he hits the old woman with the butt of his gun, sending her crashing to the ground.  As she lay there on the floor, Leroy could see that her head was being bathed in an increasing pool of blood.  Leroy’s heart raced, his blood cooled and his mind cleared.  Leroy held the cash bag high up and out to the side with his left hand gently rocking it to and fro, like a pendulum.


'Here’s the money, here’s the money'.


The thief, transfixed by the sight of the bag, like a predator fixed on wounded pray, he could not take his eyes off it.  Not until his peripheral vision took in the approach of the Glock 9mm in Leroy’s right hand and which Leroy was moving towards the thief's head.  The thief swings his gun wildly toward Leroy, but too late.  Leroy finishes the robber’s life of crime with a single shot to the head.  As Leroy covers the thief on the ground, and knowing that the thief's life is ebbing away he whispers to him.


'You could have taken the money asshole; I would have given you the money.  But you had to hit the old lady didn’t you…………now you ain’t gonna hit anyone else, ever.'


 


 


18:19   06 November [00:19  07 November GMT]


Banks Jewellers, Av Presidente Masaryk, Polanco District, Mexico City.


             


The Mexican police were quickly on the scene.  They had left when the silent alarm had alerted them that a jewellery store in the very upmarket Polanco district was being robbed.  The two officers entered the store, weapons drawn, the second covering the entry of the first.  Six occupants, he counted to himself, two down.  Of the four standing, two are male and two female.  The women, are quite young and undoubtedly in the early stages of shock.  They have name badges marking them out as sales assistants.  The policeman turned his attention to the two men, still keeping the whole room covered from the entrance.  One male is white, a local by the look of him, again the name badge, possibly the store manager.  That left the black male.  The black male is well-dressed, tall, around six feet, bald with a moustache that meets under his chin, a kind of mini-goatee.  Fit and probably late thirties.  The most important feature to the officer was that he was stood close to the people on the floor and closer still to a mean looking handgun, a nine-millimetre if he was correct.  Keeping his eyes alert he looked at the two people on the floor.


One an elderly female with what appeared to be a head wound; the other...the other he recognised even with most of the back of his head missing.  It was Ricardo Gonzales; he had arrested him just a few months ago for drug dealing and weapons offences.  He should have been coming to trial in a week or so.  Probably trying to raise the money for a lawyer.


'You' the officer said in Spanish to the store manager, pointing with his gun.  'Tell me who you are and what happened here.'


The store manager stood perfectly still, very aware of the gun pointed at him.  The second that day, he reflected. 


'I am Rafael Hernandez, the store manager.  These ' he said waving his right hand towards the two sales assistants, 'are Catarina and Maria they work for me.'


He stopped instantly; the policeman's gun had moved to target the store manager's heart region in response to his waving his right arm.  The store manager slowly relaxed his right arm to his side and went back to standing perfectly still. 


'To my left' the store manager continued, making sure he didn't even nod in that direction, 'is Mr Banks, he owns this store, and he shot the robber, who is lying on the floor.  The robber hit the old woman.’  He added, by way of explanation.


The policeman called to his partner, who came around his right side, making sure not to get in his line of sight, the second officer approached Leroy, crouched down bending his knees not his back, and reached for the handgun on the floor.  All the time keeping his eyes fixed on Leroy.  Leroy didn't move at all but kept his gaze on the first officer, aware of the second with his peripheral vision, he was taking great care not to “eye ball” the officer as that would only increase the tension in the room.  Once the second officer had retrieved the handgun from the floor in front of Leroy, and retreated to the side of his colleague, Leroy ventured into speaking.


              'Thank you for getting here so quickly.’  He said, clean simple words; he hoped their English was good. 


'You're welcome.'  The first officer said, in English.


Everyone in the room relaxed a little more.  A second police car arrived with two more officers, shortly followed by an ambulance crew.  They checked the two people on the floor and finding the male with a large proportion of his brain missing, they worked on the elderly female, her blood-pressure was low but stable, they moved her into the ambulance and left. 


The two sales assistants were allowed seats as they were definitely in shock now; trembling, shaking, crying they weren't making much sense either.  One of the other officers knew the store manager, who in turn again vouched for Leroy.  Despite this, Leroy was handcuffed and taken to the police station.


 


 


18:50   06  November [00:50  07  November GMT]


Central Police Station, Mexico City, Mexico.


             


The drive from his store to the police station was not a pleasurable one for Leroy.  Handcuffed in the back of the police car, with a large metal grill between him and the officers in the front he couldn't pretend that he was taking a taxi to the hotel or being chauffeured to the airport. 


His time at the police station made him feel immediately nostalgic for the drive in the police car.  Fingerprinting, being photographed, DNA swabbed and then locked in a cell with criminals; Leroy's heart sank lower with each activity.  His cellmates didn't speak English, and he didn't speak Spanish.  He sat in silence and started to wonder at the number of things that had had to happen, in sequence, to bring him to this point.  He could have visited his Mexico store on another day, or had been visiting another store.  He could have left the cashing up to his staff and left for his hotel before the arrival of the thief.  The thief could have picked a different day, time or store.  He could have left the elderly woman alone and lived.  Leroy could have been unarmed or he could have chosen to let the robber hurt someone else.  Random chance, he thought to himself.  I end up here just because of random chance.


It was two hours before Leroy was finally called forth as his lawyer had arrived.  He had no way of knowing, as he was no longer in possession of his watch or his phone.  His lawyer, it turned out, was one of the best in the city, called by his store manager as soon as he had seen Leroy arrested.  The lawyer had come on recommendation from the firm's corporate law firm.  Expensive, but then the best usually are however; the store manager had warranted that his boss would expect nothing less.


Leroy sat in a private interview room alone with his lawyer.  He took him through the events of that afternoon.  His lawyer made him go through it again, twice more, to check his story for consistency.  He had learned this from his mentor years before, there is nothing worse than changing your story, even slightly, in front of the police, or heaven forbid, a courtroom.


Leroy finished his third telling of the day and was then questioned intently by his lawyer.  He knew the truth when he heard it, and it seemed to him that Leroy was both telling the truth and holding nothing back.  Finally, the lawyer gave his opinion.


'Well,' he began, 'it is good that I was called because you are in a great deal more trouble than you realise.' 


Leroy's face fell at this, he felt bad at being arrested, of being held in a cell, but he knew he had done nothing wrong; he had protected people, probably saved lives.  Leroy began to think that his lawyer was exaggerating to justify a big fee, fine, he thought to himself, let him charge what he wants I just want to get out of here.


'Firstly, and most crucially,' the lawyer began, 'is the issue of your gun.  Unlike the United States gun ownership is illegal in Mexico.  The fact that the gun was illegal means that the shooting must also be illegal; this means that you will be charged with murder.  You will undoubtedly be found guilty at your trial as it would be unthinkable if it were to happen any other way.'


He saw Leroy's face fall even further at this news, his shoulders slumping too, he carried on, believing it was best to get all of the bad news out in front.


'Our best hope, only hope really, is to appeal it as far as we can, my country is not big on case law, but it can happen, we will have to build such a case that a senior judge is persuaded to make us a precedent.  That is a huge deal here.'


'I just want to get out of here.'


'I know.'  The lawyer responded, actually feeling for his client.  ‘However the fact that you are a foreigner, with business interests abroad and considerable available funds facing a murder charge makes you a flight risk.  Bail for you will be most unlikely, but I will push for it.  Finally…'


There had to be a finally, Leroy thought.


'…with local elections around the corner,' the lawyer continued.  'you might be made an example of, which could go one way or another.  I will arrange some positive media coverage to try to push things our way.'


'What…what’s going to happen to me?' 


'Well, the police will interview you.  But don't worry I will guide you through it, just stick to the truth.  Then you will be formally charged and taken to prison.  Your case will be given over to the agente, that's the district attorney's office, this will be state, rather than federal as homicide is a state crime.  It will probably take around a year before you go to trial to be found guilty, and then we can start the appeals process.'


'A year.'  Leroy said, incredulously, 'A year?  I will have to be in prison for a year?'


'Longer probably.  At least a year I would estimate, maybe two or more depending on how the appeals process goes.'


              'What will I do?'


'Well there are practical matters that need to be addressed, such as who will run your business in your absence.  In addition, our prisons are not like yours.  You will be charged rent on your cell, and for your food and other things.  The food also is not great, it would be best if you arranged for your food to be brought in to you.  I will give you the name of someone who is familiar with all this and they will make the arrangements.  Also, you should start to learn Spanish; those guards who do speak English are often limited in their vocabulary.  Now, we should prepare ourselves for the interview, just remember, stick to the truth, and leave nothing out.'


 


 


07:23   06 November  [13:23  06 November GMT]


Penthouse Suite, W. Jefferson Av., Detroit, Michigan. 


             


Chuck Holford reclined on his huge leather sofa with his cat Trouble purring contentedly on his lap.  He looked out at the panoramic view of the Detroit River.  The view stretched as far as the eye could see.  Drinking a Corona straight from the bottle he reflected on the events that had led him to be here.


 


His mind cast back more than ten years into the past to the night the first domino fell.  He was just finishing his shift on production line number three.  A car worker all his life he had met many people and disliked most of them, Blacks, Hispanics, Asians and Management, he pretty much hated them all.  Chuck would use much stronger language, often to their faces.


Chuck had a simple outlook on life, he was right and you’re wrong or “Fuck you” as Chuck so eloquently put it.  A part of Chuck always nagged at him though, his life feeling somewhat empty, his friendships unsatisfying and his words, whilst offensive to others, often lacked conviction in his own mind.  Chuck took these doubts with him as he left the plant, clocking out as he did every weeknight and heading to a bar before continuing on his way home to be received by cold food and even colder company.  The several beers he would have, and the chat with the other assorted barflies passed for what Chuck claimed as his life.  An intelligent man, a thoughtful man, he had never received the education he could have, would have loved.  If life had treated Chuck badly, and it had, he had at some point stubbornly decided to treat it, and everyone he meet, worse. 


That evening however was different.  His supervisor stopped by the bar to celebrate his latest promotion with some of the guys from the shift.  Chuck avoided the group, took his beer, and headed for the back of the bar, where it was darkest.  One of his co-workers spotted him and called out to him.


'Hey Chuck, come on over Winston is buying the drinks!  He is going to be our new Night-shift Manager.'


'I buy my own drinks thanks.’  Chuck replied with a low growl delivered out of the corner of his mouth.  Chuck continued walking towards the back of the room.


'Hey come on, don't be a chicken shit, come and have a drink.'


'I ain't drinking with him.’  Chuck nodded in the direction of Winston.  Winston, as far as Chuck was concerned, now had two strikes against him, Black and a Manager. 


The co-worker didn't let it go. 


'Hey what the fuck?  What you got against Winston?  He's always been on the level with us.'


He just doesn't get it, Chuck thought, he just doesn't understand.  People like Winston get all the help and advantages and guys like me get screwed. 


'Fuck you and fuck him.’  Chuck said, having had enough and ending the conversation.


'Why you little ...' the co-worker made a move for Chuck, but Winston who had been listening but ignoring the exchange moved to intercept. 


'Look Joe,’ Winston said into the face of the co-worker, 'just leave it, if Chuck wants to be on his own that's his choice.'


Chuck drew himself to his full height behind Winston.  'I don't need you looking out for me; I can take care of myself.' 


Winston turned his head in Chuck's direction.


'Look Chuck everything is cool OK, let's just leave it there.'


Chuck had had enough.  Enough of people telling him what to do.  Enough of getting constantly screwed over at work.  Enough of life.  He threw a punch to Winston's right kidney, sending him collapsing to the floor.  Before anyone could intervene, he managed to kick him twice in the back and once in the head.  Joe leapt on him, swiftly followed by two of his co-workers. 


 


Trouble dug her claws into Chuck's lap, sensing his tension.  Chuck was brought back to the present and took a long pull on his beer.  His mind wandered back to the events that followed.


 


Chuck was summoned to the Plant Manager's office the next day.  A senior member of HR was there, plus a guy from security.  They didn't take their time.  He was dismissed on the spot for gross-misconduct and as such was not entitled to any severance.  Chuck was escorted from the premises by the security guard and told never to come back.


Chuck spent the rest of the day in the bar.  When he got home he was fully loaded and in a mean mood.  He shouted at his kids, threw his dinner against the wall, and finally lost it with his frigid wife.  She never told the police.  At least, Chuck was never questioned about it, which amounted to the same thing.  She was gone when he woke in the morning, the children gone with her.  The next two years were a bit of a blur.  Chuck knew he was using during this period and he knew he started dealing to support his habit.  It was almost two years to the day after the fight in the bar with Winston when he saw him again.  Chuck was in the park.  Dressed no better than a vagrant.  He knew he smelt funky, and hadn't been eating at all well.  His stomach hurt.  He was wasted almost all of the time now.  This time was no exception, there in the park taking the mainline to freedom, was when he saw Winston with his family.  He was fit, healthy and very happy looking, he had a great looking family too.  Chuck looked down at himself.  He felt ashamed.  He felt guilty.  He felt alone.


That was the start of his coming off junk.  It took a year.  A year and he was clean.  He never stopped the dealing though.  The better he became, the more he dealt.  He was starting to save as well.  He made a buy, cut it himself at home, and then dealt it.  He made a bigger buy.  Soon he was buying from the importers and had his own network of distributors and dealers.  That was when he discovered how much cheaper it would be to buy direct and import it himself.  Dangerous, but worth it.


In the seven years following him getting clean, Chuck had established his own, large network of importers, distributors, and dealers.  He had also found a novel way of laundering all his money, but he wouldn't tell anyone what it was. 


Now, ten years after he lost his autoworkers job, his wife, and his children, here he was a successful businessman with an exclusive penthouse suite in the best part of town.  The penthouse also came with a mooring, and in his was moored his pride and joy, his sports yacht “Penthouse”, he named it both after his home and the magazine. 


Trouble took her cue, stretching out she climbed off Chuck’s lap and curled up on the sofa instead.  Chuck stood and placed his empty bottle in the recycling.  He picked up his overnight bag and checked he had all the right documents with him.  Leaving his apartment suite, he placed a key under the mat for his neighbour Mrs Grainger to let herself in to feed Trouble while he was away.  He was only planning on one night, and he knew he shouldn’t really need to be going at all but his Mexican connection was complaining about something to do with payment and his lieutenant hadn’t been able to resolve it.  So he was headed to San Antonio, there to hire a car and drive across the border to Monterrey.


 


 


20:11   06 November  [02:11  07 November GMT]


Restaurant La Caliente, Paseo del Campestre, Monterrey, Mexico.


             


Chuck took the I35 out of San Antonio, crossing the border at Laredo and continuing on the Mexican 85 down into Monterrey.  Chuck switched on the navigation system, which took him around the west side of town on the orbital road, down the long stretch of the Avenue General Lázaro Cárdenas, before finally turning off at Camino al Mirador.  The meeting venue was a restaurant to the south of Monterrey, Restaurants, thought Chuck to himself, are particularly useful for meetings, they are generally busy and noisy, they have car parks for exchanging goods and you get fed as well.


The thought of food, particularly spicy Mexican food, was making Chuck hungry.  He increased speed slightly, and took turns sharper than he otherwise would, unaware that hunger was now interfering with his judgement.  The restaurant was a big, upmarket affair, obviously very popular with the Monterrey scene.  His lieutenant was at the far end of the restaurant, with his back to the wall, sitting opposite him was the Mexican connection and his lieutenant.  He noticed two other heavy set Mexican's at the next table.  So, Chuck thought, they decided to bring some muscle.  No problem, I don't want any trouble, just fix the problem, eat and be on my way...maybe eat first, the food smells great.


After the greetings, Chuck ordered the Grande Burrito with a side of rice and refried beans.  Chuck was satisfied to wait for his meal, quietly listening to the Mexican and sipping on his Corona.


'So you see,' the Mexican continued his dialogue about how the current payment arrangement was causing him problems.  'To get every payment in cash, in American dollars and quite low denominations means that we have to go to great lengths to limpio, sorry, clean the money.  I need to pass this cost on, unless there is something you can do differently that would help?'


Geez, is this all this is about?  Chuck thought.  We could have settled this in a phone-call, or better yet the lieutenants could have re-negotiated instead.  Still, it’s good to get out occasionally and maybe this guy doesn’t trust his lieutenant.


'What you ask is not impossible.'  Chuck said.  'I can meet a reasonable increase in price; I could make a monthly electronic payment for non-existent premises, pay in precious metals and stones or a combination of any three.  What would be your preference?'


The Mexican was stunned, this was going too well, and far too quick, he needed him outside for the exchange. 


'I will think about it, and of course talk to my accountant.  A toast I think.'  As he ordered a round of Tequilas, he was pleased to see Chuck heartily tucking into his lunch.  Good, he thought, at this rate we should be out of here at the right time.


When Chuck finished his lunch, it was with the addition of two Coronas and three Tequilas.  The food and alcohol had reached his stomach giving him a sugar rush, followed by the invariable crash and the feeling of sleepiness that comes with it.  Chuck felt happy and satisfied; the invitation to the car park for the formal exchange and cigar seemed OK to him.  Need to watch my driving on the way back, he said to himself, bumping into another table as he was leaving the restaurant, don't want to be done for drunk driving!  A snorting laugh escaped Chuck's mouth at that, but no one said anything.


The lieutenants had parked their cars next to each other.  They retrieved the briefcases and handed them to their respective bosses.  The bosses would make the formal exchange, shake hands, and have a cigar.  The Mexican offered a light to Chuck who leaned his head over the flame and shielded it with his right hand; his left was holding the Mexican's briefcase.  A voice boomed across the car park in English but with a distinct Mexican accent


'This is the police.  Get down on the ground and put your hands behind your head.  Do it!  Now!’


Chuck looked up into the Mexican's eyes, exhaling smoke as he did so and there he saw it, the look of relief on the Mexican's face.  So, Chuck thought, you ratted me out.  That's what this whole game was about.


Chuck had no illusions about being a hero, he could see at least thirty police officers now, all armed and knew there must be others on the rooftops.  He knew it was over for now, next would be the legal game play and he knew he had the money for that fight.  Mind you, he thought, remembering some of the criminal law he had studied along the way, if the drugs and cash were to disappear…I’ll have to pick my moment with care though.


 


 


20:52   06 November  [02:52  07 November GMT]


Monterrey Town police station, Monterrey, Mexico.


             


The processing at the police station was predictable but depressing.  Chuck was thinking hard and fast now, but somewhat impeded by the alcohol.  They only have three things; he realised, the drugs, the money, and the Mexican, the Mexican I can deal with later, I need to get rid of the drugs and the money.  He made a big fuss of needing the toilet, complaining of stomach pains, one of the officers and a sergeant escorted him to the toilet in an empty cell.  The officer remained outside, the sergeant inside to ensure that only waste came out of Chuck.


'You speak English' Chuck asked in a confident but quiet tone.


'Si, I speak English' he replied.


'You know in the confusion the briefcases could be lost or mislabelled.  That could easily happen.'


'Si, it could.'


'If that did happen it would help me a great deal and I would be very appreciative'


'How appreciative?'  The Mexican sergeant slightly stumbling over the word.


'Enough so you could retire now, very wealthy.  Think of it, lying on a beach, or on your yacht.'


The sergeant smiled, and unbuttoned his shirt.


'I don't like sand or being sea-sick' he said revealing the microphone hidden under his shirt.  'I don't even have the tape on me, its wireless.  This way we all keep clean and people like you go to prison.'  His smile turned into a big toothy grin and his eyes seemed to sparkle.


Shit, thought Chuck, shit, shit, shit, fuck, fuck, fuck it, fuck it all.  Now I'm going to have to put all of my faith in a fucking lawyer, with bribery charges added to my sheet.  Chuck knew all too well that as his ship was inevitably going down, his lieutenant would rollover for the reduced sentence.  Now, who could I rollover on...?


 


 


06:34  07 November  [12:24  07 November GMT]


Federal Agente, Mexico City, Mexico


 


The Federal district attorney's office in Mexico City deals with the most serious of Mexican crimes and criminals.  Chuck Holford was now in select, if not good company.  His transfer was a routine affair, drug possession is not only a serious crime but also a federal one and Monterrey's resources being limited he was transferred to Mexico City to be charged and prosecuted. 


This was not something that Chuck wanted, he would have preferred to stay in Monterrey; the transfer to Mexico City had made him big news and with it had removed any possibility of nobbling the legal process.  He now had to rely on lawyers, which are a lot like nuclear weapons, he thought, 'cause if you have to use them you are probably already fucked.


He sat quietly in the interview room, his lawyer to his side as the agente entered the room with another man. 


'This is Judge Manuel Espinoza,' the agente said, 'I am going to offer you a deal.  Your lieutenant has done the right thing and cooperated.  Now if you do the same then we could look at no jail time.' 


Chuck didn't like where this was going, only one thing could be that important to offer this kind of deal.


'I want the Colombians.'


There it is, thought Chuck, the Colombians.  Chuck had wondered if this was going to be on the table or not.  He had thought a lot about this, a lot indeed.  He had no love for the Colombians, nor did he bare them any malice.  If it were a straight choice between him being in jail and them being in jail then he would prefer them to do the time.  However, whenever he thought through a particular scenario, it always ended with him dying.  His death was either violent and quick; car blowing up, drive by shooting, poisoned with arsenic in a restaurant or violent and slow with him being tortured for hours, possibly days becoming literally less of a man with each twitch of the knife.  No, he thought, when it comes down to it the choice is years of prison followed by a nice retirement or months of fear followed by death.  No choice, no choice at all.


              'No.' Chuck said simply, 'No deal.'


 


 


14:17   07 November  [20:17  07 November GMT]


Prisoner Transfer Bus to Reclusorio Norte Prison, Mexico City, Mexico.


             


The Mexican police officer had already picked up on Chuck's racism; it amused him to handcuff him to the black guy, the one who shot the robber, for the trip to the prison.  He looked over at the back of the bus where the two of them were sat, Si, he thought, they seem to be getting along nicely.  He laughed as he walked away.


The trip was not good for Leroy or Chuck.  Leroy had tried to make conversation, but it had become increasingly clear that either this guy didn't like black men, or just him.  He would bet that it's the former.  Then again, Leroy thought, I'm probably not seeing him at his best or him me for that matter.  The thing that was really troubling Leroy was that he couldn't, apparently, even protest his innocence.  Leroy had shot the robber, he was in possession of an illegal firearm, and therefore the shooting was, de facto, illegal.  This much had been drummed into him.  I just don't feel like a criminal.  I have done nothing wrong.  Sure, given the time again I would do something differently, maybe wound the thief, rather than kill him.  Anything to avoid this.  He knew he wasn't going to get the time again.  He was here on this bus, going to prison for at least a year before inevitably being found guilty of murder.  For the journey, he was handcuffed to a racist son-of-a-bitch too.


Chuck was having no better a time of it.  The look in the eye of the policeman as he handcuffed him to the black guy really annoyed him.  Not as much as being handcuffed to the black guy, but nearly.  Very nearly.  What made it worse was that the black guy, Leroy he called himself, kept trying to talk to him.  Chuck made it very plain that he didn't want to talk, be pals, or become this fella's shower buddy.  No sir, Chuck thought, no gays, no blacks and no Hispanics.  Difficult, he thought to himself, as I am headed for a Mexican men's jail.


The main road gave out to a side road that lead the bus to the prison.  Any last hope Leroy or Chuck had evaporated as they looked upon the site of the prison.  It stood as a testament to criminal punishment.  Not the type of prison where you go in with the expectation of coming out reformed.  This was a prison to break the spirit, to overwhelm your physical stamina, to rob you of your individuality.  A chill ran through them both as they shared a single thought.  Christ almighty please help me; show me a sign, what am I going to do?


 


 


16:35   07 November  [22:25  07 November GMT]


Cell 148B, Block D, Reclusorio Norte Prison, Mexico City, Mexico.


             


The door to their cell slammed shut, its iron bars sealing them off from hope.  It had amused the guards to house Leroy and Chuck in the same cell, the guard on the bus having related his story to them with great mirth.


Their trip through the prison processing system was at least fast and efficient, if not at all pleasurable.  This was due in no small part to the smell.  The smell followed you everywhere and permeated everything including, it seemed, your skin.  Less than an hour within its walls and they both knew they smelled of the prison.  The stench of strong cheap disinfectant trying to hide the years of accumulated shit, both rodent and human, plus the blood, sweat and urine of desperation and abandonment.


The prison was crammed, more than ten thousand packed into the space provided for less than half that number.  However, it did dawn on them, when the rules of the place were being explained in broken English, that they had access to the one thing that could really help in this place.  Money.  Everything it seemed had to be paid for by the prisoners themselves.  Rent on the cells, food, medical care, such as it was, bedding, toiletries, the list went on and on.  Moreover, they could buy things on top, like a television.  It didn't take a genius to realise that this meant three very important things.  Firstly, they could make their own lives in here the best they could be.  Secondly, bullying shouldn't be a problem as they could pay off the right people.  Thirdly, the guards themselves would probably be open to providing specific services for the right fee.


They looked at their cell.  The walls were dirty, had lost most of their paint exposing the plaster beneath and this produced a confused pattern of light and dark.  There were things living in the cracks in the walls and the gaps between the walls and the floor.  Some of the things just grew, others burrowed or hid there, waiting for the darkness to come.


Chuck sprung up onto the top bunk of the bed.  So, Leroy thought, it’s like that.  You snooze, you lose.  This is not going to go well.  I think my first priority is to get out of this cell, or get this guy out.


Leroy looked at his mattress.  The combination of boot-prints and stains were not inviting.  No pillow, no blanket either.  He sat down on the edge of the bed, and sighing to himself stretched out to lie down, interlacing his fingers behind his head, so it didn't touch the mattress.


 


 


18:00   07 November  [00:00  08 November GMT]


Cell 148B, Block D, Reclusorio Norte Prison, Mexico City, Mexico.


 


Leroy woke with a start.  He opened his eyes and to be confronted with a pair of feet, dangling in front of him, their racist owner on the bunk above.  The cell door opened, and a single word reverberated through the block “Afuera!” once, twice, three times.  Outside, thought Leroy, he remembered that as one of the instructions.  Leroy swung himself upright as far as he could, and climbed off his bunk, as his cellmate descended from above to join him.  Chuck stared at Leroy, barely hiding any of the contempt he had for him.  He turned and headed for the open cell door, stepping through to stand on the landing.  Leroy stepped out and joined him, automatically standing to attention.


'Movimiento!'  Move, Leroy translated to himself.  All the prisoners on their floor turned to face the central staircase and slowly walked towards it.  The procession lead them down to a large room full of prisoners sat at tables eating.  The smell of the food mixed with the smell of the prison, was almost too much for them to bear.  Leroy's stomach convulsed sending bile up into his mouth burned his throat on its way up, then again when he had to swallow it.  The taste left in his mouth at least distracted him from the smell for a few moments.


The effect on Chuck was worse.  The assault to his senses, plus the nightmare he had had during his brief sleep, took him back to his lowest days of using.  He remembered climbing into a large refuse bin outside the back of a fast food restaurant, both to get out of the rain and to get something to eat.  The smell of the rotting food was no greater than his own smell he had realised.  The dim light in the refuse bin allowed him to see a half burger in front of him, he picked it up, finding it heavier than he expected.  The explanation was a large brown rat hanging off the underside of the burger.  Chuck had grabbed the rat, and thrown it out of the bin.  He didn't even think about the rat as he ate the burger. 


Chuck was brought out of his daydreaming by a large hand pushing his shoulder; he spun round to have a go.  He had to look up quite a long way to the guy, so he said nothing just turned back to face front and began walking.  He caught up with Leroy in front, making his way to be served.


 


 


11:09   08 November  [17:09  08 November GMT]


Exercise Yard, Reclusorio Norte Prison, Mexico City, Mexico.


             


Leroy stood in the yard, having selected his target.  One of the guards from D Block stood watching the prisoners.  Leroy walked as close as he dare then said in a loud voice, 'Permission approach, Boss?' in his best Spanish. 


'Si.'


Leroy knew that this guard spoke some English, but he wasn't sure how much.  Just to be safe, Leroy asked if the guard spoke English.


'Usted habla inglés?.' 


'Yes, I speak English.  What do you want?' the guard replied.


'I would like' Leroy began, 'some nice things for my cell; new mattress, soap, toothpaste and' he paused slightly before continuing, unsure as to the response he would get.  'I would like my own cell or my cell just for me.'  He could see that the guard had caught his meaning, the pigeon English had obviously worked. 


The guard pulled out a small notebook and looked at Leroy 'What Cell Number?' he asked. 


Leroy told him.  The guard wrote down some other notes, Leroy presumed they were his requests for the new mattress and toiletries.


'It cost much.' the guard said, watching for Leroy's reaction.


'How much?’  Leroy asked, immediately aware that he shouldn't just say OK.


'This much.'  The guard wrote the figure down on a scrap of paper and passed it to Leroy.  Leroy read it, looked at the guard, and then nodded.


'You have own cell after evening food.' the guard said as he walked off.


‘Thanks.’  Leroy said to no one in particular.


 


 


18:44   08 November  [00:44  09 November GMT]


Cell 270B, Block D, Reclusorio Norte Prison, Mexico City, Mexico.


             


The new cell was a world away from the old.  Clean, well painted, with a new mattress and a bag of toiletries on the bed.  There was even a pillow and a blanket.  An extra charge no doubt, but Leroy was grateful.  The best thing about it was the absence of another prisoner.  That thought made him feel a little guilty.  In such a crowded prison, a cell to himself would mean another was overcrowded.  He hoped they were compensated for their sacrifice.  He relaxed on his new mattress in his new cell and vowed to make the best of his being here, starting with learning to speak Spanish.


 


 


18:50   08 November  [00:50   09 November GMT]


Cell 148B, Block D, Reclusorio Norte Prison, Mexico City, Mexico.


             


Chuck returned to his cell, pleased to note that the bunk bed was gone and with it his cellmate.  Good, Chuck thought to himself, the money I promised that guard was well worth it.  He lay on his new mattress and thought about his life, his mind wandering to his cat Trouble and how much he missed her.  His lawyer had been in touch with Mrs Grainger, who was happy to look in on Trouble as she was retired.  The thought of Trouble becoming more friendly with his neighbour and starting to forget who he was brought tears to his eyes, he sobbed a little to himself, quietly, but the more he thought about it the more the tears came until he was sobbing uncontrollably.  The emotion of his capture and incarceration was all too much.  The only real thing he had in his life was a cat called Trouble, and he missed her, terribly.






 




 


 


 


 


 


 


8 Circus City


 


 


18:46   27 October  [15:46  27 October GMT]


Central Bus Station, Moscow, Russia.


 


The bus pulled to a stop, jerking the passengers slightly.  Natasha was fast asleep, had been now for hours, Solomon gently woke her.  'Come on sleepy head, it's time to get off the bus.'


'Where...where are we?'  Natasha asked.


'Moscow.'


They had a short wait in the cold Moscow air, Solomon shivering not at the cold but at the thought that they could be under surveillance.  The first she would know about it would be a hand on her shoulder, or the shout of an armed Militsiya.  Reunited with their luggage they left the confines of the bus station making their way to Shchyolkovskaya, the metro station next door, which they took to Paveletskaya and where they walked to the Paveletsky train station to get tickets for the train to Volgograd. 


 


The queue for tickets was long but fast moving, this suited Solomon just fine, the quicker we are through, the less chance we will be remembered, she thought.  They bought a baked potato each and a fruit pie to share from one of the vendors and took their place on the train amongst the other travellers.  Solomon sighed as she relaxed into her seat; feeling suddenly very tired at the thought of the enormous journey ahead of them and the risks they faced.  They could have simply flown to Zurich in a matter of hours, enjoying a meal and a film as they went, but flights presented hazards she knew would have been too great.  She was starting to realise what life as a fugitive meant and she didn't like it. 


Looking out of the window her heart stopped as she saw two Militsiya walking alongside the train on the platform.  She stared at them, a rabbit caught in headlights, unable to turn her gaze away even though she knew she must.  They continued on, just walking together seemingly untroubled, Solomon let out a breath and then relaxed, just a little, into her seat.  Her original intention had been to take the train from Volgograd to Sochi on the coast of the Black Sea, now however she didn't think that to be wise, better not to be trapped aboard a train close to the border.


As the train pulled out of the station, straining to overcome the inertia of the five hundred tons of combined engine and carriages, Solomon breathed another sigh of relief.  She had seen no evidence of any Militsiya boarding the train and she had no reason to believe that anyone even knew they are on the train.  Hopefully, she thought, if we have been discovered to be missing they are looking for us in Helsinki.


The train gathered speed, moving out of central Moscow and headed south towards Volgograd.  The train was busy, packed with people; Solomon took her time to look around at the other passengers.  People, she began to think to herself, think of a train as a natural extension to their home or office.  She could see people eating, chatting on the phone, working and even knitting in the case of an elderly lady who would probably finish whatever she was working on by the end of her journey.  She looked more closely at the woman and started to envy the life she imagined for her.  A simple life full of the joys of family, she was probably on such a journey going to see a son or daughter in the southern part of Russia.  There to spend a week or two catching up on her child's life, enjoying time with her grandchildren.  Now she started to think that the knitting was a baby blanket for a new grandchild.  That thought provoked a pang of guilt followed by a feeling of emptiness; she looked at Natasha sitting next to her and started to wonder what kind of life she is offering her, no father, no grandparents, no home and on the run.  This was not the life she had had in mind for herself and especially not for her little girl.


 


 


17:12   28 October  [14:12  28 October GMT]


Volgograd Train Station, Volgograd, Russia.


 


The train came to a full stop with much more grace than the one from St. Petersburg to Moscow, the train easing itself into the platform allocated for it.  Solomon was tired again, tired in a way that sleep alone would not fix.  Although she had slept some, the journey being too long not to sleep, it had only been shallow and the nightmares had made tiring.  Her body was starting to ache, too much sitting and not having the regular exercise that she normally gave it.  The private fitness club in St. Petersburg now a distant memory for her and her body.


Solomon would have loved to visit here under better circumstances.  She had learned about Volgograd, or Stalingrad as her teacher had insisted upon calling it, at school and later in the army.  The Hero City of Russia that held out against the might of Hitler’s Nazi army from July nineteen forty-two to February nineteen forty-three.  It was the bloodiest battle in modern history with nearly two million combined casualties from both sides.  Yes, she thought to herself, I could get lost amongst the history here for days, if only I had the time.  Instead, we have to shuffle our way to the bus station.  She sighed, picked up their luggage and holding her daughter's hand began a slow trudge to the bus station.


The bus station was still open, but the last bus had left.  Solomon spoke to a returning driver; tired though he was he gave her directions to a local place the long distance drivers use where she could get a cheap room for the night.


 


 


10:43   29 October  [07:43  28 October GMT]


Volgograd Train Station, Volgograd, Russia.


 


Entering the bus station the next morning, it took a moment for Solomon’s brain to register what was wrong.  When it did, her heart sank and skipped a beat at the same time.  Militsiya.  The word rang through her mind bouncing back and forth, each time denting her confidence a bit more.  Solomon managed to control most of her fear, and to keep walking.  People who stop and turn around are easily spotted.  Instead, she and Natasha kept walking, but rather than a straight line, they walked in a large arc, always appearing to be walking towards something in the station until they mixed with passengers who had just arrived and so they could walk out.  A person well in front of them dropped a leaflet and now she realised that several people were carrying them.  She stopped briefly to tie her shoe, allowing her to pick up the leaflet; she didn’t read it until they were walking again.  She turned it over and came face to face with a picture of her and Natasha staring blankly back at her.  This time her heart skipped several beats.  She kept walking, kept hold of Natasha, kept control of her emotions.  I must think, think!  What should I do?  She decided that the photos were too good a match, something had to be done.  And done quickly.


She found a toilet, close to the exit of the station.  She pulled Natasha in with her and quickly set about herself.  Taking a clip from her handbag, she put her hair up in a distinct ponytail, but high on her head.  Her long raven hair now less apparent.  Natasha's hair was more of a problem, the same raven colour; it was currently styled in a short bob.  This left less scope for styling. 


'What's wrong mummy?'


'I want to put your hair up, it's part of the game, but I don't have any clips.'


'Will these do mummy?’  Natasha pulled four pink clips shaped like butterflies out of her coat pocket.


'You' Solomon began, 'are a little star.'


The hair re-arranged the best she could they popped back out into the world, Solomon thinking that they would need a chemist to do a proper job of restyling themselves.  A busy or a back-street one. 


She was at a loss as to what to do.  Public transport over any great distance was out of the question.  So too was hiring a car, too many questions and paperwork.  The only way forward she decided was hitchhiking.  This came with its own attendant risks.  The most obvious being out in the open for any passing Militsiya to notice them.  Then there were the risks of placing themselves in the hands of strangers.  Not a pleasant thought.


We need to know where we are going, somewhere far from here in the right direction, but not so far that it would raise questions.  What I need is a map, she thought to herself.  This now meant two shops, twice the risk of being spotted or remembered; she didn't like it but there was no alternative.  At least Volgograd is a large city, many people to be lost amongst.


She found a bookstore close by, and to avoid suspicion purchased a novel and a cookery book at the same time as the Atlas.  It was a large hard-backed edition but this was the best she could find with the detail she needed.  As they walked down the street, the two surplus purchases went in a bin.  Solomon becoming acutely aware of her diminishing financial resources.


It would have been easier to ask the bookseller about finding a chemist, but that would have left a trail.  Instead, a couple of blocks from the store, she asked a mother of two young children.  The chemist's shop was almost hidden, obviously the kind of place that didn't rely on passing trade.  She purchased two bottles of hair dye, one a mousy, mid-range brown for herself, the other a light dullish blonde for Natasha.  A pair of hair scissors, a cutthroat razor and some toothpaste.


In the street outside the chemist's shop, she found a public toilet.  This toilet, she thought to herself, has to be smelt to be believed.  Despite its drawbacks, it was a quiet place and she found a sign inside saying, “Out of Order”.  Solomon placed the sign on the outside of the door and closed it; that should give us some privacy….  They emerged sometime later, Solomon with short brown hair and Natasha's dark blonde styled in a very short crew cut like a boys.  They had to venture another conversation with a stranger.


'Excuse me,' she asked a man dressed in an unkempt fashion, 'is there somewhere I could find a place to stay.  I have very little money you see.'


The man stood perfectly still, looking at them both.  It seemed an age before he spoke, as if he was deciding whether he should help them.  He told them about an area of the city to the south where rooms were available for a small sum and on a daily basis.  He said that it was a bit of a walk, but that the bus could take them there for a small sum.  To think I would have judged that man on his appearance.  Now I’m homeless, with no job or income and fast running out of cash and on top of that, I am a fugitive.  So too was Natasha she realised, looking down at her daughter she wondered again why this had happened to them. 


As they sat on the bus, Solomon pulled out the leaflet, as she read it her mind tried to take it all in.  Wanted for the Murder of Professor Dorän and the theft of state secrets.  It also gave their ages, height and weight.  Murder, she thought, what murder?  Who was this Professor Dorän?  Solomon was starting to realise that they were in much more trouble than she had realised.  For murder, we will be hunted throughout the entire country.  The theft of state secrets means being hunted outside Russia too.  Following her mother’s story, she desperately hoped that it would lead them both to safety.  She couldn’t understand how her mother had the foresight for all of this nine years ago.


The southern area of town proved to be everything Solomon had hoped for.  Edge of the city, run-down, and no questions asked.  Although she hadn't intended for them to take a room, she couldn't think when they had last slept in a bed and the prospect of it beckoned to her.  The room was small, dark, and bare.  The bed was old, the mattress having past the throwing out stage years before.  Neither of them cared.  They both lay down and slept.  The day passed into night and the night into morning.


 


The sun found their room and entered uninvited.  It moved around casting shadows in its wake, until it found the bed and its occupants.  Natasha awoke, unaware of where she was; she shook her mother’s shoulder until she was awake.


'Mummy I'm hungry.'


'OK darling we'll get something out.'


Breakfast came courtesy of a small cafe that catered for people who had no home.  A couple of inquiries here proved fruitful in identifying the best area to hitchhike south. 


             


A truck stopped, the driver inquiring where they were headed.


'South towards Svetlograd.'


'I'm going to Yashkul, I can take you as far as Elista, hop in'


The lorry driver was used to people on the road, he didn't inquire into their circumstances, thinking it none of his business and believing they would probably lie anyway.  Everyone has their reason, he figured.  He had a baseball cap with Cubs on it and plonked this on Natasha's head.


'There you go little fella.'


'I'm not a fella, I'm a girl.'


'She's at that awkward age.’  Solomon said smiling.


They talked about the economy, politics, and life in general, Solomon not having much to say, she just agreed with him, realising that the guy just liked company and the sound of his own voice.  They parted ways at Elista, the driver insisting that Natasha keep the cap, as it looked better on her that it ever did on him.


             


They had to wait over an hour for their next lift.  A couple travelling back home having visited relatives in Volgograd.  The conversation was not so easy this time, the questions came thick and fast, who are they, where are they from, where are they going, why?  It took all of Solomon's concentration to maintain a coherent story.  Eventually the questions died down and then came the inevitable monologue as the woman explained who they were, where they had been, where they were going, and a veritable movie of photographs were passed to the back for the expected appreciative comments.


The journey ended at the couple’s home town of Svetlograd, with the couple wishing them a safe trip to Stavropol and Solomon thanking them for their kindness at giving them a lift.  It was time to eat again.  The bar seemed to be the only place to eat that was open.  She pushed hard against the door, holding it open for Natasha to enter, following her close behind.  It was dark inside, their eyes taking time to adjust, leaving them exposed to the glare of the patrons.  This was not the sort of place for a mother and her daughter.  The clientele, if they could be referred to as such, were almost entirely men, working men.  At least they do food, Solomon thought, trying to raise her spirits.  They took a booth against the sidewall.  The waitress sidled over, her face, aged well beyond her years, hadn’t seen a smile in months.  They ordered two of the day's specials, which proved to be anything but.  A lukewarm broth with bits of flavourless meat; they both cleaned their bowls mopping it up with a fair amount of the local bread.


Solomon felt a large, cold shadow looming over her.  She looked up and didn't like what she saw.  The man was huge, over six and a half feet tall and built like a construction worker, considerable muscle combined with a vast amount of bulk.  He swayed slightly on his feet, and when he talked, it was with the diction of the poorly educated.  His breath smelt heavily of drink.


'You wanna dance pretty lady?'


'No, no thank you.'


'Arhhh sure you do.'  The man grabbed her hand.  His hand was like a huge vice of flesh and bone.  Solomon didn't like where this was heading.  The man stopped.  Another man stood by his side having tapped him on the shoulder for which he had to reach up. 


'I don't think the lady wants to dance.'  The second man said simply.


The man had turned to stare down at the second man.  He released her hand, the passion suddenly draining out of him. 


'I didn't mean anything by it; all's I wanted was a dance.'  He lurched back to the bar stool where he had been sitting.


'Thank you, thank you so much.'  Solomon gushed to her rescuer.


'You’re entirely welcome.  I'm Sergei'


'I'm Solomon and this is my daughter Natasha.'  Solomon immediately realised her mistake, we should be using false names.  However, it was too late now and this gentleman had just saved her from a nasty fate.


'Well it's nice to meet you both.'  He turned back towards his own table but Solomon, forgetting her current circumstance, didn't think a simple thank you was adequate.


'Would you like to join us?'


'Thank you.'


They talked for a while, Sergei providing much of the conversation.  He said he was an architect headed south for a job in Georgia.  Divorced, he didn't get to see enough of his children; he showed her a photo of two young boys playing happily on swings.  Solomon invented a new story, that they were headed to see relatives in Tblisi.  Sergei happily offered them a lift as he said that was where his new job was.  Sergei had quite a good car.  Architects must be paid well, she thought, conscious for the first time in her life that people with jobs are paid according to what they do.  Although she had been in the army herself, she had never even thought about her pay, it hadn't made any material difference to what she spent, as her allowance had always been very generous.  Now she was starting to realise how most people live.  Why they strive to get a good education for their children, something else she had never considered.  Solomon, immature in so many ways, was finally starting to grow up.  They were making good time, the roads were quite clear. 


'Look out for a turning on the right coming up.  There is a good short cut, one of the truckers told me about.'


Sure enough, a right turn appeared soon and they left the main road to follow it.  About a mile in, he pulled over to the side, turning off the engine and lights.  He opened his door.


'I won't be long, just a call of nature which won't wait I'm afraid.'


Solomon smiled at this, men and their bladders have a curious relationship.


She didn't worry at first, true he had been a while, but the place was deserted so he should be OK.  Time ticked on, she looked at her watch, he had been ten full minutes at least, and it must have been five minutes before she had looked at her watch.  Fifteen minutes, I should go look for him, see that he is all right.


She walked around the car trying to see any sign of him.  Nothing, like he never existed.  She tried calling out, 'Sergei!  Sergei!'  No answer.


She fell to the ground before she even felt the blow to the back of her head.  On all fours she could barely focus, a hand grabbed at her, pulling her onto her back, she tried to look up but all she could see were shapes of light and dark.  One of the dark shapes was pulling at her clothes; her jeans yanked down to her ankles, blouse ripped open.  She struggled for breath; the shape had its forearm over her throat.  It was inside her now, grunting back and forth, like a rutting animal.  She managed to get the shapes forearm from her throat 'Sergei!' she screamed, hoping he might be in a position to help her.  She was rewarded with a vicious slap across the left side of her face.  The blow was so bad the little vision she had regained returned to its previous blurry state.  Sergei did not come to her aid; the shape finished and got up.  She heard the car door open and then the sound that turned her anger and confusion into blind rage.


'Mummy!'


The shape had hold of her daughter, pulling her from the back of Sergei’s car.  Solomon scrambled towards her handbag, hand delving inside, searching for the cold smooth article she had purchased the previous day.  She lunged at the shape, slashed at his protruding organ with the open cutthroat razor.  He screamed in pain, his groin on fire.  He turned on her, blood spraying as it moved.  He raised his right leg, the large boot aimed straight at her head.  Solomon's training finally arrived.  She dropped the razor, and grabbed the boot with both hands turning it through one hundred and eighty degrees, the shape span round and crashed to the floor.  Solomon crawled on top of him, clasping her left hand over his mouth as she drew the recovered razor across his throat.  He gargled for a minute then fell silent.


Solomon lay there, letting her pulse slow and her eyesight recover.  Now she could think again, could see.  Sergei looked up at her, his eyes cold to the world.  Solomon took a while to process it all.  She took out his wallet.  Sergei wasn't even his name; he was a travelling salesman, not an architect.  No doubt, the children in the photo aren't even his, she thought bitterly.  The bastard, the utter bastard, he had planned this all along.


She stood up, slightly uneasy on her feet.  Then she thought about how close he had come to hurting her little girl.  She kicked the body at her feet, then again, and again, and then she let loose, kicking the body of Sergei until her leg ached.  She stopped, panting hard.  Suddenly aware that her daughter was witnessing this, had witnesses it all. 


Solomon grabbed her daughter and held her close whispering to her that everything was going to be OK.


As the minutes ticked by she started to worry.  We’re both standing here at the side of the road with a dead body.  We need to get out of her, fast.  She covered the body with branches and bits of a bush, unless anyone was looking for it, they would not see it from the road.  They got into the car, Natasha in the front passenger seat now.  Solomon looked frantically for the key.  The fucking key must be in his pocket!


The key located and the body re-covered they were finally on their way.  Unsure as to where the lane actually went, she opted to turn round and take the slower, but sure route to the border.


 


 


11:13   01 November  [08:13  01 November GMT]


Upper Lars Checkpoint, Caucasus Mountains, Russia-Georgia Border.


 


There was something happening on the Russian side of the border.  Solomon was eight cars back from the front and could see some smoke rising.  The majority of the border guards had surrounded the smoking vehicle and as she came closer, she could see that the vehicle was riddled with bullet holes.  The single Russian border guard not looking at the burnt out vehicle was just waving the cars through, one at a time.  Solomon gently held her breath as she was waved through.  The Georgian side was a different story.  The cars were being split into four rows and a border guard was dedicated to each row.  As they drew closer Solomon could make out that they were holding clipboards, what was on them she couldn't tell.  Then the guard in the next lane turned his back on her, so she could see the front of the clipboard.  Even at this distance, she recognised their photos.  He had the leaflet, the one from the bus station.  The one where I am wanted for murder.  That thought brought a wry smile.  Well I can't protest that I'm not a murderer any more.


She pulled the car forward as another car was waved through after its inspection.  One car was left between her and freedom.  She considered waiting until the car in front moved and then going for it.  The thought of the smouldering car with the bullet holes dispensed with that idea.  There is nothing else for it, I will have to bluff it, and if that fails then we make a run for it.


The car in front moved off.  Solomon drew up alongside the Georgian border guard.  He lent down to her window.  She wound it down.


'Please switch off your engine miss.'


'Of course officer.'  So much for making a run for it.


He looked at the two occupants then at his clipboard.


'Any contraband?'


'No, of course not.'


'Have you seen these two people?’  He asked, showing her the picture of herself and Natasha on his clipboard.


'No.  I haven't.'  Solomon said nervously, her heart in her mouth, palms sweating, pulse racing.


'No,' the Georgian border guard said, 'neither have I.’ He smiled at Solomon, and then whispered, 'Good luck.'  He stood up, waved her through, and thought to himself, Don't see why I should help the Russians.  Let them clear up their own mess.  He felt he had struck a small blow for Georgia.


 


 


13:48   01 November  [10:48  01 November GMT]


Tbilisi, Georgia.


 


The drive from the border to Tbilisi had been spectacularly uneventful, much to Solomon's relief.  They parked in the central old part of Tbilisi, outside a small store.  Again the need for food was uppermost in both their minds and they were not disappointed with what the city had to offer.  Solomon ordered a coffee for herself and an orange juice for Natasha after they had finished eating.  As she sat there sipping the dark, rich liquid, savouring the aroma she started to unwind just a little.  The close call at the train station, the incident in the bar, the rape and her having to kill “Sergei” to protect her daughter followed by the encounter with the border guard.  These events had all taken their toll upon her.  The border guard still puzzled her.  She was in no doubt that he had recognised them both, and yet instead of detaining and arresting them he had wished them good luck and waved them through.  She looked across at her daughter, drinking her orange juice through a straw and playing with Sheepy. 


She had always loved her, but she had never felt very maternal.  That had all changed now; now her daughter had no nanny, no housekeeper, no home even.  But in exchange the fates had conspired to give her a real mother, one who provided both physical and emotional care.  She had in turn discovered the truth of motherhood, and the great rewards that it provides.  She could no longer be fearful.  Now it was all about survival.  Survival and escape to England.  But first they had to make it to Switzerland, to where it was “both safe and familiar” to be able to receive the “gift”.  She still had no idea what this meant, nor what the gift could be.  She just had faith in her mother, as Natasha did in her.


The bill paid, they made their way back to where they had parked the car.  As they came around the side of a church they could see a crowd, but no car.  Instead of walking down the street she lead Natasha across the road.  Able to get a better look she could see that the crowd were jostling around the car, and that inside of the crowd was a ring of police.  Solomon kept walking, leading Natasha away from the area, away from imminent danger.


She started to think rapidly to herself, trying to assimilate this new turn of events.  They either know that we were using the car and are looking for us, or they have discovered Sergei and are wondering how his car is over a hundred and fifty miles away from his body.  Or, she realised, they know both, that I killed him and drove here in his car.  Either way we need to move fast, the train is out of the question so it has to be a bus.  But not a bus to the border with Turkey.  She opened her map and looked at it.  A bus to Batumi in the west, it’s on the coast of the Black Sea, then double back some distance and cross the border.  We can't risk having another kind border guard, which means we will have to cross the border on foot and for that we will need supplies.


After walking about a half mile, she stopped and asked directions to the bus station.  Although she hated leaving behind all of their clothes, she realised that this way they looked less suspicious walking through the city.  At least I have our money on me.


The bus station was insanely busy, which worked to Solomon's advantage.  It took a bit of work to find the Batumi bus, but when they did, she was pleased to see that passengers were loading their own luggage.  That's good; it means we should go unnoticed.  The bus itself was bright, modern, and efficient, as was the journey.  They whipped along the roads making good time.  Talking to a fellow passenger, there were two busses to Batumi, the direct, and the local, which made stops along the way.  They were on the direct.  She thought about this.  If the Tbilisi police take time to contact the police in Batumi then we could be there before they start checking inbound busses.  However, as it is direct we can't get off one stop early.  It doesn't really matter, she realised, we're on the direct bus, and nothing can change that.


 


 


19:24   01 November  [16:24  01 November GMT]


Batumi Bus Station, Batumi, Georgia.


 


Solomon could only see two policemen.  They stood away from the crowds, apparently just observing and showing that they were there to prevent any trouble.  Solomon had consulted her map and decided that she wanted to travel back as far as Alikoglebi, about sixteen miles from Batumi.  She inquired as to busses there and was told that although it originated from the bus station, it could be caught from the outskirts of the town, as it was a local service.  This left her free to take Natasha into the shopping area to buy supplies; some clothes, a couple of rucksacks one adult and one child, and a pair of good walking boots each.  She purchased the rucksacks first and fitted everything else into them, apart from the boots.  If it can't go in the rucksacks, we can't carry it.  The one exception was Sheepy, which she fixed to Natasha's belt with a retractable dog lead, so even if she did drop it, it wouldn't be lost.  Solomon knew it would be better to make the crossing in the day, so they found a small hotel away from the centre and settled in for the night.


08:41   02 November  [05:41  02 November GMT]


Alikoglebi, Georgia.


 


The bus pulled away leaving them and one other passenger behind.  Solomon knew that they had a hard task in front of them.  Three miles to the border through dense forests and over a mountainous terrain.  She thought back to her army training and how tough it had been, at least I have that to call upon, but Natasha doesn't and she's only nine.


The going was much harder than even she had anticipated, half a mile in and she was breathing heavily, the ascent and rapidly thinning air combining to test her stamina.  Natasha seemed to be having an easier time of it, treating it like a grand adventure, this part outdoors.


The cold was sapping their strength and making conditions treacherous.  They took a break when they reached the crest of an escarpment, the deep ravine falling away hundreds of meters below.  Solomon checked her map and instruments.  They were over a mile into the trek and about a mile from the border.  Over two miles past there to the Turkish town of Maralköy from where they could hopefully catch a bus.  She looked down at her daughter, who was breathing hard now.  Solomon dragged herself to her feet, 'You ready to go Nat?'


Natasha nodded and scrambled to her feet.  They set off, Natasha in front where Solomon could keep an eye on her.  They had only been walking for two minutes when Natasha just seemed to slip into the ground, disappearing totally from sight.  Solomon's heart froze.  As she stepped to where her daughter had disappeared, she began to see daylight.  The path had been washed away but then covered by foliage.  Solomon stood there in shock, looking at where her daughter had disappeared into the ravine below. 


'Mummy!’


Natasha is alive!  Alive...but I can't see her. 


'Don't worrying; mummy is going to save you!'


Then she saw something that made her made her shiver.  Sheepy.  Sheepy was stuck in a tree stump; the dog lead taut below it and on the other end she knew would be her daughter, dangling in the air, a terrifying fall below her.  Solomon walked round the hole, behind the stump.  She sat down bracing her legs against the stump. 


'I'm going to start pulling you up.  Let me know when you can grab the stump.'


She leaned forward, grasped the lead with both hands then pushing just with her legs she pulled the lead.  Once her hands were level with her pelvis, she reached forward and grabbed a metre of lead with her right hand and once her grip was secure she clasped it with her left hand too.  She let her bum slide along the ground and then pushed again with her legs, grabbing another metre of lead.  Three more pulls and then she heard her daughter again.


'I've got hold of the stump mummy.'


Her voice was quieter now, smaller somehow.


'Good girl, now hold on very tight and I'll help you up.'


Solomon released the lead slowly, allowing her daughter to take her full weight.  She crawled over the top of the stump and looped her arms around her daughters back, under her armpits.  She interlaced her fingers and took up the strain.


'I want you to pull with me and get a foot hold as soon as you can, then push as hard as you can.'


'OK'


'Go!'


There was some frantic scrabbling by Natasha and then she popped up like toast.  They lay there together, interlocked, panting, and cuddling.  After a couple of minutes the tears came, first a trickle, then a flood combined with her sobbing made Solomon quite incoherent.


'Mummy, mummy, it's OK I'm all right mummy.'


'I... know… dear...’  Solomon managed to get out amongst her sobbing.  ‘I... thought...  I'd... lost... you...' 


Solomon continued to hug her daughter for a good ten minutes more before finally pulling herself up and leading them on.  Now they were hooked together by the lead and Sheepy was carefully placed inside Natasha's rucksack with its head poking out; pride of place.  They passed the border some half an hour later and began the long slow descent towards Maralköy, the going easier as the air thickened again.


 


There was not much to the town of Maralköy, but they did find somewhere to eat.  They discovered that there was no bus for another three or four days forcing them to accept a lift to Artvin some twenty miles due south.  Solomon was glad they had to ride in the back of the truck.  The farmer had his entire family in the cab; it seemed that any journey to Artvin was a day out.  Mother and daughter looked out the back of the truck as it wound its way down the mountainside. 


Artvin was not a pretty town.  Once possibly, but too many concrete monsters had grown out of it.  It did however have a bus service.  They could not relax, even having a meal was a stress because they might be noticed, or worse yet, recognised against a photo of them circulated throughout Turkey.  If the Turkish police care, or have been informed or have bothered to circulate their photos.  So many imponderables it was driving Solomon insane.  The bus to Erzurum finally arrived for the eighty-mile journey south.


 


11:14   03 November  [09:14  03 November GMT]


Erzurum, Turkey.


 


Another day, another bus station, Solomon thought idly as she walked round to collect their rucksacks.  Her body ached from the disturbed sleep she had had on the bus, the rough roads, sharp bends and judder of the diesel engine combining to deny her much needed rest.  Natasha seemed to be faring better, children can sleep anywhere, she thought as she had stroked her hair.  It helps that she's small and can curl up to sleep across the seats on top of me.  The image of Natasha disappearing right in front of her had been replaying itself over and over again.  If we ever get through this, when we get through this, she quickly corrected herself; I will make damn sure that Natasha has a proper life, a home with a garden and a pet to play with.  It amazed Solomon how quickly something becomes routine, the search for food and the next means of travelling on had become their entire way of life.  The food that evening had been Köfte, a dish of meat and vegetables rolled into balls.  Solomon couldn't decide if it was beef or lamb, only that it had tasted terrific and she had devoured it greedily.  Natasha ate hers in a more leisurely manner, as if she was Turkish born and bred.


             


They did a little shopping for clothes.  Disposing of those they had ruined on their journey over the mountains, they purchased local so that they fitted in more.  Our money is dwindling fast, we still have a journey across water to make, two water crossings in fact, and those are never cheap.


When she purchased their train tickets for the journey to Ankara, Solomon found that the fare was modest.  At last some good news.  They approached the platform and joined the queue.  Solomon looked out ahead to the front of the queue and could make out uniforms, black hats with silver and red badges.  Police, she thought, has to be.  Solomon squatted down next to Natasha, telling her to mingle with the group ahead, which seemed to consist of four parents and about ten children.  Solomon hung back, keeping her head down and eyes on the ground. 


Natasha made it through without a problem, Solomon keeping close behind the elderly couple in front of her.  As they reached the front of the queue, the old woman lost her grip on her bag.  The fruit and vegetables she was carrying spilling out onto the platform, the round ones rolling some distance.  For an instant, Solomon stood face to face with the two policemen.  She swooped down onto all fours and helped recover the escaping items of food.  As she gathered some together a hand reached out to her face offering her a wayward orange, she took it and feeling compelled looked up at the person who retrieved it.


'Orada sen gitmek vuramamak’ the officer said smiling.


Solomon had no idea what he said, just smiled back at him and turned round before she stood up, dropping the items she had collected back into the old woman's bag.  The elderly couple edged towards the train, Solomon's head swayed as she followed them.  She ushered Natasha onto the train and found somewhere to sit, beads of sweat dropping from her brow.  As the train pulled out of the station, tears found their way down her face, the strain too much to hold.  A small hand reached out to hers.


'It will be OK mummy, I promise.'  Natasha climbed on to her mother's lap and hugged her tight.  The tears started to subside, Natasha holding her mother tight whilst she fell asleep.


 


 


10:28   04 November  [08:28  04 November GMT]


Ankara, Turkey.


 


The train journey had taken almost an entire day.  They walked through Ankara and into a bustling marketplace providing them with a melee of sounds and smells.  The stallholders calling out to the passing shoppers, the smell of the freshly cooked local foods and the sight of hundreds of people, a mix of locals and tourists, milling about, inspecting what was on offer. 


As they approached a food stall, lured there by the smell of fresh bread, they could see that the stallholder was offering his own variety of Köfte, plus various other local fare.  Solomon swung her rucksack off her back to extract some money.  She felt a sharp tug and turned round to see a boy with her rucksack running through the crowd, darting through this way and that moving like a fish through water.  All Solomon could think was, our life is in that bag!  She grabbed Natasha's hand and made off after the thief, Natasha bobbing behind her like a balloon.  The thief didn't get very far.  A pair of Turkish policeman had seen the thief swoop and had moved to intercept.  The boy, who couldn't have been more than ten or eleven, was struggling against the officer holding him.  He kicked and bit the policeman like a wild thing.  Solomon's heart was in her mouth as she almost ran into the officers.  The boy, now handcuffed to the first officer was led away.  The second officer had hold of Solomon's rucksack.


'Here you go miss.' the officer said in English.


'Thank you.  Thank you so much.'  Solomon replied in her best English.


She turned to go, to lead Natasha away from danger.  However, the officer continued.


'Your identification miss.  I need it for the arrest paper.'


'Our papers were stolen with my handbag in Erzurum.'


'I understand,' the officer replied, 'this is serious.  You need new papers.  What country are you?'


'I'm Georgian.'  Solomon lied.


'I'll escort you to Georgian embassy so you can apply for new papers.'


'That's OK,' Solomon was thinking quickly, 'we were going there anyway, thanks.'


'I have to escort you.'  The officer stated.


Solomon resigned herself to this, realising that arguing would only cause more problems for them both.  I'll have to think my way out of this.


It was only a short walk from the marketplace to the embassy in Abdullah Cevdet Sok.  The embassy, housed in a small, two-storey building was guarded by a Georgian soldier.  The police officer introduced himself explaining why he was there and who Solomon and Natasha were.  The soldier radioed reception and ushered them inside.  A large but pleasant looking man descended the staircase.


'I am Torgva Kvaratskhelia, I am the Deputy Chief of Mission, how may I help?'


The officer recounted the events from the marketplace and the situation in which Solomon and Natasha were currently in.  'Obviously I need to see official papers to confirm their identities.’  The officer finished.


'Of course, of course.' the Deputy agreed.  'However it will take some time to confirm their identities, get approval for new papers and to produce them.  May I suggest that I bring them by the station tomorrow?'


The officer looked at the Deputy, made a note in his book, 'Tomorrow it is then.'  He left his details with the Deputy and bid them farewell.


The officer gone, the Deputy questioned Solomon as to where she was from and what she did.  Solomon gave him the name of a street she remembered from Tbilisi and the number of a building, adding that she was recently widowed, and her late husband's father had been from Antalya on the southern Mediterranean coast of Turkey.  However she had very little else to go on and was hoping to make inquiries in the town to see if any family remained.  The Deputy excused himself saying that he would confirm her details and start the process of issuing new passports.  The Deputy gone, Solomon thought fast, we can't just walk out, as his secretary is right outside.  However..., she had an idea.  Solomon opened the office door and led her daughter into the Secretary's office.  'Please, my daughter needs the toilet?'  She asked.


The secretary stared at them both blankly; she didn't speak any Russian.


'Please the toilet?' she asked again, this time in broken English.  She held Natasha's shoulders showing the secretary that her daughter needed the toilet.


The secretary smiled, then nodded and stood up from her desk, leading them out into the corridor.  She pointed to a door halfway down the corridor on the right.  Solomon smiled back at the woman and nodded.  She led Natasha by her hand and walked towards the toilet.  The secretary walked back into her office.


Inside the toilet Solomon was pleased to see that it had windows, she opened one and looked out, it overlooked an alley.  Perfect, she thought.  They had had to leave their rucksacks in the Deputy's office, taking them to the toilet would have looked suspicious.  The essentials Solomon had squirrelled away in her clothing.  Again, they would have to buy more, depleting their finances still further.  The windows were about waist high; Solomon pushed one as wide as it would go, and then helped Natasha up to it.  There was a knock at the toilet door.  Her heart stopped.  Natasha was halfway out the window. 


'Just a minute.'  Solomon called out, trying to decide whether to make a run for it.


'It's OK, take your time.  The computer is down so I cannot process your application until tomorrow, come to my office when you are ready.  I will arrange accommodation for you both for tonight.'


'Thanks.'  Solomon managed to say.  Her arms were screaming now holding Natasha out of the window, muscles taut.  She eased her back in.  When they returned to the Deputy's office, he had already secured them the accommodation he had promised.  He gave them a street map of Ankara, with the hostel marked upon it and the embassy as well.


'You will need to be here at ten in the morning.'  He went to put this in his diary.  'Blast.  I am booked up until lunch.  Look be here tomorrow afternoon, two o'clock, I'm sure the officer will be OK with that.'


Solomon thanked him profusely for all his help and took the street map with her as they left.  She had no intention of staying the night in Ankara.






 




 


 


 


 


 


 


9 Courts Martial


 


 


10:07   05 November  [09:07  05 November GMT]


Board of Inquiry, French Army Barracks, Châlons-en-Champagne, NE France.


 


Second Lieutenant Severine Pascal sat there, her face impassive.  Normally a picture of beauty, a combination of her French and Haitian parentage, it now lacked something.  It was impassive, almost cold.  Three men sat opposite her, three men who held her future in their hands.  They were all senior military officers.  They were here today to hear the charges against her, and to sit in judgement.  None of them knew her personally.  They only had her military record, which was not impressive as a lot of it was sealed.  That and the evidence against her.  This was not their first courts martial; they had presided over too many in their long careers.  The allegations and counter-allegations were of a serious disciplinary nature.  Had this been a civilian matter, a criminal court would be presiding.  However, the army does things differently.  An officer of the court read out the charges.


'Second-Lieutenant Pascal.  You are charged with conduct contrary to the code of the French army.  Specifically that you stole from the French Army.  You assaulted an officer of the French army and that you committed serious damage to the property of that same French officer.  How do you reply?'


'To the theft, not guilty.  To the assault and damage, guilty due to passion.'


'The French Army does not recognise the defence of passion.'


'Then I am not guilty on all three charges.'


Severine knew that she was, technically, guilty on at least the second and third charges.  However if she said so she would be denied this day in court.


'The case is prepared and there are charges to be answered.'  The officer addressed the three judges.  'Have I the courts permission to proceed?'


'Qui.' the lead judge answered.


The officer of the court called the first of twenty-two witnesses to the assault.  The most serious of the three charges.


Severine tuned out the witness.  She knew that he would tell the truth.  That all of them would recount precisely the events of that day.  She cast her mind back to the day in question, and then further back in time to the events that had preceded it.


             


Severine had not had the easiest of lives before joining the army.  An only child she had been raised in Clichy-sous-Bois, a banlieue or modern ghetto to the northeast of Paris.  A place where tourists do not venture.  Her French father was an intelligent and sensitive man, but one who lacked ambition, he never pushed for advancement.  He worked for the city, a diligent and reliable employee, well-liked by his colleagues.  Her Haitian mother was an altogether different person.  Severine inherited her anger and passion from her mother, a fiery woman who became more exasperated with her husband year upon year.


'Why can't you be more dynamic?' was her often-used taunt. 


Severine would see the wounded look upon her father's face, the internal translation of Why can't you be more of a man?  The more that Severine tried to please her father, and be like him, the more she turned into her mother.  Fights in and out of school, both with other girls and with boys, some much older than her, were commonplace.  Her mother chose to ignore the cuts and bruises.  Her father would have a quiet word with Severine, when her mother was not around. 


Severine's schooling suffered from her constant fighting, but she achieved enough for acceptance into the military, where she believed her passionate and often violent nature could be of use.  This only proved to be half-right.  If an army marches on its stomach, it works with discipline.  She found the discipline of the army difficult to internalise.  Her combat skills were recognised though, and these coupled with her innate beauty and mixed origin meant that she was chosen for special duties.  As much as she failed to fit into regular army life, she never failed on a mission.  However, their classified nature meant that she could not be recognised for her considerable skills and achievements.


She began to drift through the army.  Transfers to other units became more frequent as each of her superiors found her a disruptive influence.  The secret missions didn't help.  They were invariably classed as training or special leave.  She could not recount them after, and so the secrets mounted.  So did her frustration.  Others, who had officially recognised experience, were promoted above her.  Now at the age of thirty-one she had to salute people many years her junior.  Like her current commanding officer.  Lieutenant Jacques Fleubert was a twenty-seven year old son of a career officer.  The spirit of the section that Severine served in changed almost the day that he was appointed to command them.  This had been her longest stay in post since joining the army.  She had worked hard at both controlling her anger as well as building a solid professional relationship with her former commanding officer, a tough but fair man who, unfortunately for Severine, retired early. 


Lieutenant Fleubert was not the man to replace her former commanding officer.  Nor was he the sort of officer his father was.  He only saw the brash side of his father, heard the stories his father had told.  He did not see the years his father had worked, gaining solid experience of soldiering and the respect of both the men and women who served under him.  No, the son was much less of a man than his father was.  He didn't see the place of women in the army.  He felt that he should automatically receive the same respect his father did, as if it went with the name rather than the man.  He completely misunderstood Severine.  He could see no reason for her being there, expect that she was a woman and they are supposed to have equal opportunity.  But, he reasoned, if she were any good she would be of a higher rank.  He could see why people might want here around though.  Fit, attractive and very feminine, he was instantly attracted to her.  She however, was not remotely attracted to him.


It started with unnecessary comments, little more than banter.  Then there were tasks that, strictly speaking, fell outside of her duties.  She was focused on her career.  She ignored the comments and undertook the tasks, trying to establish the same level of professional relationship that she had with her previous commanding officer.  However, she found that one couldn’t build a solid house on sand.  The little comments, which had been private, were now public.  She still said nothing, afraid of confrontation and where, with her temper, it might lead.  The tasks became more personal, but still tied into army life.  Difficult to object without seeming petty or not a team player.  The comments ceased to be little, now he referred to her intimately, even in front of other members of the section.  Even so, she stuck with it, determined not to let herself down.


Then started the innuendoes.  How pretty she was, how her colouring made her look so exotic, how she must be able to have the pick of any man she wanted.  Then, the inquiries, why hasn't he seen her with anyone?  Was she lonely?  Did she take care of herself and was that satisfying enough for her?


This took its toll on her.  Sleep brought some relief; the morning brought the dread of the day.  She started to avoid him all she could.  This only made the meetings more intense.  For her she was anxious beforehand, for him he looked forward to them with anticipation.  The final straw had come two weeks before.


 


One of the section was getting married; off-duty attendance was expected but not officially mandatory.  Severine loved parties, but weeks of constant harassment meant that she only went from of a sense of obligation to her unit.  To see her section leader in a social setting was not something she wanted, not at all.  He was there.  Laughing, joking, and buying everyone drinks, the life and soul of the party, even outshining the groom.  Severine purchased her own drink and headed for a corner of the room.  Some of her unit had occupied a table there and she could be part of the night without being near him. 


He made a beeline for her as soon as he saw her.  He had been drinking quite heavily and insisted on buying the table a round of drinks.  It would have been impolite to refuse.  Severine had nursed her first drink, so she took the second safe in the knowledge that she was watching what she drank.  After ten minutes of telling everyone how wonderful he was, he started to pester Severine for a dance.  Others were dancing and it seemed less risky to accept than to persist with a no, especially when he asked everyone sat at the table whether she should dance and of course, they all said yes. 


She was less steady on her feet than she felt she ought to be.  Grateful when a slow number came on she did not resist when he placed his arms around her waist.  He gave a wink at the table over her shoulder; a couple of the men gave him a thumbs up.  Two more slow songs and she was feeling quite tired, she didn't notice that she was resting against him, her head on his shoulder, her arms around his neck, his right leg, between hers.


They left together.  Her relying heavily upon him for support.  Him smiling as they went.  The whispering amongst the section rife that night.  He guided her back to his.  Helping her inside and removing her coat.  He put on some music and fetched them both a drink.  Severine could hardly focus now, but she felt relaxed sitting on the sofa together, his left hand on her right knee, his right arm around her shoulders.  She was in an almost dreamlike state now, not really aware of where she was and with whom.  She responded to the caresses, to the kissing.  She gave herself to the moment.  The dream took over and she surrendered to it.


 


She awoke with a start, instantly regretting it.  Her head a battlefield of explosions, her mind the fog of war.  I’m alone…but alone where?  She cast her mind back to the night before, painful though it was.  She could remember the party.  She could remember sitting at the table with the others.  Then she remembered him coming over and she could just remember the drink he had bought her but after that it was all hazy.  She was in his quarters.  She lifted the sheets and the smell of sex was heavy upon her.  She rushed for the bathroom and threw up.  Grabbing her clothes she dressed quickly and made for her own quarters.


She just made it; sick again, the powerful smell of the toilet disinfectant doing nothing to make her feel any better.  She threw off her clothes and climbed into a steaming shower.  Thank god I'm off-duty today.  The pressure of the water and the action of the soap combined to cleanse her body, her mind was a different matter.  How could I have been so stupid?  She threw up again, this time against the glass door of the shower.  There must have been something in that drink he bought me…There must have been.  This was all she could think about, that and how stupid she had been.  It all seemed so clear now.  All of his words and actions had been leading to last night.  Why hadn't I seen it?  Why didn't I stop it?  Why didn't I stop him?


The tears came, from anger, frustration or shame she could not tell.  They mixed with the water, a salty stream of injustice tracing its way down her body.  She began to clean herself internally, it hurt, she was definitely sore, bruised.  She cleaned deeper, harder, the pain of it urging her on.  She stopped, collapsing onto the shower floor, fresh tears accompanied by sobbing, such sobbing that her chest began to ache. 


 


She didn't know how long she had lain on the floor of the shower.  She had cried and sobbed until she lost consciousness.  Not bothering to dry herself she pulled herself up and walked into her bedroom.  She pulled back the duvet, the bed sheet looked cold to her, uninviting.  She walked into her kitchen not bothering to robe, kneeling down by the sink her head inside the cupboard she found her “nounours”, her little teddy-bear hot water bottle.  Filling it from the tap, she carried it back to her bedroom holding it by an ear, just as she had when the shouting of her parents had been too much.  In bed she curled up, hugging her little nounours tight into her stomach.  No tears this time, she had none left.  She just lay there with her eyes tightly closed, shutting out all the pain of the world.


 


The next morning she was due back on-duty; her training kicked in and she was up with her alarm, on auto-pilot but dressed and ready for the day.  Stepping outside the world confronted and confused her.  Was this the same world in which I had been raped?  Raped? She thought, I have to accept that was what it was.  I was raped.  The thought of her allowing it to happen to her bothered her almost as much as the act itself.


 


It was mid-morning before she was confronted with Lieutenant Fleubert.  He was strutting around smiling, looking very happy.  He gave her a polite “Good Morning”, she shuddered and didn't respond.  He let it pass, seemingly pleased with himself. 


 


It was during afternoon Martial Arts practice that things changed.  After several demonstrations the Sensei invited Lieutenant Fleubert to be the defender and Severine the attacker with an imaginary knife.  They ran the script with Fleubert side-stepping Severine's attack throwing her to the ground and then pinning her down to finish.  Severine felt very uncomfortable.  The Sensei congratulated Fleubert for all to hear.


'No problem, it's not the first time we've been in this position.' He gave Severine a wink and a smile.


She was cold, numb, violated again.  As they left the dojo, she walked to the army stores to borrow a shovel.  His sports car, flashy in an unnecessary and provocative way, was easy to find, parked near his quarters.  Whack!  The windscreen cracked.  The alarm set off screaming.  Whack!  The windscreen gave way completely.  Whack!  Whack!  The driver and passenger windows lay shattered.  Whack!  Whack!  Whack!  Severine meticulously went round the car, damaging every panel.  Fleubert appeared, alerted by the sound of his car alarm. 


'What the hell are you doing you crazy bitch?'


She stopped, looking directly at him.


'I am fucking your car the way you fucked me you bastard.' 


She continued her work with the shovel, now surrounded by a crowd.  Fleubert stepped in and grabbed the shovel out of her hands.  She hit him, sending him stumbling backwards.  He recovered his footing and came at her.  He never stood a chance.  She was fitter, more experienced, and far more determined than him.  In a frenzied attack that lasted much less than twenty seconds she broke his right leg, three ribs, and his left arm in two places.  His right arm was dislocated, as was his jaw, his left eye socket was shattered; it would need reconstructive surgery but would never look quite right again.  The bruising and swelling that followed later was astonishing.  Only her anger saved his life.  She wanted him to suffer, to know pain.  She could have killed him in three seconds, or crippled him for life, but she did not want anyone feeling sorry for this pathetic excuse for a human being.  She wanted him to suffer, and suffer he did.


             


Now she was here, charged with theft, assault, and property damage.  Things did not look good for her.  He was still in the infirmary.  She, facing the end of her career.  Her advocate stipulated that the other twenty-one witnesses to the assault and property damage would testify much the same as the first.  Severine's heart sank.  She could not bring herself to tell the full story; just that he had made inappropriate advances towards her.  She had no evidence of him raping her, no witnesses.  She had probably even looked willing to an onlooker.  She knew she could not return to her life in the army; prison followed with a dishonourable discharge loomed.  She whispered to her advocate that she wanted to make a deal.


13:27   05 November [12:27  05 November GMT]


Home of Mme Margaret-Julia Pascal, Felletin, Central France.


 


At nine-two years of age, Mme Margaret-Julia Pascal had seen and experienced more than her fair share, although most didn’t guess it to look at her.  Appearing to others as the archetypal grandmother did not bother her in the slightest; being paternal grandmother to Severine was one of the joys of her life.  A few of her comrades from the old days knew her well, but these became fewer each passing year.  The younger generation, now pensioners themselves, had heard the stories but not the names.  Margaret-Julia knew all the stories, all the names, her code name “The Raven” was central to most of the stories.


Since receiving the call from her granddaughter, she had been busy; airing the spare room, making enough chicken casserole for them both and had even a baked dessert.  As the blackberry and apple pie was cooling on the side and the casserole slowly turning from ingredients into a meal, she found herself singing along to “Non, Je Ne Regrette Rien” on her radio, her heart elevated by both the song and the imminent arrival of her little Sev.


Grandmother and granddaughter had built a special relationship during Severine's school holidays whilst her mother was glad to be rid of her for a while.  With no distractions at her grandmother’s Severine avoided trouble.  Mme Pascal was much more “real” with her granddaughter than other grandmothers, talking to her from a relatively early age about life, relationships and even sex, aware that when she started dating her little Sev was seeing girls as well as boys. 
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Train from Paris to Nimes, France.


 


Severine loved taking the train; it was both practical and romantic at the same time.  The practicality came from the ability to actually do stuff on the train, read, write, hold a conversation whatever you wanted or needed.  Driving means you can’t do anything other than drive, becoming more tired the further you travel.  On the train, you can shut your eyes.  Try that driving. 


She also loved the romantic side of train travel with the infinite possibilities that it opens up.  Sharing your journey with others, and them sharing their journey with you.  The longer her journey, the more people she could meet or the longer she had to talk with them.  Nowhere else do you get such a mix of interesting people as you do on a train. 


Severine was doing a little people watching over the top of the book she was reading.  She liked to guess at their lives, trying like a detective to pick up clues so she could ascertain what they did, their status in life and their secrets.  Most of the time she had no idea whether she was anywhere close.  However, now and again she would get the chance to engage them in conversation to check her observations.  More often than not, she was correct. 


She had just finished watching a man in a suit further down the carriage when he got up and left at the stop.  Her carriage was almost empty so she was a little surprised when a woman who had just boarded the train asked if the seat opposite her was free. 


'Of course it would be my pleasure.'  The woman gave her a smile and settled into her seat.  As the train pulled out of the station, the woman leaned forward, offering her hand to Severine.


'I'm Anne-Marie.' she said.


'I'm Severine'.


Severine was captivated by the aura of the woman.  Not only very pretty, she seemed to have a gravity all of her own.  Severine found it quite intoxicating.  Desperate to make conversation she said the first thing that came into her head.


'Are you travelling somewhere?'


'Yes.'  Anne-Marie replied 'That's why I'm taking the train.'  She smiled as if to try to ease Severine's embarrassment. 


Damn, damn, damn, what a stupid thing to say, are you travelling somewhere!  Arrgghhh!


'What about you?  Are you travelling somewhere?'  Anne-Marie asked, again with the smile and this time a glint in her eye.


‘Yes.’  Severine replied, somewhat bashful now.  'I'm going to my grandmother's.’  Severine felt about eight years old.


They talked for ages, laughing and joking.  Severine, on discovering that Anne-Marie was staying in La Courtine, decided to change at Clermont-Ferrand with her.  It was only a few miles further to her grandmother's home in Felletin and she was in no great rush.  On the bus, they exchanged details straight away; aware that time was passing quickly.  They parted with a kiss on both checks, Severine feeling more positive than she had in a long while.
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Home of Mme Margaret-Julia Pascal, Felletin, Central France.


 


The walk up the country lane had not changed, rounding the final bend she could see her grandmother's house, still the perfect picture she remembered.  The fresh air laced with the smell of cooking and the sounds of music.  Severine stopped, taking in the beauty of the countryside, the familiar sounds and smells, and the two bed-roomed house that would be her home, for now at least.  The house looked like a large very well maintained cottage, a product of her grandmother's natural homemaking skills and her ability to barter with tradesmen.


She continued her approach, a smile insisting itself upon her face as the memories she had of her time here surfaced.  This, she thought to herself, is where I need to be right now, a million miles away from the rest of the world.


'Bonjour Julia.'  Severine always addressed her grandmother as a friend, just one of the ways in which they were close.


'Sev!’  Julia rushed as best she could to embrace her.


They talked and ate, the afternoon stretching into the evening.  Wine appeared and after the third glass, Julia looked intently at her granddaughter. 


'Why are you here my dear?  I mean it's always lovely to see you and you know you are always welcome, but shouldn't you be in a field somewhere with a rifle surrounded by smoke and explosions?'


'I've left the army.'


'Oh I see...well actually no I don't, you loved the army why did you leave?'


'I...I....’  Severine's voice was breaking with the strain of it all.  'I was raped.' 


The tears came now, as Julia had expected.  Julia let the initial flood pass and then when they became a steady flow she sat down next to her little Sev and cradled her, holding her tightly and stroking her hair, just as she had when she was little.  Severine talked about it at length, stretched out on the sofa, her head resting on her grandmother's lap.  Finally, when Severine had finished, Julia spoke.


'It sounds to me like you should have used the shovel on him and not his car.' 


Julia was of course thinking how she would have used the shovel on him, would, if she ever got the chance, arthritis or not.


'Don't worry, I did quite a number on him.' 


Julia could see her smile, but it was a smile that broke her heart.  The bastard, she thought, the dirty rotten stinking bastard, if I ever...


'I think I might go into La Courtine tomorrow afternoon.  Do you still have my old bicycle?'


'Yes,' Julia replied, 'and it's still my bicycle, but you may borrow it as usual.'
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La Courtine, Central France.


 


Anne-Marie picked up her house phone after just the second ring. 


'She has just left her grandmother's place; she is on a bicycle heading south, probably on her way to La Courtine.' 


'OK' Anne-Marie replied, 'have you let unit two know?'


'Of course, just as you instructed.'


'Good.  Maintain surveillance of the grandmother.'


'Will do, out.'


Anne-Marie called unit two.  'Let me know when she arrives, and where she goes in town.'


'Do you wish us to follow her?'


'No.  Just let me know where she is, I am going to make contact again.'


'Will do.  Out.'


Anne-Marie looked through the clothes she had at her disposal.  The weather today was good, especially for the time of year, the sun quite brilliant and warm.  She settled on a close fitting white blouse, tapered at the waist, with a long cotton dress.  She looked at herself in the mirror, the sun making a silhouette of her.  She turned both ways, good, she thought, I can see my figure quite clearly through this...


Part of the process, getting past the formal and into the intimate, but Anne-Marie was never quite sure how she felt about it.  She knew it to be necessary though.  There is just something special about a personal relationship that no amount of questions, research, or observations would ever reveal.  Still, she thought, I wish there was a better way.  Her phone rang again, 'Yes?'


'Unit two, subject has arrived and is headed into the boulangerie.'


'Thanks.'  Anne-Marie adjusted her makeup and headed out of the apartment.


There was a queue in the boulangerie, Severine patiently waiting her turn.  Anne-Marie entered, quickly gathered some bread, and queued to be served cheese.  Severine finally turned round to face the direction in which Anne-Marie was standing.  Anne-Marie caught her eye, gave a small wave with her free hand.


'Severine!  I thought it was you but I wasn't sure.  How are you?'


Severine stepped out of her place in the queue to join Anne-Marie at the back; they greeted one another with a kiss to both cheeks and a warm hug as if they had known each other for years.


Severine looked at Anne-Marie and simply replied 'Bof.'


'Bof?' replied Anne-Marie, 'Why only so-so?'


'Well it would take a while to explain.'  Severine replied, her eyes drifting away.  'I've just come into town for some provisions.'  She held her shopping aloft.


'Me too.'  Anne-Marie matched Severine's gesture holding up a baguette.  'Look I'm free for a while, what say we buy these and then grab a drink in the café?'


'Sure, why not?' 


They took a table outside under the gas heaters so Anne-Marie could smoke. 


'Here is to new friendships.'  Severine offered.


'And to new possibilities.'  Anne-Marie replied, smiling again at Severine.  She made sure to have the sun on her back so the silhouette of her dress would be maximised.  Sitting to the side of her chair, she crossed her legs allowing her tanned calf muscles to glisten in the daylight.  She knew that she was an attractive woman and that she could purr like a pussycat when she wanted to.  Not yet though, now is the time to make a mental connection, the rest will come. 


'I'm so glad we ran into each other.  I was going to call you, soon, but I didn't want to seem too keen.  That sounds bad, doesn't it?  I just mean that with everything I've been through recently I need a friend.  I've been on my own so much I've begun to wonder if life would ever return to normal.'


Severine, intrigued to hear about problems other than her own, leaned in closer, and asked her to go on.


'Well, three weeks ago I became single, jobless, and homeless all in the same week.  My position at work had been under review for some time, by boss was a real ass-hole, useless, he blamed me for all of his mistakes, but he was in tight with the manager and that, as they say, is that.  Anyway, he made this colossal cock-up, cost the company a lot of money and I got blamed again, so they let me go.  They had to give me money though, they knew they could never pin it on me, but I was really pissed off after that.  Then came the real problem, I needed someone to talk to, I tried talking to Claudette but she was working nights and I was sleeping through the days.  Her brother, François, came round one evening, Claudette having asked him to cheer me up.  Hah!  Well you can imagine I was in a right state.  I had been drinking and not eating properly so I was pretty wasted even before he got there, and he was so charming.  He had always been so.’


She stopped to light another Gauloises.  She had thought about the substance of what she would say from reading the case.  However, she was building the detail from Severine’s non-verbal responses.  She continued, confident she was gaining Severine’s trust.


‘Then it started to change, he kept saying how lucky Claudette was and that if he was her he wouldn't leave me alone at night.  I was flattered and I guess I may have been too critical of Claudette and too nice to him… when bam!  He leaps on me, I never realised he was so strong, I doubt I could have fought him off even if I had not been drinking.  What made it worse was he kept saying how he really liked me and that he knew I had always liked him.  Like that gave him the right or something?  Anyway, he left afterwards and I just waited until Claudette got home then I told her all about it.  She turned on me.  Saying how I must have seduced him and that I must have always fancied him.  I couldn't believe it, twice I needed her to be there for me, and twice she wasn't.  I left the next day.  I crashed on a friend’s sofa for a couple of weeks and then decided to get out of the city and head down here.  I know the area as I was based here when I was enlisted.  Sorry I've really gone on.  Please tell me more about yourself.  I remember you saying you are staying with your Aunt in Felletin.  Are you staying long?'  Anne-Marie had deliberately said Aunt instead of Grandmother, one more test in hundreds.


'It’s my grandmother's and I don't know how long I'll be staying..........I don’t really have any plans to go elsewhere, yet.'


'Oh, won't you need to get back to...?'  Anne-Marie left the question unfinished, hoping it would have the desired effect.  It did.


'No.  No, I've nothing to go back to.  Nothing at all.'


There it came, Anne-Marie was pleased to note.  All the details of her life, her poor upbringing in Paris, the emotional mother, and the father she so wanted to be like.  The constant disappointments with the army career that showed promise but never took off.  Then the final straw, the Lieutenant who had no morals, the board of inquiry weighted against her and so she had left.  She had come to the only place that had ever treated her well.  To the only person who had never let her down.  This one is right, Anne-Marie told herself, I can feel it, I know it, she is ready.


After the third bottle of wine, they headed over to Anne-Marie's apartment.  It was getting dark now, the streetlights giving a golden quality to the evening.  When Anne-Marie slipped her left arm around Severine's waist, she welcomed it.  The warmth, the closeness of a kindred spirit.  She was quite smitten with Anne-Marie; the invitation back to her apartment accepted without question.  The stairs seemed to sway gently as she climbed them, then a wave of panic came over her, her mind falling back to that night, her losing her ability to think, to function.  No, she thought about it clearly, as clearly as she could after a bottle and a half of wine.  I should be swaying, she thought, and besides Anne-Marie is a good person, she has been through the same kind of trauma that I have, I can trust Anne-Marie....


In the apartment, Anne-Marie put on some music quietly.  Severine instantly froze.


'What's wrong?’  Anne-Marie asked, suddenly on guard.


'He...He put on music.'  Severine's voice was trembling; her face had lost a lot of its natural colour.


'Sorry, I'm so sorry.'  Anne-Marie said, switching off the music and opening the balcony doors.  'Shall we sit outside?'


'Thank you.  Thank you.'  The colour starting to return to her face, Severine sat at the table on the balcony, Anne-Marie preparing some coffee for them both.  She joined her on the balcony, a Gauloises in her hand.


'Do you have nightmares?'


'I don't know,' replied Severine, 'I tend to have issues in the day, like just now and when I was coming up the stairs I worried that I wasn't in control.  That I should be in control.  Then I remembered how much we both had to drink!' 


Severine laughed at this and Anne-Marie saw her transform before her eyes, the ghost gone, for the moment.  Anne-Marie made the decision then, Passive, with the lights on, let her go at her own speed and in her own way.  Make sure she is comfortable all the way.


'I should call my grandmother, that is, if you want me to stay.'  Severine looked at Anne-Marie, the fear of rejection evident upon her face and in her voice.


'Of course,' replied Anne-Marie, 'if that's what you want?'


'It is.'
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Apartment of Anne-Marie, La Courtine, Central France.


             


The sun arrived that morning through the open balcony doors.  They had been cold in the night, colder than necessary, but they had slept in each other’s arms to maintain their warmth.  Neither had wanted to venture out of the bed to close the doors, for fear that the spell might be broken.


Anne-Marie opened her eyes and looked down at the face of the woman, asleep on her stomach.  Such a pretty face, she thought, and such a woman!  Even though it had been work, she had enjoyed herself.  Moreover, she had done such a great job of building trust the next phase could begin.  She needed to make a call, but it needed to be private.  'I'm going out to get us something for breakfast.'


Severine murmured an acknowledgement and Anne-Marie slid her arm out from under her.  She pulled on some jeans and a top and ventured out into the street.  She stopped and placed a call before going into the boulangerie. 


'It's me.  Yes, last night went well.  You should proceed now, whilst she is with me.'


Breakfast consisted of coffee, croissants, and jam.  The conversation was polite and not at all heavy.  Neither of them wanted to say or do anything to ruin the glow they both felt from the night before. 


'I should get back you know.'


'You are welcome to stay, you know that.’  Anne-Marie replied, surprising herself with the truth of that statement, a sense of guilt threaded its way up her spine and lodged itself in the base of her brain.  That one is not going away any time soon, she thought to herself.


'I know.  But if I don't go, how can I look forward to seeing you again?'


'OK, I give in.  You can leave....’  Anne-Marie grabbed Severine gently but firmly by the hand and, leading her back to bed, she whispered '…after lunch.'
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Home of Mme Margaret-Julia Pascal, Felletin, Central France.


             


'Bonjour Madame Pascal, is Severine at home?'  Julia eyed the man with suspicion.  Dressed as a civilian she couldn’t mistake his military air. 


'Severine does not live here.  Would you like me to give her a message the next time I speak to here?'  Julia was determined not to give anything away, after all this could be that Fleubert bastard...


'Just give her my card the next time you see or speak to her.’  He offered her one of his calling cards, 'I'll be in the area for a few days, if she happens to pop by.' 


The man smiled and left Julia on her own doorstep, looking at the card and wondering what was going on.  If that was the man, I will hunt him down and kill him myself.


 


Severine arrived back in the early afternoon; Julia noticed the air about her had changed, much for the better.  Every time Sev looked at her, it was with a smile on her face, just like she had had when she was a little girl.  Julia explained about the strange encounter and described the man to Sev, thankful to know he could not have been Fleubert.  Severine, feeling happier with herself, decided to call straight away, rather than have it pray on her mind.


'Who is calling please?' the woman's voice was unfamiliar to Severine but it sounded well educated.


'Severine Pascal.'


'Thank you Mademoiselle Pascal, I will put your call through.'


'Ah Ms. Pascal, I am so glad you have called.  I guess you probably have a hundred questions for me, which I am willing to attempt to answer, but may I suggest that it would be easier in person.  I could call at your Grandmother's home this evening.  Say seven thirty, if that would be convenient?'


'Ye…yes,' Severine stammered, 'seven thirty is fine.'


'See you then.  à bientôt.'


The line went dead.  The man had simply ended the call.  Severine looked at her grandmother.


'He is coming round at seven thirty.'  Severine could hardly believe it.


Julia hoped the man would be bringing good news. 


 


The man arrived promptly and introduced himself as Monsieur Chevalier.  He entered without being invited, but that seemed both OK and natural.  They waited for him to be seated before taking their own places.


'I would like to tell you why I am here, why I have looked you up and as much as I can, which I'm afraid will actually be very little.'  Monsieur Chevalier began.  'I am here to offer you a job, a career, a vocation, how much will depend upon you.  I have looked you up because I know a lot about you; you have served without apparent distinction for thirteen years, all you have ever known is the army.  You never really found your place, moving through the army only sideways, never upwards.  Finally, you faced Courts Martial where you plea-bargained your way out of not only prison but also a dishonourable discharge.  There, have I missed anything out?'


Severine had gone quite pale.  To have her career, her life summed up in such a fashion would test anyone's character, but then to have her rape at the hands of Fleubert misconstrued as being in some way her fault...  Severine however remained composed.  She placed a gentle hand on her grandmother's, sensing her growing anger too.  When she spoke, it was with quiet dignity.


'That's all correct, that is an accurate summary of the official record of my career.'


Severine matched Chevalier's gaze, never wavering for a second.


'I see.' he continued, meeting her eye, 'There is however the matter of the unofficial record.'


'The unofficial record?’  Severine said raising an innocent eyebrow.


'Yes, yours in particular makes for very interesting reading.'


'Nana,' Severine's heart raced as she felt the need to have her grandmother out of the room.  'Could you be a darling and make us some fresh coffee?'


'It's OK,' Chevalier said to Severine, 'I think it is about time your Grandmother knew the truth.'


'What truth, what are you talking about?  Will someone please tell me what is going on?'


Chevalier waved down Severine's continued objections.  'You see, Severine has been on many unofficial missions.  Official unofficial missions that is.'


'Black Ops you mean?'  Julia interrupted, wanting to show that at ninety-two she hadn't lost it yet.


'Yes, your granddaughter has acquitted herself very well, very well indeed by all accounts.'


Chevalier went on to tell Julia about some of the special operations that Severine had undertaken.  The danger she had faced, the courage she had shown and the friends she had lost and all the time never being able to tell anyone about it.  Never seeing her official career blossom.  It was most unfair he agreed, most unfair indeed.  However, they had recognised her talents and now they wanted her to resume special operations, this time permanently.


'I won't ask you to make a decision now.’  Chevalier said, standing to leave, ‘Take some time to think about it, talk it over and when you've made up your mind give me a call.'


Julia poured two glasses of wine and holding one out she offered her granddaughter a salute.


'But I haven't decided to take the offer.'  She pleaded.


'I know dear, I know, but here is to the opportunity.'
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Apartment of Anne-Marie, La Courtine, Central France.


             


Severine arrived at Anne-Marie's a little breathless.  She had been cycling faster than she would normally, faster than she realised.  Keen to discuss the offer with her and just plain keen to see her again she ran up the stairs to her door.  Knocking rapidly upon it she was relieved when it was opened but heart broken when the face that greeted her was old and wrinkled. 


'Where is Anne-Marie?'  She asked the old woman.


'She has gone to the shops, would you like to come in and wait, I've nearly finished cleaning.'


'No thanks,' Severine said over her shoulder as she raced back down the stairs and out into the street.  Darting around the town square, she spotted Anne-Marie coming out of the butcher's shop.  Gaining her composure again, she walked over to meet her.


'Bonjour Anne-Marie, Ça va?'


'I'm well thank you Severine, yourself?'


'I have some exciting news which I want to tell you over lunch.'


'Well it's good that I have just been shopping for more food, I have enough for two if you don't mind sharing?'


'That sounds perfect.'


They talked whilst making lunch and continued whilst eating it.  Severine feeling that she could be open about her past now with another person.  However she kept the salient facts to herself, no names, countries, dates or anything that could be used to work out where she had been doing the things she told her she had done.  Finally, it all came down to one question.


'So, what do you think?  What should I do?'


'You know,' Anne-Marie began, seeing the expectant look on Severine's face.  'I think if there had been any doubt in your mind you wouldn't have told me about it.  I think you should go for it!'


'Thanks, I actually hoped you would say that, would you mind if I rang him now?'


'Not at all, do you want some privacy?'


'No that's OK, a glass of wine to celebrate might be nice.'


'Hello, Monsieur Chevalier?  Qui, it is Severine.  I would like to accept your offer.'


'Of course, I'll be in touch.  Oh and welcome to le soixante-dix-neuf.'  Monsieur Chevalier replied.


'What did he say?'  Anne-Marie asked when Severine had finished.


'He said welcome to the seventy-nine.'






 




 


 


 


 


 


 


10 An Old Job
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Magdalen College, Oxford University, Oxford, England.


 


Professor George Hamilton looked out at the audience for his lecture, he was aware that someone had just spoken, but not who or why.


'Professor?'  The student asked.


'Yes?'  George replied simply.


'Well, what do you think?'


'About what?'  George didn't have a clue.


'About my question?'  The student replied, clearly irritated.


'Question.  Your question.  What do I think about your question?'  George was desperately trying to work out if he could remember him asking a question.  Nope, he decided, not a clue.


'Could you repeat your question?'


'Very well,' the student replied, clearly annoyed and not afraid to show it.  'I asked, what is your opinion on the similarities between the Battle of Thermopylae and the Battle of Hastings?'


For most professors of military history this would have been an insightful question and would clearly have marked the student out as one with great potential.  Unfortunately, for this student Professor George Hamilton was not in the category of most professors of military history.


'Well of course they show similarities, that's obvious.  The question is why.  Why, when there is no evidence that William the second of Normandy was aware of the Thermopylae.' 


If the student had let his irritation and annoyance show, then George had both emboldened and underlined his as well.


'Now are then any real questions?’  George asked the students, 'No?  Well I hope things will improve next time.'  With that, he simply walked out of the lecture hall. 


'Don't worry' said another student to the one who had asked the question, 'he is always like that.  I hear he even treats other Professors the same.'


'He's an asshole.'  The first student said.


'Probably,' replied the second, 'but his lectures are always packed and he is one of the most respected military historians in the world.'


George was distracted, much more so than usual.  Since his brother Jack had visited explaining about his sabbatical from work to complete his PhD, he had felt restless.  He looked again at his notes on his book “Modern and Ancient Military History”.  A simple title, this was to be the definitive work on the subject from the definitive author.  The trouble was it was still only notes and only rough notes at that.  He needed time, he needed space, he needed to get his book written.  Wet-nursing a load of undergraduates or even postgraduates would not do it.


What he needed was some time away from lecturing.  In short, a sabbatical of my own.  Now of course Jack will think I’m copying him.  Maybe I am… but fuck it, he thought, it's what I need.  Of course, the sabbatical will be unpaid and as I’ve already spent the advance from the publishers that means I’ll need another job, money to live.  I guess I’ll have to go back to photography…


George was an accomplished war photographer.  He had spent time in most of the major conflict zones since he was in his late teens, now thirty it was time to return to the field.  The reality of it would be very different to the thought of it, he knew.  Nevertheless, once back into the situation he wagered that he would be able to cope again. 


The nightmares would be a different matter though; the reporting of conflicts was a long way from the job on the ground.  The photos that sold were never representative of the conflict.  The smell, the taste, the fear, but most of all the consequences.  People died.  People just like everyone else, with mothers, fathers, children, and friends.  He had to deal with those.  Up close and personal, the individuals concerned were real to him.  He had spent time in villages and towns only to see those consumed by fighting, his photographs recorded for posterity the lives and deaths of civilians and soldiers alike. 


The wounded are the worst.  Children missing limbs, screaming for parents who have died.  Then there are those who use raping and pillaging as another weapon.  George had never been a direct witness, witnesses were rarely left alive.  He had photographed the victims and heard their statements after the event.  Knowing it would happen made his stomach churn every time.  That’s the job though.  That’s what I’d be going back to.  He picked up the phone to his agent.


'Hi Jackie, its George Hamilton.  I'm fine thanks, yourself?  Good, good.  Look the reason I'm calling is I'm looking for some work.  Probably a couple of years.  Yes, really.  I'm looking to finish my book and I need some time away from academic life to do it.  No, I don't expect to be able to write whilst I'm being shot at, very funny.  You know how it is, time on and time off.  I need the time off.  Really?  That's great.  Yes, I know Jane, that is I know of her by reputation but I've never actually met her.  If you could, yes, that's terrific.  OK, I'll wait for your call.'


Now that is a real result, George thought to himself, Jane Spencer-Brown is looking for a new photographer.  He had heard about her being shot on assignment and it was no great secret that she suffered from depression.  It’s unusual that I’ve never met her though, especially with war reporting being such a close-knit community, but I guess life is like that sometimes.  Besides, we both go where we are sent.


 


 


09:15               06 November  [09:15  06 November GMT]


Windsor & Eton Riverside Train Station, Windsor, England.


             


George liked the slow train into town.  He could have opted to take the branch line into Slough then the fast train into Paddington, but he preferred this one.  This was the start of the line, so he was always guaranteed a seat, the journey taking about an hour as it stops at many stations en route.  It moves at a nice speed and it gives me time to think.  An hour spare is always welcome, he thought as he stood in line waiting to be served.  The line was moving along at an efficient if not fast pace.  Again, he preferred this to the automated and impersonal ticket machines.  His ticket now in hand, he stopped at the kiosk to buy a coffee for the journey.  He had his small computer with him; about the size of a hard-backed book with a nine-inch screen, it was perfect for work on the go.  He settled down on the train, obtaining a seat with a small table. 


He started to review the few notes he had made for his book.  He had his title “Modern and Ancient Military History” but this provided a scope so wide he could spend many lifetimes researching and writing about it.  I need an angle, a purpose for the book, especially if it’s not to become another dry treatise charting dates and facts.  He wanted his work to have life, purpose, and meaning.  That means an angle such as the one I suggested to Jack, about how Coal and Iron are better investments than Gold. 


He did have one idea already, and that was that warfare had evolved along the same time-line as society.  As the human race had learned to farm, they gained time and resources that they had never had before.  Previously their entire existence was dependent upon the need to gather food every day.  Now a few could gather food for the many, leaving a number of people free to do other things.  Some of them turned to productive work, making better homes, finding sources of fresh water and providing the farmers first with simple tools, then better tools.  However, there was still spare capacity, and some found it easier to take what others had produced rather than trade for it.


Then as society grew from villages into towns and towns into regions, the people were organised to protect their region against the neighbouring regions.  Such protection often involved attacking a region perceived as a threat.  This escalated into regions forming alliances or taking over other regions and nations were born.  Society had now advanced sufficiently to support full-time standing armies.  Now nations warred with one another.  They built alliances through agreements or empires through conquests.  They mechanized the tools of war so more people could be killed.  Empires fought and brought forward the concept of world wars.  Finally, society managed to create the means through which entire cities could be destroyed.  This moved conflicts into war-by-proxy.  Now the empires fought one another through a series of relatively small scale, local conflicts like chess players moving their pieces around a global board.  War had reached its zenith, the ultimate recreational pursuit, now performed not for survival or conquest but for ideology and always somewhere else.


This, thought George to himself, is the Iron and Coal of the argument.  It explains how the concept of war was born and how it grew.  It doesn't answer the student's question from the lecture however, about the similarities between the Battles of Hastings and Thermopylae.  This was just one of many that George was aware of.  There were more than could be explained by chance.  The real problem was two civilisations, which had used the same strategy and tactics, had never interacted.  That and the fact that the similarities were so strong it was as if the same person who had lead the first war was leading the second somewhere else in the world, long after they should have been dead.


This was where George struggled.  Although a spiritual person, his belief in religion was limited to its positive messages rather than literal interpretations.  Noah did not live to be 950 years old.  However, the story of Noah about loss and redemption was an inspiring one.  The problem is that the battles and wars were well described in the local language of the time and these have only come together relatively recently.


George realised he was going round in circles.  I know how to chart the rise of warfare, but not to explain the obvious similarities.  The professor in George spoke up, stop trying to write the book before you have completed the research and analysed it.  That was good advice to himself he realised.  Just do the work well and let the cards fall where they may.  He decided that as he was on his way to meet Jane he should review her online biography.


Jane Spencer-Brown, thirty-eight, twice divorced with two children, Rebecca 16 and Julia 7.  Father Timothy, a Lieutenant-Colonel in the Coldstream Guards (retired), Mother Sarah-Jane.  Older brother Patrick a Captain in the Coldstream Guards.  Suffered from bouts of depression her entire adult life.  Recognised as one of the best in her field, she has been with Global Disclosure for the last ten years.  He looked at the photos of her.  Petite and well formed, her presumably dyed blonde hair, setting off her small, almost elfin face.  She was undeniably pretty.  None of this really mattered to George except her professional reputation; this would undoubtedly mean that they would be sent on some of the best assignments.  These however would also be the most dangerous.


Waterloo station was the end of the line for the train and George hopped onto the Jubilee line for Canary Wharf and the head offices of Global Disclosure.  He managed to come out of the correct exit for once, for him this was always a bit of a gamble.  Using the underground always made him feel a little like a mole, burrowing from here to there and then popping up to look around and see where he was.  After checking in at reception, he didn't have to wait long for Jane to appear and escort him back to her desk. 


'I'm just going to set my out of office and then I thought we could talk over lunch.'


'That sounds great.'  George replied starting to think about having a pint or two over lunch and then maybe venturing over to Covent Garden for the afternoon and evening.  Covent Garden being one of his favourite places to spend time when he was in London.  That and Soho.  The sheer variety of pubs, bars, and cafes always seems endless.  There was always something available to suit every mood and occasion.  Plus, he thought to himself, it’s a great place to people watch and if some of those people happen to be young, attractive and female who am I to argue?  Then he realised that he was going to have lunch with someone young, attractive, and female.  Sure, he thought, she may be eight years older than me, but she looks ten years younger than she is and anyway, thirty-eight is young these days.


They chose a bar overlooking the Thames, the weather fine they sat outside so that Jane could smoke.  They ordered drinks and lunch, Jane opting for a lightly dressed salad, George the steak sandwich with mustard.  As the waitress brought their drinks, Jane brought the conversation round to business.


'I think you should know straight up front,' she began, 'that the job is yours.  That's if you want it.'


'Thank you.  I do.  That's why I'm here.  Is there nothing you would like to know?'


'Of course,' she replied easily, 'many things.  But the most important is that you come highly recommended.  As you know, we will have plenty of time to get acquainted whilst we work.  I guess if I were to ask it would be why have you returned to photo journalism?'


George explained about his book, his brother taking a sabbatical and his own sabbatical.  'So really I am just looking for some proper time off to research and write.  Something I can't do easily whilst lecturing.'


'But why this work, surely there must be something else you could do?'


'I'm sure there is.  But I genuinely enjoy war reporting, I couldn’t be stuck in a studio all day photographing models.’


Jane nodded, recognising that part of themselves that they shared. 


‘Anyway,’ George continued, ‘in order to be truly effective in writing my book I need to be as far away from academia as I can be.'


 'I guess,' Jane began thinking about her own situation, 'I should have some time out of the job.  Although,’ she looked down at this her voice going quite soft, 'you should know that I have had some time out.  I was… at a clinic.'  These last words she virtually croaked out of her throat.  Her eyes flicked up to George's looking for the judgement she was sure would be there.  She saw none.


'I know.’  George replied, ‘It’s not a well-kept secret, especially not amongst those in the job.  I think more people should have the help they need from time to time.  I had ten years of it myself.'  It was George's turn to look down, to avoid her gaze.


'Your parents.'  Jane said gently, she was aware of the story, but here in front of her was the living consequence of that tragedy.


'Yes, my parents.'  He replied.


Time slowed down.  The voices all around them condensed into a singular background noise.  It became just George and Jane engaged in private conversation.  He recounted the events to her, as dispassionately as he could.


'It was July the tenth.  Eighteen days before my ninth birthday when my parents were kidnapped.  They were attending a conference abroad, my father being the then US ambassador to Great Britain.  They were held for one hundred and sixty eight days before they were executed on camera on Christmas day.  I didn't see it at the time, not for years later.  Then only once, that was enough.  More than enough really, part of me wishes I had never seen it, but it was important for me at that time to accept that they were really gone.  My brother Jack, he's ten years older than me, was amazing, although I didn't realise it at the time.  He was really there for Tania and me; she was sixteen at the time.  I still don't know how but I managed to sit my entrance exams for a scholarship to Eton either side of the funeral.  When I was accepted, Jack bought me a house in Windsor where I still live.  It’s funny really; the kidnapping affected me more than their deaths.  I guess that was because I refused to believe they were really dead.  I just thought, wished really, that they were lost and would one day find their way home.  Other children had their parents pick them up from school.  I never did.'


George stopped there, but Jane didn't say anything, the journalist in her could sense that he hadn't finished, that there was more.  She sipped her wine and waited.


'I still miss them.  I've missed them every day.  When I was growing up, I used to get into trouble, hoping that the school would get in touch with my parents and they would come home to punish me.  Anything just to see them again.  As soon as I could drive, I got into surfing.  It seemed the perfect fit to me, as it was all individuals not a parent in sight.  Then I fell in love with the feeling.  The sheer joy of being out there on my board, just me and nature.  No one judging me or feeling sorry for me.  That's what had been so hard at school.  My friends would invite me to theirs for the holidays.  I was always the visitor, never the visited.  There was only me and Mrs Pettygrew the housekeeper.  Although Jack was my legal guardian, he was serving in the American army until I was fourteen and then he did five years in the British army straight after.  I guess it was hard on him as well.  No, I know it must have been.  Tania was away at school and married not long after leaving.  We've never been that close though I love her dearly.'  George paused again, collecting his thoughts.


'Sorry I digressed there a bit.  Yes, the holidays with my friend's families were the worst.  My friend's parents went to such extraordinary lengths to make me feel welcome and not out of place.  They guarded their language using terms like “responsible adult”, rather than just parent.  It was suffocating.  My friends were good though, they just accepted me for who I was, and they were happy to talk about their parents in front of me.  I used to love that, listening and pretending that what they said applied to me too.  Anyway, after I graduated I took my PhD in Military History ostensibly so I could just continue with my love of surfing.  Then as you know I went into photojournalism, I think this was my way of moving out of my comfort zone.  My first assignment was the first time I had been abroad since I lost my parents.  I had built up a bit of a phobia about going abroad and this helped me overcome it.  After I had done enough to make me feel comfortable with myself I got a job at Oxford lecturing on Military History and that was five years ago.'


Jane could see that he had finally finished and that he seemed relieved to have gotten that all out in the open.  She guessed, correctly, that he wanted her to know but not to have to discuss it.  She could imagine that he had discussed it at great length through the years of therapy he had during his childhood.


Jane recounted her own life, giving texture and flavour to the bland biography he had read on the train into London.  Although she talked about her battles with depression, she didn't explain the reason for it, if she knew.  George guessed that the reason had never been found as he felt that she was, like him, so open and so honest that she would have said.  He wondered to himself what her demon was.


 


In true journalistic fashion, they eventually finished their lunch after two and a half hours.  Jane left to return to her desk, leaving George to venture into Covent Garden.  He was starting to feel much better about life again.


Jane arrived back at her desk to six messages.  Five she ignored for the moment, the top one she couldn't.  See me.  She knew who it was from, her editor.  She started thinking about George more.  Young, fit, good-looking, intelligent, well-educated but oh so vulnerable.  I'm not so sure it’s such a good idea for us to spend time together.  She knew her history with men was not a good one.  She had been warned in the clinic about repeating destructive patterns.  But what if he is the one?  She almost slapped herself at that.  For an intelligent woman you sure can be dumb!  She screamed to herself.  She knew that she was in no fit state either to make a good personal decision or to enter into any type of personal relationship.  Not yet anyhow.  I'd better go and see what the boss wants.


As she walked towards his office, she could hear him shouting on the phone.


'I don't give a shit.  Yes, you heard me right.  A shit.  You wanna what?  You wanna talk to my boss?  Sure why not?  Just give her a ring and tell her what you told me, I'm sure she'll be so happy to hear from you!'


There was the sound of a phone being slammed down as Jane walked across the threshold of her boss’s office.  She stood in the doorway knocking twice on the inside of the open door.


'What!’


'You wanted to see me boss?'


He stood there, breathing hard.  A vein in his right temple trying to jump clear out of his skin.  Light perspiration was condensing on his forehead, the purple colour of his face gently returning to its normal, if not natural, pale colour.  He spends too much time in pubs and not enough in the gym.  Jane thought to herself quietly, aware that her boss could almost hear loud thoughts.  He is scary like that, an almost sixth sense.


'Yes.  Come in Jane.'  His anger dissipating fast.


'What's up?'  Jane asked brightly.


'My blood-pressure.'  He smiled at that, showing that he was back under control.  'I have a two-part assignment for you.'


'OK, shoot.'


'Very droll.'  He replied.


Jane didn't get the joke but let him continue. 


'I want you to report on the combined Russian, US and British military training exercise.  But first I want you to go to the UN, interview the Sec-Gen and someone from the security council, the French are always good for a quote, and then you fly to Russia to see the exercise live.'


'I'm being benched, aren't I?'


'No, this is the assignment I want you on.'


'And you haven't had any conversations about me with the head of Health and Safety?'  Jane asked sarcastically, knowing the truth but seeing if he was going to admit it.


'Of course we have talked.  You were shot, you had a breakdown, not your first either.  Now if you ever want to get back to the action you will do this assignment, excel at it as I know you will and then we can look at something more suited to you afterwards.'


'Good.  'Cause you know I'll leave before I'm benched.'


'You're not benched.  This is your first game after coming back from an injury.  Everyone is treated the same, you know that.' 


She did.  He was a hard, ruthless, cunning bastard, but absolutely fair.  He treated everyone like shit.  Jane loved him for it.


'OK boss, when do I leave?'


'The day after tomorrow and take that freelance photographer with you, it will be a good opportunity for the two of you to get acquainted.'


Jane laughed at that, knowing her boss only sends the minimum number of people on assignment and therefore he needed pictures, good ones.  He looked back down at his desk and opened a folder not saying anything more.  Jane took her cue and left.  He never ends a conversation, he just stops talking.


 


 


10:15               06 November  [10:15  06 November GMT]


Research Laboratory, Cambridge University, Cambridge, England.


             


The lab, Jack noted, looked very new.  The building was recently painted, the grass around it fresh and lush like a well-maintained lawn.  The interior was even more impressive.  The equipment looked brand new.  He was here to see John Deeth having been reliably informed that John Deeth was performing leading-edge research into the extraction of pure Gold from ore.  Jack knew the basics of the traditional process and was intrigued to see a new process.  He also wanted, needed, his research to be both fully accredited as well as current which meant going to the source of information rather than relying upon accounts that were second hand or out of date.


John Deeth had his back to Jack.  He had been told that a Jack Hamilton was coming to see him, but he had forgotten almost as soon as he had hung up the phone.  He was deep into his research again.  Jack had waited five patient minutes before venturing a polite cough.  John jumped slightly at the noise and jerked his head round to find the cause of the disturbance; this produced a yelp of pain as he pulled a neck muscle.


'Ow!  Fuck!’  John had gone from being deeply engrossed in his work to being deeply pissed off at being disturbed.


'Sorry.'  Offered Jack, half reaching out to John in a feeble attempt to offer assistance.


John sat there for a couple of seconds, rubbing his neck, before continuing.  'Who are you and what do you want?'  He was not in the mood for distractions.


'I'm Jack Hamilton.  I was given to understand that you were expecting me.' 


'Oh,' John collected his thoughts, 'the PhD fellow, yes I remember now.'  John didn't offer any apology for forgetting or for his rudeness; instead he simply hopped off his stool and offered Jack his hand.


'John Deeth, pleased to meet you.'             


'Thanks,' Jack replied, shaking the proffered hand, 'I understand that you are conducting leading-edge research so I'll try not to take up much of your time.'


'Isn't all research leading-edge?  Otherwise, it would just be going over old ground and what would be the point of that?  Anyway, don't worry I'll kick you out when I'm done.'  John stared at Jack, his eyes penetrating deeply.


'Are you OK?’  Jack asked, finding the deep stare familiar but disconcerting at the same time.


'I'm trying to decide whether you are a good use of carbon resources.'  He didn't bat an eyelid saying this.


'You mean am I green or something?'  Jack asked, confused.


'No, no, nothing so trite.  We are carbon based life-forms and I'm trying to decide whether the carbon used to create you was worthwhile.'


Jack stood there, his mouth hanging open slightly.  He hadn't been expecting this, he couldn't decide whether he had been analysed or insulted.  Probably both, he thought.  Jack was in unfamiliar territory, he was usually the one who made others uncomfortable.  So this is how they feel.  He made a mental note to go easier on people in future.


'I see,' Jack replied evenly, 'and what do you think?'


‘I haven’t decided yet.  What can I do for you?'


Jack explained, at some length it turned out, about his research and his hypothesis that Iron and Coal are better investments than Gold because Gold is just pretty and doesn't do much else, except in very recent times as a great conductor of electricity.


This guy is pretty switched on, John thought to himself, it's a shame I can't tell him what I have discovered. 


John walked Jack outside on the promise of a coffee in the campus refectory.  He really wanted a cigarette and to take Jack away from his laboratory, the better to reduce the number of questions about what each piece of equipment did.  Now he also had the added complication that his research was split in two; his public research into Gold extraction and his private research into the new particles he had discovered but not yet isolated. 


As they walked towards the refectory, John asked Jack to explain his research again.  John had gotten it fine the first time, but, he thought, the more talking this Jack fella does, the less I have to contribute myself.  John started thinking again about his private research project.


The particles exist.  That much is certain.  They have mass, velocity and an ability to pass through other matter.  It is likely that they exist on a scale so small that they pass right through atoms.  Again this much must be true, as they seemed to just “appear” inside the test chamber.  They interacted with something inside the test chamber, most probably the gold atoms.  However, gold is sat in banks all over the world consistently not exploding; this means that there must have been unique conditions inside the test chamber.  The only three variables were low temperature, high pressure, and electromagnetic energy.  One or more of these is responsible for the interaction of the Deeth particles and the Gold atoms.


The energy and velocities involved are amazing.  There were only three one millionths of a gram of gold present in the test chamber, even if all of it reacted at the same time the amount of energy to blow apart the solid steel chamber, take out a wall and bury the half ton chunk of steel several feet into the ground would make atomic power seem primitive by comparison.  Then of course, there were two very special ways in which these particles are sooo much better than atomic energy.  There were no by-products.  No nasty radioactive waste.  No deadly X-Rays, Gamma rays or the such like.  The other special property is that the energy release can be controlled.  Clumsily if it is the temperature or pressure, but easily and directly if it is the electromagnetic energy.  The possibilities are almost limitless.  Clean cheap energy would obviously be one.  Propulsion is another.  Then there would be military applications.  The list would probably go on and on as new uses are found.  I wonder what a two per cent royalty on global energy would be?  That would make me a real nice income.  More so than Gold mining.  John’s focus returned to Jack.


'So it’s easy to understand,' Jack was saying 'how it would be used for jewellery, tableware, decorating churches but it’s never had an application that would warrant digging out a hundred tonnes of ore just to get one or two ounces of Gold.  The more I have thought about it the less it makes sense.  Really, I just picked on this because I thought it would be easy, especially with my background and contacts in gold trading.  However the more I look into it the more interesting it becomes.  I have a couple of researchers and the preliminary results are astounding.'


'Oh really,' interjected John 'how so?'


'Well' Jack continued 'the rough analysis shows that gold, that is large quantities of gold, have been sought by a relatively few individuals throughout history.  Latterly those large deposits have been held by a few countries, companies, and individuals.  It's the structure of those holdings that make it unique.'


'Go on.'


'Well, we have compared Gold to other precious metals, gems, and strategic resources and in all other cases their distribution has been directly proportional to their uses.  The amount mined each year roughly equates to the amount of the same resource consumed in that year, the amount over i.e. the amount that goes into storage is also proportional to both the increase in the amount consumed and the increase in the general population and through that gross domestic product.'


'And Gold has proved to be different?'  John chipped in.


'Yes.  Absolutely different.  The industrial demand for Gold, that is electronics and jewellery, is fairly static.  However, the level of demand purely for its purchase and storage is very much higher, orders of magnitude greater.  It has been hoarded throughout time and that trend is only increasing.  However it is not market manipulation.'


'You're sure of that?'


'Fairly sure.  As I said these are preliminary results.  Market manipulation is undertaken in order to drive up the price and then capitalise on it.  There have been such cases through time, but they are not the determining factor.'


'What is?' asked John, feeling excited and worried at the same time.


'That's just it, I don't know.  It seems that through the whole of human history a limited number of individuals, directly or indirectly have sought to accumulate enormous amounts of Gold for no identifiable reason.  I should say, for an as yet unidentified reason.'


A chill passed through John as he thought about his own research and the implications of Jack's research upon his.  The enormity of it struck him full force.  I'm not the only one who knows the true nature of Gold and they have known it for centuries.  I've got to know what this guy finds out.


'You know your work really intrigues me.’  John began, trying a little flattery, 'I would like to know how you get on, and I'll provide any assistance I can.'


'Thanks,' Jack replied 'that means a lot.'
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16:37               08 November  [11:37 08 November GMT]


Tudor Hotel, New York, USA.


 


The flight over had been reassuringly uneventful for both Jane and George.  However it was a nervous George who had approached the check-in desk, armed as he was with both his UK and US passports.  His brother, Jack, had helpfully suggested that for travel between Great Britain and America it is easier to show your passport for that country.  So it was that George offered his British passport at Heathrow and his American passport upon arrival at JFK in New York.


The flight had raised all kinds of ghosts in George's mind.  His head full of conflicting emotions.  He was leaving the country of his mother's birth and heading for the country where his father was born.  Jane remained solid for him, conscious of what he must be going through.  In the short time they had spent together, Jane had come to realise that she had made the right decision.  Despite his playboy attitude, his use of language better suited to someone much younger than him, he had shown a different side.  The side of the serious investigative journalist.  This would be the first time either of them had visited the UN.  Their previous encounters with any UN officials were either aid workers or UN soldiers, those normally found in the conflict zones that they both had reported from.


Jane knew this was something of a bullshit assignment.  George guessed as much.  As they talked, they came to the realisation that they could have the makings of a good story if they took the right approach.  Rather than make it a usual piece about the workings of the UN or the conflicts within it they would approach it as if it were a conflict zone.  The UN, the arbiter of nations wasn't working.  Conflicts raged across the world.  The UN just talked, rarely taking any decisive action.  They wanted to know why.  Is it just a cosy place for politicians and ambassadors or does it actually do something tangible?  If so what?  They agreed that the new sec-gen looked promising.  Jayanti Kapoor was as different as they came.  Although part of the establishment, she had gone on the record to say how she wanted the organisation to do more, to stand for something better.  Now they could test her, see if she was going to keep true to her word.  Billions of people look to the UN for hope.  Is Jayanti Kapoor the hope they have been longing for?  They were not planning on giving her an easy ride.  They had seen too much.  Witnessed too many atrocities.  Seen good honest, kind people die.  It is time for a change they both agreed.


The hotel was one that attracted journalists.  Like migratory birds, they seek the comfort and reassurance of their own kind and so they tend to frequent the same places.  Exchanging gossip that may or may not become news, they work one another gently probing to see what the other is up to.  Into this flock, Jane and George settled in, having a few drinks in the bar and working the room to see what is current.  For Jane it was like a reunion, she moved from group to group catching up with colleagues and friends alike.  George had a harder time.  He found a couple of people he recognised, talking to them for a short time before moving on, conscious that he had been out of the scene for quite some time.  His language also started to change, part a conscious recognition that he didn't sound a serious journalist, part unconscious as one who is in a group tries to blend in and become accepted.


'Do you want to get some dinner now?'  Jane asked George, aware that he had been on his own now for a quarter of an hour.


'Sure, sounds good.  Who was that you were just speaking with?'


'Sameena Kapoor.'  Jane's eyes twinkled.


'The sec-gen's daughter?'


'The very same.  She was telling me about the PhD she is undertaking “researching the effects of sensory deprivation on deep space travel for NASA and the JPL” if memory serves me right.'


'And I'm sure you managed to turn the conversation around to her mother.'


'I hardly needed to; she was happily telling me about her without prompting.  Apparently, she has seen a marked change in her mother recently.  She has become very interested in science all of a sudden, physics in particular.'


'Oh and what is all that about?'


'She hasn't a clue.  Although she hopes that her mum has fallen for some scientist that she is trying to impress.'


'That doesn't sound like the Jayanti Kapoor that I have heard about.'


'Nor me.  So that's interesting.  Definitely something to talk to her about.'


They talked at some length over dinner, but couldn't discuss the one subject that suddenly beckoned to them, physics.  Neither of them had anything but a rudimentary knowledge of the subject.  They agreed to change that.
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United Nations, New York, USA.


             


The United Nations building does not convey itself to the world as the place where nations meet.  Constructed much like any tall office building, it is unassuming, quiet even.  Nations are represented here by their diplomatic missions.  The fact of its existence born out of the tragedy that was the Second World War.  A place where nations could meet, talk and resolve their differences.  It had both succeeded and failed in its mission.  Nations still warred with one another, often spilling over into regional conflicts.  However there had not been another world war, thanks primarily to the diplomats who worked within its corridors.  Representatives of their nations to the UN, they also acted as representatives of the UN to their home countries. 


Instilled within its organisation were a myriad of committees, councils, and power blocs.  The most important of these being the UN Security Council and its five permanent members; The USA, Great Britain, France, Russia and China.


Jane and George walked into the building as temporarily accredited press representatives.  Their first interview, with the British Ambassador, had been scheduled to allow them time to register and pass through security. 


 


 


10:30               09 November  [05:30  09 November GMT]


Office of the British Ambassador to the United Nations, New York.


             


They waited in the anti-room to be shown in, the British Ambassador typically punctual. 


'Good morning.  Tea?'  The Ambassador greeting them cordially and offering them refreshments at the same time.  The introductions made, they sat patiently as a silver tray of tea, and biscuits were laid out before them.


'Shall I be mother?'  The Ambassador poured the teas out and offered the biscuits, 'so how can I help?'


'Well,' Jane began, collecting her thoughts as she went; 'we are covering the military exercise and are looking for people’s views.'  The simple approach, she thought to herself, is often the best.


So, the Ambassador thought to himself, straight down to business.  He had of course been briefed on both Jane and George prior to agreeing to the interview.  He was also fully aware of the upcoming military exercise.  Jane, he thought, is not going to write a puff piece, she has been in the thick of it many times and would be most unlikely to be swayed by the normal approach.


‘Oh.’  He began, as if caught off-guard, 'Well my views are a matter of record.  However, I'm more than happy to re-state them for you.  The British government has, as you know a long and cordial relationship with the United States of America and have conducted many joint military exercises in the past and will continue to do so in the future.  We have been in tripartite discussions with the Russian Federation about mutual security concerns and discovered that there was a real desire to increase the level of cooperation amongst the three.  This culminated in an agreement to participate in a combined military exercise code named Operation Allies.'


Jane stifled a yawn.  He had summarised the statement made by the British Government and added nothing.  More used to honest, passionate, personal opinions given by those involved in a conflict, she was not impressed with a bland restatement of his government’s line.  There is always more to these matters than the press release.  However, she knew that diplomats do not rattle easily, and rarely give anything away that they did not intend to.


'I understand that you objected to the exercise, or at least advised against it.'  It was a stab in the dark, but likely that it was true. 


'I am not sure where you could have heard that.'  He replied evenly.


'Does that mean that you are personally and professionally in favour of the exercise?'  Jane turned the screw slightly.


Nicely played, he thought, let me see how good you are really.  'My personal opinion is just that, personal.  Professionally of course, I am totally in favour of reaching a position where the use of arms would not be necessary, either aggressively or not.  That being said, it is important in these times that we are prepared for any eventuality and that necessitates training.  I believe that expanding training exercises to include the Russian Federation works towards better understanding and that would provide the basis for improved dialogue.'


Jane saw her opening.  'That begs the question why just the three nations?  Why not NATO, the Chinese and Indians for example?'


So that is where she is going.  'Well I believe that this could possibly be the precursor to wider involvement in the future.'


'And you would be in favour of that?'


'I believe that anything that can bring about closer co-operation amongst nations would be a good thing.'


'Of course.' replied Jane, 'Tell me, was it truly a Russian initiative to integrate the three forces down to the operational level?'


'That is my understanding, however we were more than happy to accommodate as it builds relationships from the ground up.'


'And the Americans?'


'Well of course you would have to ask them yourself, however I am given to understand that they were equally accommodating.'


'Why do you think the Russians suggested it?'


'Again I am sure that you will ask them yourself.  I would presume that integration prevents any one member from losing and all participants would learn from serving alongside the other two forces and it would give them a good insight into how we operate.'


'Isn't that a little dangerous?'  Jane saw his eyes flicker slightly at this, so I've hit a nerve.


'It is not without risks.  It has been discussed at the highest levels and it was felt that, on balance, the rewards outweighed them.'


'Who made the ultimate decision?'


Again, his eyes flickered, she noted.


'It was a government decision, executed through the Foreign Office.'


What does that mean?  Jane wondered to herself, a government decision.  Aren't all decisions made by a government, government decisions?  Jane made a mental note to investigate this with the other ambassadors.


'Well thank you for your time this morning.'  Jane said taking their leave.  George, who had remained quiet throughout took a few photographs of the Ambassador alone and one with Jane.  As they were leaving the Ambassador took George's hand, shaking it warmly he looked George directly in the eye.


'I met your mother once, she was a remarkable woman.  Such a tragic loss.  I am so sorry.'


              'Thank you,' George managed, 'thank you so much.'


 


 


13:15               09 November  [08:15  09 November GMT]


Office of the French Ambassador to the United Nations, New York.


             


The interviews with both the American and Russian ambassadors had followed the British in both terms of format and content.  They had revealed little more than their official positions.  Jane and George had agreed to change tack for this interview, rather than interview the ambassador about the exercise they would instead interview the person.  Studiously avoiding the exercise until the ambassador introduced it.


Fifteen minutes in and it seemed to be working.  The Ambassador had become increasingly agitated.  He had the position of his government well understood, he was sure that this interview would be his opportunity to firmly, but politely spell it out.  The French were not happy.  The Anglo-American manoeuvre to keep them out of an exercise with the Russians, with whom they had historic links, was felt to be a diplomatic slap in the face.  This made it personal with the Ambassador.


'I understand that your article is to be on the military exercise, is that right?' the Ambassador asked.


'The American, British, and Russian one.  Yes, that's correct.'  Jane replied innocently, as if there were several exercises and this was just one.  Unnecessarily mentioning the participants had the desired effect however.


'I wish them well of course.'


Here it comes, thought Jane.


'However I believe that they have missed an historic opportunity.'


'Oh, how so?' 


'Well this could have been, would have been a much more important exercise if it had been a US, European and Russian exercise.  That would have been a truly multi-national exercise and could have formed the basis for other even larger exercises in the future.  As it is, well, like I say I wish them luck.'


'You doubt the outcome of the exercise?'


'Let me just say,' the ambassador continued, 'that I am sure the military exercise will proceed well and that they will issue a unified memorandum of its positive outcomes.  However to spend such money and to limit its scope to three countries seems, well, short sighted at the very least.'


Now we are getting somewhere, Jane thought.


'Unfortunately, this was not a European initiative and therefore there was no requirement for any of the participants to consult with the EU, or the UN for that matter.' 


The quality of his voice had changed, Jane noted, gone was the more pleasant, melodic quality, replaced by a sharper, more abrupt tone.  The French Ambassador clearly felt that Europe, the UN, and particularly the French should have been consulted, if not directly included.


The remainder of the interview revealed nothing more, however the French being good hosts were not ones to rush through anything.  Eventually Jane and George managed to depart, both feeling that there could be a good story in this for them after all.


Now for the big one, thought Jane, China.


 


 


16:50              09 November  [11:50 09 November GMT]


Office of the Chinese Ambassador to the United Nations, New York.


 


The appointment time had come and gone.  The Chinese like to deal with their peers.  When required to meet with people they view as below their station they make them wait.  The amount of waiting time being directly proportional to the difference in status.  This made for a long wait indeed for Jane and George.  Then there was the problem of sex.  Jane was simply the wrong sex to deal with a Chinese man ordinarily; however, those who work in the West, such as the Ambassador, have made the transition.  Nevertheless, they are still products of their culture.


When they were finally called in to see the Ambassador, they both felt surprisingly humbled.  The Chinese Ambassador clearly believed his station to be vastly superior to theirs.  This impression was confirmed upon meeting him.


The Ambassador was not a physically imposing man.  He was less than average in height, even for his race.  Childhood illness had conspired during puberty to limit his growth; the months confined to a hospital bed had both fed his ambition and given him the opportunity for additional, advanced study.  This, plus the benefit of his family background, provided him with a monumental career path.  However, an indiscretion only two years before meant that he had reached as far as he ever would.  He hadn’t lost his position but knew he would advance no further.  Now he felt obliged to make it known how important he was at every opportunity.  He wasn't happy to be interviewed, questioned as he felt it to be, by a woman.  If she had been Chinese, he would never have agreed.  As it was, it had been made clear to him that he would receive her and participate fully in the interview.  Disobedience was not in his nature.


George looked round the Ambassador’s office, which was Western in design and Eastern in decoration.  Presumably important vases skulked within the recesses of a display cabinet, daring new comers to touch them.  He resisted the temptation, choosing instead to stand and wait for the Ambassador to be seated first.  The Ambassador smiled and waved his right hand in a gesture to allow them to be seated. 


Jane noted the smile, so he likes every bit of protocol does he?  Now she would have to wait for him to speak and then to address her directly before she could speak.


The Ambassador leaned forward onto his desk; resting his elbows on the edge, he made a tower of his fingers in a splayed prayer fashion.  Seconds ticked by as he sat impassively observing them.  At last he spoke, breaking the silence.


'George Hamilton.  Are you related to William and Sarah Hamilton?'


'Yes,' replied George, the pain ever present, 'they were my parents.'


'I see.'  The Ambassador didn't even blink.  'How long have you been a journalist?'


'I've just returned to Photo-Journalism, but previously I was in it for nearly four years.'


'What do you like about it?'


'I enjoy the action, the people I meet, making a difference by capturing a story.'


'I see.' 


The Ambassador lapsed back into silence.  Apart from the wave earlier, he hadn't even acknowledged that Jane was present.  He didn't now, instead his eyes remained fixed on George, his face disclosing nothing of what he was thinking if anything.


Two full minutes passed.  The Ambassador reached out, picking up a glass of water from which he took a sip.  His head turned to the left and he locked eyes with Jane.


'Jane Spencer-Brown.  You are fortunate to meet me.  I read your article on the border intrusion we suffered two years ago.  Your analysis was entirely incorrect.  However, your writing was flawless.  So you understand, this meeting was arranged as part of my country's well-known openness.  Were we not so open I might have refused your request.'


So, Jane thought, he doesn't like me, the Free Press, or being open.  If it was up to him we wouldn't be here, or at least, I wouldn’t be here. 


'Thank you for seeing me.’  Jane offered, not rising to his bait.


'You are entirely welcome.  I believe that you wish to discuss my country's opinion on the outrageous plan by the Americans and Russians to conduct provocative and dangerous joint military manoeuvres.'


'The upcoming exercise, that is correct.'  Jane ignored the obviously intentional snub; he hadn’t mentioned Great Britain’s participation.


The rest of the interview was just posturing.  The Ambassador stating how his country would be holding its own military exercise at the same time.  How he hoped there would not be any incidents.  What were the Americans and Russians so worried about that they needed to train together less than a day’s drive from the Chinese border?  His rants and pontificating went on for over an hour.  They both felt entirely drained at the end of it.  One thing was clear though, the Chinese were very, very unhappy and their state of military readiness would be escalated to match the perceived threat level.


 


 


18:20              09 November  [13:20 09 November GMT]


40th Floor, United Nations Building, New York.


             


The screen dimmed and went blank, the session over.  This was only Jayanti Kapoor's second visit to this room, the second time seeing the secret organisation and now they had delivered the bombshell.  They are coming.  They are coming here.  They will arrive tomorrow.  No part of her brain was ready to accept this.  What should I do?  She had asked.  Nothing, yet.  Allow your people to inform you when they discover it.  React how you would have reacted, exactly as you did this evening.  Keep calm and look to your duties.  She told them about her interview with the Global Disclosure journalists scheduled for tomorrow asking whether she should reschedule.  No.  Keep the appointment, we know about it.  That reply had stressed her even further.  Of course, they know about it, they seem to know pretty much everything!  Again she had pressed.  What should I do about the journalists then?  Keep them with you, had come the reply, make them part of the story.


Jay headed home that night and poured herself an especially large glass of red wine.  Guilt set in so she kept it to just that one glass, I'm going to need a clear head for tomorrow.  Dark images plagued her mind that night.  The nightmare of arrival beckoning out to her as the four horsemen rode across a burning sky.


 


 


10:20               10 November  [05:20 10 November GMT]


Office of the Secretary-General, United Nations Building, New York.


 


Their meeting with Jayanti Kapoor, the Secretary-General of the United Nations did not start well.  They were late.  It was George's fault.  He had not slept well, finally admitting defeat he had taken two sleeping tablets at around five in the morning in an attempt to get some much needed rest.  He had always had them to hand, ever since he was fourteen.  He had not needed them in years, but always renewed them as a charm against the bad times.  Now was becoming such a time.  The talk of his parents, especially his mother, had brought back the waking nightmares.  He had relived their captivity, every day of it imagined in the smallest detail.  Their last day became the broken record.  How he believed that his parents both knew it was Christmas day.  How they had awoken and wished each other Happy Christmas and then said the same in a prayer to each of their three children.  Images of his own Christmas day interplayed in his mind, the excited nine-year-old racing downstairs, still half expecting to see his parents, racing to see what Father Christmas had brought him.  The terrorist coming to the door, opening and inviting his parents out at the point of a gun.  His brother and sister, looking on as he opened his presents.  The walk into the room, a camera set up pointing against the wall.  The longed for train set found amongst the treasures.  The stern look upon their captors faces, different from how they had looked previously, when they had forced them to make an appeal on camera.  The unpacking of the pieces and feverish assembly of the train set.  The binding of their hands and feet, this was new.  The excitement as the power was switched on and the first train exited the station.  The strap placed around their heads, tied to their feet, forcing their heads back, exposing their necks.  The glee as the train hurtled around the track.  The appearance of the knife at his wife's throat, his pleas to them to spare his wife.  Another train now on a different track.  The unmanly scream as the spray of blood hit the right side of his face, trickling into his still screaming mouth.  The second train gathering speed now, hurtling in the opposite direction of the first.  The man with the knife, moving behind his father.  The trains colliding at a crossing.


 


George had finally appeared in the hotel lobby, unshaven, without breakfast, a look haunting him that Jane did not care for at all.  He had apologised profusely.  Jane accepted it without criticism.  She was not one to throw stones.  Now the two of them sat waiting, still hoping to see the Secretary-General.


'The Secretary-General will see you now.'  The assistant spoke very good English, hardly betraying her Nigerian parentage.


We've only been waiting five minutes!  Jane's mind screamed, and we were twenty minutes late!  Either this is an impossibly slow day or she actually wants to see us.


'Thank you' Jane replied as the assistant showed them through.


Jayanti Kapoor rose from behind her large, ornate desk, and approached them hand out-stretched, a smile fixed on her face.


'It's so good to meet you both.'


'It is an honour to meet you Madam Secretary-General.’  Jane replied overly formally, the better to set the ground for being so late.


'Oh please, call me Jay.'


'Thank you.  I'm Jane and this is George.'


'Please won't you take a seat?'  Jay said pointing them to some comfortable chairs arranged around a coffee table. 


They talked at some length, discussing the planned military exercise.  Jane noted that Jayanti was factual but otherwise not especially interested.  She said all the required things; “Military exercises always being preferable to actual conflicts”, “Closer relations between East and West are most welcome”.  Jayanti kept unconsciously looking at her watch, making Jane and George feel that they had already outstayed their welcome.  Maybe, Jane wondered, she does have a busy day after all and seeing us was just out of politeness.


There was a loud knock at the door, followed by her personal aide William entering without waiting for the customary acknowledgement. 


'Madam Secretary-General, I must inform you that we are tracking an object entering Earth's orbit.  It, it,' He stammered trying to get the words out, he took a deep breath, 'It appears that it is going to land.'  He said finally, waiting for the enormity of it to hit them.


'I see,’ Jay replied coolly, and then she remembered what she had been instructed, 'what do you mean it's going to land?'


'It appears as though there is a space born vehicle that is going to land on Earth.'  He replied as calmly as he could, his palms sweating, pulse elevated.


'Do you mean aliens are going to land?'


'Well, err, no human spacecraft are due to return to Earth that we know of, so yes, it is logical that this is manned by aliens.'  The humour of the statement was not lost on him, he just didn't have the vocabulary to say it another way.  He thought for a moment, perhaps commanded by aliens would be better.  So much is going to change, not just our language.


'Do we know where it is going to land?'  Jay asked.


'No, not yet.'


'When are they landing?'


'We estimate in about thirty minutes given their current rate of descent.'


'Have they attempted to make contact with us?'


'I have no idea.  I'm not sure how anyone would know how?'


'So I guess we are not trying to make contact with them?'


              'Not to my knowledge, no.’ This was probably the most important moment in his career and he was feeling like a schoolboy who hadn't done his homework, again.


'OK.'  Jay said, thinking fast, how would I react if I hadn't known this was going to happen?  'Alert the Security-Council we will be meeting in fifteen minutes.  Call a meeting of the full council for after that.  Alert the media, tell them what we know, and that we are monitoring the approach, we will take all precautions necessary, not to panic or create panic.  Tell them I will come down hard on any organisation that does.  I will issue a formal statement after the Security Council and in time for the full council.  Most of all wake people up.'


William still stood there.


'William!  Get Going!’  Jayanti shouted at him.


'If you would like to call your news desk you may use the one of the phones in my assistant's office.  I'll need mine for a little while as I have some calls to make.  By the way, you are most welcome to hang around; after all I still owe you the second half of the interview.'


Jane was surprised how she was more shaken by Jayanti's helpfulness than the news that aliens were going to land.  She took the offer of the use of the phone.  The UN probably has priority on the communications network anyway, she thought to herself.


 


 


11:00               10 November  [06:00 10 November GMT]


Meeting of the Security Council, United Nations Building, New York.


             


The pressure on the Security Council members was just incredible.  This worked in Jayanti’s favour.  They had had only the briefest conversations with their respective countries.  They were totally out on a limb.  They could not agree on any substantial coordinated action.  All had increased their military alert status and were tracking the object.  They all denied it was anything to do with them before finally agreeing it was what it appeared, an alien vessel.  With scant minutes to go before the full council meeting, they finally agreed that they would speak with one voice to the full council, and that Jayanti’s would be that voice.  However the agreement was limited, she could not announce anything substantive.  This was good enough for her; just to stay their hands from any independent action was necessary whilst they gathered the measure of what the Earth was facing.


 


 


11:15               10 November  [06:15 10 November GMT]


Meeting of the Full Council, United Nations Building, New York.


             


Just as she was about to take the floor, Jay was informed that the latest projections put the landing zone in the northern hemisphere, probably somewhere in the West.


Jane and George were on floor of the UN council.  A hush descended over the giant room, as Jayanti took the floor and prepared to speak.  Network cameras beamed her image into millions of homes and offices all over the world as more channels took the live feed, interrupting normal scheduling.


Jay, suddenly aware of her audience and how many times this would be replayed, took a deep breath, relaxed and looked up.


'Ladies and Gentlemen.  What you have doubtless already heard is true.  We are tracking an alien vessel that is going to land on Earth.  We have not yet been able to establish communications with them.  We do not know why they are visiting.  What we do know is that they have been utterly peaceful in their approach.  The Security Council is united.  We will make no overt, aggressive action.  However, we are fully prepared to protect ourselves if necessary.  The vessel is expected to land in the Northern Hemisphere, in the West and it looks likely that it will land within the continental United States, probably on the Eastern seaboard.  This is an historic day, one that you will tell your children and grandchildren.  Humans are not alone in the universe, we have neighbours, and they are coming to visit us.'


Jay had kept it as light as she could.  People would be scared enough as it is, but by referring to them as visitors and neighbours it gave them a friendly feel.  The truth is, she thought to herself, no one has a clue what they want.  Well OK, some people do.  She wondered when the secret organisation would next make contact.  Jay continued, this time directing her remarks more to the council than to the general public, but still aware that the cameras were live.


'Delegates, I speak to you from my heart.  Not only as your Secretary-General, but also as a Mother and an orphan child from Delhi.  This is a momentous occasion and one that we should both embrace and recognise as the tremendous opportunity it represents.  I would like your support in opening a dialogue with the visitors on behalf of you all, and every man, woman and child on Earth.  I truly believe that we have much to offer and my hope is that they have much to offer us in return.'


The vote came back with unanimous support.


'Thank you so much for your confidence and trust in me.'


William approached her and whispered in her ear.


'Thank you.  I have just been given the latest update on the approaching vessel.  It is now confirmed that it is going to land within the continental United States, on the Eastern seaboard, most probably right here in New York.  If we make our way calmly outside we should be able to see it in a few minutes.'


'Follow me.’  Jay said to Jane and George.


 


The spaceship, that's what they were calling it now, dipped below the high cirrus cloud and gave the world below their first glimpse.  Just a spec against the clouds it was impossible to gauge its size, let alone make out any kind of detail.  The dark spot grew at a rapid rate, revealing what must be a fast descent.  As it came closer to the crowd waiting below, there were a series of gasps as some in the crowd started to realise the size of the spaceship.  More gasps as the ship came ever closer, its physical bulk becoming more and more obvious to everyone watching.  The media were in frenzy now, channels not even bothering to alert people to the switch from regular programming to live coverage, they just kept scrolling the same message.  “Alien spacecraft landing in New York City.”  Now the cameras could provide detail to viewers as to how it looked.  A long thick body, with two pods running along either side.  There was almost something of the animal about it. 


They could make out windows now.  More windows.  They were appearing all over the ship, what at first appeared to be solid resolved itself into a transparent material.  Size was becoming a real issue, so was the deep, resonating throbbing sound emanating from the ship.  It literally pounded the inside of the chest, like the heartbeat of a whale, sucking the air out of your lungs, then ramming it back in.  People started to move back, further and further as they recalculated the amount of the ground it would occupy once it landed.  Now the sound was both deafening and choking. 


The bottom of the ship started to draw level with the top of the UN building.  Suddenly seeing its size contrasted with something known, something solid, something of steel and concrete just overwhelmed.  This was the size of a large office building.  Three hundred metres long, seventy or eighty metres wide, and at least fifty high.  It settled on the East River, squatting on the water but not moving with it.  It's physical presence challenging the world to deny its existence.  This was no weather balloon, no ignited swap gases, no mistaken commercial or military jet.  This was real, this was here, this was alien.


UN staff were now pouring out of the building desperate to get a close up view.  Security personnel were surrounding the ship the best they could, trying and failing to keep people away from it, there were not nearly enough of them for something of this size. 


A section of wall on the front-end side of the body of the ship grew paler, and paler until it disappeared altogether.  The crowd on the left side of the ship could now dimly see the interior of the vessel.  Shapes were moving around inside.  A low hum accompanied the appearance of a walkway, flat and smooth it extended at an angle down to the ground, several people moving back out of its way.


Several seconds passed.  No one was speaking, some were hardly breathing.  Finally, the shapes moved out into the daylight.


They were clad in environmental suits or possibly armour.  They were bipedal.  They appeared to have arms and a head, but the suits covered their entire bodies.  White, translucent visors obscured their faces, or at least where their faces would be if they were human.  Twenty of the aliens appeared, all identically clad, all the same height and build.  Ten lined each side of the walkway, armed with what appeared to be some kind of rifle.  The security personnel who were within sight of this drew their weapons and trained them on the aliens.  The aliens didn't move. 


The first American troops arrived.  Eight open trucks with about a dozen aboard each of them.  They decamped.  The Captain in charge of them quickly assessed the situation and ordered her men to set up a semi-circle around the walkway four men deep.  It isn't much, she thought, but it’s the best I can do until reinforcements arrive.


Jayanti Kapoor, having persuaded her security personnel that she needed to get to the spacecraft, was ushered to the front.  She stood there flanked by Jane and George who had hardly left her side since the news had come through.  The three of them, surrounded by security personnel looked up at the ship.  The size of it gave Jayanti vertigo.  She swayed slightly on her feet, and then regaining her composure took a few tentative steps forward.  Jane and George matched, but did not exceed her movements.  A few more steps.  A few more again.  Now she was standing about ten feet from the bottom of the walkway.


'Is this a good idea?'  George whispered out of the side of his mouth to Jane.


'You wanna leave?'


'Heck no, no way.  I just wanted confirmation that we are doing something incredibly dumb.'


'Don't worry George.  We are.'


'Sssshhh, something's happening.'  Jay said to them both, as sternly but as quietly as she could.


Jay was looking up the walkway into the ship; she could see more shapes moving.  Suddenly they burst into the light.


'Shit!’  Jay said, not realising how tense she had become.  Three figures walked out into the sun.


The figures were also bipedal.  They definitely had arms and a head.  They were not wearing any kind of environmental or armour suit.  They were dressed in clothes.  They were human.  At least they looked human.
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11:30               10 November  [06:30  10 November GMT]


Outside the United Nations Building, New York, USA.


 


Two men and a woman, Jay thought to herself, hang on, better not jump to conclusions, these are aliens after all.  Who knows how they reproduce?


The three aliens appeared unarmed.  They walked confidently down the walkway and onto the grass below.  Jayanti walked forward to meet them halfway across the grass.


The alien woman stepped forward. 


'Chuck al a tebo farn towe.'  She said.  She pulled an object out of her clothing.  She placed it in her ear and then pulled out another offering it to Jayanti.  Jay hesitated slightly before placing the device in her ear.


The alien woman spoke again. 


'This device allows us to communicate.'


'Thank you.'  Jay replied simply.


'You're welcome.'


'Who are you and what do you want?'


'We are human and we want to help.'


'You...you’re human?  You mean you come from here?  This planet?'


'No, no.  Sorry it is the way these devices work.  The words you hear are not literal translations; they are the words from your own mind.  Therefore, when I say we are human, that is how we think of ourselves in your concepts.  We come from the planet Sunarr, in the Sunarr Realm.'


'And where is that?'


'It's about eleven Kaligs from here, on the other side of the Shanuin Telvar.'


'How far is a Kalig and what is the Shanuin Telvar?'


'My apologies again your mind has no reference for these terms.  A Kalig is a measure of distance.  There are about fifteen and a half Kaligs in the Shanuin Telvar.  The Shanuin Telvar is that local cluster of stars in which we live.'


'Ahh, you mean the Galaxy.'


'As you say, the Galaxy.' 


That's interesting, thought Jay, I heard her say Shanuin Telvar again but this time it registered as Galaxy in my mind.


Jane couldn't take this any longer, only hearing one side of a conversation.


'What's happening?  What are they saying?'


Jane saw the alien female turn and speak to the alien male on her right, he held out something to her.  It was two more of the devices.


The alien female offered one to Jane and the other to George.  They both popped them in their ears without a second thought.  They continued to listen to the conversation.


'I would like, if it is possible, to address your planet.  I have a message of peace to deliver.'  The alien female stated quietly.


'Of course, I will make the arrangements.  However, could I ask that you return to your ship in the meantime?  I would consider it a gesture of goodwill.'  Jay watched the alien carefully for her reaction, if she has reactions, she thought.


'That would be most agreeable.  When you and your planet are ready, contact me with the device.'


'What should I call you?  I'm Jayanti Kapoor by the way.'


'I am called Shiwanevar.' 


Jay heard her pronounce it as She-Wan-E-Var, she also realised that she had started to refer to the alien as SHE, and now she would refer to her by name.


'I will contact you when we are ready for you Shiwanevar.'  Jay said, smiling.  Turning on her heel, she led Jane and George back into the building.  Shiwanevar and the other aliens returned into the interior of their ship and disappeared from view.  As Jay returned to her office, she removed the alien device and made Jane and George do the same with theirs, placing all three in her wall safe.  Where, she thought hopefully, their signals would not reach them.


For the second time that day, Jay called for a meeting of the Security Council, followed by a full sitting of the entire United Nations council. 


 


 


12:00               10 November  [07:00  10 November GMT]


Meeting of the Security Council, United Nations, New York, USA.


             


'No.  No I don't.  And I will tell you why I don't see them as a threat.'  Jay was replying to the British Representative, 'and that is precisely because they are advanced.  We have seen no overt use of force.  Their ship does not have any guns trained on us.  The only armed aliens we have seen could be nothing more than an honour guard.'


'With all due respect.'  The British Representative was becoming uncharacteristically animated, 'we have no idea what their weapons or guns as you put it, look like.  The whole ship could be a weapon for all we know.  History has shown us that the advanced nations do not come in peace, they come to conquer.'


'I think' the French Representative said, interjecting, 'that you are once again fronting the American position.  One that is typically Anglo-Saxon.  It is your history of which you speak, conquering other, less advanced nations.'


'I speak' the British Representative said, barely containing his increasing anger, 'only on behalf of the British people.  If you look at the whole of human history, you will find the strong conquering the weak, advances in technology become military advances.  All of our histories are so written.'


'I say,' the Russian Representative said, raising his voice over the others and dropping an octave as well, 'that we should let the choozhyezyemtsi speak.  If we like what they say, then good.  If not, well, they are but one ship.  I vote in favour, who is against?'


The Russian's ploy worked.  Whilst all of them had concerns and even reservations, none of them could object to listening.


'In that case,' Jay spoke for the group now, 'I will arrange to receive what we shall interpret as a diplomatic mission, albeit one from another world.  They will speak to the entire UN and the world in thirty minutes.'


 


 


12:30               10 November  [07:00  November GMT]


Meeting of the Entire United Nations, New York, USA.


             


The cameras had been rolling ever since the news broke.  The reporters interviewing everyone they could.  In the trading rooms of every country there was relative silence, all trading had been suspended.  Instead, they exchanged views about the possible financial impact of the alien’s arrival.  Much, they thought, would depend on what they would say, feeling that Tech stocks could go either way, some may fall as their technology is made redundant, others could rise where they could exploit the new opportunities.  The traders themselves were just like everyone else, curious bystanders who could only speculate on how life was going to change. 


Jayanti Kapoor walked out into the centre of the chamber; the assembled delegates fell silent as she looked up at them, preparing to speak.


'I would like to make the following motion: that we shall receive a diplomatic mission from the planet Sunarr in the Sunarr Realm and that we recognise their representative Shiwanevar.  All those in favour?'  The vote was almost unanimous, and the motion carried.


'I shall now invite representative Shiwanevar and err....’  Jay stumbled over her words.  She wanted to refer to Shiwanevar as her, as she appeared to be a woman, however this might not only be inaccurate, but cause offense, she settled on a circumspect reference.  ‘...and representative Shiwanevar's delegation to speak to this body.'  An aide walked up to Jay carrying a small steel briefcase, out of which he produced the translation device.  Jay placed it in her ear and spoke.


'This is Secretary-General Jayanti Kapoor of the United Nations of Earth.'  She felt self-conscious adding the “of Earth” but felt that it was appropriate.  'I hereby invite you and your diplomatic delegation to speak before this body on behalf of your people.'


A translator with the device given to George stood to the side to provide an official translate.


'Thank you for your invitation I am delighted to accept on behalf of the Sunarr.  We shall be with you shortly.'


Outside, the Sunarr ship was still resting on the water, it was still impossible to decide whether it was floating on the river’s surface, hovering, or something else.  Part of the ship resolved itself becoming translucent then disappearing altogether, the walkway extended across all four lanes of the FDR highway and touched lightly upon the grass.  The guards did not appear this time, Shiwanevar and the two unnamed aliens walked out into the daylight and made their way down the walkway and onto the grass.  An official UN aide was waiting at the base of the walkway.  He spoke to her gesturing towards the UN building; she smiled politely and offered him a translation device.


'This way Madam Ambassador.'  He said simply, barely conscious of the fact that the Ambassador was alien and not necessarily a her, his focus was on the dozens of cameras and knowing his image was going live to the world.  If I fuck up now, he thought to himself, I do so in front of billions of people. 


The combined police and army had created a path through the onlookers to the entrance of the UN.  The delegation walked calmly along, people photographing them as they went.  Journalists shouted a myriad of questions at them, but without translation, they went unanswered.


Shiwanevar walked confidently up to Jay in the chamber, her two aides, if that is what they were, held back, standing to the side.  Shiwanevar began to speak, her words translated by the UN official.


'Thank you for receiving us.  My name is Shiwanevar and I come from the planet Sunarr in the Sunarr Realm.  We are here on a peaceful mission.  We want to exchange knowledge and experiences.  I know that each of you must have a multitude of questions.  These will all be addressed in time.  From what little we know of your people we think we could help a great deal.  We have gathered that some of your people are hungry and thirsty, we can help there.  Some suffer from easily treatable diseases and conditions such as cancer, heart disease and other illnesses of the body and mind, we can help there.  The sources of energy you use are depleting and poisoning your planet, we can help there too.  We ask little in return, except that our knowledge and help be shared equally and openly.  This is why we would like, if it is agreeable, to send out representatives to your nations and offer our knowledge and experience directly, the quicker to help and to ensure that our help is spread evenly.'


'What do you want in return?'  The words escaped Jay's mouth before she could stop herself, but this was much more than she could internalise without reacting.  Peace on Earth.  That's what this would mean, no more fighting over scarce resources, who has what.  There has to be a price, she thought.


'We know that your planet has little to offer us in resources or technology.  That is no matter.  We will make our requests of your nations directly, based upon what they have to spare and can afford.  Where this is nothing, we will give freely.'


'You have enough personnel to send a mission to each nation?'  Jay asked, trying to confirm Shiwanevar's intent.


'We do.'


‘I believe that would be acceptable given that this body has unanimously voted to recognise your delegation,’


'Thank you.’  Shiwanevar continued, 'I will leave now and make the necessary preparations.  You can expect the first of the missions to leave shortly.'


'How shortly, is shortly?


'An hour.'


Silence fell across the chamber.  Jay’s own thoughts echoing those of the assembled diplomats.  An hour is not an acceptable diplomatic timescale, a month might be achievable, to set all the required items in place.  A fortnight if the ceremonies are skipped.  A week at the very inside.  An hour is just not possible. 


'I think that the nations of Earth would appreciate more time to receive your delegations.  There are matters of diplomacy that require handling, protocols that have to be observed.  There are sensitive issues that need to be addressed; your people will need to be properly briefed.'


'All of the nations have representatives here, do they not?’  Shiwanevar asked.


'Yes, they do.' 


'Well then, we will meet with each nation’s representative.  Once that is done they will leave and upon arrival they will start the knowledge and experience exchange.'


Jay felt ambushed.  Shiwanevar had moved around the diplomatic protocols issue deftly.  Having each nation's UN representative brief their delegation, the Sunarr would be assured a quick briefing indeed.  No country would want to stand on ceremony whilst its neighbour was given all kinds of technological secrets.


Jay was proved correct in a very short time.  One hour and forty-seven minutes after her speech, the first delegation from the Sunarr Realm took off.  The alien aircraft appearing out of the top of the spaceship, lifting vertically to ten thousand feet or so, before moving off at speed.  One after another took off, the last taking to the air a little less than five hours after the first.


 


 


19:10               10 November  [14:10  10 November GMT]


Office of the Secretary-General, United Nations, New York, USA.


 


'That's the last of them.'  William confirmed to her.


'Thank you William.  I'll call you if I need you.'


Her aide left Jay and her two guests alone.  Jane and George had been on a wild ride all day.  Events had moved impossibly fast for anyone to keep up with.  Jay turned to her guests.


'Well.  What do you both think?'  Jay asked interested in the opinion of someone who wasn't a bureaucrat.


'Is it me?'  George spoke up first, Jane still processing.  'Or has the world just turned upside down and gone crazy at the same time?'


'Go on.'  Jay instructed him.


'Well, we have gone from discovering that aliens exist to virtually offering them to spend the night in the guest room.  They are now all over the world.  Talking directly to each nation.  They undoubtedly have technological superiority over us.  We couldn't travel to their home world, for instance.  They have offered us the cure to all our ills, virtually free.  All in less than a day.  Doesn't that seem a little crazy to anyone?'


They both sat there nodding silently in agreement.


'What do you suggest we should have done differently?'  Jay asked.


'Well I don't know....'


'Is that the point?'  Jane asked no one in particular.  The journalist in her had grappled with the events of the day and didn't much care for her conclusions.  'They look like us.  They seem peaceful.  There are no communications issues thanks to their devices.  They have been polite and deferential.  They have offered to cure disease and hunger; they offer cheap, clean renewable energy.  They are the answer to our collective prayers.  Now they offered those things, virtually free, nations will fall over themselves to accommodate them.'


'What are you saying?'  Jay asked.


'I'm saying that if they have told the truth then we, the people of earth have done the right thing.  If they haven't, well, then we have let the fox into the chicken coop.’ Jane replied.


'The thing I don't like.'  George said, re-entering the conversation.  'Is that most of the successful conquerors arrived under a flag of peace offering to civilise the indigenous population.'


They sat in silence for a minute digesting that thought. 


 


 


17:50               10 November [17:50  10 November GMT]


Chester Square, Belgravia, London, England.


 


Jack arranged the three mugs in a straight line, each with its handle pointing in the same direction, forty-five degrees up from due south.  A cloud of steam resolved itself with a click; he reached for the kettle and filled each mug in turn. 


'I think you had better come see this!'  Sally shouted from the den.


He wandered through the house clutching the mugs.  Sally was camped on one of the settees with Anita.  I’m glad I took them both on, their work is top rate, and it’s nice to have company.  Jack took his attention away from them and onto the giant screen.  The BBC had a Breaking News story.  He could see a group of people stood in a park, or at least on some grass, he realised, as he noticed an office building in the left side of the screen.  Then the camera pulled back and back and yet further back.  Now he couldn't tell entirely what he was looking at.  It appeared that there was a second building next to the first, only it didn't have any windows and appeared to be built out into the middle of a large river.  He looked at the scrolling news caption at the bottom of the screen.  Alien ship landed in New York, next to UN building.  He read the words but they had no real meaning for him.  His mind focused his ears into the commentary.  The ship arrived some nine, no, eleven minutes ago.  It appears that it has landed on the East River right here in New York.  The local police are doing their best to keep onlookers at bay, but as you can imagine this is an unprecedented event.  There is no doubt now, UFOs are real, and we are looking at one.  The voice changed.  That was the scene when the spaceship landed, we now go live to the floor of the UN where we believe the leader, that is the head of the alien diplomatic mission, is preparing to speak to the UN council and the world.


Jack picked up his house phone and speed dialled his broker.  'Sell everything except government deposits; put thirty per cent of the proceeds into cash, fifty into gold, and twenty into gold futures.'  It struck him that this was the first time in ten years that he had traded in gold for himself, and only then prompted by the arrival of aliens.  He hung up.  There's going to be many nervous people out there looking for a calm port in the storm, he thought to himself, and I'm one of them.  He turned his attention back to the screen and listened to the speeches by the Secretary-General and Shiwanevar.  When they had both finished and the news started to repeat he muted the sound and asked Sally and Anita for their thoughts.  Anita piped up first.


'I think it's great.  They are going to cure disease, famine and all our man-made problems.  How can that not be great?'


'What do you think Sally?’  Jack asked.


'I'm not so sure.  Most of the instances of disease, famine and other issues we could resolve ourselves.  Nevertheless, we choose not to.  Our world economic system is based upon valuing some people more than others, some countries more than others.'


'Go on.’  Jack prompted.


'Well.  We know that our health systems have enabled some people to live longer, but that has come with other age related issues.  Now it is not just simply the age you can reach but the amount of economic value you have created and preserved that matters; living longer is much more expensive, both to the individual and to the economy.  The problem is just as bad at the other end of the spectrum, more children survive infancy now, and the population is burgeoning.  The strain on resources is already causing friction between countries.  One country solves its energy needs with a hydroelectric dam, causing drought in its neighbour.  Unless the “cures” offered by the aliens are carefully managed, chaos could and probably would ensue.'


'OK,' Jack agreed, ‘but what about Anita's view?'


'I can't fault it, not really.  If I were an individual or country who needs help then I would want it now.  Consequences are something for later.  Cure disease now.  Cure famine now.  We'll sort the negative effects later, or maybe we won't.'


'So what you are saying is,' Jack continued, making sure he had Sally's analysis understood, 'that every country offered the alien's help will accept it, adopt it, and exploit it to the maximum possible.  However this will be to the detriment of the world as a whole.'


'That's it exactly.'  Sally replied, not realising the full consequences herself until she heard Jack say them.


'So every nation will become fitter and stronger up to the point at which we run out of natural resources.  Then they will fight each other.'


Anita chipped in.  'Doesn't that mean it’s now a race?  The first countries to maximise the use of the alien technology beat their neighbours?'


 


 


00:40               11 November  [00:40  10 November GMT]


Three Way Conference Call.


 


Charlie Beaconsfield dialled into the conference call, Sam Colt already on the line.  They had allowed themselves a couple of minutes before their Russian counterpart, General Gregori Stephonovich Ivanskiy, would be joining them.  They asked after each other’s families before turning to the current situation.


'So what do you think then Charlie?'


'Officially nothing yet.  The government hasn't decided on a policy.  Unofficially, I'm more than a little concerned.  We have no idea what we are facing, or could be facing.  Certainly, it would be prudent to surmise that technologically they are vastly superior to us.  It is hard to imagine that an advanced race like that would be lacking advanced weaponry.  We didn't even get the chance to contain them.  They have spread out to two hundred and seventeen nations.  We have no idea what they are offering or being offered in return, except the delegations to the UN and the UK.  Also it's a bit eerie as they are awfully polite.'


'Agreed.  We have this stranger turn up on our doorstep and then because they have said things we wanted to hear we have invited them in and given them dinner.  I think that if they didn't look like us then everyone would be treating them differently.  A whole lot differently.'  Sam said.


'What's your government’s position?'


'Well congress is still debating.  I take it you heard the President's speech welcoming them in peace and cooperation, the standard stuff.  I guess we will open talks, there will be too much pressure internally and externally not to, but it will have to be bi-partisan.  We've lowered our alert status by one level since we first tracked them entering our solar-system as we perceive no immediate threat, but the President is being kept up to date on developments.'


The conference line announced the joining of another caller, General Ivanskiy was now online.


'Good day gentlemen.  You can now stop talking about me and talk to me instead.'  The line was quiet for a second before the General's bellowing laugh broke the silence. 


'Forgive me gentlemen.  We all discuss each other, da?  I just like to make joke at your expense.  I am sure you do same.  Now what do we think of our friends from the stars.  Have not all our prayers been answered.  Dah?'


'Nyet' they both responded.


'No indeed.’  Gregori Stephonovich concluded.  'They are meeting with our President as we speak and I am not happy about it.  He has only allowed one military advisor in with him and that is that fasheest eedeeot sveenya Bondarenko.'


So it's true what we have heard about General Bondarenko, Charlie noted to himself.


'What do you plan to do?'  Sam asked.


'What can we do?  We will listen to what they have to say and respond accordingly.  If they are offering what they said then unfortunately there will be little that we won't offer in return.’  Gregori Stephonovich continued.  'Also I think it important more than ever that we go ahead with Operation Allies.  Don't you?'


Yes, they both agreed, before continuing their negotiations regarding the battle formations for Operation Allies and the date and location of their next meeting.


 


 


18:00               10 November  [18:00  10  November GMT]


Orchard Road, Hitchin, Hertfordshire, England.


 


John had crashed the night at his brother Eddie's place in Hitchin.  They had been out late and had slept in until eleven.  After a lunchtime session in a local pub they were now back at Eddie's place.  John had arrived the night before with the ingredients of a cooked breakfast and was busying himself preparing it whilst listening to the radio.  He had just finished dishing up when his brother Eddie came into the kitchen.


'You've heard the news then.'  Eddie said, noting that John was listening to the radio.


'No, what's that?'


'Err.  Aliens have landed.  They look like us.  Everything has changed.'


'Oh.'  John responded, 'you've been listening to the radio play too then?'


'John.'  Eddie said, reaching out and squeezing his brother’s forearm.  'It's not a play.  It's on the news.  Every channel.'


John turned round waiting for the punch-line.  It didn't arrive.  Eddie looked different.  John couldn’t put his finger on it, but he didn’t like it.  They sat down in the lounge with their breakfast plates on their laps eating absentmindedly, totally engrossed in the news.


'What do you think it all means?'  Eddie asked John.


'Your guess is as good as mine.  Things are going to be different though, that's for sure.'


They sat through the speeches in the UN, hardly uttering a word to each other, transfixed by the events unfolding before their eyes.  At the end of it, Eddie spoke first.


'Well that seems fair.'


'What seems fair?’  John asked.


'That each nation is going to have direct access to the alien’s technology.  That's got to be fair, hasn't it?'


'And what if one nation can make more use of it than another?  Instead of levelling the playing field, it's just become a whole lot more lopsided.  Advanced nations will spring forward fifty, a hundred, two hundred, or more years, probably in less than a decade.  Others will see their populations explode, but their overall relative standard of living plunge, as finite resources are spread thinner and thinner.'


'So it's only fair if everyone can make equal use of it?'


'Exactly.  If you gave Stone Age man a rifle, he would just hit you with it.  It's potential for hunting and defence would be lost on him.'


'So the rich nations just get richer?'


 


 


20:00               10 November  [18:00  10 November GMT]


Ankara, Turkey.


             


Solomon and Natasha looked at the screen.  It was an American news channel, with subtitles in Turkish.


'Mummy,' Natasha looked up at her mother, 'what's an alien?'


'That's someone who is not from here.'  Solomon replied somewhat distractedly.


Natasha looked around at their surroundings in this small, foreign village.  'You mean like us?'


Solomon stole herself away from the news and looked down at her daughter.  'Well sort of.  We are aliens here, as we don't come from here.  But the aliens they are referring to don't even come from Earth, they are not human.'


'They look human.'  Natasha replied brightly.


'Yes they do look like us don't they?  I guess we can't be that different after all.'


The news of the arrival of aliens was a blessing to Solomon.  She knew that it had knocked all other news off people's radar.  The other top stories would all be alien related too; the impact on us, how different nations have reacted, the world stock markets, and other financial news, the list would go on and on.  A mother and daughter on the run is old news.  She decided that they should both rest up for a couple of days before moving on.  The next part of their journey would appear more visible as they would be travelling on main routes and through major towns and cities.  The news had also had an unsettling effect upon Solomon, but she had no idea why.  This troubled her even more.


 


 


20:00               10  November [19:00  10  November GMT]


Home of Mme Margaret-Julia Pascal, Felletin, Central France.


 


A phone call from a friend had prompted Margaret-Julia to put on the news.  When she had digested it, she called her granddaughter Severine and her friend Anne-Marie into the house.


Margaret-Julia had studied people for years, her granddaughter's reactions were obviously genuine, but she doubted Anne-Marie's.  Perhaps, she thought to herself, she just reacts differently; some people do, like a defence mechanism.


'What do you think Anne-Marie?' 


Anne-Marie became guarded, she would have expected Margaret-Julia to inquire first of her granddaughter's thoughts rather than hers.  She decided to tread carefully.


'Oh I don't know.  I guess the powers that be will make the right decisions.  I don't think we should worry too much.'


'And you Severine?'


'Well I hardly know where to start!  I mean this is the biggest thing ever.  There is no more doubt anymore; we are not alone in the universe.  But where exactly have they come from?  Why have we not heard from them before?  Why now?  If they are so much more advanced than us, what can we possibly offer them that is worth their journey here?  What are we going to learn and what are we going to do with it?  What if we decide we don't want them here?  Will they just up and leave at our request?'


That, Margaret-Julia confirmed to herself, was a genuine reaction.  I don't know how or why but Anne-Marie knew this news was going to break.  Who is she and what does she want with Severine?


'How about I put this on outside and we eat out there?  The weather is lovely.'


Outside the conversation continued, Severine contributing the most and Anne-Marie the least, not moving much from her “the powers know best”, line.  Anne-Marie, Margaret-Julia noticed, was absorbing everything that Severine said, and she questioned her gently but expertly as well.  I must, Margaret-Julia decided, find out more about Anne-Marie, discreetly but quickly.  She could tell her granddaughter was already very taken by her and she had no intention of letting her granddaughter get hurt more than absolutely necessary.  Margaret-Julia thought about an old police friend in La Courtine, he would be sure to make some inquiries on my behalf.


 


 


17:00               10 November  [23:00  10  November GMT]


Reclusorio Norte Prison, Mexico City, Mexico.


 


Those prisoners not in the exercise yard were inside, most watching the TV.  A news bulletin flashed up before them, most of them moaned at the loss of the film they had been watching.  This was a Hispanic news network, but with subtitles in English.  The room fell silent.  The silence caused the guards to turn their attention to the screen, intrigued as to what could have such an effect on a room full of hardened criminals.  The Spanish speakers in the room gasped first, followed shortly after by the English readers.  Several more gasps followed as the news was revealed to them.  Their existence, their arrival, their physical similarities, the speech to the UN and their travelling out to all four corners of the world.  Then the coverage changed to a local report.  They had arrived in Mexico and had already met with the President.  They showed the President's speech to the people, an alien representative next to the President in full view.  They both smiled, the President telling the people about the “historic accord” they had reached.  How through the help of the Sunarr, Mexico would be transformed in all respects to take its rightful place amongst the first of nations.  Health, Education, Medicine, Science, Energy and Technology would all take a massive leap forward.  The perfect future for the country the President had always dreamed of was finally here.


The guards turned the TV off.  The noise in the room elevated as the inmates discussed what they had seen amongst themselves.  Chuck Holford muttered to himself about how terrific it was to have more foreigners.  Leroy, who would normally have been very animated about such an event, became unusually quiet.  He had thought about his business and could not see it being affected much one way or another.  People will always seek high quality jewellery and I will be there to supply it.  He could not see his life behind bars being affected either.  As far as the world was concerned I am a criminal, and I should stay in prison serving out my sentence.  He was not required to do much, but neither was he able to do much.  Just time on his hands and little to do.


Saeb Tibi and Benjamin Yogev were both shaken by the news.  Not their faith, for both of them their beliefs were founded as much in the cause of their fellow people as they were from sacred texts.  Their creator, who had made this world, could make other worlds as well, other beings; he was not required to tell them.


The big issue for Saeb and Benjamin was how this would affect their people.  Whether both of their people would receive a diplomatic mission from the Sunarr.  What if one did and not the other?  What if they declared for one religion over the other?  So many issues insisted themselves upon them both that it took a while before either could speak.  Finally, Benjamin broke the silence.


'So how do we factor these Sunarr into our talks?' 


Saeb thought for a moment before replying.  'Honestly I do not know.  What if we get left behind?  If the rest of the world moves on?  Then what are we doing?  Who are we?'


At first, when he heard Saeb say "We", he thought he was referring to his fellow Palestinian people or maybe the Muslim world at large.  Then Benjamin realised that Saeb was referring to both their peoples, Palestinian and Israeli alike.  He absorbed this and reflected on what Saeb had said.  He didn't like the conclusion.  In this Brave New World, no one would care about Palestinians or Israelis.  They would be totally invested in their own lives; No sickness, No hunger, No lack of energy, No disease, and No fear as superior technology renders any attack a pointless exercise.  Either the Palestinians and the Israelis would be left isolated or they would be swept aside by a nation with access to the Sunarr technology.  Benjamin looked at Saeb.  He had never felt closer to another human being than he did to him, right now.


'We have both been fighting to win for so long, it never occurred to either of us that we might both lose.'


Saeb looked across at Benjamin, his heart sinking, and nodded silently.


 


 


21:05              10 November  [02:05  11  November GMT]


Northeast Corner and East 57th Street, New York


             


Jayanti arrived home later than usual that night.  Sameena already home for a change.  The smell of cooking greeted Jay as she headed for the kitchen to find her daughter hard at work over various pans on the stove, there were two glasses of wine on the table, Jay picked up the full one and sipped at it.


'I can't imagine the day you have had.'  Sam said, not taking her eyes from the pan she was concentrating on.


'You don't know the half of it.'  Jay realised her mistake as soon as she had uttered the words.  The aliens’ arrival had been very public.  The secret organisation on the other hand was obviously anything but public knowledge.


'Oh?  What's the half I don't know?'  Sam asked, still maintaining her concentration on her cooking.


Jay thought quickly.  'Well everything I was expected to do has just gotten that much harder.  The world hasn't stopped turning you know.'


Her response was sharper than intended; fortunately, Sam didn't rise to it.  Instead, she finished the sauce she was working on and slid it to an unlit hob.  Sam turned to face her mother and saw in her a weariness that she didn't like the look of.  Sam topped off both their glasses and sat down on one of the stools, her mother following suit.


'Why don't you tell me about your day?'  Sam asked gently.


Jay told her as much as she could, glad of the opportunity to think about it properly for the first time.  Sam was amazed by it all.  Seeing the events unfold live had not really made it real for her.  Hearing her own mother recount the events from a first-hand perspective was different, very different.  Her feelings on hearing the news of their arrival.  Being the first human to talk to them, to hear them speak.  Discussing with their representative about their reasons for coming here.  Finding out what they were offering and that for very little in return.  Her mother's place in history had been assured, the first interplanetary conference.


Sam started telling her mother about what she had thought, seen, and heard others say.  Jay tuned it out slightly.  She desperately wanted to tell her about the secret organisation just to hear her thoughts on it, but it seemed to her that now, more than ever, it was critical to keep the secret.  They had been quite specific, in their own vague way; things are not what they seem.
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11:15               11 December  [16:15  11 December GMT] 


Office of the Secretary-General, United Nations, New York, USA.


 


'They are not being at all subtle about it.'  William said to his boss.


As personal assistant to Jayanti Kapoor, it had been William who, more than a month ago now, had delivered the news that aliens were going to land on Earth.  Some things had changed a lot since then, but most things hadn't.  People still went about their jobs, paid their bills, and worried about the future.  Global peace had failed to materialise as factions still fought one another.  Jay was still head of the UN and the aliens were still here, now well ensconced in the countries they had first ventured out to on the day of their arrival.  One thing had changed dramatically though.  The price of Gold.  The first two weeks it had stayed quite steady, and then it started rising on the futures market, where gold is bought for promised delivery over the coming months.  Then last week it started moving up on the spot market as well, where real gold is bought and sold in the same day.  In two short weeks, the value of one troy ounce of gold had increased four-fold.  The futures market was higher than that.  It seemed that there was an urgent and increasing need for gold.  It didn't help that the central banks were holding onto their gold reserves rather than take the opportunity to sell when the price is high.  This was contrary to their stated aim of maximising the value of their reserves whilst simultaneously helping to stabilise the market.


Unfortunately, all the nations that had received Diplomatic Missions from the aliens were not disclosing anything to anyone.  Not even the country of her birth, India or her country of residence, the USA.  There was no official comment by any visited nation.  None.  Not that it really mattered to Jay, not now it was so clear what was happening.  The aliens were requiring payment in gold.  A lot of it.  Countries were desperately digging for it, existing mines were being expanded, and old mines re-opened.  Alien craft were in evidence at most of the major mines, she had the photographic evidence.  However as every government with photo capable satellites had said they were “not available” William had sourced these from a “friend”, Jayanti hadn’t pressed him on that one. 


William laid the satellite photos down on Jay's desk.  After a cursory glance, Jay passed them across her desk to Jane.  Jane and George had become her more or less constant companions at work.  Jay had invited them to stay on to cover the alien story in-depth, offering them direct access to her and a promise to be as open as possible.  Jane picked up the photos and looked through them.  Her keen journalistic eye casting over every detail.  It wasn't necessary this time.  The most obvious feature was the most important.  She asked the question anyway, passing the photos to George.


'What are they building?'


'We don't know is the honest answer.'  Jay replied.


'What we do know,' said William re-entering the conversation 'is that they are anywhere up to a kilometre in diameter, half a kilometre in height and over three in circumference.'


'So they are half a sphere then?'  George asked rhetorically, his eyes not leaving the photographs in his hands.


'Yes, that's correct.'  William replied unused to leaving any question unanswered.


'What is it made from?'  Asked Jane.


'We don't know.  It appears that they are being manufactured on site.  If that's the right phrase.  It seems that it starts out as a ring drawn on the ground, which grows ring-by-ring, smaller each time until it becomes a complete dome.  We have no one who has seen one up close.'


'Why are they building them?'  Jane asked.  "The what" and "The how" go on the inside pages, "The why" and "The who" on the front page.  The why in this case is the most important.


'We don't know that either I'm afraid.'  Will replied.


'We don't know much do we?'  George spoke aloud but this time there was no reply.


'I need more information.'  Jay said, looking directly at Jane.  'It seems to me that this would be an interesting story.  One which any journalist would be keen to take on.  What do you think?'


'But I don't work for you.' 


'I know.'  Jay replied.  'I'm not suggesting that you do.  It's just that this seems like the sort of thing a journalist such as yourself would take on and if you were to find out some information I would be grateful if you would share it with me.'


'How grateful?'


'I would be in your debt.'


Those were magic words to Jane.  Owing a debt to a journalist was something no politician entered into lightly, especially one so closely connected to international diplomacy as the UN.  To have the Secretary-General owe you a debt was a prize indeed.


'OK.  I'll get approval to proceed.  It'll take a few days and in the meantime there is someone I want to speak to first.'  Jane shook Jay's hand, unsure as to whether the bargain was even and if not who was favoured by it.


The door closed behind Jane and George.  Jay turned to Will and asked,


'OK.  What's next?'


'Well we still haven't heard anything about the Israeli-Palestinian talks.  The representatives simply disappeared.  The bodies of the American host and the security guards have been flown home, quietly.  The Mexican's are still insisting it was a drugs bust, and a good one at that.  They probably skipped town and have returned home, even though both governments say No, or they died in the raid and the Mexican's are being coy.  Lastly, they might be stuck in the Mexican penal system under their assumed identities.  God help them if that's the case.'


'Fine.  Next.'  Jay said, aware that this was one more thing she couldn't do anything about.


 


 


08:10               11 December  [14:10  11 December GMT]


Reclusorio Norte Prison, Mexico City, Mexico.


 


There was unease in the prison.  Leroy estimated that a quarter of the prisoners had been transferred already.  The talk was of more to come.  No one knew where they went, not even the guards apparently, but speculation was rife.  The timing of it coming so close to the arrival of aliens could just be chance, but most prisoners didn’t have much faith in chance.  Leroy was not one of them; he knew that he was here because of chance events.  Even so, a part of him knew it had to be connected to the aliens.  How, he didn't know, but he doubted that it would be in a good way.


              He had managed to stay fit, relatively.  He knew his diet would benefit from more fresh food, especially fruit and vegetables, but he was getting the best anyone could in the prison.  He was also unmolested.  The protection offered by his new “friends” Saeb and Benjamin, was both fair and genuine.  He had seen one man dragged off by the “girls’ gang” in his first week and had no intention of being one of them.  The “girls’ gang” were mostly lifers, some already preferred men when they went inside, others went that way through frustration and anger.  Gang rape was one of the most challenging aspects of prison life.


Time for roll call.  Leroy stepped outside of his cell onto the landing to be counted.  The other inmates were not as numerous as when he had first arrived.  The roll call done they marched down the stairs and assembled on the ground floor.  Time for work detail.  Around one in five was called forward, Leroy amongst them. 


'Vaya a la yarda del ejercicio.'


Report to the exercise yard, Leroy translated in his mind, this can't be good, that's where the others went.  The exercise yard was a large concrete affair, marked out for various sports and having a free-weights area; it lacked any charm or warmth.  It baked in the summer and froze in the winter, but it provided respite for any inmate from the confines of their cell.  Leroy wanted to be back in his cell right now.  Safe.  It was a strange thought to feel that his cell provided safety, but it provided familiarity and that was the only safety that he could feel in this place.  Two prisoner transfer buses pulled into the prison.  Leroy and his fellow inmates fell silent, all too aware that they would be getting on them, destination unknown.


             


              It felt strange to Leroy to be leaving the prison behind.  He didn't like the prison, its regime, or anything much about it.  The fear of the unknown was much worse though.  His was the second bus, travelling behind the first on the remote and dusty roads.  Two hours into the journey, they pulled into a lay-by behind an unmarked van.  The tension on the bus rose, even the hardened lifers were worried.  The seconds ticked by.  A tall, fit man, who looked in his thirties, wearing what appeared to be a dark suit without a tie, walked to the door of the bus, the driver opening it for him.  Next to the man was a prisoner, he climbed onto the bus behind him, his demeanour was of someone on death row.  Afraid yet resigned to his fate.  A short conversation ensued with the result that the driver left the bus, the prisoner taking his place.  It was then that they appeared.  Two armed aliens.  Just like the ones, which they had seen on the news a month before.  The ones in body armour and full face helmets.  They looked over the prisoners on the bus and the bus fell silent.  They looked to the back of the bus where Leroy was sitting; it felt like a cold dark shadow had passed over him.  He had never felt so alone.  So far from home.  So helpless.


The prison guards left the bus, the door hissing closed behind them.  One of the prisoners sprang to his feet, shouting.


'Where the hell are you taking us?'


The alien closest to him hit in full in the face with the butt of his rifle.  The prisoner's face exploded in a sea of blood as he fell backwards, slumping unconscious into his seat.  The man in the suit spoke to the prisoner driver, who stood up and spoke to the bus.


'You need to be calm and not resist.  These guys do not follow any of our rules.  Just relax and follow instructions.'


Leroy could feel the tears welling up inside him.  He had never felt this afraid before, not even when the robber had his gun pointed at him.  Then he knew what the robber wanted.  He had no idea what these aliens wanted.  The bus pulled off without further incident.  No one attended to the injured prisoner.
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La Guitarra Mine, Nr. San Simon de Guerrero, 60 miles south west of Mexico City.


 


The prisoners saw the huge glittering dome a long way off; as they drew closer, it became apparent that it was to be their final destination.  The sunlight reflected off the dome bathing the surrounding area in reddish, golden light.  The convoy paused briefly outside whilst an opening resolved itself in the side of the dome. 


Now they could see where they had arrived.  It was unmistakably a working mine.  Muted conversations broke out amongst the prisoners.  They could see that most of the workers were prisoners like them.  There were also a lot of aliens.  They have to be soldiers, Leroy thought.  It was obvious really as they were organised in units, some marching around, others manning posts.  There also appeared to be civilian mine workers there as well.  The scale of the operation was immense.  Whatever the aliens want, they want a lot of it.  The bus drew past a gang of prisoners, recognisable in their prison issue clothes.  Those on the bus could now finally see their faces.  They didn't look well; all looked exhausted without a glimmer of hope in their eyes.  The shadow of death lingered over them.


As the convoy came to a standstill, the driver stood and ordered them to get off the bus and assemble in two rows.  A mineworker stood in front of them, a suited alien, recognisable from the translation device in his ear, next to him.  Leroy noticed that the mineworker also had the same device, partially obscured by his hard hat; he guessed that the alien was going to monitor what the mineworker said.


'I am Manuel and I am the foreman for this mine.  You are no longer on Mexican soil.  This has been designated a diplomatic site under the authority of the Sunarr.  You have been leased to the Sunarr by the Mexican government.  You will work here and remain here until you have served your sentence.  You have no rights here.  No one can visit you here, not even your lawyer.  If you work hard, you will be fed.  If you resist in any way, you and the man next to you will be killed.  Work hard and fit in.  Now follow me to your work detail.'


Leroy's day had just gotten a hell of a lot worse.  Diplomatic status means no Geneva Convention.  No protection of any kind.  He was at the complete mercy of these aliens, these Sunarr, and he doubted whether they would show any mercy.  He followed the prisoner in front, as they were led away.  He was relieved to see some familiar faces, especially those of Saeb and Benjamin, even that of Chuck in a strange way.  He couldn't yet speak to them though, too far away for a whispered conversation, which seemed to be the only type permitted, he knew instinctively not to move from his allocated work place.  He told himself to wait until there was a food break, hoping that it would provide the opportunity he sought.


 


'How long have you been here?'  Leroy asked Saeb and Benjamin.


'A week.  I think.'  Benjamin answered for them both, Saeb guzzling some much-needed water.


'You know,' Leroy continued, 'that we are most likely going to die here.'


'We have thought about that.'  Said Saeb, joining the conversation.  'Whether it is through hunger, disease, maltreatment or worse, I would say that none of us will leave this place alive.'


'Have you managed to contact anyone on the outside?'


'No,' replied Saeb sighing deeply, 'none.  We have tried to negotiate getting a message out with a couple of the mineworkers, but neither of them wanted to know.  It seems that they are very well paid, their pay is linked to the gold price, and that has gone up hugely, apparently.  That's what this place is by the way, a gold mine.  I don't know what the Sunarr want it for but it seems that they won't let anything get in their way.  Tell me, is it day or night?'


'It's day time.'  Leroy replied, taken aback.  He looked around.  There was no sun in the sky, no clouds; he had forgotten that he was in a dome.  The light had not changed since he arrived. 


'I know it seems funny.'  Saeb continued, 'but they run a three shift system and it always appears to be daytime.  We assume that each shift is eight hours and we have done seven shifts so we have probably been here for seven days.  But it's hard to be sure.'


'We've got to get out of here.'  Leroy said, pleading with them more than anything.


'Great,' Benjamin replied, 'you call a taxi and I'll pack a lunch.'


The gallows humour sunk Leroy’s spirits further.


'Seriously,' Benjamin continued, 'just look around you.  We are in a dome, made of some alien material, with no doors or windows and there are dozens of armed aliens here.  We can't communicate directly with them, so we have no idea what they say.  Moreover, if we did get out, where would we go?  We would be escaped prisoners, on the run with nowhere to go.'


'So we just sit here and rot.'


'No, we wait, observe, and plan.  We also organise.  If we are ever to break out of here, we will need the help of other prisoners, a lot of them.  We will also need outside support and that means getting a message out.  We need to get the cooperation of at least one of the mine workers.'


'Who are you guys?'  Leroy asked, for the first time seeing their steely resolve and precise planning.


'We are,' Saeb began, searching for the right words and looking for Benjamin's unspoken agreement, 'We are friends who share a common aim.  We are men of conscience.  We are men of war.'


 


Break over they returned to their respective work assignments.  Benjamin's mind reflected on the conversation, mainly on Saeb's final statement.  He thought about the secret journal he was keeping.  He and Saeb both had pads smuggled in when they were in the prison; Benjamin had simply had two brought in for himself.  One was his copy of their peace negotiations.  The other was a personal diary; how he had come to be here, how his relationship with Saeb had developed and continued to develop.  If other Jews could see the humanity in this Palestinian, then they maybe they could see it in all Palestinians.  He was embarrassed about the early entries, but rather than erase them he kept them and corrected them as his attitude changed.  It was important, he felt, that if anyone ever read it they should understand not only his background and that of Saeb's but of the journey, the two of them have been on together.


When I first met Saeb Tibi, he was exactly what I expected.  An arrogant, self-important Arab who, undoubtedly responsible for the deaths of many innocent Israelis, showed no remorse.  Had I not been chosen to represent Israel in the secret negotiations, ordered really, I would not have sat in the same room as he, let alone converse with him.  He gave no significant ground at any of our meetings.  He saw no viewpoint other than his own.  He showed nothing but contempt for me. 


The raid by the Mexican police and the death of the Americans changed all that though.  He had only myself, and I only him.  We started to talk a lot, some negotiation, some conversation.  We talked openly for the first time about our pasts.  Neither of us, I think, bragged about those we killed; the body count put mine higher than his by a considerable margin, something that still troubles me now.  We also talked a lot about those we had lost to the conflict, friends, relatives, and colleagues.  I had always felt that the fight was right but the cost was too high.  I had no idea that a Palestinian felt the same. 


When it came to the negotiations, we hit an impasse.  It seemed that thousands of years of religious history conspired against us.  Out of sheer desperation, we hit upon the idea of drawing our ideal map, agreeing to ignore the stance of the other and only expressing our genuine but realistic wish for ourselves.  The results were predictable.  Each map showed the areas expected that each claimed.  It seemed that it had gotten us nowhere.  Then we hit upon the idea of merging the two maps.  However, instead of the two state solution we expected to see, we saw three distinct states contained within one country.  The State of Israel and The State of Palestine would both be self-determining the third state would be the State of Jerusalem; this would be a tripartite self-governing state that would also govern the country as an external entity. 


This new State of Jerusalem will also serve as both the Capital of the whole country and as the capitals of both of the other states.  Key to the success of both the tripartite states and the new country in which they would reside would be the choice of the third member of the tripartite, the one who would provide the security force.  We both struggled with the choice.  Either every nation we talked about couldn’t provide the right security or there was “bad blood” between that nation and one or both of us.


Then we discussed the Japanese.  The Japanese seemed like a crazy choice to us both but the more we discussed it the less crazy it seemed.  No major nation on earth has as low a population of Jews and Muslims as Japan.  Its national religion is Shinto.  It has no history in our region.  Neither of us favoured them nor feared them.  They could provide an impartial peacekeeping force and hold the deciding vote in the State of Jerusalem and thereby the deciding vote in the Country.  The country would have three official names, one Arabic, one Jewish and the other one Japanese.  All other countries would refer to our new country by its Japanese name.


Neither of us could find any real fault with the plan.  Neither of us liked it of course.  Nevertheless, it seemed like the only real alternative to a future full of ever more violence.  Neither of us wanted that. 


However our plan also calls for three official languages; Arabic, Hebrew and Japanese.  All negotiations would be conducted in Japanese and translated into Arabic and Hebrew.  This will entail both negotiating teams to learn Japanese.  The plan would be for this to be done together, joint classes.  This we agreed would lay the foundations for a proper exchange of views and cooperation as both sides sat together, learned together, and talked together.  The Japanese would announce when they are happy with the level of language skill and then the negotiations could commence.  Conducting the negotiations in a foreign language to the participants also provides one further advantage; anything offence felt by either side could be immediately forgiven as a problem of language not of intent.


We both feel that this plan, which we are calling the One Country, One Citizen plan, could succeed where others have failed.  The one question neither of us can answer yet is how do we get the Japanese to agree?
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Research Laboratory, Cambridge University, Cambridge, England.


             


'Hi Jane,' John Deeth said rising to greet her, 'it's so good to see you again.'  He kissed her gently on both cheeks, 'you look fabulous, absolutely stunning.'  John was in full flirt mode.


Jane took the compliment and the opportunity to introduce George.


'John I'd like you to meet my journalistic partner, George.'


'I'm just a photographer really.'  George said, offering his hand to John, slightly embarrassed.


'So still single?'  John inquired; Jane could see the glint in his eye.  She decided to play to his vanity.


'Yes.  You know I like them intellectual and slightly mad.' 


'Really.'  John said, grinning broadly, 'I wonder if I know someone that fits the bill?  Tea, Coffee?  Then you can tell me why you've come to see me.'


John rustled up three coffees from his trusty old kettle and offered the least chipped mug to Jane.  It struck him as somewhat odd that they had rebuilt his lab at the cost of who knew how much, but skimped on buying him a new kettle or some better mugs.  He guessed that it was down to the University bureaucracy and not the Research Angel, the University only approving the cost of rebuilding the lab and replacing the scientific equipment.  I bet the Vice-Chancellor has a new desk out of it though, he thought sourly.  Mugs in hand, they ventured outside for a smoke.  John insisting one of his Marlboros on Jane, who took it politely.


'So what's up?'  John asked brightly.


'The price of Gold.'  Jane replied.  'We don't know why other than the aliens are digging for it.  No one seems to know why.  I hoped that you might.'  Jane observed John closely and could see the discomfort he suddenly felt.


He instantly wanted to tell her what he knew, what he had discovered and its possible implications and applications.  He wanted to tell her everything.  He knew that he could not; the research was his, the university's and the Research Angel's.  Nothing short of a court order could change that.  He sighed, looked down at the floor, and shuffled his feet.


'I'm sorry, I'm afraid I can't be much help on that.  Gold's valuable, you know, I guess the aliens must know that too.  Sorry.'  John smiled meekly and shrugged his shoulders. 


Jane took the cue, I'm afraid I can't be much help on that; she repeated his words to herself.  That means he can be some help, it also means he could be more helpful but is prevented from doing so.


'That's OK.  I just had to ask.  I am a reporter after all so I have to have something for the record.'


John caught her intonation, that was on the record, now we are off the record.


'How have you been?  What have you been up to?’  Jane asked the apparently innocent questions.


'Well,' John started, 'to tell you the truth I discovered something odd the other day.  I have had this table in my lounge for years, it has a cloth over it, and I'm ashamed that I had never cleaned it.  I had just used the table without giving any thought to what type of table it was.  I decided to clean the cloth, as you can imagine it was quite filthy.  When I removed the cloth, I was astonished to discover that it wasn't a table at all, it was a piano.  Imagine, for years I had just thought it was a pretty table with a cloth over it, I never suspected that beneath the cloth it contained a sophisticated, musical instrument capable of producing an almost infinite range of sounds and arrangements.  What looked just pretty has turned out to be incredibly useful.  I am just learning to play so I can find out just how useful it could be.  I can imagine that the first piano changed the world forever.'


'Does anyone else know of the discovery of the piano?'  Jane asked, keenly aware that John was bending over backwards to help her.  Bless you John, she thought.


'Yes, but no one with an appreciation for music or its complex mathematical formula.'


'I see.'  Jane replied, 'You know it’s been great to catch up.  I'd love to hear if you discover anything else unusual in your house and I'd like to see your piano sometime.'


'There's nothing to see really, it’s just like any other grand piano, it’s the same colour as most other pianos and looks pretty similar.  But you should hear the music it makes, if you know how to play it.'


John politely kissed Jane goodbye, again on both cheeks and shook George's hand vigorously.  George wandered after Jane, half a step and a whole conversation behind. 


'What was all that babble about his piano?'


'John wanted to tell me about his research, but in a way that he could deny he had told me anything.'  Jane replied, 'I'd almost bet a year's pay that he goes out and buys a piano, second-hand for cash, just to cover himself.  He'll probably have to learn to play a bit too.'  Jane giggled to herself at that, she judged that John would not find it easy and would get very frustrated.


'So John doesn't have a piano then?'  George was quite in the dark, he didn't know that in the clinic Jane and John had almost spontaneously invented a coded way of communicating so they could talk about the other patients and staff in front of them.


'No he doesn't.  He was telling me about his research.  He has found that there is a lot more to Gold than meets the eye.  I know that he was in the clinic after his experiment exploded; that means some kind of force is probably involved.  His reference to music would imply that it is wave-like in form, but has physical properties.  I don't pretend that it all makes perfect sense to me, it doesn't.  However, I would trust what he has said.  It looks like Gold is the source of some kind of power, and that is why the aliens are after it, and we knew nothing about.'


'So who do we tell?'


'Well, we should report back to Jay.  Let's keep it at that for the moment, we don't want to start making noise until we have seen one of these dome mines up close.  For now, I think we need to understand more about the market for gold.  I'm going to call a guy I know in research.'


 


'Hi Duncan, its Jane.  Yes I'm fine thank you, you?  Great, look, quick favour, - who should I talk to about the Gold price and the Gold market?  Jack Hamilton.  OK but it needs to be someone who can talk candidly, so they can't be currently employed.  Still Jack Hamilton.  Who is he?'  Jane listened as Duncan gave her a brief run-down on Jack's biography.  'Well it certainly sounds like that's the right person.  No Duncan, I didn't mean to sound surprised I know you always provide the right information, I was just agreeing with your analysis.'  Duncan is great, Jane thought to herself, but he is very touchy about his professional credibility.  'Can you send me his details?  Thanks Duncan, take care.'


'So where to?'  George asked innocently, trying to suppress a grin.


'London, Belgravia.'


 


 


14:20              12 December  [14:20  12 December GMT] 


Chester Square, Belgravia, London, England.


 


The house was one of those large, Georgian affairs; white stone with gleaming black doors and detailing.  The doorbell gave a strong, bellowing ring that reverberated within the confines of the house.  Jane was surprised when the door was answered by a woman.  Slim, quite short, long blonde hair she was young and fit with stunning good looks.  Jane was instantly envious, despite the fact that they were similar in almost every respect except age, and she could do nothing about that.  Jane looked again at the number on the door, she had the right place she was sure.


'Hi, can I help you?'  Sally asked politely.


'Oh, we were looking for Jack Hamilton.'  Jane replied, surprising herself that she felt somewhat nervous.


'Who can I say is calling?'  Sally retorted, not impressed that Jane didn’t introduce herself.


'Oh I'm so sorry.  I'm Jane and this is George, we are journalists working for Global Disclosure.  We were hoping to interview Mr Hamilton in his capacity as an expert on the Gold market.'  Jane had lurched back to being formal, hoping that it would persuade the woman of their honourable intentions.


'I'm Sally.'  She said, thrusting her right hand out in front of them in greeting.  'I'll let Jack know you are here.  Please come in.'


Sally showed them both in to the drawing room, returning with Jack and Anita.


'Hey George, good to see you.'  Jack said as he walked over to embrace his brother.


'It's really good to see you again too Jack.  You’re looking well.'  Jack caught the "You’re looking well" comment and realised he had better introduce Sally and Anita.


'George I'd like you to meet my two research assistants; Sally Brewer and Anita Kumar.'


'Hi.' 


'Sally, Anita I'd like you to meet my brother George.'


'Wow!'  Anita gushed, 'you never mentioned you had a brother!'


'Calm down.'  Sally whispered.


'Brother?’  Jane could not prevent the word coming out as a stinging rebuke, as if she had just caught her husband cheating on her with her best friend.  George started to chuckle.


'You didn't tell her?'  Jack asked his brother.


'I couldn't resist the opportunity to see that look on your face.'  George explained to Jane.  'You have to admit it is kind of funny, you being this great investigative journalist and all.'


'Why you....'  Jane couldn't finish the sentence, as she realised the absurdity of the situation.  ‘OK you got me.  I hadn't even thought to ask you if this Jack Hamilton was a relation, even though I know you have a brother.  Well...’  Jane paused before going on, 'I guess that just leaves me.  Jane Spencer-Brown, I'm a reporter with Global Disclosure.'


The introductions complete, the two brothers disappeared to make drinks and rustle up some biscuits.  As they re-entered the drawing room the conversation between the three women fell silent.


'You been talking about us?'  George asked Jane.


'You should be so lucky.'


Jack placed the tray down on the coffee table and offered round the drinks.  He sat down in one of the chairs, idly wondering to himself why he didn't spend more time in this room, it’s a room that needs people to come alive.  Chocolate biscuit in hand, he was torn between nibbling and dunking.  He decided to dunk.


'So how can I be of help?'  Jack asked awkwardly around his biscuit, part dissolving, part melting in his mouth.  This was one of his few annoying habits.  One of two that really irritated his brother George.


'We need to know what you know about the Gold market and the Gold price.'  George asked.


'Sure.'  Jack replied, not really aware of what he was saying or the way in which he was saying it, 'Just get a First Class International Business Degree, followed by an internship and employment with one of the top dealing firms in the world.  Spend years working your way up through the firm until you are in charge of the whole Gold dealing division, proving yourself along the way by making exceptional deals and returns for your company and clients alike.'  Then Jack added, somewhat unnecessarily, 'Or at least that's how I did it.'


That, George thought to himself, is his most annoying habit.  Why can't he just answer a question without showing off?


'We don't have time for that.'  Jane had dealt with others like Jack; one's who believe that you can't have knowledge without the experience.  That is true, she thought, if you want to practice the knowledge, like carpentry.  You can be told exactly what to do, but you still need experience of it to be any good.  However if you just want to commission a carpenter, or understand whether a carpenter is the right person for the job, then you just need knowledge of what they do and how they do it.  The same should be true of a gold dealer.


'Sorry.'  Jack apologised, 'I don't know why I do that.'


'That's OK.’  Jane replied, smiling.  'So, the Gold market?'


'Well,' Jack began, 'I...We have actually been investigating the market going back millennia.  I have taken a sabbatical from work to finish my PhD looking at why Gold has any value and why it has been so sought through time.'


'And what have you found out?'  Jane asked, leaning closer.


'Well it's far from finished, but all the indications we have so far point to very unusual results.  We have investigated other precious and useful materials, and all have a strong correlation in price to their uses, particularly their commercial uses.  Gold doesn't.  The price of Gold has been out of range of its usefulness in eight out of ten of the last centuries.  Most of the time it has been way out of range.  Like ten to a hundred times its true value.'


'But,' said Jane, interjecting, ‘wasn’t it used to set currency rates.  The gold standard?  It's also used for jewellery.  Surely those must account for the difference?'


'We've made allowances for that,’ Jack assured her, 'besides why have people put such faith in Gold?  Sure it's the least reactive of the elements, so it'll last a long time, but so too are diamonds and they weigh less.'


'There's more isn't there?'  Jane inquired, her journalistic senses tingling.


'Yes, there is.'  Replied Jack, dropping both the tone and volume of his voice.  'In tracing the price movements of gold we have also traced the trades of gold and as well as its physical movements.  This was the most surprising find of all.  There have been an increasing number of trades of gold decade by decade, but the corresponding number of physical movements has remained more or less constant, but with a slight upward trend, which relates more to the annual increase in the production of gold, than it does to trades.  So we went back further, convinced that this was a post-industrial phenomenon.  It wasn't.  We went back further still, classifying any change in the legal owner of gold as a trade.  The trend not only remained it became more pronounced.  That's when we ran an analysis of the history of particular gold deposits.  Gold seems to have an almost finite limit on the amount of times it will change physical location.  That is totally unlike any other material we compared it with.  From being mined, gold on average moves approximately sixteen times then it stops moving.  It's twelve in Asia, twenty in Europe and eight in the Americas.'


‘OK, so let me see if I have got this straight.’  Jane said.  ‘You’re saying that Gold, on average, moves only a fixed number of times and then just sits there.  Forever?’


‘Yes.’


'Why?'  Jane asked, her curiosity rising.


'We don't know.  Yet.' 






 




 


 


 


 


 


 


14 La Guitarra


 


 


16:44               13 December  [22:44 13 December GMT]


Mexico City International Airport, Mexico City, Mexico.


 


The flight having been suitably uneventful was over and they were on final approach.  As the in-flight entertainment had been switched off and their drinks removed, Jane and George took the time to go over their plan again.  They had decided against approaching the Sunarr with a request to visit one of the camps both to avoid alerting them and because they felt that, the request would be turned down anyway.  They had talked to Jayanti before leaving England.  They couldn't trust the phone in her office so before they had left George had given her his.  George's phone came with the latest encryption software, although he wasn't sure how it might stand-up against the level of technology that the Sunarr might have for cracking it.  Hence, the need for Jayanti to have a phone the Sunarr didn't know about. 


During the conversation, Jayanti had revealed that there was still no official recognition of the camps, either from the Sunarr or by any of the governments.  As far as the world was concerned, all was normal.  Word will get out eventually, it always does, she had added.  They realised that they needed to know what was going on before security at the camps was tightened further.  The decision not to make a request to enter the camp left them with the dilemma of how to gain access.  George suggested that there was a good chance that humans would still be employed at the mines.  Certainly, they had not heard of masses of mineworkers being made redundant, so they were probably still there.  Humans work for money, and this he suggested would be the way in to the mine.  They had chosen one of the Mexican mines because it was felt that it would be amongst the easiest to gain access to as Jane had some good Mexican contacts.  The plan was straightforward enough.  They would locate the town close to the mine where the mineworkers spend their free time.  There they would make discrete inquiries with the aim of finding someone who could get them into the camp, for a fee.


 


 


19:03               13 December  [01:03 14 December GMT]


Maria Isabel Sheraton Hotel, Río Danubio, Cuauhtémoc, Mexico City, Mexico.


 


Jane had made a call to one of her contacts from the airport after they landed; he was waiting in the bar of the hotel for her.  He didn't look as relaxed as he normally did.  She didn't like having to leave George behind in his hotel room, but she knew that her contact would never speak in front of two people at once.  Two people could provide for corroboration; a conversation with one person makes for deny-ability. 


He saw her enter the bar so he rose and headed for one of the booths in the back of the room, he chose one that was not well lit, sitting under the one working light so that whilst his face was in shadow he could keep an eye on the room.  As Jane sat down opposite him one of the waitresses trotted up to take their drinks order.


'You're looking exceptionally well Jane.'


'And you are still as charming as ever Eduardo.  How's the wife and children?'


'They are fine, thank you.'  So, it's straight to business then, he thought.  'What is it that I, a humble civil servant can do for you?'


Eduardo Gonzalez a humble civil servant?  Humble my arse, thought Jane, you're the deputy chief of police in Mexico City and what you don't know about isn't worth knowing.


'The Sunarr.'  Jane almost whispered it out.


'I see.’  Eduardo said wiping the sweat from his brow.  'I know some things, I want to know more.  We will do a trade no?  Yes, we will exchange what we know and you will make a contribution to my favourite charity.'


If only all my contacts whereas straight forward as him, he wants a bribe and a large one at that, I'll wager.


‘OK’ Jane replied simply, 'what have you got?'


‘Well’ Eduardo took a long pull on his beer, 'They have made some very powerful friends in the government.  This has caused a split, not along party lines, but between those the Sunarr favour and those they do not.  The usual process of governing has all but ceased.  The only game in town is the trade for technology.  They have been given everything they want, or at least I haven't heard that they have been denied anything, so that is the same, no?  The Ministry of Justice is favoured, the military not.  The rest are not so clear, with certain politicians having their backing.  Access to the Sunarr is all-important, and they will do anything to gain it.  There are secret meetings, I do not know the substance, but I can guess.  They are dealing out the spoils.  One other thing, there was a ruckus in the Finance Ministry but that quietened down when the Minister resigned, supposedly on health grounds.'


Jane pondered all this for a second.  'What do you know of the mines?'


'Probably less than you.  However it is rumoured that some have been handed over to the Sunarr who apparently have a better extraction technique.'  Eduardo chuckled to himself.


'Why the laugh?' 


'Because I am not a fool.  The prisons near the mines are emptying fast.  I guess the Sunarr's extraction technique involves a lot of manual labour.'


Jane knew Eduardo well enough to know that he didn't care what happened to prisoners, rot in prison, rot in a mine, it is all the same to him.


'So what have you for me?'  Eduardo took another long pull on his beer, mopped his brow again, and relaxed back into his seat.


'It's the same story really.'  Jane was wondering how much she should disclose.  'The Sunarr have enmeshed themselves into the government of each country.  Officially, they are discussing things; however, I have heard that the discussions are mostly one way and that they are entering into very long term agreements.  No country wants to be left behind, and they definitely don't want to be left out.  Those countries that the Sunarr haven't engaged with but who are powerful enough are entering into agreements with countries who have been engaged.'  Jane stopped to take a sip of her drink and think through what she was going to say next.


'Your country is not the only one with mines.'  Jane took a breath.  'They are building huge domes over the mines all around the world.  We have no idea what they are doing inside and no one is talking.'  Jane took another breath.  'They also seem to be exclusively gold mines.'


'Arhhh so it is true!'  Eduardo exclaimed.


'What's that?'  Jane inquired, pleased that the additional information she revealed had provoked a response.


'It is rumoured that was why the Finance Minister really resigned.  When he found out that vast reserves of gold had been promised to the Sunarr in future payment he protested.  He reasoned that if it was worth that much to the Sunarr it must be worth more to us.  He was given his marching orders.'


'I need to get into one of those mines.'


'I see.  That will be an extra contribution.  Go to the town of San Simon de Guerrero ask for Manuel Gonzalez, he is my second cousin, in the Hotel Posada La Misión he will be expecting you.'


'I am with a colleague'


'Then he will be expecting you both.'


 


 


20:25               13 December  [02:25 14 December GMT]


Hotel Posada La Misión, San Simon de Guerrero, 60 miles South West of Mexico City.


 


The Hotel Posada La Misión is a fairly typical example of a Mexican bar come hotel.  The colourfully tiled walls, floors, and archways give it almost the appearance of a theme bar.  However it is both a practical method of providing a clean interior as well as providing much needed decoration to what would otherwise be just drab cement. 


They checked in arranging an open-ended stay.  The manager didn't seem to care much one way or the other, they were paying the posted price, which was three times what was normally paid, and for that, they could be a little vague.  They left a deposit of a week’s stay and departed to their room for much needed showers.


Changed and refreshed they entered the bar, the clientele they could tell straight away were almost entirely locals or Mexicans at least.  This was not a tourist destination, but then Jane and George were not here to see the sights.  Their cover, if it became needed, was that they were a newly married couple on a long honeymoon wishing to see some of the real world and Mexico was their first stop. 


The bar was busy but not overly crowded.  The other patrons paid them little attention.  San Simon de Guerrero was off the beaten track but not off the map altogether.  A little early, they grabbed a Corona each and found a table, cluttered but free.  They didn't have to wait long for their contact.  A large burly Mexican walked into the bar, the patrons making room for him as he swaggered his way through the crowd.  Not only did he match the description, but also he moved with the air of someone in authority.


Another policeman, Jane thought to herself.


He clapped eyes on the two gringos and sat his considerable bulk on one of the remaining chairs.  A half smoked Cohiba wedged between his fingers flared into life as he drew on it.  The smoke flowed out thick and pungent, it hung in the air and added to his image as a bandito. 


'You 'ave a letter for me?'  The man said releasing more of the thick, acrid smoke.


He is not as sophisticated as Eduardo, there is no pretence here, Jane thought to herself as she handed over the envelope bulging with cash.  He took the envelope and not stopping to count it, secured it into an inside pocket.


'You understand what we want?'


'Si, wanna go La Guitarra.'


It took Jane a moment to process his accent, yes La Guitarra, the name of the mine.


'Yes.  You think it is possible?'


'Si, of course.  There is little I cannot arrange...'  He left that thought hanging in the air, giving them both the distinct impression that the law in this town was made in the mind of the man sat opposite them.  It's a good job I made this contact through Eduardo; I doubt this one can be trusted much.


'How will we get there?'  George spoke up, afraid of putting their trust and safety in the hands of this man.


'A bus leaves in the morning.  Eight.  The driver will come for you at ten to.  Be ready.'


'Does the driver know?'


'The driver knows he has two extra passengers, geologists.  As far as he is concerned, the government is doing an inspection.  Just be sure to pick up some rocks.  Who knows, you might get rich!'  He laughed at his own joke as he rose to leave.


'One other thing.  If you are found out I don't know you.'


He swaggered his way back through the bar and left them to contemplate the implications of being found out.


 


The following morning they were dressed as best they could, smart casual but with good boots on, and standing in the lobby waiting for the driver.  He arrived in good order, but speaking little English, he said “bus” and motioned for them to follow him.  The bus itself had obviously seen better days in the thirty or so years since it had rolled off the production line.  Its current owner provided only minimal maintenance requiring it just to transport passengers a relatively short distance twice a day.  There were two other buses in the street, one either end of theirs, both of which looked just as rough.  The driver brought them to the front of the queue, opening the door he ushered them to sit in the front, as if they were dignitaries.  They both guessed that the driver had been well but not overly compensated for his trouble.  The sun was rising fast and with it, the temperature.  The drive to the mine at La Guitarra was thankfully short; if the bus ever had air-conditioning, it had long since given up trying to cool anything.


They both saw the dome in the distance, glimmering majestically.  The time it took to reach the entrance gave them almost a feeling of vertigo such was its overwhelming size.  They noticed four of the armed Sunarr guards outside the dome, however they were stood well to the side and there were humans there who looked like they were the ones to inspect vehicles.  The bus groaned under its own weight as it juddered to a halt.  The driver opened the door to let one of the Mexican guards board.  The driver greeted him warmly, and spoke rapidly to him in Spanish, pointing to them halfway through his dialogue, at this the guard looked round and then opened his shirt, the driver slipped three envelopes into his open shirt and the driver quickly fastened it and hopped off the bus, waving it on.


It is necessary, thought George to himself, no, essential that in a world where the powerful can be corrupt, that others lower down need to be a bit corrupt too, otherwise despots could rule unchallenged.  He realised that police the world over had operated on this basis for years, ignoring the small fish to land the big fish.  He guessed it applied to governments too.


The bus moved and with that, they both found themselves leaning forward, straining for their first glimpse of the dome's interior.  The bus in front resolutely obscured their front view however, so they pushed themselves to the side window, like two gawping tourists.  It was bright inside, far brighter than they had expected.  The light seemed intense and natural.  At first, they couldn't see much more than the interior of the dome's surface, which seemed to stretch around them like the horizon.  The further they travelled in the more they hoped to see signs of alien activity.  They saw buildings that were obviously man made and had been in existence for many years.  Tall structures revealed themselves to be huge cranes, mechanical diggers, and conveyor belts.


Nothing remotely alien so far, save for the presence of a significant number of alien guards, marching and manning posts, Jane reflected.


They could now start to see the sheer number of mineworkers.  The normal complement of 300 miners had been bolstered by probably 500 more workers, all prisoners judging by their clothing.  As they could see nothing immediately alien, they sat back in their seats, wary of attracting attention.  The bus trundled on, finally coming to a stop at the head of the large, opencast pit.  The miners immediately disembarked, keen to clock on, and get their day started.  Jane and George followed behind, both wondering exactly what to do now.  Their dilemma resolved itself in the shape of the shift foreman, a tall gaunt Mexican who didn't like surprises.


'They never tell us when these inspections are to take place.  My day is busy enough as it is, but I will show you around the best I can.  You 'merican?'


'No we are British, but on secondment to the US division’ Jane replied brightly.


'Si, si.  Well let’s get started.'  The shift foreman lead them as if he were a travel guide, explaining the history and basic facts of the mine without a thought as to whether they knew or cared.  'Mining in this area is believed to have first begun in the time of the Incas.  In its lifetime, it has produced about 150,000 troy ounces of gold.  Before the involvement of the Sunarr, it was producing an annual rate of 11,000 ounces, now it has increased to 48,000 ounces.  A four-fold increase.’


The “tour” took them around the mine and its workings, the foreman never stopping to ask whether there were any questions, never caring either.  At last they arrived back where they had started, the foreman looked pointedly at his watch to show that he had given them all the time he could spare.


'Well thank you very much,' Jane said giving him her best smile, resting her head slightly to the right, knowing the effect this usually had on men.  It worked.


'Si.  You're most welcome.'  The smile the foreman returned fell well short of the mark, but it was the best he had.


'We will be here for a while; there are some things we need to establish.'


'Si, of course.  If you need me just ask one of the men.'  He said in a way that left them in no doubt that they shouldn't trouble him again, no matter how charming Jane's smile was.  That suits me just fine, thought Jane.


Now they were two geologists, unsupervised in the mine.  They followed one of the conveyor belts, believing that this would look innocent enough.  George took a number of photographs, unhappy not to have his professional camera with him; he was making do with a compact SLR.  Jane paused occasionally to inspect some rock, picking up small ones every now and again.  They came to a stop at a junction of the conveyor belt, where convicts were reducing stray large rocks into several smaller ones, and replacing them on the belt.  It looked like tough work, and they didn't seem to be enjoying it in the least. 


'Any of you speak English?'  Jane asked whilst inspecting the rocks the convicts were smashing. 


'I do.  My name is Saeb.  My friend here Benjamin also speaks English.'


'Shalom.'


'Good.  We are both journalists, we are investigating these camps.  What can you tell us?  Keep working we don't want to be spotted.'  Jane instructed them.


'There are other camps like this?'  Benjamin asked with some incredulity.


              'Yes.  There are dozens all around the world wherever there are gold deposits.'


'We were brought here against our will.  We were in Reclusorio Norte prison.  I am Palestinian, my friend here is Israeli.  Conditions here are not good.'  Saeb stated, trying to keep the passion out of his voice.


'There is no official acknowledgement of these camps.  No one in the know is asking any questions for fear of upsetting relations with the Sunarr.'  Jane replied.


'So it's true.  We are slaves.'  Benjamin observed, 'This is not acceptable, no man should be enslaved.  I don't care what these Sunarr offer.  Remember, it always starts with the lowest.  They will subvert the governments next.  Then no one will be free.'


'I think that has already started.'  Jane replied, wishing she could offer some good news.  Perhaps I can?  'Can you get messages out?'


‘We will.'  Saeb assured here.  'Although I don't know how yet.  We are working on an organised resistance.'


Jane scribbled in her pocket notebook; she tore out the page, screwed it up, and dropped it on the floor.


'That's the address of a local hotel.  If you can get a message out send it to me there, I'll have arranged to have it forwarded to me.  I'll use the same point as a drop off.  Good luck.'


Jane and George moved on, acutely aware that staying too long in one place might seem suspicious.  Using the perimeter of the open cast mine, they slowly moved round in a full circle.  George taking photographs periodically to build a full map of the dome's interior.  They spoke to other convicts, although they were less cooperative than the Palestinian and the Israeli.  For the most part, they wanted to complain about their treatment and lack of access to lawyers or relatives.  One convict proved different however.  Calm, well-spoken and possessing a genuine sense of humour, he was another one who didn't fit the role of convict.


'Names Banks, Leroy Banks.  Before I ended up in a Mexican prison, I was running a chain of jewellery stores back in the states.  I still own it, but can't manage it from here.'  Leroy waved an arm around to indicate that his surroundings were less than ideal for running a retail chain.


'I'm George.  I had a nice life as a Professor of Military History.  I took some time out as a freelance photographer and ended up in the UN when the Sunarr landed.  Life's been kind of strange since then.  How did you end up in a Mexican prison?'


'I have a branch in Mexico City.  The day I was there, it was robbed.  The guy pistol-whipped an old lady to the ground right in front of me.  I shot him in the face.  Guns are illegal in Mexico.'  Leroy added with a shrug.


'In Britain too.  But I guess if it had happened in the states they would have given you a medal.'


Leroy smiled at that.  Grateful that he had made a connection with someone who didn't seem to judge him just because he had committed a crime under Mexican law.


'You should talk to the Palestinian and the Israeli.'  George added, trying to be of help.


'You mean Saeb Tibi and Benjamin Yogev?  Yeah I know them.  Why's that?'


'It just seems to me that you have more in common with them than would meet the eye.'  George winked at Leroy and moved on.


'So what do you think?’  George asked Jane as they walked off.


'I think' Jane replied, not really knowing yet what she really thought, but instead developing her thoughts as she spoke, 'I think, the Sunarr know exactly what they want from us and we don't have a clue as to what we will get.  I would say in return, but the trade, if that's what it is, isn't equal.  What about you?'


'I think you should stand in front of me and hold up that rock.' 


Jane knew George better now; he wouldn't make such a request unless it was important, and so she obligingly did as she was asked.  George snapped away and then pointed his camera down, indicating that he had finished.


'OK so now you have a nice picture of me and Rocky.'


'I also have photos of a Sunarr building that they seem particularly interested in protecting.'


Turning round to stand at George's side, she could see the building.  Built on a high mound with a commanding view, it was, essentially just an oblong box except there were large cables protruding from it, which appeared to run all the way to the dome's interior wall.  There were four Sunarr guards on duty and a heavy weapon mounted on a tripod.


'They do seem very keen to keep people out of there don't they?'  Jane responded, thanking her lucky stars to have a seasoned war photographer with her.  'What do you think it is?'


'Could be anything.  Communications, Command Post, but I haven't seen any activity to suggest either of those really.  Beside they have the ship for those.'


The ship was about five hundred meters in the other direction.  It too was guarded, but only lightly.  It sat there gleaming in the sunlight, a constant reminder that this area was under the authority and control of the Sunarr.  George fired a couple of bursts from his camera then moved on with Jane.


They had little time left now; the buses were ready to return the leaving shift to San Simon de Guerrero, the shifts overlapping by an hour now, another innovation of the Sunarr.  They walked back to the collection point and boarded the bus, among the last to do so.  One of the mineworkers smiled at Jane.


'You are geologists?'


'Yes we are.’  Jane replied, seeing the opportunity to probe a little.


'What do you think of our mine?'


'Well the results look promising, but we will have to wait for the lab analysis.  How have things changed since the Sunarr took over?'


The mineworker took the seat in the adjacent aisle, leaning over and lowering his voice.


'Well, things are good, they pay us well.  Too well in fact, it worries me.  The involvement of the prisoners worries me too, but I have a family so what can I do?'


'How much do they pay you?'


'Our pay has changed.  Before we were paid the going rate, now we are paid on both the price of gold and the amount the mine produces.  My pay is very high now.'  He said this almost by way of apology, that he felt that he was being paid more than he was earning.


'And the prisoners?'  Jane prompted.


'Si, the prisoners.  This is not good.  You understand that we never asked for them, never wanted them.  They work, they are fed and given water.  A mule has a better life.' 


'Do you have contact with the Sunarr?'


'No, nor do I think does the foreman.  We have a manager who deals with them.  He does not speak to the likes of us.' 


'There is something more isn't there?'


'Si.  But this you already know I think.  Production has already gone up four times and it is still increasing.  The reserves here will be gone much quicker than before and then where will we be?'


The conversation finished as far as he was concerned, the mineworker lent back in to his seat.  Jane leaned into George.


'We need to get back to Jayanti.  I think we have discovered more than any of us expected and we need to analyse what it all means.'


'You know, I have a very uneasy feeling about all this.  The Sunarr seem to be holding all the cards and we are betting blind.  Moreover, I don't think both sides are playing by the same rules.  The real problem is that we don’t know why they want all this gold.  In addition, we don't know how or what they think.  I mean what motivates them?'  George couldn't help but let his frustration show.


'A sense of wanting to help mankind.'  Jane said.


'Very funny.' 


Their bus pulled off, this time leading the procession and providing them a good view.  It pulled round in a slow arc to face the way it had come in, giving out a metallic scream as the driver struggled with the ageing and badly maintained gearbox.  He found the gear and the bus lurched forward, jolting the passengers.  It crept its way towards the interior of the dome.  They could not see the exit; George held his camera up discretely so he could take a few shots as they left.  However, the bus shuddered to a halt about a hundred meters from the dome's interior wall.  A group of Sunarr guards stood either side of the buses whilst mine security guards clambered aboard to check that all was in order.  Jane and George sat there, like rabbits stuck in headlights, afraid to move but every fibre of their being screamed run.  Run.  Their driver spoke to the lead security guard and flicked his head in their direction as he talked.  Time stood still.  The guard looked at his manifest, then up at the two of them, then down again at his clipboard.  He made a mark on the paper with his pen, grunted something at the driver, and waved his colleague off the bus, following behind.  Two sets of lungs exhaled softly together but with their hearts pumping frenetically. 


The bus pulled forward, continuing its outward journey.  A gap appeared in the bottom of the dome's wall, visible only in contrast with the rest of the dome surrounding it.  It grew, increasing at a steady pace.  This was the exit.  The wall of the dome itself was simply disappearing before their eyes.  George held his camera up, covering it with his jacket to get a few shots.  He couldn't risk raising it to his eye so he had to shoot blind, trusting his experience to do the job well.


The exit, now fully resolved, they passed through it and onto the road outside.  They were free.


             


At the hotel Jane arranged with the owner to forward her mail and keep the room.  She paid up front for it and added the extra necessary for his trouble and his silence.  They packed and left for the airport.  It was time to report back to Jayanti.


 


 


19:11              14 December  [01:11 15 December GMT]


La Guitarra Mine, Nr. San Simon de Guerrero, 60 miles south west of Mexico City.


 


'The two Brits said I should talk to you.'  Evening meal was one of the few opportunities that prisoners had to move around a bit and mingle.  Leroy had taken the chance to sit with Saeb and Benjamin, curious as to why he should be talking to them.


'Why do you think that is?'  Saeb asked, ever cautious.


Leroy smiled, he knew evasion when he heard it, having little to lose he threw caution to the wind.


'Look.  You don't have to say anything, but those two weren't geologists, heck I know more about minerals than they do.  My guess is that you are as unhappy with the situation as I am.  Prison was one thing, forced labour another, but to be under the control of aliens?  No access to the outside?  That's just plain wrong.  If you are planning anything count me in.’ Leroy looked at them both, his sincerity clear from his demeanour.


'Care to join us?'  Benjamin said after exchanging a glance with Saeb, waving Leroy to sit down.


They filled Leroy in on their conversation with Jane and George.  Revealing some of their backgrounds and the situation that faced them.  Leroy's heart grew heavy with the knowledge of it.


'I thought this was just a local thing.  You know, a deal between the Sunarr and the Mexicans.  Dozens of other camps all around the world, that changes things.  Changes things a lot'


'Yes it does.'  Confirmed Saeb, 'What we need urgently is a way to get messages to the drop.'


'I think’ Leroy said, a glimmer of hope returning to raise his spirits, 'I know just the man to make that happen.'


'Can he be trusted?'  Benjamin asked.


'No, no at all.'  Leroy replied simply.


'Then why would we use him?'


'Because he can't be trusted.  We need someone who is used to not trusting or being trusted.  We need someone who asks few questions.  Someone who is used to dealing in the black market and bribing people.  Yes, this is the right man; we just have to find something to barter with.  Compose your first letter.  I will make the necessary arrangements.'


Leroy stood to leave; keen to get on now he had a purpose again.  He found Chuck Holford sat on his own.  Leroy sat next to him unbidden.


'You don't like me do you?'  It was more a statement than a question, but Leroy waited for the response.


‘No.’ Chuck replied as he continued to eat.


'Is it me or my skin?'


'Your skin.  Mainly.'


'Good, thanks for your honesty.'


Chuck was more than a little disappointed, he thought his reply would trigger a violent response or at least an argument, good hadn't entered his mind.


'What do ya want?'  Chuck asked, his interest peaked.


'I want to do some business.'


'What kind?'


'I need to get some letters out and in and some stuff in too.  Do you think you can handle it?'  Leroy's challenge seemed to hit the right spot, he saw Chuck's body stiffen, his face set.


'Yer I can handle it.  Question is why should I?'  Chuck could think of a hundred things he might like, but none that he wanted enough to do business with this fella.


'Well it seems to me that there must be something you need.  Maybe something on the outside that you can't control from in here.'  This time Chuck's eyes flashed, yes, thought Leroy, I have hit it.


'Nothin' you can do 'bout it.'


'Try me.'  Leroy said calmly.


‘Well,’ Chuck began taking a deep breath.  'I have this place in Chicago, the mortgage is paid from an account I have, only my regular source of income has dried up since I've been inside.'  It pained Chuck to think that all his long hard years of building up his business and it had virtually disappeared over-night thanks to his Lieutenants taking over whatever the authorities had missed.  He wasn't exactly penniless, but couldn't access anything he had remotely; it all had to be done in person.  Asset rich and cash poor, never a good situation.


'I can get your mortgage paid, and enough to cover your other bills.'  Leroy said leaving Chuck in no doubt that he meant it.  Chuck didn't really care all that much for his apartment; his real motivation was what would happen to his cat Trouble.  The one thing in the world that he loved and it seemed to love him too.  However, he wasn't going to tell this fella about Trouble, not him, not anyone.


'I'll need access to an account outside, one from which I can make incentive payments from.'  Chuck informed Leroy, pushing further still.


'OK.  I can make the arrangements with the first letter you get out.'


'How am I supposed to do that before I have the money?' 


'That's your problem.  You in?'  Leroy asked, not offering his hand, knowing that Chuck wouldn't appreciate it.


'I'm in.  Get your letter together, leave the rest to me.'






 




 


 


 


 


 


 


15 Build Up


 


 


21:12               10 December  [22:12 10 December GMT]


Barra di Moretti,  Bari, Italy.


 


Solomon finished washing the last dish and piled it with the others on the draining board.  It had been over a month now since they had left Ankara in Turkey.  She never knew whether the Turkish authorities had searched for them.  She and Natasha had left by bus to Istanbul and changed for another headed to Thessalonki, then on to Igoumenitsa on the western coast.  They managed to get passage on a ship bound for Bari on the Italian coast and their finances all but depleted she had to get a job. 


Washing dishes was new to Solomon, but it suited her just fine.  Paid in cash with no questions asked she was not in public view so she had little to worry about on that front.  Natasha troubled her though.  Leaving her daughter for twelve hours a day whilst she worked was not ideal by any stretch of the imagination.  Leaving her alone in their room in the hostel broke her heart.  However, she was not in a position to do anything else.  Getting Natasha into a school required papers they did not have, questions they could not answer.  The time had come however, they could finally move on.


She picked up her final pay packet and thanked Alberto Moretti the owner, spontaneously giving him a kiss on his cheek.  Alberto, used to having migrant workers move through his bar, was a little surprised at this display of affection, but having a daughter about her age he just gave her a hug and wished her well.  He was sad to see her go.  She had proved a diligent and reliable worker, who it appeared to him, had fallen upon hard times.


Natasha was asleep when Solomon returned to the hostel.  She looked down at her daughter, sleeping peacefully with Sheepy snuggled under her left arm.  Solomon stroked her daughter's hair, Natasha moaned gently at the attention, but did not wake. 


'I'll always make sure you are safe.  I promise that life will be good again.'


 


 


08:17               11 December  [07:17 11 December GMT]


Stazione Centrale, Bari, Italy.


 


The sudden realisation that they had only one more border to cross to reach Switzerland was almost more than Solomon could bear.  Her daughter had long given up any pretence that they were on some magical journey.  Instead, Natasha had adapted to life on the road, knowing that her mother was frightened; she had resolved to be as good as she knew how.  Besides this was the most time they had spent together for as long as Natasha could remember and she wasn't going to do anything to spoil it.  The only thing she really missed was her pony, Blacky.  The toys, the house, the servants, none of this mattered to Natasha.  She had the love and attention of her mother and if leaving everything behind made her mummy happy then that was just fine by her.


The train pulled out of the station, starting its long journey to Rome.


 


11:15               11 December  [08:15  11 December GMT]


Kremlin, Moscow, Russia.


 


General Bondarenko is in a foul mood, his aide Sergey noted as he left the general’s office having delivered a written report on Operation Allies. 


This was not uncommon, though.  The General only having three different moods, Bad, Foul or Rage.  Today it was foul.  The search for his daughter and granddaughter had drawn a blank.  They had almost certainly escaped Russia and that being the case Bondarenko had ordered that they concentrate on Switzerland.  He was only playing a hunch, as the letter had originated from a law firm in Zurich, but without any better idea, it was the best thing he had to go on. 


‘I can't let that bitch foul things up, not now, not when I am this close.’  General Bondarenko muttered to himself as he sat back in his comfy executive chair. 


The chair had cost a small fortune having been manufactured by a specialist company in Germany, but he hardly gave it a thought, men in my position deserve such things, he reasoned.  He picked up the file in front of him and studied it some more.  It was the proposed tripartite exercise with the Americans and British.  When he had first heard of it he had objected strongly, arguing that it would give too much intelligence away about how effective the armed forces were.  His argument had found much support amongst others in the military and with his connections in the government, the plan had been shelved, much to the frustration of General Ivanskiy.  Ivanskiy, that dog, he raged to himself, should be taken out and shot as a traitor to the motherland.  Things had changed drastically with the arrival of the Sunarr however.  Here, he thought, is the salvation I have been waiting for.  The long waiting and not knowing whether the day would ever arrive had taken its toll on him.


As soon as he had detected the Sunarr's signal, he had been elated.  Getting rid of that troublesome Professor Doran was unfortunate but necessary, he had judged.  Firstly, it was necessary to avoid panic and any possible military response before they landed.  Secondly, I needed to prevent any chance of my communications with them being intercepted and decoded.  Thirdly, I had no wish to explain how I was in contact with the Sunarr before anyone else even knew they existed.  If that had been found out, it would have been me in front of a firing squad.  To have waited all this time, this impossible time, and to be killed before the moment of rescue, that was why the Professor had to die and his work with him.


Bondarenko returned to the file.  His discussions with the Sunarr had radically changed his opinion.  He agreed that having two of the major military powers involved in an exercise close to another major military power would keep them occupied and out of the way.  Bondarenko had worked extensively with the Sunarr on planning, making corrections where necessary.  They had the forces and he knew how to get them in place.  This world is going to be ours and they will even thank us, if everything goes to plan.


Since the Russian Government had given the official go-ahead to the exercise, things had moved along swiftly.  Advanced units of the British and American's had already arrived on the ground and had met up with their Russian counterparts.  More were arriving every day.  Tens of thousands would soon swell into hundreds of thousands.  This would be the largest military exercise of all time.  Stocks of ordinance had been drawn down on all sides, orders for replacements already made.  It would take time to re-stock however.  Few in any of the governments saw this as a problem however.  The arrival of the Sunarr had brought a new age to mankind and whilst they were all lobbying for access to the Sunarr technology, there was a genuine feeling of hope amongst the countries of the world.  A hope for a better world.


Bondarenko pulled open his top right-hand desk drawer.  The communication device was lying on top of a pile of papers; he picked it up and placed it in his right ear.


'This is Bondarenko.  The pieces are in place.  We can proceed whenever you want.'


'That is good.  We are nearly ready, the last batch are processing now.  Contact us again this time tomorrow.'


Bondarenko replaced the communications device in his desk drawer and locked it.  So, he thought to himself, it might be as early as tomorrow.  That is good news indeed.


The general's aide in the next room heard a jaunty tune being whistled from inside the general's office.  That's strange, Sergey thought, the general has no visitors.


 


 


14:30               11 December  [05:30 11 December GMT]


Southern Siberia, Russia.


 


The build-up was well under way now.  Huge tracts of land had been rented from their owners, assurances made around repairs and reparations for any damage caused.  Unexploded ordinance was a major concern and whilst one could never be one hundred per cent certain, the combination of laser guidance and military tracking would mean that every shell expended would be confirmed as a detonation or recorded for disposal later.  Camps had grown up outside the zone.  A combination of the people displaced and worldwide media, who, for the first time, would be given direct access to near-live feeds, the delay built in necessary both for assurance that any accident would not go out and to prevent the other side from gaining any tactical advantage using unofficial communications.  Handheld and other personal devices would be prohibited.


General Gregori Stephonovich Ivanskiy, leaning over the map table, looked at his watch.  It is time.  He stood up and pulled on his jacket and went outside, ready to meet them.  A procession of light military vehicles drew up before him.  General Sam Colt and General Charles Beaconsfield climbed out of their respective vehicles, their doors held open by two Russian Colonels who had travelled with them from the air base.  Ordinarily they would have travelled with their own troops, but this exercise was about cooperation and that had to start at the top.


They exchanged salutes first, then handshakes. 


'Good journey?'  Ivanskiy asked.


'Yes thanks.'  Charlie replied brightly.


'Not bad, I had a little chop over the Atlantic, but otherwise OK.'  Sam said, considerably understating the storm his military flight had gone through.


'Good, good.  Come, we have much to discuss.'  Ivanskiy waved them into the temporary command post; the proper one for the exercise was still being finished.


The room was a little darker than they had both expected, as their eyes adjusted, they could see the reason.  The General's Hungarian Oak map table occupied a fair proportion of the available space in the war room.  A topographical map of the area was projected onto the glass screen from below.  Other details, such as real-time data of troop dispositions were projected from the ceiling.  The result was quite stunning.


'This is the heart of the operation.  All the real-time data is live and fed from the Doran Communications network we are operating.'  Ivanskiy announced proudly.


Sam and Charlie had both heard of this.  Neither had seen it in operation though.  It was something that troubled the NATO alliance greatly.  Professor Doran's communications breakthrough had had a huge impact on the telecommunications industry, with most manufacturers and operators licensing the technology, the rest likely to follow. 


Ivanskiy noted their keen interest and decided to instruct them.


‘It is its military application which is most important to us.’  He began, ‘Unlike Cellular technology which relies upon a network of masts that pickup and relay the communications messages, the Doran technology actually creates its own, but in a viral, not cellular way.  In practical terms this means that, every device acts as a relay for every other device.  This provides many practical benefits.  Two communications devices out of range of any others can communicate with each other directly.  Add in another and all three can communicate, as, unlike radio, the third does not have to be in range of the first, as the second relays between them.  Then, as soon as one of the devices comes in range of a regular cellular network, all of them immediately have access too.  Thus, we get the benefits of both private and public networks together.  The system is secure and the throughput of data truly astonishing.  Any one device is able to handle over a thousand other devices communications simultaneously.  With your agreement I suggest that each side has access to its own network and these displays.' 


'That would be...’  Sam tried to find the words.


'Truly excellent.'  Charlie finished for him.


'Good, that is settled then.'  Ivanskiy clapped his hands together, 'A drink to toast perhaps?'


A waiting aide dispensed three vodkas.  They threw them down in one and slammed the empty glasses back on the desk.


'You have more of these displays?'  Sam asked, still somewhat shocked at the very generous offer made by his Russian counterpart.


'We have twelve available to us.  Two will be kept for the moderators, four for each side to use how they see fit.'  Gregori Stephonovich tapped on the table's display.


'What is that?'  Sam asked, a split-second before Charlie.


They could clearly tell that it was displaying a military unit.  Gregori Stephonovich zoomed in on it allowing them to make out the individuals.  Each one was displayed in colour, most were green, some were yellow and one, well away from the others, was red.


'The colours’ Gregori Stephonovich began, 'indicate the relative health of each individual according to set parameters.  Green obviously is good, the yellow will be where they are exerting themselves, this unit is helping in the construction, the Red, well there was a rather serious accident and one is in the infirmary.  In this way, we can monitor the health of all our combat troops.  When you zoom out the display colours the Unit according to the proportional health of the unit.  Thus this one is Green and Yellow; you can change the sensitivity of the display according to your needs.'


'You mean that you have real-time data on the composition and health of each and every solider?' Charlie tried and failed to keep the awe out of his voice.


‘Actually,’ Gregori Stephonovich continued, 'it does much more than that.'  Again, he tapped the display; it changed, this time showing non-infantry units.  'Here you can see the status of a regiment of tanks, here a brigade of artillery and over here a squadron of fighter aircraft.  As with the infantry, you can zoom from an entire battlefront all the way down to individual pieces.  The sensors are obviously different and monitor different things, such as fuel and munitions level.  Also whether it can perform certain functions, for example; manoeuvre, target and shoot.'  This last statement Gregori Stephonovich emphasized by bringing up a display of one of his tanks.  He hit a symbol on the display and the Russian was automatically translated into English.


'Impressive, Gregori Stephonovich, truly impressive.'  Sam observed.


'My staff has programmed some simulations into them, so that your officers can become familiar with the system.' 


'Thank you Gregori Stephonovich that is most kind of you.'  Charlie said.


'Good.  I shall let you both get settled in.  We shall meet again for breakfast.'  Gregori Stephonovich gave them both another smart salute, which they returned.  The two Colonels who had accompanied them from the airport appeared in the room to escort them to their quarters.


 


 


17:45               12 December  [14:45 12 December GMT] 


Kremlin, Moscow, Russia.


 


Sergey heard his boss, Bondarenko, slam the door to his private toilet several times.  This evening it seems, it is going to be Rage, he observed.  Sergey did not like his boss, not at all.  The man was mean, ill tempered, self-aggrandising and vain.  He had been appointed as his aide without ever meeting him.  He could have shot himself in the foot to avoid this posting, but the General had ordered him to report for duty and he knew that he would have been bandaged and sent anyway.  Now he could not foul-up to get himself transferred, as he might elsewhere, as he knew that the General would be likely to have him posted to Siberia on guard duty.  No, I am stuck here.  The one benefit, if you could call it that, was that Bondarenko's reputation went before him.  As his aide, all he had to do was mention the General's name and others did his bidding, without question.


He had finished gathering the report on the search for Solomon and Natasha Bondarenko.  There had been no sighting of either of them, nothing at all.  This is not good; the Aide thought to himself, the General is already in a Rage.  If I go in there without some news or someone else to blame it on, it will be me between a hammer and an anvil.  He thought about it for a while.  I can't make anything up, and I can't take the blame myself....  He picked up his phone and dialled the extension for the FSB, the Russian security service.


'This is Bondarenko's office.  The General would like a report on how the search for Solomon and Natasha Bondarenko is going.  No, he would like a personal briefing tonight.'  There, he thought to himself, let someone else be the bearer of bad news and feel the fury of the General's anger.  He doubted that the section chief would come personally; electing instead to send his aide as there was no good news to deliver.


Bondarenko slumped down in his seat.  The news from the Sunarr had not been what he wanted to hear, they were going to delay the plan at least another week.  The reason being to allow for the majority of American and British troops to join up with the Russians in the exercise area.  That will put them nicely out of harm’s way, but even so....  Bondarenko didn't like the delay, he wanted action now.  He was tired of waiting, so very tired.  What made it worse was that not only was it a good idea, but also, he had been informed of their decision, not consulted.  This sat unwell with the General; he liked giving orders not receiving them.  I have to bide my time though and stick to the plan.  His mind wandered to thinking about his daughter and where she might be.


 


 


15:48               12 December  [14:48 12 December GMT] 


Stazione Termini, Rome, Italy.


 


The train pulled smoothly into the station, only its final stop jolting Solomon gently awake.  She looked around, momentarily unsure as to where she was.  She looked out of the window, Roma, she read, we have made it to Rome!


'Natasha.  Natasha dear, it's time to wake up.'  Solomon gently shook her daughter awake, allowing her time to realise where she was before leading her by the hand off the train.  The station, a huge sprawling affair with many bars, shops and restaurants offered itself to them like a city within a city.  They proceeded into the main concourse and found the information boards.  The large displays detailing all the arrivals and scheduled departures.  The next train for Milan didn't depart for another hour so Solomon thought about a late lunch.


She opted for a takeaway place rather than a restaurant, the latter being more conspicuous.  The takeaway was bustling, the queue more a crowd, less an organised set of lines.  As Solomon stood there, her eye was drawn to a notice board, behind the serving counter and to the left of it.  She pulled her eyes away and focused on the menu, again her eyes drawn back to the notice board.  Her mind was troubling her now.  There was something about that notice board, something not right.  Her eyes finally fell on the bottom of the board, close to the counter.  There was a small poster.  It was one of those Alert posters and on it were two photos in black and white.  They were unmistakably her and Natasha.  The rest of the writing she could not decipher, it was too far away.  I must have it, I must know what it says, she thought desperately to herself.  She leaned down to whisper in her daughter's ear.  Natasha nodded readily and then disappeared, bobbing through the crowd waiting to be served.  Natasha reached the other end of the counter and squeezed to the front.  She placed Sheepy on the counter and slowly pushed the toy sheep away from her.  Within a minute, it had fallen over the other side of the counter.  Natasha let out a child's upset scream, the kind that attracts instant attention.  It worked, everyone, including the staff looked in the direction of the scream.  Solomon leaned on the counter, rocked forward and grabbed the poster.  As she rocked back and stood upright, she shoved the poster in her blouse out of sight.  A staff member scooped the toy sheep up from where it had fallen and gave it back to a grizzling little child, who smiled and made her way back through the crowd.  Solomon smiled at the person serving her and ordered two meals.


 


 


04:52              12 December  [01:52 12 December GMT]


Southern Siberia, Russia.


             


Charlie Beaconsfield is an “early bird”, in an organisation of early birds this means that he is usually up well before five in the morning.  This morning being no exception, he was up around four-thirty and now half way through his morning jog.  There is something truly wonderful about this time in the morning, the colour of the light, as it plays through the treetops, the early morning song of birds, the sweet crisp smell of the air, all truly wonderful, he thought to himself as he pounded his way through the forest.  


Charlie was brought away from his thoughts as he became aware of footsteps behind him, they had fallen into pace with his and now were gaining on him slowly; he looked out the corner of his left eye and saw that the Hammer was drawing up alongside.  Neither of them broke the no talking etiquette of the morning jog, it’s a time for gaining focus on one’s self, of allowing oneself to return to a more basic animal, one that hunts.  No, the morning jog is definitely something for one’s soul; it can be shared, but not discussed.


They arrived back at the barracks after several miles of solitude, refreshed and eager for breakfast.  They walked into the Russian mess with a mixture of hunger and trepidation, unsure as to what their Russian hosts would have on offer.  They were not disappointed; the Russians had laid on their usual breakfast fare, but had also thoughtfully employed the services of an international catering firm.  The result was a true gastronomic delight, along with the Russian breakfast dishes of breads, cheeses, hams and sausages there were also cereals, pancakes, bacon, maple syrup and a full English breakfast menu.  The two generals queued with other officers and helped themselves to a large plateful mixing British, American and Russian fare to show solidarity.


They took their seats either side of Gregori Stephonovich and tucked into their breakfasts.  Charlie and the Hammer started to relax, just a little, and looked forward to enjoying the rest of the build-up to the exercise for what it should be, professional soldiers discussing tactics, not politics.


'You both slept well, da?'   Gregori Stephonovich inquired.


'Yes very well, thank you.'  Charlie replied.


'We took the opportunity yesterday to see how our men are settling in.  I guess I should say how the American and British troops are settling in, seeing how we are going to be combining forces.'  Sam added.


'I was thinking about that,’ Gregori Stephonovich began, 'tell me how well do both of you trust your officers?'


It was an odd question they thought, not something usually asked amongst military men.  They waited for the Russian to continue.


'The reason I ask,’ Gregori Stephonovich continued, 'is that I wonder if it would be better if we were not directly involved.'


'What exactly are you suggesting?'  Sam asked, failing to keep the suspicion out of his voice.


Gregori Stephonovich placed down his knife and fork.  'It seems to me that we have the opportunity here to do more than the usual exercise.  We, the three of us, could decide the parameters of the exercise.  What the Blue team's objective is and what the Red team's objective is.  Neither side shall know the other's objective, except what they are able to deduce militarily.  Once the exercise begins, we shall be observers and moderators only.  Our men, whom we have trained well, will execute their own battle plans to meet their objectives.  Also, we shall not know what those battle plans are, we shall have to see what unfolds.'


'Isn't that a little dangerous?'  Charlie observed, after all it goes against military doctrine, he thought.


'Yes it is.'  Gregori Stephonovich replied.  'However, the communications networks we have will mean that both teams will be in real-time control of their forces and as moderators we will have constant monitoring of the exercise as well as direct control, if necessary.'


'What's the up side?'  Sam asked, he knew very well what it would be, but wanted to make sure that they all had the same view and were agreed. 


'Well instead of it just being an exercise of how well our men are trained and can operate their equipment, we would be testing the training and experience of our senior officers in the execution of war.  It is an old adage that plans don't survive the first engagement.  This would be the ultimate test of our war doctrine, our strategies and our tactics.'


'Do you think you can sell this up the chain?'  Charlie inquired.


'Da, I do.  We have played war games on our own for far too long.  It is time to see how they work in practice.'


'What do you think Sam?'  Charlie asked.


'I think the President will do a shit unless this is presented properly.'  Sam replied.  'Tell me, Gregori Stephonovich would you mind if this was presented as an American plan?' 


'Nyet, of course not.  It only occurred to me this morning and I have mentioned it to no one other than yourselves'


'Great.  That will make it much easier.  I will present this to the Joint Chiefs and the President as an American initiative, one that I will say the Russians are unlikely to agree to anyway.  That way they are more likely to give it their backing, in anticipation that it won't happen anyway.'


'You American's are a funny lot.  You have to present something as likely to fail to gain support.  Never in Russia.'  Gregori Stephonovich observed.


'Sometimes, yes.  Especially when you are dealing with Politicians and the senior ranks.'


'When will you know?'  Gregori Stephonovich asked.


'This afternoon.'


'So soon?'


'If this is going to work it has to be quick, the more to look part of last minute negotiations.'


 


 


16:07               12 December  [15:07 12 December GMT] 


Stazione Termini, Rome, Italy.


 


Solomon had read the poster now three times.  The news was not good.  She read it again, slowly trying to absorb the full impact of it.


Wanted for Murder.  Solomon Bondarenko.  Solomon Bondarenko, twenty-five, one hundred and seventy five centimetres, fifty-one kilograms, black hair, brown eyes, believed to be travelling with her daughter Natasha, nine, one hundred and twenty five centimetres, thirty-one kilograms, black hair, and blue eyes.  Last seen leaving their St. Petersburg home on 27 October.  Believed to be travelling to Switzerland.  Wanted in connection with the death of Professor Andreiv Stephanovich Doran on 26 October.  Although not considered dangerous, caution is advised.  Contact local authorities on any information.


How the hell do they know we are headed to Switzerland?  I just don't understand.  The thought screamed though Solomon's mind, again and again.  What do we do, where do we go from here?  Solomon could hardly think straight, she had to remain calm she knew, panic either got you caught or killed.  We have come this far, I'm not going to let us fail now, not when we are so close.  She took out her map of Europe, its pages dog-eared, stained and somewhat crumpled in places.  If they know we are headed to Switzerland, it is fair to suppose that we can safely go north as far as Milan.  When we get there, I can decide how to proceed.  There seems little point in crossing into France and then into Switzerland, as that border will almost certainly be on alert as well.  Yes, we will head to Milan and go from there.


They finished their lunch and with time left before the Milan train was due to depart, Solomon had an idea.  She led her daughter to the lost luggage office.


'Excuse me,' she began in her best English.  'Have you my husband's case?'


'That depends' the man replied, he had many lost cases, she had not yet given him much to go on, 'What is his name?'


'That's the thing, I have been on at him for ages to get it labelled, but he never did.  It’s a small black case.  I'll know it when I see it.'  Solomon looked at the man, smiling gently as she did so.  He looked back at her, then at Natasha.


'OK I'll see if we have it.'


He returned a short while later with a small, mainly black case more the size of hand luggage than a suitcase.  He raised it up so she could see it.


'Is this it?'  He asked, not really expecting a positive reply.


'Yes, yes that's it.  Thank you.  Thank you so much!'  Solomon shrieked.


Ordinarily he would have questioned her about its contents, opening it to check.  Then make her fill in a form claiming it, giving her name, address and other contact details.  However, it was nearly his lunch; the case had not been officially registered yet, so as far as anyone was concerned it was never there.  He handed it over.


'Here you go miss.  Have a nice day.'


'Thank you.  You too.'  Solomon smiled again as she left and gave him a little wave.  Solomon had no idea what would be in the case.  She didn't even know whether she would be able to get hold of one.  However, at the very least they could transfer their belongings in to it and ditch their now very tatty looking holdalls.  Solomon led them to the train for Milan, which was now in the station.  On board they found a quiet space and Solomon took out her Swiss Army knife, the irony not lost on her.  She didn't want to damage the catch, but needed to force open the locks.


'Is it locked mummy?'  Natasha asked innocently.


I wonder, Solomon thought to herself as she tried the catches.  Click, Click.  The case opened.  Solomon returned the knife to her holdall.  It was a child's suitcase, a boy's.  By the look of the clothes, the boy who was missing his suitcase had been headed for boarding school.  There was not much of real use however, except for a camera, hidden protectively between the layers.  Solomon closed the case, clicking the catches shut again and placing it on the overhead luggage shelf.  I really don't know why I did that, she thought to herself.  However, part of her mind was now working on the border crossing issue and the answer, it insisted, lay in that suitcase.


 


 


17:49              12 December  [14:49 12 December GMT]


Southern Siberia, Russia.


 


Sam followed the American Colonel to the US communications building.  He returned the salutes of the two sentries on duty and took off his cap as he entered the room.  Protocol dictated that no salutes be exchanged when undercover but as he passed his men, they all stiffened to attention, only relaxing once he had passed.  He entered the sensitive communications room pausing whilst his and the Colonel's IDs were checked.  The signals specialist handed him a headset, and then gave him a thumbs up to indicate that he could talk.


'This is General Colt.'


'Please hold for the President'


The line switched, and then he heard the Presidents voice.


'Hey Sam, you're not thinking of switching sides are you?'  The President inquired.


'What, err, no.  Of course not sir.'


'Good, didn't think so.  Anyway, this plan of yours.  Do you think it would work, assuming the Russians and Brits go for it?'  The President asked.


'The plan, I believe would work, if all parties agreed to it.'  Sam was being very careful with his words.  He hadn't lied to the Joint Chiefs nor the President and he wanted to keep it that way.  He had just found the right words from which they had inferred that it was his plan.


'OK you have your Presidents backing, go ask them.'


Sam paused, not wanting to say anything, hoping the President would correct his own mistake.  He heard some muffled discussion in the background.


'Shit, sorry Sam.  I meant to say you have the backing of your Commander-in-Chief.'


'Thank you sir.'  Sam gently exhaled.


'Good luck.  Out.'  The President ended the conversation and the line went silent.  That's one for my memoirs, Sam thought to himself, not that they would ever be allowed to be published.  Sam headed back outside to inform Charlie that the Brits would be the last to agree to the revised exercise.  Charlie was waiting outside the communications building.


'I see by your face,' Charlie began, 'that you too have approval to proceed.'  Charlie positively beamed at Sam, especially as he could see the look of shock on his face. 


'How did you...'  Sam stammered uncharacteristically.


'How did I manage to get a positive response so quickly?  Trade secret I'm afraid.'  Charlie winked at Sam to show there were no hard feelings.  Like the British Government would wait and jump only after the Americans.  No, you still don't fully understand us, despite all our similarities.  Despite all the shared history.


'Why didn't you come in?'


'Didn't want to spoil your party old chap.’ As a British officer Charlie had no authority to enter the US communications building prior to the official run-up to the exercise.  However, he could have shown his NATO identification, with which he would have had access.  He didn't however because this was not a NATO exercise and it just wouldn't be cricket.  Besides, I really didn't want to steal your thunder.


 


 


17:45               13 December  [14:45 13 December GMT] 


Kremlin, Moscow, Russia.


 


Bondarenko had made the arrangements.  He had told his aide not to disturb him until further notice.  If the building caught fire, he knew his aide Sergey would evacuate without altering him.  This was the kind of obedience he expected.  The general switched on some music, and then he played a recording of a speech he had given previously.  There, he thought, that should cover my voice.  Her sat back down at his desk, unlocked the top right-hand desk drawer, and removed the Sunarr communications device.  He placed it in his ear and spoke.


'This is Bondarenko'


'Report.'


'The pieces are all in place, none of them know anything other than the cover story.  None.  This will go like clockwork.'


'Clockwork?'  The Sunarr did not understand.


'This will go according to plan.'


'Good.'


'How long before you want me to give the go-ahead?'


'We will be ready...in...three...days...'  The Sunarr were still struggling with the Earth calendar.


'I am ready when you are and the plan is ready to go when you say.  I have covered all of List A, most of List B and some of List C; the rest will come running to us.  Especially with the display, we will give in New York.  Tell me, have you let your troops know what is coming?'


'No, of course not.  Why should I?'  The Sunarr seemed genuinely puzzled.  'They are of no matter.'






 




 


 


 


 


 


 


16 Nightmares


 


 


20:45               12 December  [19:45  12 December GMT]


Milan Centrale, Milan, Italy.


 


Another train, another destination, Solomon thought to herself as she and her daughter gathered their belongings, including the suitcase.  Milan, Milan, she thought, we are almost there, so close to Switzerland.  She was tired, she knew, exhausted.  Poor Natasha must be too; this is no life for her, on the run, a fugitive.  She wanted desperately the new life she had promised for her daughter, the safety and security of a home.  Nine is no age to be going through all this...nor is twenty-five.


Solomon, lost in thought, didn’t see the poliziotti on the station.  The poliziotti, members of the Italian civil police force, the Polizia di Stato, are responsible for patrolling the national rail network amongst other duties.  These officers were all holding clipboards. 


As she and Natasha stepped off the train, a voice boomed at them.


'You there, stop.  You will both come with me.'  The poliziotti was just ten feet in front of them.


Solomon's head jerked up, pointing in the direction the voice had come from.  Cold fear gripped her body and soul.  Natasha's hand tightened in hers.


'What, who, we haven't done anything wrong.'  She stammered.


A second poliziotti stepped forward, placing his hand on her shoulder.  She walked forward with the officer, Natasha in tow.


'Who are you?'  The poliziotti demanded.


'We haven't done anything wrong.'  Solomon pleaded again.


'What are your names?'  This time in a colder, harsher tone.


'I'm Irina, this is my daughter Georgina.  What is the problem?' 


'You match the description of wanted criminals.  You are under arrest.' 


He produced a pair of handcuffs and placed them on Solomon's wrists.  He looked down at the daughter, pausing as he did so.  She is going nowhere without her mother, he reasoned to himself.  The poliziotti lead them away from the train, through the station.  They stopped at the kerb to an access road.  The officer spoke into his radio.


'This is officer Pisani; I have taken into custody, one female adult and one female child fitting the description of Solomon and Natasha Bondarenko.  I request a van to pick them up from Milan Centrale immediately.'


Natasha started to cry.  A couple of sniffles first, then sobbing followed by a flood of tears and wailing.  She was in full flow now.  Solomon instinctively went to put her arms around her daughter to console her, nearly choking her in the process with her handcuffs.  She pulled back, and looped her arms over her daughter's head; she still couldn't hug her properly, but managed to squeeze her tightly.


'It's OK dear, don't cry.  This is all some terrible mistake.  Remember policemen are good people, they are here to help us.'  Solomon spoke in English, knowing both the poliziotti would be listening, hoping that in some way this would help.


If it did, neither poliziotti showed any signs.  Both were experienced officers, they had seen almost everything in their careers.  Even a child's tears would not affect their actions, no matter how much it tugged at their heartstrings.  They both had children too.  The poliziotti's radio squawked; Solomon listened intently trying to understand any of the Italian being spoken.


'This is headquarters.  We have just heard from border control that the fugitives Solomon and Natasha Bondarenko have been apprehended trying to cross into Switzerland.  Do you still wish to bring the suspects in?'


The poliziotti looked at Solomon still comforting her daughter.  She is about my Sabrina's age. 


'What do you think?'  He asked his colleague in Italian.


His colleague shrugged.   'If they have them, they have them.'  He replied.


The poliziotti motioned for Solomon to stand up.  He unlocked her handcuffs.


              'I am sorry miss.'  He said in English, ‘The fugitives we were looking for have been apprehended.  I am so sorry but you both matched the descriptions we had.  Is there anything we can do for you both?' 


The poliziotti seemed genuinely remorseful.  Solomon thought about it briefly, best not to push our luck, she reasoned.


'No.  That's OK officer.  I am just glad it’s been resolved.  May we go now?'


'Of course.  Sorry to have troubled you.'


Solomon smiled at them both, took back their belongings from the second poliziotti and with Natasha's hand in hers headed back the way they had come, saying a quiet prayer of thanks and hoping that whomever the Italians had in custody wasn't inconvenienced too much.


They headed to the bus station, Solomon believing it was best to leave Milan behind them.


 


As she stood there trying to decipher the Italian bus timetable, the weight of everything she had been carrying lay heavily upon her;  their arrest, the knowledge that both the Swiss and Italian border guards would be looking for them.  She had no illusion that the mistake wouldn't be realised quickly.  All of this conspired to push her over the edge.  A tear escaped her left eye, gently finding its way down the contours of her face, the saltiness of it an unwelcome stranger on her lips.  Another followed, and another.  Her shoulders went next, heaving up and down in unison.  Two small arms wrapped themselves around her waist, squeezing her tightly.  Natasha said nothing; she simply hugged her mother holding one hand in hers.  Solomon couldn't hold back now, the tears flowing faster and faster, the little mascara that she wore streaking down her face.  Time to get out of here, she decided.


 


 


06:40               16 December  [01:40  16 December GMT]


Northeast Corner and East 57th Street, New York, USA.


             


Jayanti awoke with a start.  The cold damp sweat that covered her body had leeched into her bedding.  The nightmare had come again.  It started the same way every time.  She was at her desk, in her office.  William, her aide enters, he is carrying a tray, on it are two cups. 


'Am I expecting anyone?'  She asks. 


'No,' William replies, 'they are both for you.  You won't get a cup of tea were you are going.' 


'And where is that?' 


'To hell.' 


She stands and walks to the door, unable to stop herself, as if she is on a moving platform.  She walks down the corridor and into the lift.  William is waiting in the lift for her. 


'Which floor?' he asks innocently. 


Jay looks at the buttons, there are thousands of them, stretching down and down, they are all labelled Hell. 


'It looks like I'm going to hell.' 


'Hell it is.'


              He pushes a button and the doors slide shut.  The lift drops fast, and she is falling.  The lift jerks to a halt, stuck between two floors.  There are only two buttons now, neither of which is lit, one still says Hell, the one above it Heaven. 


'Looks like we are stuck here.'  William observes. 


The doors slide open and a bright light falls into the lift, enveloping them.  Jayanti steps into the light; it dims and reveals the floor of the United Nations.  She is stood at the lectern reading a speech.  As her eyes scan the prompt, the words force their way from her mouth.  She comes to the final sentence and reads that too.


 ‘...and therefore, it gives me great pleasure to welcome and introduce Shiwanevar of the Sunarr.'


Jay could see one of her security detail reach for his weapon, drawing it and taking aim at the same time.


'Free Earth!’ he shouts, firing. 


The bullet, propelled by the chemical explosion in the gun's chamber leaves the barrel at over six hundred miles an hour, completing its short journey in a fraction of a second.  It enters Jay's left temple, exiting the right side of her head just above the ear.  She slumps forward onto the lectern, blood gushing out of the wound, her heart continuing to pump.  She hears another shot ring out and sees Shiwanevar shot in the face, falling to the ground where she stood.  Several more shots ring out, these from different directions.  Jay's other guards have reacted, killing the traitor.  Pandemonium grips the room; everyone rushes for the exits, afraid for their own lives.  The room dims and Jay can only hear now, the screaming and shouting of people running for their lives.  Soon, that too is gone.


Jay's heart pounds as she lies there in bed.  The memory of the nightmare still with her but the fear receding, breathing deeply to calm herself.  I’ve lost count of how many times I’ve dreamt this now.  Always the same, ending with my death in front of the world. 


She pulled back the covers, but continued to lay there. Thank God I am not due to make a speech today, she comforted herself with this thought as she finally rose and headed for her bathroom.


She was home alone which didn't help.  Her daughter Sameena studying and working for NASA at the Jet Propulsion Laboratory in California.  She didn't like her being so far away, but she knew that it was important to Sam and she fully supported her in achieving her ambitions.  She ate a little cereal in the kitchen and sipped her morning coffee reading the early editions, the time ticking away to when her driver would arrive.


The driver noticed her sombre mood straight away.  Attuned to her needs, he knew she wasn't in the mood for conversation this morning.  He concentrated on the traffic, which was heavier than usual.


 


 


12:45               16 December  [17:45  16 December GMT]


Office of the Secretary-General, United Nations, New York, USA.


             


The morning had been busy.  This meant, for the Secretary-General of the United Nations, a frantic morning of meetings to attend and reports to read.  Now it was lunchtime affording her a little time to catch her breath.  A knock at the door.  William entered, looking worried. 


'What is it William?'  Jay asked, concerned.


'I'm sorry; I've had to spoil your lunch.  Ms. Dexter, the Head of Personnel, has been trying to arrange a meeting with you for a month now.  She said, “If I can't see her today then no one in the building will be paid next week”.  She really seemed to mean it so I have given her until two o'clock, sorry’ he added again.


'That's OK William, you did the right thing.  Truth is I've been avoiding her, she has quite a reputation.'  Jay replied.


'Should I show her in?'  William inquired.


'She is here now?'  William nodded.  'OK show her in.'


The Head of Personnel was an intimidating sight.  She was tall, with a stocky body and a handshake like a gorilla.  She reminded Jay of her gym mistress at boarding school.  That sent a shiver down her spine.


'It’s good to finally meet you Ms. Dexter.'  Jay said politely, unsure as to what to make of this hulking figure of a woman.


'Please, call me Helen.'


William knocked and entered carrying a tea tray with two cups.  Jay's mind started to wander; she shook the thought away and continued the conversation.  I have an appointment with Hel...en, the thought insisted itself on her mind, she shook it away again.  We are having two cups, one for me and one for Hel...en.  She couldn't stop her mind from wondering.


Jay strained with all her might to concentrate on her meeting, it helped when she was given a copy of the five-year staffing and budget projections.  These were not good, costs were going up and they still had contributions outstanding from member countries, most notably the United States.  How can the richest nation on Earth be so tardy in paying its bills?  She made a mental note to have a word with the US Ambassador, again.


The meeting had only been going for just over a quarter of an hour when it was interrupted by a knock on the door.  William entered promptly closing the door behind him he waited for his existence to be acknowledged.  Jay paused her conversation with Helen and turned to him.


'What is it William?' 


'It's the Sunarr.  They have an important announcement to make.  Apparently they are not aware that these things have to be scheduled well in advance.'  He added by way of apology.


'This afternoon?'  Asked Jay, catching the urgency of his voice and his interruption.


'Yes.  Two thirty.'  He gave a slight shrug of his shoulders.


'Very well.  Inform protocol and have something appropriate written.  There's no time to rehearse so I'll just have to wing it.'  She normally insisted on going through her speeches, both for content and pace.  This time should would just have to trust her speechwriters.


'Of course.'  William replied, excusing himself to see to the details.


'These Sunarr will be the death of me yet.' 


Helen left just before two, allowing Jay a couple of minutes to prepare for her next meeting with Jane and George.  She had no report to review, however.  There would be no minutes either.  These meetings were being done on a verbal basis only.  Jay took a sheet of paper and placed it on her confidential pad.  The pad was an ingenious invention.  A simple, thin piece of foam was chemically bonded to a small sheet of Titanium.  This meant that whatever was written on the sheet of paper would not be able to be deciphered from the impressions it left, which on the foam were few and over written.  The Titanium backing ensured that nothing penetrated through.  Jay wrote a few notes, not so much an agenda, as a structure to ensure that all the points she wanted to cover were captured.  William knocked at the door again and entered.


'Your two o'clock is here.'  He said.


'Show them in please William, thank you.'


Jane and George entered the office unsure of how to proceed.  They didn't have the answers that they had wanted to get.  They had no idea why the Sunarr want so much gold, nor what they would do with it once they have it.  It was at the heart of things though, they both knew that.  Jay invited them to sit down and, refusing any drinks, William left.  An awkward silence fell upon the room. 


'Well?'  Jay asked.


'I'm not sure where to begin.'  Jane replied.


'I have photos.'  George said brightly.


'OK' Jay replied, 'let's start with those.'


George hooked his camera up to Jay's personal display.  The first image was of a half-opened entrance to the dome.


'As you can see,’ George said, zooming in, 'there appears to be no natural entrance.  The wall of the dome just seemed to dissolve and then reappear after we passed through.'


He shifted to another photo of the interior.  The conversation started to flow now, Jay questioning them about each and every photo.  She stopped them on a particular photo.  It was one George had taken of the change in the conveyor belt, where the convicts had been working.


'Who are they?'  Jay insisted.


'Those are convicts who are breaking up some of the rocks missed by the crusher.'  George replied.  He hadn't really intended on them being in the frame, but they usefully provided scale. 


'No those two.'  Jay insisted again, pointing to two of the convicts.


'That's Saeb and Benjamin.  Why?'


'Did you get their surnames?'  Jay was quite animated now.


'Yes, they are Saeb Tibi and Benjamin Yogev.'  Jane replied, curious with all they had to report, Jay seemed so interested in two convicts.


'Did you speak to them?'  Jay asked.


'Yes, of course.'  Jane replied, slightly insulted that her journalistic capability was being questioned.


'Tell me everything about the conversation.'


Jane recounted it to Jay, who seemed to be getting more and more excited.  Finally finished, she looked to Jay for her response.


'So let me get this straight.'  Jay said, trying to keep calm about it.  'You have setup the ability to trade messages with Saeb Tibi and Benjamin Yogev who are prisoners in one of the Mexican Sunarr domes?'


'Yes.'  Jane replied simply, still in the dark as to why these two were so interesting to the Secretary-General of the United Nations.


Jay sat there, impassive, thinking.  If I don't trust these two, then whom do I trust?


'Saeb Tibi and Benjamin Yogev are senior representatives of the Palestinians and the Israelis.  They were conducting secret, long-term negotiations towards a permanent peaceful settlement for that region.  The Mexican authorities raided the talks, which were being sponsored by the Americans, on the pretext of a drugs bust.  No one heard of them after that.  It appears they are still keeping silent.  This is very significant.  Look,' Jay continued, noting the time approaching two thirty, 'I want to continue this later.  Can you stick around?'


'Of course.'  Jane replied for them both.


'Good.  I'll have William schedule some time with you later this afternoon.  Now however I have a speech to deliver.  You are welcome to come and watch if you like.'


'Thanks.'


They both left as William entered.


'Can you find some time in my diary for Jane and George this afternoon?' Jay asked.


'Of course.'  William replied, annoyed that his carefully detailed and planned schedule was being shredded today.  Of course, he thought to himself, whomever I have to bump is going to be even more annoyed.  That thought pleased him immensely.


 


Jay and William left her office together.  The lift seemed to take an unusually long time to reach their floor, but eventually the doors opened.  Jay was deep in thought about the Mexican mining camp; with luck, we will make contact with two highly experienced military officers inside one of these Sunarr domes.


The lift jerked to a halt stuck between two floors.  Jay's heart skipped a beat.


'What's the problem?' 


'I don't know.'  William replied.  What? Do I look like a lift engineer?  William lifted the emergency phone.  It was answered promptly and he gave his name, position and work location.  The voice on the other end asked if anyone else was trapped in the lift with him.             


'I have the Secretary-General with me.'  The tone and quality of the voice changed noticeably.  He nodded as he listened and turned to Jay.  'They'll have an engineer up here straight away.'  Jay seemed unusually worried.  She is normally so calm and even tempered.  Claustrophobia, he guessed.


Jay tried to steady her breathing, taking deep breaths and releasing them slowly.  It was only a few minutes before rescue came, the emergency phone beeped.  William answered then replaced the phone.


'The engineer is with us.  We should be out in a jiffy.'


'Good.'  Was all Jay could manage.


There was a rumble as the lift doors were winched open, light from the lift engineer’s inspection lamp flooded in.  Jay gulped deeply, an involuntary response, acid in her stomach churning, ready to expel her lunch. 


The engineer called out to them.  'Is anybody hurt?'


'No' William replied.


'OK.'  The engineer said 'I'm going to winch you down to the next floor.  Keep clear of the doors please.'


The lift slowly moved as the engineer operated the manual winch.  Soon they could see the top of the next floor appear at the bottom of the lift floor.  It eventually drew level and they both exited.  William could now make out the beads of sweat that had collected on Jay's forehead.  She really was nervous, he noted, again surprised that she was rattled by such a minor inconvenience.


Jay was not a superstitious person; however, she did earnestly believe that there is a guiding force in life if we are prepared to accept it.  On any other day, she would have shrugged off the event as being one of those things.  Today however she felt different.  Now she was nervous about the speech.  They took another lift, this one fortunately delivering them without further delay.


The floor of the United Nations was crowded, even at this short notice there was a great deal of interest in the upcoming announcement by the Sunarr.  The media networks were carrying it live around the world.  Jay took another few deep breaths whilst allowing her makeup artist to fix her appearance.  She pulled back her shoulders and strolled confidently up to the lectern.


The speech was good, she noted to herself.  I must compliment the writer, especially on such short notice, she thought to herself whilst continuing to deliver it.  Confident in the use of an autocue, she was in the habit of scanning a couple of lines ahead, the better to ensure that she gave proper emphasis to each sentence.  The vertical line on the autocue indicating that she was nearing the end of the speech.  She continued to scan ahead, then came the sentence that changed everything.  It rattled through her mind and therefore it gives me great pleasure to welcome and introduce Shiwanevar of the Sunarr.


She was just finishing the paragraph before this; she turned her head to her left and saw one of the protection officers.  She looked deep into his eyes.  Jay pushed herself away from the lectern, half-sprinting half-jumping backwards and to her right.  A shot rang out.  A voice shouting 'Free Earth'.  Jay rugby tackled Shiwanevar to the floor.  Another shot, then another.  The gunman was trying to hit a moving target.  Now she had stopped moving, lying on top of the Sunarr ambassador.  He took proper aim as three shots rang out, his bullet leaving the gun's chamber as he was hit, the barrel moving slightly as he lost his balance.  The bullet ripped through the air, hitting Jayanti.


The gunman slumped to the floor, already dead from three separate shots to his chest from three protection officers on the other side of the room.  Panic gripped the room, ambassadors rushing for the exits, more protection officers running forward.  Jayanti's eyes closed.


 


 


19:10               16 December  [00:10  17 December GMT]


Mount Sinai Hospital, New York, USA.


             


'She is in a stable but serious condition.'  The surgeon said, 'we have removed the bullet, but it did a lot of damage.  We have managed to re-inflate the left lung, repaired the two arteries and set her broken arm.  She is very lucky to be alive.'  She added unnecessarily.


'Can I see her?'  William asked nervously.


'She is awake, but on a morphine drip for the pain.  But yes, in fact she has been asking for you.'


It had taken William a full thirty minutes to get through the police and security cordons.  Ordinarily he would have been escorted through by the head of Jayanti's security detail.  He and all his men were now answering some very difficult questions.  They however, as angry as anyone that one of their own had done this, were also completely baffled by it.


William entered the private room.  The entire wing had been evacuated taken over for the treatment of this one patient.  Security was the thing, there was no time to do background checks on the other patients so they had to be moved.  Jayanti was propped up in bed, unclothed but covered in bandages, her left arm in plaster.  There was a lot of bruising to the top of her chest William noted.


              'You look like hell.'  He said brightly.


              'Thanks.'  Jay replied.  'How are things?'


              William's face fell.  He drew a chair close to her bed and sat down.


'Bad.  There have been similar attacks all around the world.  Several leaders are dead, as are some of the Sunarr ambassadors.'


'Anyone important?'  Jay asked, still groggy from the medication.


'They are all important.'  William replied flatly.


'You know what I mean.' Jay snapped, annoyed at her aide's attitude.  She took a breath, heaved herself up slightly, and leaned towards him.  'I'm sorry Will; I'm still pretty shaken up.  You are quite right, they are all important, everyone is.  I meant have there been any assassinations of leaders which will affect the world geo-political structure.'


William sighed too, he could see his boss was in a bad way, pain and medication were affecting her judgement and his rebuke had only been to help her see this.  She can't go in front of the press right now, one wrong word and...He broke off from his trail of thought, smiled at Jay and replied to her question.


'The US Vice-President is dead.  As are the leaders of Palestine and Israel, each is blaming the other.  The British Prime Minister is critical but stable.  The Russian Prime Minister's status is unknown; however, it is believed that he is alive.  Everyone is nervous.  All of the financial markets are closed, probably for the rest of the week until things calm down a bit.'


'I need to get out in front of this.'  Jay said.


'What you need is rest.'  William replied, 'I'll have a statement put out confirming that you are well and that you will hold a press conference tomorrow.'  He hoped this would have the right effect.


'Thank you Will.  That should do for now.  You will need to get a statement out to all of the UN Ambassadors assuring them,’ Jay paused searching for words 'that we stand united together.' 


'Of course.  Madam Secretary-General.  I will check in on you later, you need to rest for now.'  William replied standing to leave.


With William gone, Jay lay there thinking.  She hadn't lied in her press statement neither had she speculated as to who was responsible, their motives or anything of substance.  What worried her the most however was the combination of the sheer scale involved, mounting attacks almost simultaneously around the world and the fact that the individuals responsible were all security checked professionals and supposedly loyal to their leaders.  There had to be an immense organisation behind this.  The question is who and why?


 


 


10:15               17 December  [15:15  17 December GMT]


Office of the Secretary-General, United Nations, New York, USA.


             


Jay sat awkwardly at her desk.  The broken ribs, the punctured lung, the shattered arm and the bruising were all giving her cause to complain.  She didn't however; she remained tight lipped about the discomfort she was feeling.  The one concession she had made was to agree to small press interviews here in her office rather than a larger one elsewhere where she would have to stand.  She knew that she should be lying down, but this was too important to postpone.  The world needed to see her, and she needed them to see her.  Not all of the press were going to be able to see her, but they were trying to accommodate the majority by having them interview in small groups. 


The questions beyond how she was feeling and who else had been shot all centred on Who was behind it and Why.  The shout of Free Earth given at each shooting gave the media enough to be able to build a reasonable Why.  Some people didn't like the arrival of aliens and the leaders who dealt with them.  The Who was more difficult.  They knew the names of each individual; they had their backgrounds, but no clue as to how or why they coordinated their attacks.  The only know link was that they were all bodyguards to leaders dealing with the Sunarr.  How could they have organised themselves so quickly and without raising any suspicions?  Jay did her best to field all the questions, however having no clue herself she could rule nothing in or out.


William ushered out the last group of journalists.  Jay's personal bodyguard, Pete, wanted to see her.  Will insisted that anything she needed to know he could pass on.  The bodyguard declined and pushed to see her.  Will stood his ground, but seeing that the bodyguard wasn't going to back down, he tried a different tack.


'You will leave your weapon out here.  I will accompany you into her office.  It is either that or I will have you reassigned.'  The bodyguard was considerably larger than Will, fitter too and with extensive training in unarmed combat.  The bodyguard looked down at Will, looked at his watch, and then removed his handgun, placing it in the drawer William had opened for him.


'Let's go.'  He growled.


William, shaking slightly, led Pete into Jay's office.  Jay looked up from her desk and slightly recoiled in her seat.  Some of the fear she felt crept into her voice as she spoke.


'What… what is it William?'


'Pete has a message for you, which he wouldn't give to me.  It’s OK he is unarmed.'


This brought a rather unpleasant smile to Pete's lips, I could probably kill you with one blow, maybe two, you jumped up little fraction of a man.  Despite thinking this, he was actually quite impressed by William's protection of his boss. 


'Can I speak in front of....'  Pete began, searching for the right phrase '...this individual?'


'You can.'  Jay replied simply.


'In that case I have been instructed to take you to a meeting, due,' Pete checked his watch, 'in three minutes.'


'What meeting?  Where?  I haven't anything on your calendar for now.'  William said, annoyed that scheduling might involve someone other than himself.


'I' began Jay, but she lost the thrust, 'damn it.  Look, just come with me and I'll explain along the way.'


Leaving her office behind she lead the three of them down the corridor to the lift.  Inside Pete slid his key into the mechanism and punched the ground floor button twice.  The lift started to ascend.  Jay did her best to explain in a short a time as possible.  William, for his part, didn't question her.  Time enough for that later, he thought.


              Jay exited the lift on her own and took her place in front of the screen, which, after a few seconds, illuminated showing the group sat at the large conference table.  Most of the faces she recognised, a few she didn't and some others were missing.  So, the group must be larger than this, with members attending when they can.  One of the members spoke directly to her.


'Jayanti, good to see you’re alive.'


'Thanks.'  She doubted whether this group truly cared about her wellbeing.  'Look excuse me for being blunt but what on Earth is going on?'


The man smiled at her unintended pun, then his face went quite serious.


'We don't know.  We have spoken about this and it is clear it was not our doing.  We doubt that this was a human initiative, that is very unlikely.  Our best guess is that the Sunarr are working with the elements we told you about, that they organised it amongst themselves.'


'But to what end?'  Jay's tone betrayed her feelings.


'We don't know that either I'm afraid.'  He looked down when he said this, showing that he was truly frustrated not knowing.  The other members all had similar looks on their faces.


'What should I do?'  Jay asked, feeling inadequate to the task whatever it may be.


'The best we can suggest is to gather more data.  We have analysed what you have sent and this looks promising.  We will have to see how the situation develops.  We will be in touch.'


The screen went blank leaving Jay alone in the room again.  Bugger, she thought, I don't like this sitting about doing nothing.  Why can't we do something?  The trouble is, she realised, I have no better idea of what to do than they do.


 


 


11:27               18 December  [16:27  18 December GMT]


Office of the Secretary-General, United Nations, New York, USA.


             


Jay struggled with the report.  She hadn't slept well and trying to read one of the numerous reports that begged for her attention was not helping.  This was a follow up to the meeting she had had with Helen Dexter, the Head of Personnel.  Really, she knew that she had gleaned all she needed from the executive summary, however she was trying to trudge her way through the bulk of the report.  It didn't make for pleasant reading.  Unless drastic action was taken soon the budget over-runs were going to be huge.  The trouble, she thought, is that we are not evenly balanced.  The need to consult with so many ambassadors and their governments places an immense bureaucratic strain on the UN; so much so, we spend more on that than actually doing things.  Her mind wondered back to the Sunarr, back to the assassinations, to the group who she first thought knew everything, but are now unsure.  William knocked on her door; she welcomed him in, glad of the distraction.


'I have Jane Spencer-Brown and George Hamilton to see you.'


‘Thank you William, would you show them in.'


Jane and George took their seats, William made for the door.


'William, would you stay for this please?'  Jay asked.


'Of course.' he replied, taking the seat to the left of Jay's desk.


They sat there in silence for a moment, Jay gathering her thoughts.  Finally she spoke.


'You know,' she began, 'I always sought this office.  I wanted to make a difference in the world.  I thought with this office came the power to do that.  I was wrong.'


Jane and George shifted uncomfortably in their seats, unsure where this was going.  William looked at his boss, his face inscrutable, but his mind in turmoil.


'However, with the arrival of the Sunarr and the recent assassinations I believe that has changed.  The governments of the world are in awe and in league with the Sunarr, based on promises of technology and treatments as yet not delivered or proven.  William, as you know the Sunarr have taken over virtually all Gold mining activities worldwide.  They have built huge domes over the mines and are using human prisoners as slave labour.  All apparently with the tacit approval of the relevant countries.  This I believe shows the true nature of the Sunarr.  Jane, George what you are not aware of is that before the arrival of the Sunarr and just after my tenure as Sec-Gen began I was contacted by a secret organisation.  They knew of the impending arrival of the Sunarr before anyone else.  I know little else about them, but for reasons I can't explain I trust them implicitly.  I have been in regular contact with them.  It was they who suggested I involve you both in the arrival of the Sunarr.  They were also instrumental in your being assigned to investigate the Mexican camp.  I am deeply worried about where events are taking us.  I have to place my trust in someone, as I do not believe that I can trust the UN organisation, there are too many vested interests.  I am placing my trust in yourselves.  You will need to know whom you can trust with this information.  We need to expand and build alliances.  We need to know much, much more.'


The meeting carried on for nearly the full hour.  William, elevated by the trust his boss had placed in him began to grow from his previous role as aide.  Now it was agreed that he would be in charge of communications, acting as the central contact point.  Jane was all too aware that she was no longer a journalist, reporting the news, now she was going to be shaping it, making it.  It was George, as a Professor of Military History, that surprised them all.


'Let us be clear.'  George began, 'We are planning to work against our respective governments and others, in the belief that we are working for the greater good.'


'Yes, you could put it that way.'  Jay replied.


'It's not how I put it that matters.  If we are unsuccessful and are caught, we will be branded as traitors or possibly terrorists.  If we are successful, then history will judge us as liberators.'


That gave them all pause for thought.


'So what do you suggest?'  Jay asked.


'Let’s just make sure that we are on the winning side.'


 






 




 


 


 


 


 


 


17 Cures


 


 


11:30               19 December  [16:30  19 December GMT]


Floor of the United Nations, New York, USA.


 


Some were still very nervous but the ambassadors were all assembled again.  All physical traces of the assassination attempt had been cleaned up, however the memories lingered.  The Sunarr had announced that they were making a statement, whether this was the one that they didn't manage to announce previously or a different one altogether no one seemed to know.  Jay stood in front, again at the lectern, introducing the Sunarr ambassador to the UN.  Shiwanevar was not yet on the platform.


Jay finished her introduction and stood there somewhat awkwardly awaiting Shiwanevar.  A thumping sound came from off the platform, it grew louder and realised itself in the form of Sunarr troops.  Everyone could see that they were armed.  A hush fell upon the room as they took position either side of the platform.  There were twenty in all, ten on each side, their faces obscured by visors they looked a formidable sight.  Shiwanevar followed behind and approached the lectern.


'Ladies and gentlemen,' she began, 'as you know I was due to make a speech to this esteemed body just three days ago, however dissident elements tried to kill not only myself but also your Secretary-General Jayanti Kapoor.  However, thanks to her excellent reactions she saved both our lives.  Others were not so lucky, many of your leaders and our people lost their lives at the hands of this traitorous element.  We cannot allow this to happen again.  I have therefore ordered that all Sunarr ambassadors will now travel with an armed escort.  I do not believe that this alone will be enough; I am therefore extending this offer to all world leaders and ambassadors.  I do this as an offer of friendship and in a spirit of peaceful cooperation.  No one should feel compelled to accept this offer, but I would urge you to as these terrorists seem to be everywhere and they want to kill the beneficial cooperation between our peoples.'  Shiwanevar paused to let this announcement sink in before continuing.


'I would like to make the announcement that I was previously unable to.  Sunarr scientists working on your diseases have now isolated several that can be eradicated.  This first group, I have been assured, can be treated easily and effectively.  They are; Cancer, AIDS, Asthma, Diabetes, Parkinson's and Alzheimer's.  I hope you will join me in thanking our scientists.' 


Some started to clap their hands together, others joined in, then more, soon the entire assembly were on their feet applauding furiously. 


 


 


15:30               19 December  [20:30  19 December GMT]


Office of the Secretary-General, United Nations, New York, USA.


 


The acceptances were coming in thick and fast.  It looked like all of the UN ambassadors were going to take up the Sunarr offer of personal security.  Jay expected that there would be a similar uptake amongst the government leaders and other senior officials.  After all, she thought to herself, why shouldn't they?  Their own, our own, she corrected herself, guards can't be fully trusted.  She snorted at that, guards who shoot the people who they are supposed to protect are the most duplicitous and dangerous of all.


Now she had to make her own decision.  The thought of having two or more military Sunarr with her, twenty-four hours a day, watching her every move, physically repulsed her.  Her own security detail provided exactly that, a secure environment within which she was free to work.  She didn't believe that the Sunarr would provide the same.  They would be watching, monitoring.  The problem, she realised, was that to refuse, especially after the attempt on her own life, could look extremely suspicious.  She tried to weigh up the decision, but the risk of coming under the spotlight was, she judged, too much.  I'm going to have to accept their protection, she thought.  Her mind made up, such as it was, she turned her attention to more practical matters.  She realised that she was going to have to rely upon others more heavily.  Glad to have taken her aide William plus Jane and George into her confidence, she knew that the group would have to expand.  Either directly with herself, or indirectly through them.  William would have to take her place in the room on the fortieth floor.  There is no doubt about it; this is going to complicate matters.


She decided that she still had some time available to her.  She had to contact the group.  This to both advise them of what she was planning and to see what they were doing.  It is time for them to lay their cards on the table.


 


 


12:45               20 December  [17:45  20 December GMT]


40th Floor of the United Nations, New York, USA.


 


She had never tried to contact them, she realised.  She hoped that the system was automatic and that by entering she would activate the communications, otherwise she didn’t have a clue what to do.  William was beside her in the lift, as too was Pete.  She looked at Pete discreetly out of the corner of her eye.  Why was he in the service of two masters?  A long time protection employee of the UN, when and how had he been recruited by this anonymous group?  Where does his loyalty lie? The humming of the lift ceased as they reached the fortieth floor, the doors sliding smoothly open. 


'You're sure now?'  Her bodyguard asked, concerned whether she was making the right decision.


'Yes, thank you.'  Jay replied, 'I believe it is the only way to ensure that....' she stumbled over her thoughts, '...that we accomplish our objectives.'  She finished.


What objectives?  She thought to herself acidly, I don't yet have a bloody clue as to what we can do?  Moreover, we is only four people!


'What do I need to do?'  Jay asked.


'Just take a seat.'  Her bodyguard replied.


The screen brightened into life.  The words Stand By, displayed.  She waited anxiously.  The stand by message playing on her mind, although she didn't know why.  It took a couple of minutes then the screen resolved itself into displaying the conference table.  There were only three people seated, all she recognised.  The one sat closest to the screen spoke.


'Hello Jayanti, what is it?'


'Hi,' She replied, 'first I'd like to introduce my aide, William.  He will be contacting you from now on.  He will act as liaison between us.'


'Oh and on what authority have you made this decision?'


'My own.  You are no doubt aware of the offer of security provided by the Sunarr.  The take-up is almost universal and I have decided that to avoid suspicion I will have to accept it too.  I therefore have to have someone to communicate with you as I am sure you don't want your groups’ existence revealed.'  Jay's was cool but left it clear that it wasn't open for discussion.


'Very well,’ He replied, 'approved.'


'Thank you.  You should also know that I have taken Jane Spencer-Brown and George Hamilton into my confidence.  They now know what I know.'


'Why?'  The reply was not very warm.


'We need to build a network, alliances; we can't do that hiding in the shadows all the time.  I think you know as well as I what this latest move means.  The Sunarr are taking over, they will have eyes and ears everywhere that matters.  This means that my ability to act directly both within the UN and with world leaders has to all intents and purposes been curtailed.  Jane and George have proved themselves in the field, the information they brought back is considerable.  The contacts they have made in the Mexican camp with known field officers are invaluable.  I need them to go further though.  If we are to be successful then we will need others, most notably scientific and military.'


The man smiled, it was not by any means a great smile, but it did at least convey the right impression.


'I knew we were right to bring you in.'  he said simply, 'We have been discussing this very issue, and whilst some of the more conservative members have been wary, we have agreed that it is time to build a full coalition.  You have the authority of the group to continue, however, we will be applying the honour system.  This means that any new associate has to be both vouched for and not in the slightest compromised.  We have a scientific resource, although he is not yet an associate.  He has been working for our group for a while now; you will have to have him recruited.  I will send him a message to expect a visit and to be assured that the visitor is to be trusted.  His name is John Deeth.'


'Jane has spoken of him, she met him in...' she searched for the right term, '... a clinic.'


'We are aware of both Jane and John's time in the clinic.  We all have pasts.’


'How should I refer to you?'  Jay asked.


'You shouldn't, but if you have to have a name, we are Group 79.'


 


 


10:33               22 December  [15:33  22 December GMT]


Flight BA 0178, JFK New York To London Heathrow.


 


Thirty two thousand feet above the Atlantic Ocean, flying at five hundred and fifty miles per hour they were on their way home, First Class.  A straight upgrade from Economy by the check-in assistant who recognised them from the news. 


I could get used to this, Jane thought to herself as she relaxed, legs fully stretched out, a glass of champagne in her right hand.   The in-flight movie was on, but she wasn't really watching.  She couldn't believe how her life had changed so much in such a short period of time.  What has it been now?  She wondered to herself, six weeks?  no seven weeks.  She knew she owed a lot to her Editor, more still to the wonderful staff at the clinic.  The clinic, she thought, I'm a card carrying lunatic.  The thought almost made her spray out a mouthful of champagne.  The truth, she knew, was that there was nothing wrong with having a mental health issue except denying it.  That's what she had been doing up until her Editor made her go and get some help.  The weeks she had spent there had radically altered her way of thinking.  About others and about herself.  The others were all just normal people with normal lives.  The only difference was that they had suffered some issue in their lives that wasn't physical.  The death of a loved one, traumatic stress, depression from personal or work issues, drugs, drink and one of the most difficult of all, a bad childhood.  Her mind wandered to John Deeth.  Although he had come in with traumatic stress, like her, they had both come to realise that how they had reacted to it was rooted in their childhoods. 


Jane always felt that she should have been born a boy.  Her father, Timothy, a Lieutenant-Colonel in the Coldstream Guards, invariably treated her like a son, even though he already had a son, Frederick.  Timothy just didn't know how to relate to girls.  Therefore, she grew up a tomboy, delighting her father with her many sports achievements.  Things started to change around the time she was eleven.  The new school and the peer pressure to compete with the other girls found her changing into a young woman.  Her father always loved her, but found it hard to display this love.  Unable to understand the needs of a growing girl, he was completely at sea when it came to the things she now liked to do.  He focused on his son, the growing man, who became a solider like himself.  Unaware of the reason for her father's indifference towards her, she had tried harder and harder to win his approval.  Her need to compete carried into adulthood and saw her marry a man like her father.  It didn't end well but did bring her a daughter, Rebecca.  The second marriage with a fellow journalist ended because they were too alike, but this one had brought her Julia, her second daughter.


Two divorces behind her; she pushed herself ever harder in her job, seeking the most challenging, and dangerous assignments.  The death of her long time photographer had brought about her breakdown.  It was the trigger, but her upbringing had been the cause.


John's history had been similar in some ways.  However, it was his own approval he had always sought.  The word perfectionist didn't even begin to explain him.  Unfocused all his childhood, he had never been given any direction, or assistance.  Every achievement was his own, hard fought for.  His almost accidental entry into the academic realm was the best and worst thing to happen to him.  He found challenges worthy of his time and effort.  His perfectionism and need to understand everything as well or better than others though took their toll on him.  In his bid to be the best, he lost himself.  That was his first time in the clinic.  The second, when Jane met him, was after his lab blew up, his work had become everything to him and the thought of his losing it, especially before it was finished, was just too much.  He was still a slave to his past.  However, this time, with the help of others, he found a way forward.  He could still care passionately about his work, but no longer obsessed.


Jane fretted about meeting John again.  The thought of recruiting him into a secret organisation troubled her immensely.  How will he react?  She wondered.  Will he cooperate?  Will he agree?  Will he expose them instead?  Jane didn't think so, but she knew John well enough to know that his mind worked in a completely different way.  It should help that he is already working for them…


George was deep in his own thoughts, but he noticed that Jane, who was sitting next to him, was rubbing the tip of her nose with her left index finger, a sure sign that she was thinking deeply about something.


'Penny for them?'  He asked.


It took Jane a couple of moments to realise that George had asked her a question.


'Hmmm?'  She replied, 'Oh penny for them.  Sorry.  I was just thinking about John Deeth.  I'm not sure how he is going to react to all this.'


'What particularly is troubling you?'  George asked, all too aware now that Jane was really concerned.


'I'm worried he might expose us.'


'Then we would have to kill him.' 


Jane looked at George, her face ashen.  Oh my god, I've totally misjudged George!  What do I do now?


George looked at Jane, the worry clear on her face.  He grinned at her.  Then he laughed.


'You bastard!'  She yelled at George punching his arm.  'You really had me going there!'


George kept chuckling as he spoke.  'Sorry but you had gotten yourself too wound up.  Why shouldn't John join us?  I'm sure he will have no love for the Sunarr, why should he?  Besides we don't have to blurt it straight out, we can build up to it, gauge his reactions.'


'I guess you're right.  I'm glad you will be with me.'  She added, realising that George wasn't going to abandon her.


'Of course I'll be with you.  We're a team aren't we?'


 


 


10:50               23 December  [10:50  23 December GMT]


Research Laboratory, Cambridge University, Cambridge, England.


 


John read the communication from Research Angel.  It informed him that someone was coming to see him and that they should be given full knowledge of his work and his full cooperation, it also provided some very useful technical feedback on his research.  Nothing I couldn't have discovered for myself, he assured himself.  It does save me some considerable time.  Time I can invest in other areas. 


Although he didn't like giving someone else access to his work, he liked the idea of losing his funding even less.  He hoped prayed even, that it wouldn't be a fellow researcher, however he couldn't imagine anyone else understanding or caring about his research.  Research scientists can be an awkward bunch.  Nosey.  Critical.  A real pain in the backside. 


It couldn't have come at a worse time either.  The vice-chancellor had informed him that the Sunarr were interested in his research.  The Sunarr.  A technically advanced race and they are interested in my research...


The approach by the Sunarr was an interesting development.  He had kept abreast of their activities, as much as he could, through the news.  He had never yet met one, nor communicated with them.  So out of the billions of people on Earth they had somehow heard of him and wanted to assist him in his research.  John was not easily flattered, but he had to admit to himself that on this occasion he was.  His normal concerns of privacy and authority over his work somehow didn’t seem to matter that much, reasoning that an advance race would be enlightened, free of the jealousies that corrupted mankind.  He had also started to daydream about their equipment. 


He imagined a room, not dissimilar in its dimensions to his own lab, but painted in the purest white, the work surfaces and consoles a pleasant cream colour in slight contrast to the walls.  No windows, the only way in through a multi-stage airlock, the air filters removing even the smallest contaminant.  The room would be entirely shielded against electro-magnetism, radiation and every other conceivable intrusion.  Even a humble compass would not work, as the Earth’s magnetism would fail to penetrate the room.  The only physical presence would be gravity, but this also could be negated at the flick of a switch.  The consoles would provide access to the Sunarr main computer, so advanced that it would have its own intelligence.  Every scientific device required would be on hand, including a particle accelerator that would sit on one of the work surfaces, the nearest human equivalent being twenty-seven kilometres in circumference.  He looked around his own lab again, state of the art felt it like an antique.


His mind came back to the present and the impending arrival of his ‘guests’.  Usually dressed in jeans and a T-shirt, today he had made an effort.  Not much of an effort he admitted to himself, slacks, a shirt and a tie hanging loosely around his neck that he had bought so long ago he had forgotten where or when.  At least it wasn’t my novelty tie, he thought reassuring himself.  His novelty tie still hung in his cupboard, Marilyn Monroe, with her skirt blowing up, her hands hiding her privacy.


There was a knock at his door.  He looked at his watch, it’s time, he thought.  He walked to the door and opened it, holding his breath slightly.  He blinked.  He blinked again.  The image was still there.


‘Oh Hi Jane…..’ he searched his mind furiously for the man’s name.  'George!  Hi, look, it’s great to see you both but I have an appointment with…..someone about now.  Could we get together later?’


‘No need John,’ Jane replied, her smile as enchanting as ever, ‘you’re meeting is with us.  I believe you were notified of it by your Research Angel?’


‘I…err…yes, I was.’  John’s mind was quietly doing back flips trying to assimilate the information.


‘Good.  Shall we come in then?  Or better yet, how about we take you to lunch?’ 


‘Yes, of course!’  John grabbed his coat and headed out of the door.  They went with John’s preference for the Castle Inn. The walk, although relatively short, had given John a thirst; one he intended quenching with the fine real ales the pub offered.  They took their drinks through the bar and onto the lower terrace, so John could smoke whilst they talked.  The terrace was empty, the lunchtime trade still over an hour away.


Jane, ever the journalist, asked John to update them with what he knew.  This took him two pints, although the first disappeared quickly.  Jane hardly interrupted, making furious notes as John talked, putting a star next to the things she wanted to return to.  Once he had finished, Jane looked at her notes, that’s a lot of stars, she thought.  OK Jane, she tried to settle her thoughts; first things first, establish where he stands.  The four stars written next to the line saying “involvement of the Sunarr” was the place to start she decided.


'Tell me what you know of the Sunarr.'  She asked John.


The smile had gone now, he noticed.  Jane's tone was even, but the emphasis challenging, threatening even.  He had seen this side of her in Group Therapy in the clinic and that hadn't been pleasant. 


John took another sip of his beer, cleared his throat and paused, waiting for the right words to form themselves.


'I only know what I have heard from the news.'  He began, 'They are, apparently, here to help us develop; they are negotiating with most of the governments of the world.  They have heard of my research, although I don't how, and are willing to help me.  That's it really; I don't know what else I can tell you.'


Jane looked at John.   Can I trust you John?  Can I really trust you?  You've never lied to me, whenever you didn't want to answer a question you subtly, professionally changed the subject.  You are still being honest aren't you?  The problem is you just don't know what's going on.  Jane decided to tell him, just about the Sunarr first and then see from there.  John was silent whilst Jane spoke, after ten minutes she had finished, John finally spoke.


'So it's just about the Gold then?'  He said.


'It would appear so, yes.'  Jane replied.


'Well that confirms it for me then.'  John said, unable to keep the self-satisfaction out of his voice.


'Confirms what exactly?'  Jane could sense there was more he had to tell them, this wasn't how it was supposed to be, he was supposed to have told us everything he knew up front.


'How they got here, what they want with our Gold, my research and why my lab blew up.  It all makes sense now.'  John finished his beer with a couple of gulps.  'Who’s ready for a refill?' 


John had that look in his eyes that Jane had seen before.  He's not going anywhere, she reasoned to herself, let him get another pint.


John returned with another round of drinks, which he distributed before sitting back down.  He took the head off his pint and set it back down, flashing Jane his own rather engaging smile.  He was feeling very pleased with himself.


'So where was I?'  John asked more by way of gauging how much attention the two of them had been paying rather than actually needing reminding of where he had left off.


'You were going to tell us what, exactly, has been confirmed, as far as you are concerned.'  George had lowered his voice upon entering the conversation and emphasised his words to make it clear that he was becoming bored and slightly irritated listening to John expound his greatness.  Unfortunately, for George, not only did John take this as a challenge to rise to, he had just had his greatness confirmed. 


'Yes.  Yes I was.'  John agreed, taking yet another sip of his beer.  'My working theory on what caused the lab explosion is that it wasn't the components or the experiment itself.  No.  It's what the experiment unexpectedly found.  What I found.'  He added for emphasis.  'You see, the shape and type of the explosion, if you could call it that, was characteristic of an impact explosion.  Like a cannonball hitting a wall.  It makes a hole in the wall, leaving the surrounding wall intact, just like the damage to my machine.  The cannonball and debris would continue forward, damaging anything else in its path, until the amount of energy expended was equivalent to the amount when fired.  Again, this is the pattern I recorded from the explosion.  The problem was that the amount of energy released was so large, and the cannonball, if you will, had to have been so small that it was completely outside of known physics.'


'How far outside?'  George asked, now genuinely curious.


'Like a three year old trying to study a PhD.’ John said offhandedly.


'So what has this got to do with the Sunarr's interest in Gold?'  Jane asked.


'Don't you see?  Something extremely small, travelling extremely fast with an exceptionally large mass for its size and speed, impacted with one of the Gold atoms in my experiment and caused the explosion.  This particle must be naturally occurring throughout space.  If you built a ship capable of capturing those particles like wind in a sail...’


'Then you would have a means to travel in space without the need for engines or fuel.'  Finished George, finally getting it.


'And that would be good would it?'  Jane asked, slightly at sea with all this.


'Essential.'  George replied, 'Correct me if I'm wrong.'  He said to John, 'The distances involved in travelling anywhere in space are huge, the speed necessary to get there in anything like a useful time frame are theoretically impossible, many times the speed of light.  To build a ship capable of powered flight would mean building something the size of our own moon to accommodate the engines and all the fuel.  In short, without a giant leap forward we are going nowhere.  However if the universe has its own particle winds travelling many times the speed of light, and we could build the right sails......then the only power we would need is for heat, light and steering.  That is manageable even with current means.'


'And that,’ interjected John, not wishing to have all his thunder stolen, 'is why the Sunarr want our Gold.  It’s what the spaceships sails are made of.  No Gold, no space travel.'


Now it was out in the open for all to see.  John Deeth had discovered, independently, the means necessary for mankind to travel in space.  He had also discovered, inadvertently, the Sunarr's interest in Earth. 


'Shit.'  Jane said, 'But why Earth?  Surely other planets must have Gold, isn't it everywhere?'


              John shook his head as he replied.  'No, not by any means.  Gold wasn't formed in the Big Bang; it like the other heavier elements was formed in stars.  Now obviously you cannot mine a star, there's no point anyway because it’s not there now.  As our solar system formed, the heavier elements settled away from the centre, the Sun is roughly 92 to 94% Hydrogen, the rest mostly Helium.  No, the places to look for Gold now are planets.  I would surmise that only certain stars formed in the right way to produce Gold and therefore our planet is likely to be much more abundant in Gold than would be the average.  Also,’ he paused for another sip of beer whilst processing his thoughts, 'in my experiment I was getting a decreasing return as the EM energy went up.  I would conclude that there must be some matter conversion taking place and so you would need more Gold to replenish your sails.'


John sat back, full of self-satisfaction, If this doesn't get me a Nobel...


Jane looked at John, then at George.  George nodded in silent agreement with Jane, knowing what she was thinking.  We need to have John on board and he needs to know what is at stake.


Jane took him through the entire series of events, telling him everything. 


The early lunchtime trade was just starting to gather in the pub, some of the patrons spilling out onto the terrace taking the available tables around them.  Now they had to be much more circumspect in their conversation. 


'So where do we go from here?'  John asked.


'We need to learn as much as we can.  I'm sorry John, but you are going to have to work with the....’  Jane just caught herself, '...them, find out what you can.  You will also need to focus your research on the...on what you have found, we need to know as much as we possibly can.  Are you OK with this?'


'Do I have any choice?'  John asked pointedly.


'That depends if you want to live in a free society, one which values knowledge.  You have our lives in your hands.  I know you won't let us down.'  Jane leant closer to John as she said this, touching his right knee with her left hand.  He noticed she wasn't wearing her wedding ring anymore.


'Well then,’ John said as he stood to leave, 'if there is nothing else...’ he searched for something suitable, '...destiny awaits.'


Jane and George watched John leave.  Jane turned to George.


'Where next then?'  She asked.


'My brother’s.'


 


 


14:15               23 December  [14:15  23 December GMT]


Chester Square, Belgravia, London, England.


             


The drive into London had been mercifully light, just the usual endless queues of traffic, the slow crawl of progress.  George had let Jack know that he was coming to see him, just to check that he was going to be at home, he didn't tell him why.


George couldn't even guess at how much his brother was worth, but he had one of the best places in the most desirable locations in London and that doesn't come cheap.  However, he also knew the place wasn't really Jack.  Jack would have opted for something simpler; his home was in keeping with his job.  His old job, he reminded himself, now he is technically unemployed.  The thought of Jack having to sign on for a government hand-out made him chuckle to himself.  Not Jack, he thought, even if life had dealt him a bad hand instead of a good one he would always have made his way in life.  He knew the same couldn't be said for him though.  That thought irritated him, he had worked hard at life, but the impact on him losing his parents at age nine had been huge.  It had left him a worried child, scared of change; he knew he shouldn't beat himself up about it.


It was Jack who answered the door this time.  He led them though into the Study where Sally and Anita were both hard at work.  The research process was a long and painstaking one for them both, but they were being well compensated and treated, which had included a fun day for them both clothes shopping with Jack's credit card, a reward for them when they had finished the first model.  Three were complete now, leaving Gold and Diamonds as the last to do.  However they were well advanced in building the model of these, so much so they had already started to do some theoretical analysis.


'Could we go into the drawing room?'  George asked.


'Sure George, if you'd feel more comfortable.'


They departed the study and moved into the drawing room, leaving Sally and Anita to their research.  The door closed behind them, Jane decided to take the initiative.


'Jack,' she began, 'could you tell us where you are with your research?'


'I can,' he replied, 'but it’s confidential and not yet ready for publication.’


'Of course.  We are not here to do an article on your work; I can assure you of that.'


Jack was surprised and a little insulted, if they are not here for that then why are they here?  He wondered to himself, time enough for that, George's word is good for me. 


'Well as you both know I have been researching the price of gold through time, with specific reference to why it commands the value it had and does.  I took George's initial suggestion of counterpointing its price against other mined resources, such as Iron and Coal to include Diamonds and Silver.  It has been a little hard to find their constant values,’ Jack significantly understated the work that had been done.  'but we have finished all but Diamonds and Gold and those are ninety per cent complete.'


'What have you found?'  Jane inquired.


'Nothing and everything.'  Jack replied calmly.  'Iron, Coal and Silver all correlate to the demand for them over time.  Diamonds do too.  There have been bull markets in all of them from time to time and Diamonds have been artificially high due to the dominance of the major producer maintaining a high price to keep the exclusivity of Diamonds in the public perception.'


'But Gold is different.'  Jane stated more than asked.


'Yes.  However it’s the reason for it that is most troubling.'


'Go on.'  Jane's journalistic instincts telling her that a major story is unfolding before her, shame I won't be able to publish it.


'I don't understand the reason for it but the data seems pretty conclusive.  The reason that Gold is valued so much is that it has been hoarded, by various individuals, groups and countries over at least the last two millennia and what is more the number of hoarders has remained relatively static.  It’s almost as if there has been a conspiracy to corner the market for Gold bullion, and it’s like, since the time of Christ.  Crazy I know.'  Jack finished with half a smile by way of apologising for his ravings.  Neither of his guests was fazed though, he was surprised to see.


'Jack, thanks for that.  Now we have our own story to tell you and if you don't think we are crazy when you hear it perhaps we should all get checked out.'  George looked his brother in the eye as he said this.


Jane took Jack through the past events, the arrival of the Sunarr, their involvement with the Secretary-General of the United Nations, the secret organisation, the Sunarr's interest in Gold, the mining camps, the forced labour, John Deeth's discovery and his working theory on the use of Gold in space travel. 


'You're right, you are crazy.'  Jack said.  'So I guess you are trying to tell me that for at least the last two thousand years people on Earth have known of the importance of Gold in space travel and have been storing it away for the day that they need it.  Why haven't they built spaceships before now?'


'Firstly,' Jane began, 'we didn't know what you had found in your research.  Secondly, we never said PEOPLE on Earth had been hoarding it and thirdly, Gold is one of the components that we think, or rather, John Deeth thinks, is necessary for space travel.  We have no idea what else is involved, or how complicated it may be.'


'Fair enough.'  Jack replied, chastened by the rebuke, 'so what do you want from me?'


'We want you to join us Jack.'  George said, his tone serious.


'To do what?  Buy and sell Gold?'


'We want your military experience,’ Jane said, 'and your contacts.  The Sunarr are planning to take over.  We need to stop them.'  Jane's voice betrayed a little of the fear and uncertainty she was feeling.


'So you want me to coordinate and lead a worldwide counter-insurgency against a heavily armed, technically superior race whilst they and the world’s governments try to stop me.'  Jack's voice, although heavy with irony, had a steel like quality to it now.


'Yes.'  Jane replied, starting to appreciate what lay ahead of them.


'Sounds like fun.  Count me in.'
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10:15               24 December  [05:15  24 December GMT]


CNN Live Broadcast, United Nations, New York, USA


 


'This is Kacie Bright reporting live from the floor of the United Nations where, moments ago, the UN, sitting in special session, just past its latest resolution which paves the way for the security of personnel to be placed in the hands of the Sunarr.  This, as you may be aware, is in direct response to the unprecedented attacks by members of the UN and security personnel.  This comes days after the US, the EU, Russia, China, India, and most other nations implemented local agreements with the Sunarr to provide security.  The first to take up the offer was of course the new Vice-President of the US, the previous incumbent having been assassinated by his own security detail. 


The fine details are still to be worked out, I have been informed.  However, the Sunarr have made assurances that they have more than sufficient security personnel for all those requiring it.  Indeed most have already been deployed to the relevant countries and UN personnel in anticipation of their being requested. 


There has only been one real challenge in this process and that was the request by Female world leaders and ambassadors for female security personnel.  Curiously, the request was turned down on the grounds that there are no female Sunarr security personnel.  This prompted some intense discussions amongst those who have a religious requirement.  The matter was partially settled by religious leaders who agreed that as the Sunarr are not Human, then the males cannot be deemed to be Men in the religious sense.  However, the law has been slower to change and they will be required to function as men using, for example, male toilets. 


I spoke to the UN Secretary-General, Jayanti Kapoor, and she told me that the assistance of the Sunarr is only something that will truly be understood in historical terms.


This is Kacie Bright reporting to you live from the United Nations.  Now it’s back to Ted in the newsroom.'


 


 


10:15               24 December  [05:15  24 December GMT]


Office of the Secretary-General, United Nations, New York, USA.


 


Jayanti Kapoor was watching the news report with her aide William.  She pressed the standby button on her remote control and the screen went blank.


'What do you think Will?'


'I think I'm glad I don't qualify for a security detail.'


'But I do.'


'I know.  It's a shame you aren't Muslim, maybe you could have negotiated something different.  At least you can go to the toilet on your own.'


'True.  That is a delight.  If only I could hold meetings in the toilet.'


William laughed, 'Maybe we could move some desks in there.  Some already have showers so you would just need food and you'd be all set for the day.'


Jay had that look in her eye.  'Say that again'


'I just said,’ Will replied, 'We could put some desks and food in there and you'd be all set.'


'Some already have showers, you said.'


'Yes, mainly for people who like to exercise in their lunch break, but they are also used when we have all night sessions and there is no time to go home and shower.'


'Desks, food and showers.'  Jay wasn't looking at Will now.  She could feel her mind making a connection.


'Ladies toilets, showers, food.'  Again the stare.


Will couldn't keep silent any longer.  'What are you thinking?'


'I was just remembering a friend’s baby shower.  We decided to make a real day of it and went to a health spa.  The facilities were excellent, swimming pool, Jacuzzi, restaurant, beauty treatments, the works.  The thing was it was a woman only spa.  Even all of the staff were women, well those that served us, maybe there might have been some men working behind the scenes.  The point is that I wouldn’t be monitored whilst I am there.’


‘The only problem being that you could only meet other women.’  Will observed, feeling that he was going to lose touch with his boss.


              Jay smiled and looked straight at Will, her eyes sparkling.  ‘Will, don’t you have a sister?’


‘Why yes I do, Anne.  Why?’  Will replied, then he caught Jay’s look.  ‘You can’t be serious.  She isn’t security cleared.  She’s an actress for goodness sake.  She doesn’t know anything about anything!’


‘Look she wouldn’t really need to discuss anything just relay information back and forth.  I would imagine that most of the men I would need to deal with would have a woman they could trust in their life.  What do you think?’


Will knew when he was beaten.  The worst of it was that it was actually a very good idea; he just wished it didn’t have to involve his sister.  ‘I think it is an elegant and effective solution to the problem.  Shall I draw up a guest list for your spa day?  I take it you will be hiring the entire spa?’ 


 


             


19:30               24 December  [00:30  25 December GMT] 


Northeast Corner and East 57th Street, New York, USA.


 


Jay arrived home early, for someone in her position early was half past seven.  The chauffeur pulled the car up in front of her house.  The tail car pulled up behind them.  Jay waited patiently in her seat for her door to be opened.  A solid clunk indicated that the door mechanism had been operated and she climbed out coming face to face with one of her Sunarr security detail.  She shuddered involuntarily.  Having armed aliens in full body armour was not something one could easily get used to.  The fact that she couldn't see their faces only added to her unease.


Jay had wanted to be home as early as possible to see her daughter Sameena.  Sam had travelled home for Christmas to enjoy a break away from her doctoral work at the Jet Propulsion Laboratory in California.  Although she was looking forward to spending some time with Sam, Jay was dreading having to tell her daughter that she too was going to have bodyguards, alien bodyguards.


Jay walked through her front door; the smell of freshly cooking Jambalaya penetrated her nostrils and set off the pleasure receptors in her brain.  Sam is cooking Jambalaya, she must be pleased about something..., and I'm going to have to ruin her good mood.  Sam was the centre of Jay's life outside work, and up until her induction into Group 79 and the arrival of the Sunarr, the single most important thing in the world to her.  It was just that there were other worlds to consider now and threats to this world she had never even dreamt of.  The thought of having to choose between the security of the human race and her own daughter was troubling.  It was not something that she had ever had to prepare for.  Her diplomatic career was a life lived in abstracts.  The plight of one people over another, one country over another.  Decisions made to adversely affect the fewest people, to benefit the majority.  Now her decisions would affect billions of people.  That thought weighed heavily upon her.  How many could I sacrifice for the survival of the human race?  One?  A thousand?  A million?  A billion?  She sighed to herself and shelved that line of thinking.  For now.  She followed the smell of cooking into the kitchen and found her daughter concentrating in front of the stove. 


'Hi' Sam said brightly without turning round, 'there's a glass on the table for you.'


Jay picked up the glass and took in the aroma of the wine, then took a small sip, followed by a couple more.  There were marinated olives and hummus laid out.  She nibbled at them whilst she waited for her daughter's attention.  Sam turned down the heat under the pan, the last of the liquid absorbed.  She turned and went over to her mother, giving her the same special hug she had since she was eight.


Sam cooed into her mother's ear.


'I've missed you too.  So tell me, what's new?'


'Well the project is going really well.  Everyone there has been extremely nice and helpful.'


Sam continued to tell her mother about her work.  The Box, which was their pet name for the sensory deprivation experiment, was actually a collection of rooms.  Currently they were doing short-term exposure to confined spaces, working on ratios of people to living space.  They were already getting some interesting results.  Some people were naturally more inclined towards confined living than others were.  However, everyone at some point needed a space that they could call their own.  Most also needed time alone, generally one to two hours per week, but this varied according to the people to living space ratio.  One thing they had discovered that NASA found particularly interesting was that by arranging the work rotors of the subjects they could achieve a higher ratio of people in a given space.  This was accomplished by having the majority of people undertake a common task together in one room, leaving other rooms free for a few to have their alone time.  Meals, sleeping and exercise were particularly good for this.  The subjects were generally more than happy to sleep and shower communally.  Peoples free time was best spent in a group of no more than six or eight, with everyone having their alone time in a designated room where they were free to do whatever they liked.  The real problem, and one they still hadn't been able to crack, was intimacy. 


The trouble with intimacy they had found was that it couldn't be scheduled, confined, or ignored.  Ignoring intimacy led almost inexorably to depression, left untreated the depression became severe and debilitating.  Productivity suffered and so did their ability to make rational decisions or to react quickly.  Physical intimacy could be partially dealt with.  The use of pornography for personal release and couples rooms for other situations worked well.  It was the non-physical intimacy that was problematic.  The normal relations between the sexes and amongst those of the same persuasion could not be fully realised within a confined environment.  They had found that the flirting that happens at the coffee station in an office boosts self-esteem and moral.  However, the space required for that kind of mingling was not within the parameters of the research.  Having flirting or playful banter within the confines of the Box often led to jealousy and rivalries, which affected productivity and decision-making.


'It’s a real problem, and we are no closer to solving it than when we identified it.'  Sam told her mother.


'Talking of solving problems,’ Jay interjected, seeing her opportunity, 'there is something I need to discuss with you.'


'What's that?'


'There's no easy way of telling you this, however I need you to agree to have two Sunarr bodyguards.'  Jay looked at her daughter, waiting for the explosion.


Sam looked back at her mother, reading the pensive look on her face. 


'I thought we had an agreement.  No bodyguards.  This is my life and I want to be able to live it without intrusion.'


'I know dear.  I know.'  Jay's expression was pleading for forgiveness.


Sam sipped at her wine, watching her mother.


'This is going to happen whether I like it or not, isn't it?'


'Yes'


'And there is nothing you can do?'


'No.'


'Well in that case, what can I do?' 


Sam resolved herself to the inevitable, she hadn't had a security detail since she left boarding school, but that had been at a time of heightened threat.  A group had made specific threats against her mother, and thereby her daughter too.  Now her privacy would disappear again.  This time however she wouldn't have the kindly male and female bodyguards who helped with her homework.  This time they wouldn't even be human.


'Thank you sweetheart, I really appreciate it.'  Jay kissed her daughter gently on her forehead.  'Now shall we eat?'


 


 


10:30               24 December  [10:30  24 December GMT] 


Research Laboratory, Cambridge University, Cambridge, England.


             


John switched on the coffee machine in his lab.  First things, first, he thought to himself.  He approached his computer and switched on the monitor.  It was his habit to leave his computer on, generally, it was running some program or other, but also he didn't like wasting time waiting for it to boot up.  His personal security program was displaying a warning.  This was not unusual.  He had written his own security system, unhappy with the commercially available ones.  His was an active virus and hacker system.  It provided the usual protection against viruses and hackers, but being an active system, it would seek out the source of a virus and infect it with its own.  It would also hack any hacker.  Designed to be aggressive it would trawl networks looking for viruses and hackers and attack them.  John liked to think that this was a service he provided to mankind, in truth he had written it to show how much better he was than others were.  The message was not good.  It was from the secondary system, the one he had written directly into the core of the computer.  It ran in the background, the remainder of the operating system oblivious to its existence.  It ran its own processor and was powered by internal batteries, which were on a constant charge cycle with its own mains power source.  Its job was to monitor all activity and report.  This report said that not only had an unauthorised program installed itself, most likely a virus or Trojan, but that the computer had also been hacked.  That meant that someone had successfully circumvented his primary security system.  John hit print page and two sheets of clear-text pages printed out.  He took them with him, grabbing a coffee and heading outside for a cigarette.


The outside of his laboratory had been remodelled after the explosion, now there was a wall all the way around about four feet high, earth piled up against it.  A precaution against another explosion.  John used the wall as a makeshift desk, laying the two pages out, resting his mug of coffee on the wall too.  He lit a cigarette and started to read.


Somebody is good; he thought to himself, somebody is very good indeed.  The trace indicated what had happened.  The sniff around the ports, one was quietly opened and something had slipped through.  The installed program was fascinating.  One of the core components had been copied and replaced, the replacement had the same signature as the original, size, and all attributes the same.  The secondary system had monitored post infection activity too.  The new component exhibited both virus and Trojan characteristics.  The Trojan part was packaging up information from his computer and sending it out with his own primary security network scans.  The virus part had replicated itself into other components.  It also had a trigger indicated; it was monitoring the incoming traffic.


John decided that this had become top priority, if my system is not secure than neither am I.  However, the most important thing was not to be detected.  This would require some serious investigation and work.  He finished his cigarette and headed back inside.  Having the foresight and, he had to admit, the budget, he had cloned his primary computer and had three spares in the storage room.  He selected one and took it to his bench.  He set up a monitor with the spare computer then turned his attention to the infected machine.  One of the utilities he had included with his secondary security system was a clone facility.  As it operated separately from the operating system, it could clone the entire system without being noticed.  It was this utility that John had used to create his cloned machines in the first place, just out of efficiency really.  Now it was vital.  The secondary security system also had exclusive use of its own network port and it was this that John used to transfer the cloned data to the new computer.  This one wouldn't go on the outside network.  John disconnected the network between the two machines and set about his investigation.  This is going to take some time.


 


 


11:07               27 December  [06:07  27 December GMT] 


Fifth Avenue, New York, USA.


 


The looks Sam was receiving she didn't cherish.  She was trying to buy some things for friends, her new colleagues, and herself.  Again the looks.  At least they don't follow me into the changing rooms, she reflected.  The two Sunarr bodyguards had been with her since first thing in the morning.  They had been outside her bedroom door when she got up, outside her bathroom whilst she showered.  In the kitchen, whilst she ate breakfast.  It was absurd really; her mother had waited for her daughter that morning to help her adjust.  This meant that they had four bodyguards in the kitchen watching them eat.  Driving herself had become out of the question, the bodyguards had a car with a human driver.  Her mother had hired Sam a limousine and chauffeur.  More practical, she thought, but less personal. 


The eerie thing was that they didn't communicate, at all.  They were just there, like a bad shadow, following her every move save the visits to toilets and changing rooms.  She had to admit they tried to keep a respectful distance, or maybe it was easier to survey the surroundings she didn't know.  They were not in the slightest inconspicuous though, and this was why she, and they, were being stared at.  This being New York some people tried to talk to them, some had photographs with them, most just kept out of the way. 


It had hardly been more than four hours and she was already going spare.  The thought of returning to her work at the Jet Propulsion Laboratory in California was not pleasant.  Armed guards and peaceful research were not happy bedfellows.  She walked into the Waldorf-Astoria on Park Avenue where she was meeting Anne for lunch.  Anne arrived predictably late, although fifteen minutes late for Anne was on time, almost early.  Anne swept into the bar with an accomplished flourish.  A senior advertising executive with a large New York firm, she was as bright and talented as she was attractive.  They kissed each other’s cheeks before Anne sat down.


'I thought this was just going to be the two of us.'  Anne remarked, nodding towards the two Sunarr bodyguards sat at an adjacent table, not eating or drinking.


'I know, I know.'  Sam replied desperately, 'I didn't have a choice.'


'Really, my boss has one.  His choice, or at least that's what he says.'


'Seriously?  Why would he need one?'


'Well he does do work for the government you know.'  Anne replied, slightly annoyed that her friend warranted bodyguards and she didn't think someone as important as her boss did.


Sam let that one pass.  The work the agency did was low level, public information ads and the like, nothing special.


'Actually, that's some of the good news I have.'  Anne said brightly.


'Oh and what's that?'


'We have won the Sunarr account.'


'The Sunarr account?  What on earth do they need with advertising?'


'It's not just advertising,’ Anne replied, annoyed at the put down, 'it’s the whole brand management'


'And what is the Sunarr brand?'


'Well,' Anne began, unconsciously launching into her pitch, 'Well we are working on three angles.  Your friend in need.  Help from afar.  Your future in the stars.  What do you think?'


'I think we both need a drink.'


Sam ordered two martinis and turned back to her friend, who had a hurt look on her face.  I need to make amends.


'Sorry Anne, I'm being a bit of a bitch aren't I?'


'You could say that.' 


'Sorry.  Forgive me?'


'Of course!  Anyway, the account is huge.  The government has underwritten the cost, which is a bundle.  I should make my bonus this year on this one account alone.'


There it is again, thought Sam, money.  She loved her best friend dearly, but she could never understand her desire for more and more money.  Money didn't interest Sam, but having grown up with it, she had never even considered its importance in life.  Money is only measured in its absence, never its presence.


'Anyway,' Anne continued, 'work isn't the only news I have.  I'm getting married!'  Anne thrust her ring finger under her friend’s nose.  Sam examined it.  It was typical Anne.  It was expensive and flashy.  Sam hated it.


'Oh it’s lovely.'  Sam crowed, 'you must be ecstatic.  Who’s the lucky man?'


'William Henry Orpington the third.'


'First and second not good enough?' 


'He used to work for two of the largest fund management groups in the world, now he has struck out on his own and he has a client list as long as your arm.  I can't tell you who is on it, but there are some very big names, very big.'


Sam was happy for her.  Anne was never going to settle for an employed man, she wanted someone independent, someone rich.  Someone others looked up to.


'Have you named the day yet?'  Sam inquired, aware of what was coming next.


'Yes the thirteenth of September.  I hope you are free, well I mean you have to be free, can't having the wedding without the bridesmaid.'


There it is, thought Sam with a deep internal sigh, bridesmaid.  Anne was the last of her friends to get married; now it would just leave Sam.  Sam the singleton.  Spinster Sam her friends would start calling her, and they would be sad for her.  Poor Sam, no man in her life to define her.  No man to care for her.  No man to provide for her.  Poor Sam.  Sam wanted to throw up at the thought of this.  True she did want a man in her life, but she didn't feel that she needed one.  Sam managed a broad smile.


'I'd be honoured.'


All the subsequent wedding talk helped Sam to forget her bodyguards.  Anne had planned her wedding for years, the venue, the music, the food, everything except the dress.  She wanted this to be the height of fashion and she would be going to the best designer.  She had even designed the engagement and wedding rings when she was only sixteen.  Now she was wearing the real thing.  She had a tiepin designed in the same style and with the same gem setting as her engagement ring.  This she planned for her fiancé to wear on the wedding day.  Anne showed the tiepin to Sam who nodded appreciatively and made the right sounds.  Lunch stretched into the afternoon, by the time they had finished Sam wished one of her bodyguards would shoot her.  Or Anne, whichever.


 


 


12:43               24 December  [12:43  24 December GMT] 


Research Laboratory, Cambridge University, Cambridge, England.


 


The results were good, unfortunately, the news was not.  The infection was worse than he initially thought.  The virus, Trojan or whatever the hell it was, was intelligent, aware.  Whenever he used his primary security system, it would mutate, adapting to the presence of the system.  It even tried to replicate the security system and overwrite it.  John was proud that the system resisted this effectively; it both knew what it was and what it wasn't, so the invasion was foiled.  The secondary system went undetected; it kept monitoring and reporting on the Contagion, as John had decided to call it.  He had managed to do a partial trace on it.  It had, like most network traffic, taken several routes to arrive at his system.  The entire network infrastructure of the university was infected, that was certain.  Obviously isolated networks wouldn't be yet, not until some student or professor uses a data device to effectively bridge the networks.  The Net was widely infected too, the lack of virus alerts from the leading commercial suppliers of anti-virus software a clear indication that it hadn't been detected yet.  Given his research, he felt it unlikely that they would; more likely the servers that provided the anti-virus updates were infected and systems were being updated with infected software.  Meanwhile this intelligent contagion was sending back information, but to where John had no information, only an educated guess.  The Sunarr.


The Contagion was too far advanced technically to be the product of any one individual; he doubted that this was the work of any government either.  The Contagion exhibited the characteristics of a third or maybe even fourth generation artificial intelligence.  First generation artificial intelligence is written by developers, second generation by the program that they created.  This meant that it had been written by a program that had also been written by a program and maybe that program was also written by a program.  With each generation the algorithms became simpler, the interrelationships more complex, just like biology.  And just like biology, each generation becomes more intelligent than the previous.  Now he was sure he was looking at something the equivalent of a spider in intelligence, mostly instinctual, but clever nonetheless.  However, this spider had the ability to reproduce at the speed of a microprocessor.  It hadn't yet though.  It appeared that wouldn't happen until it was triggered. 


For now, the problem was how to eradicate it and protect his system without being detected.  The Contagion was like a virus in that an already infected body wouldn't be infected again.  However, one with immunity might trigger an adaptive response, causing the Contagion to mutate into something that could infect his machine.  There was only one real choice.  He realised that he would have to reverse-engineer the Contagion and incorporate it into his operating system.  It would run in its own processor like his secondary security system, but it would have its own operating system to monitor.  This would be separate from the operating system that he would be using.  Unfortunately, this would necessitate setting up several email addresses between which this ghost system could exchange emails and he would need a bunch of data every day to simulate normal use.  John felt a mini-project for an undergraduate coming on.  Need to find a bright one, who is keener to please than question, he smiled at that thought.


 


 


12:00               24 December  [12:00  24 December GMT] 


Ministry of Defence, Whitehall, London, England.


 


Charlie Beaconsfield was not a happy man.  The cause was the piece of paper he held in his hand.  It was a written order from the Secretary of Defence, Sarah Montgomery-Smith, instructing all senior military officers that they would be issued with Sunarr bodyguards.  He had spoken to her about this, off the record.  She had assured him that she had argued vigorously with the Prime Minister, even threatening to resign to no avail.  Therefore, she had issued the order, with reluctance, but hoped that by keeping her position she could at least affect how it was implemented.


              Charlie was currently in the secure communications room having put through a call to Sam Colt, his US opposite number.  It was seven in the morning in New York, but Sam was at work.


'Hi Charlie, what's up with the early call?'


'Sorry Sam, this couldn't wait.  I have just been given written orders that I will have two Sunarr bodyguards from now on.'


'Shit, sorry Charlie.  I was hoping you Brit's might escape that.'


'You have the same order?'


'Yep.  Not official yet, later today probably, but yer we're getting the same order.'


'What do you intend to do about it?'


'Same as you I figure.  Bitch about it in private and support it in public.  Why?  Do you have something else planned?'


'No Sam, I was hoping you had.'


'It's going to make the exercise real tricky.  I don't know about you but I don't fancy them looking over our shoulders while we show our best tactics.  Shit, I just thought, what about Ivanskiy?  If I know him at all he'll do a shit over this.'


Charlie didn't like his friend’s use of profanity, but he couldn't argue with his assessment of the situation, or the likely reaction of their Russian colleague.


 


 


15:00               24 December  [12:00  24 December GMT] 


Office of the Head of the Russian Army, Kremlin, Moscow, Russia.


 


'Absolutely not!’  General Gregori Stephonovich Ivanskiy bellowed at his boss not three feet away.  He had jumped to his feet, sending his chair, a nice seventeen-century handcrafted French example, flying away behind him.  'Never!’  He slammed his considerable fist down on the desk, inches from his boss.


His boss sat there impassively.  Uncharacteristically for a Russian he was not quick to anger, or at least not to show it.  He looked up at his subordinate, glowering over him.  'Have you finished, Gregori Stephonovich?'  He asked, his voice a quiet strength against the noise still echoing in the room.


Gregori Stephonovich breathed deeply, like a wounded bear.  He straightened up and retrieved his chair from where it was cowering.  He pushed it back in front of his boss's desk and sat down on it heavily, the old wood creaking slightly under the sudden strain.


'Yes.'  Gregori Stephonovich said, trying his best to sound calm and in control.


'Tell me old friend.  If you were given an irrational but legitimate order in battle what would you do?'


'I would have to follow the order, but I would interpret it in such a way so that I could make a good decision from it.'  He replied honestly.


'Even from me?'  His boss raised an eyebrow.


'Of course not from you.'


'Of course from me.'  He said making his point clear.  'This is a field order.  You must obey it.  How you obey it, is up to you.  Just make sure that everyone sees that you have obeyed it...Gregori Stephonovich, this is not the time for rocking the boat.  Now unless there is anything else, you are dismissed.' 


Gregori Stephonovich turned and left.  Waiting outside was his aide.


'How much did you hear Nickolai Andreovich?' 


'Not much.'  Colonel Nickolai Andreovich Petrov lied politely.


'Good.  Trouble comes to the man who listens too much.  I have a job for you.'


The General explained what he wanted and Nickolai Andreovich's eyes went wide.


'Brilliant General.  A truly excellent response.'


'Careful Nickolai Andreovich, remember what I told you about trouble.' 


 


 


13:00               24 December  [12:00  24 December GMT] 


Le Monde, Paris, France.


 


'I don't give a shit for your sad little story.  It's mostly rumour and conjecture.'


'But that's the point...'


'Don't interrupt me!  I was editing this paper before you could read.  As I was saying, what you call a story is not.  Yet.  You can carry on sniffing around in your spare time.  In the meantime, I want the story on the Mayor and this isn't ready to be published.  Haven't you heard about the Sunarr?  Help from Afar.' 


The Editor quoted the copy in the advert the Sunday edition was going to carry.  They were doing an advertisement feature on the Sunarr, and they were being paid a lot for it.  Moreover, the owner was now a personal friend of the Sunarr ambassador to France.  A good editor follows the news; a long-term editor follows the owner.


Jean Minoit left his bosses office a deeply unhappy man.  Six years into his full time journalist role he had failed to get a scoop to make his name, others had and their careers had blossomed.  Jean's was still a fledging, not yet capable of flight, its legs tired and weary of carrying all the weight, his wings as yet untested.  He could feel this was a story in his bones, but everywhere he looked doors closed in his face.  Contacts normally happy to reveal even the deepest of secrets, often to the detriment of their own side, were conspicuously silent on the Sunarr and the possible existence of any camps.  Somehow, world gold production had shot up soon after their arrival.  Some relatives couldn't contact those in jails close to a gold mine.  Others had no problem.  In addition, it was only gold mines.


              This is a real story, it has to be.  But how do I get corroboration when no one will talk off the record, even on deep background?  Jean thought to himself.  He realised that he was going to have to paint a picture without the subject in it, just the background.  Like a painting of a black hole in space, with only the absence of stars to denote its presence.  He would build his story on all the circumstantial facts that he could gather.  Testimony from the relatives of prisoners.  The decrease in food and supplies sent to those prisons close to gold mines, compared to those that are not.  The increase in production of gold at virtually all mines.  The no flyover zones implemented.  The perimeters set up around them to keep people out.  The edited satellite photos.


Jean would build his story and let the world know what was happening.  Prisoners, hundreds, maybe thousands of them had gone missing and the aliens had taken over nearly every Gold mine on Earth.  This is news; the people have a right to know.


Jean left the offices of Le Monde, crossing the street to his favourite café, deep in thought about his story.  A blue Mercedes van hit him square at speed, sending the reporter into the path of oncoming traffic.  The van never stopped. 






 




 


 


 


 


 


 


19 The Living Letter


 


 


13:40              19 December  [07:40 19 December GMT] 


La Guitarra Mine, Nr. San Simon de Guerrero, 60 miles South West of Mexico City.


 


It had taken Chuck a few days to find his target.  The dishwasher was young, perhaps seventeen.  He spoke good English, which was essential for Chuck, and he was very unhappy with his lot.  That was the deciding factor.  He had overheard him talking with the other dishwashers and what he could understand was how unfairly he had been treated.  Chuck didn't know what it was yet, but he knew that he would soon.  He took the opportunity that lunch provided, bolting down his food he took his plate back to be washed.


'You know I used to wash dishes when I was you age.'  Chuck lied.


'Si, now you are a prisoner, so what?'


'So I decided one day that I wanted more.  Seemed to me that others were getting the good life and I was clearing up after them.'


The young man stopped and looked up at Chuck. 


'What did you do?'  His face was beginning to show his yearning for a better life.


'I found out what others wanted and helped them get it.  For a fee of course.  How much do you earn?'


The young man laughed like the fates had conspired against him.


'Hah, I get the same I always have.  The others, well, they are getting rich.'


'Whys that?'


'The miners, they get paid on the price of gold.  I have heard them talk about it.  They also get paid on production.  Both have increased many times, but I still paid the same.'


'That's not fair.'


'Si, it is not.  My girlfriend is with child.  We want to get married.  This I cannot afford.'


'Perhaps I can help.'


'Why should you help?'  The young man was suspicious now.


'I'm Chuck.'  He said as he held out his hand.


'I am Angel.'  He took Chuck's hand and shook it, grateful that someone thought him worthy of something as simple as a handshake.


'Well life is pretty uncomfortable in here.  I have friends and money on the outside that could help.  I would be grateful enough to help you...and your family.'


'How grateful?'


'Enough for the wedding and maybe a nice house.'


Angel smiled.  Chuck could see he had him right.  Give me a disgruntled man and I’ll give you a way in…or out.  Chuck smiled and offered his hand again, sealing the bargain.


'I'll see you at dinner Angel.'


'Si, see you later Chuck.'


Chuck whistled to himself as he walked away.  His back was stiff, his stride confident.  He hadn't felt this good in a long while.


'Angel, what was that about?'


'The gringo thought I could get him extra food, pah!'  Angel spat to emphasise his disgust at prisoners in general and foreign prisoners in particular.  The other dishwasher wasn't overly convinced but walked off anyway.  Angel watched him go back to his workstation; delighted by the fact he wasn't going to have to share his new source of income.  I must be more careful, Angel thought to himself.


Chuck walked over to Leroy, and squatted down next to him.  'Have you got the letter ready?'


'Not yet.'  That was quick, Leroy thought to himself, this guy is good.


'Get it to me at dinner.'


Chuck stood up and walked off.


Lunch was almost over, Leroy moved quickly to find Saeb and Benjamin.  They were sitting apart from the others on the periphery of the prisoner group.


'It's on for dinner.  Have you got the letter ready?'


'Nearly.'  replied Benjamin.


'We will get it to you at the end of the water break.'  Promised Saeb.


'Cool.  See you later.'


 


The time to the water break passed quickly.  Saeb and Benjamin discussing what else needed to be in the first letter.  It was not made any easier by the fact that they had to encode the entire letter, whilst maintaining the appearance of an innocent letter home.


'What else do you think we should ask of them my friend?'  Benjamin said, then was struck by the fact he had added my friend and that it hadn't felt awkward or forced.  Why have I never sat and eaten with a Palestinian before?  Never held a civil conversation with one?  What would my friends back home say?  Benjamin couldn't know it but his friend Saeb was thinking along similar lines.


'We need information, as much as they can tell us.  I don't know if you noticed, but when we were brought here, there were no guards outside, no military installations that could be seen.  This tells me that these Sunarr, ' Saeb spoke their name as if a curse, 'have every confidence in this dome of theirs.  I fear it will be up to us to escape, rescue will not be likely.'


How did I miss that?  Benjamin asked himself.  Because I was feeling sorry for myself, rather than helping myself by doing reconnaissance and planning.  Saeb rose again in Benjamin's estimation.


'You are right of course.'  Benjamin realised.  'We should make this clear to them.'


 


 


08:15               27 December  [03:15  27 December GMT]


Office of the Secretary-General, United Nations, New York, USA.


 


Jayanti fondled the piece of paper in her hands.  She looked nervously at the Sunarr security detail standing opposite her, either side of her office door.  They follow me everywhere, well nearly everywhere, she smiled to herself at that thought.  Thank goodness that they don't know my usual routine.  Jay had changed her activity when the Sunarr had been attached to protect her.  Now she still held meetings to discuss normal UN business, but she supplemented that with personally delivering written correspondence around the building, in this way she hoped that the off the record stuff she had to do would not attract attention.  However, communicating only in writing has its limitations.


It amazed her how quick her organisation was growing.  The letter had arrived the day before, hand delivered by Jane.  The symbols on it were obviously Arabic or Hebrew, she hadn't known which.  However she had sent it down to the Middle Eastern section chief for eyes only translation.  He couldn't understand what all the fuss was about.  As soon as he had started reading it, it became clear that it was filled with everyday stuff; the weather, questions about relatives, holiday plans and the like.  Nothing unusual in that.  However when he came to the second page it did become rather odd.  Not the content he noted, that was more of the everyday.  It was the language.  The first page was written in Arabic, Palestinian he was quite sure.  The second page however was in Hebrew.  He ran a spectrographic analysis of the ink.  They had used the same pen.  He was sure that the two sections had been written by different people.  The use of language was too untidy to be the work of people who weren't natural writers in each of the two languages, sentence construction and diction both confirmed this in his mind.  He finished the translation, wrote up his findings, and put them in the secure internal envelope.  This he hand delivered to the Secretary-General.


Jay had reviewed the section chief’s notes.  Having someone independent confirm that the letter was written by both a native Israeli and a native Palestinian wasn't enough to confirm its authenticity for her.  The translated text she handed over to the deputy section chief of the cryptography department, the section chief being on long-term sick leave.  The analysis didn’t reveal anything hidden in the text, the Cryptographer explaining that she needed the original text.  Jayanti had sent her the original and was now reading the new report.


The authors of the letter have detailed knowledge of cryptography.  Specifically the Hebrew section appears to have been encoded using the second revision of the Israeli intelligence service, Mossad.  This revision is used almost exclusively by senior field members of that service.  However, the service had implemented revision three over ten years previously, so it is likely that the individual concerned has not been in the field for at least that long.  The Arabic is even more interesting.  It is definitely Palestinian in origin; the encoding method used was developed by a group called Ilah Quwwa or God's Might.


The Cryptographer had included a table with known members of that group, listed as Active, Inactive, or Deceased.  Jay noted that Saeb Tibi was marked as “Deceased (Presumed)”.  Jay knew it was not absolute proof; however, she also knew that you rarely have anything one hundred per cent confirmed in intelligence.  The odds of this being anything other than genuine were slim indeed.  However, just to be cautious she had sent the translated text to be reviewed by the intelligence section.  They had confirmed all the references to relatives were accurate; the clincher had been the things that they couldn't confirm.  The intelligence files are heavily indexed and cross-referenced.  Both sections of the letter had included affiliations that they suspected, but had never been able to confirm.  Including oblique references to military actions both were believed to have been involved in but had never been proved.


Jay reflected on all this, this has to be genuine, she thought.  There was a knock at her door, William entered.


'You wanted a reminder about your spa day.' 


Jay looked at her watch; it was eight thirty and time to get moving.


'Yes thank you William, would you ask my driver to bring the car around.'


'Of course.'


Jay stood to leave, the Sunarr body guards seemed to stiffen at this, like a coiled snake ready to strike.  She ignored them the best she could and headed out of the office, the Sunarr following close behind.  By the time Jay exited the building her driver was waiting for her, as too was the driver of the car for the Sunarr.  It’s a shame I'm not allowed now to have anyone travel in the car with me, except Sam of course.  Jay had been resolute on this point and the Sunarr had conceded.  The convoy pulled away and headed for the spa.


 


 


10:00               27 December  [05:00  27 December GMT]


Dayton Park Spa, New York, USA.


 


The spa dated back to the early nineteenth century.  It had been built by Mary Morgan's great, great, great aunt, also named Mary, after her rather acrimonious divorce from her first husband, some years before she married into the Morgan family.  At that time there were few places were women could go to be in their own company.  Men had all sorts of clubs, some private members clubs, others for the less financially secure provided services aimed at men.


Dayton Park was named in honour of her mother.  A beautiful but emotionally strong woman, it had been her influence that had persuaded her daughter that divorce was far preferable to a bad marriage.  It was made somewhat easier in that the money was Mary's not her husbands.  Indeed his gambling and poor investments had been the last straw in their rocky relationship.


Mary had established Dayton Park as a retreat for ladies from the pressures of society life.  Here, in an all-woman environment there was no need for makeup, corsets, or other strictures of society.  The library was one of the best.  The extensive reception rooms held classes, ranging from finance and investments to the sciences.  Almost unheard of in its day, the classes were always well attended.  The women who passed through its doors were inspired to go further in the course of improving the lives of other women.


It was not without its detractors though.  Some men tried to have it closed for any number of spurious reasons.  One such incident included an accusation that the establishment “corrupted the morals and values of ladies.”  Although without foundation it made it to the district court, where the Judge, Justice Arthur Stanwright-Moore found in favour of the defendant and in his summing up said “...it is without question that Dayton Park affects the attitudes, experiences and knowledge of the ladies who attend there.  However I find no evidence that this has harmed the virtues, values or morals of said ladies”  It was no coincidence that the Judge's wife had been one of those ladies, who after some weeks attending Dayton Park returned prepared to work at her marriage.  She cut their expenses by a third, increased the return on their investments, and through her newly formed connections got her husband membership at the country club, where he had spent many happy days playing golf.


Now Dayton Park was a foundation.  Income it earned that was in excess of costs was donated to various women's charities.  Education was still a cornerstone of its existence.  It still provided classes in various subjects, but the curriculum, such as it was, had been brought up to date.


Jay's car swept along the gravel drive pulling up to the ornate East entrance.  She waited for one of the Sunarr bodyguards to open her door, she didn't have long to wait.  Jay strode up the steps into the entrance, the two bodyguards standing one either side of the door turning from automatons into statues.


As Jay heard the door close behind her, she let out a deep breath, thankful that the Sunarr had obeyed the women only rule.  She relaxed a little more and approached the reception desk.


'Good Morning Ms. Kapoor, we are honoured to have you here.'  The receptionist said.


'Have my guests arrived?'


'Most are here, we are waiting on a few, the car left about forty minutes ago to collect them from the airport.  The others are waiting in the Music Room for you.'


'Thank you.  Which way is the Music Room please?'


'Down the hall, on the left.'


'Thank you...err...'  Jay read the name plaque on the desk, ' Ms. Stirling.'  She finished.


Ms. Stirling positively beamed at the Secretary-General calling her by name.


'Please call me Kitty, its short for Katherine'


'Thank you Kitty.'  Jay smiled and left for the Music Room.


The Music Room was large, about the size of a small hall.  It was furnished with various settees, armchairs, and coffee tables.  To one side of the room a breakfast buffet had been laid out for the guests and some were milling around this, nibbling various pastries and fruits.  Most of the guests were in groups, either standing or sitting.  Some of the faces she recognised, some she did not.  There was one however, that she knew only too well, and she wasn't pleased to see her here.


'Sam!'  Jay exclaimed at her daughter, 'what on earth are you doing here?'


'It’s good to see you too mother.' 


Sam's sarcasm wasn't lost on her mother, but she was too annoyed to make anything of it.


'How did you know about this?' 


'I asked Will when I could get some time with you.  He seemed to think today would be a good opportunity.  He also mentioned something about his sister, but I didn't catch it really.'


'Well I guess you're here now....'  Jay was starting to think about the positive side of having her daughter involved.


'Have you introduced yourself around?'  Jay inquired.


'We both have.'  Sam replied.


'We.  Who is we?'


'Oh the invite said to bring a trusted friend or two so I bought Anne.  You remember Anne, don't you?'


Jay remembered Anne.  That girl is a liability, too loud, too brash and far too much into gossip, she thought to herself.


'Yes, of course.  She's delightful.  Now if you'll excuse me for a little while I really need to go and say hello to some people.'


'Sure, see you later.'


Jay left her daughter to greet her guests individually.  There were twenty-two in all, including her daughter and her friend.  There would be twenty-seven once the five from the airport arrived.  Some had been invited just for cover.  William had thoughtfully produced an activities agenda for the day.  They would split into three working groups, all apparently set the workshop task of “improving the lives and opportunities of women.”  However, the materials produced by Jay's group had already been done and were ready and waiting in Function Room 3.  The other two groups, consisting of the cover guests, would spend their time thinking about women.  Jay's group was going to think about the Sunarr and the future of mankind.


Jay decided to take the plunge, she added her daughter’s name to her own group, and her friend Anne was put in another group.  This just has to work, so much depends on it, the fear she felt was deeply unsettling.  Her demeanour did not show it however, as she moved from group to group, smiling and making conversation.


             


The group from the airport finally arrived, Jay moved to welcome them.


'I'm so glad that you could make it.'  Jay offered her hand to them in turn. 


'Elizabeth Beaconsfield'


'Mary Morgan-Colt'


'Anna Stephonova Ivanskiy'


'Severine Pascal'


'Anne-Marie Courtine'


Severine looked sideways at Anne-Marie.  Here was the person that she had let into her life, told her intimate secrets and this she realised was the first time she had heard Anne-Marie's surname.  Courtine, that cannot be a coincidence, I need to speak to her, alone.  The introductions made, Severine led Anne-Marie away to the buffet, ostensibly to get some breakfast.


'Courtine, Courtine!  Tell me that is a coincidence, go on tell me.'  Severine was careful not to raise her voice so much as to be overheard, but she emphasised her words leaving Anne-Marie in no doubt how angry she was.


'You're right of course.  It is not a coincidence.  I took the name of the town, as I didn't want mine anymore.  I didn't want people knowing who I was.  So I took the name of the only place I have ever felt happy in, safe in.  Sorry I should have told you, but it genuinely never crossed my mind.'


'Is there anything else failing to cross your mind?'


Anne-Marie cast her gaze towards the ground and murmured a pitifully quiet 'no'.


Severine could sense that there was more now her eyes had been opened.  What it was and how much she couldn't even guess at, but she decided to pursue that another time.


'I guess you two were hungry.'  Jay said to them by way introducing herself into the conversation.


'Yes, we were.  You know how it is with airline food.'


Jay didn't.  She hand only flown first class for years now and had obviously always found the food excellent. 


'I need to give you your packs.  You'll both be with me in Function Room three.  We will be heading through shortly, but don't worry you can bring your breakfasts with you, if you like.' 


 


 


10:30               27 December  [05:30  27 December GMT]


Function Room 3, Dayton Park Spa, New York, USA.


 


The room had been specifically selected.  The other two rooms were adjoining; this was on its own, jutting out from the building, windows on all three sides so they could see anyone who might observe them from the garden.  The room was also single storey.  The only connection to the rest of the building was the hallway that led to the room.  This left them free to discuss things openly.


Jay stood in front of her guests, silent.  She didn't have a clue how to begin.  The knowledge that anyone of them could betray her hung in the air, a dark oppressive cloud.


Where are my speechwriters when I need them?  She wondered idly to herself.  This is going to have to be all me.


'When I became Secretary-General of the United Nations,' she began, 'I took a pledge to serve the whole of humanity.  I would like us all to make the same pledge.  If you would kindly stand and repeat after me.'


'I, Jayanti Kapoor, do solemnly swear and affirm by everything I hold dear and true, that I will serve the Earth, humanity and its future from now and until the day I die.  I further swear that I will only discuss what is discussed between and amongst this group with those others who genuinely make the same pledge.'


'Now please be seated.'


'It is written in our histories, all of our histories, that when people come with advanced technology they come to take what they want.  I believe.  I know.  That this is happening again.  This time it is on a massive scale, it affects all of our countries, our entire world.  The Sunarr are here to take what they want.  What they want is our Gold.  Why?  Because Gold is the single most important thing in the universe.  It is what is needed for space travel.  Without it, we will be stuck here forever at the mercy of the Sunarr and any others who come here.  As you know, the Sunarr have offered protection to world leaders.  What you may not know is that they threatened to cut off ties with any country that refused.  Our governments have been taken hostage.  Our military too.  We have been enslaved by the Sunarr and we didn't even notice.  I do not know, but I strongly believe that it was the Sunarr who were behind the assassinations.  It suited their purposes.  I am making a stand against this and I need your help.  I need every one of you and those you can get to help too.  I realise that this is a lot to take on board but before I go on I need each of you either to leave now or to re-state your pledge in front of the rest of us.  If you stay I would also like you to introduce yourself to this group.'


No one left.


Elizabeth Beaconsfield strode to the front of the room and re-stated the pledge.  She continued, 'As some of you know I am married to General Beaconsfield.  Before I left, he notified me that he has been assigned two Sunarr bodyguards.  I know my husband and I also know from the tone of his voice that this was thrust upon him against his wishes.  The fact that he had to speak in such a circumspect manner means that he could not speak freely.  My husband is one of those who have been compromised.  Let me be clear, British forces are now effectively under the control of the Sunarr.  This is a situation that cannot be allowed to continue.  I am honoured to be part of this group and I promise to you all that I will dedicate my life to the freedom of mankind.  Thank you.'


Mary Morgan-Colt followed her friend and gave a similar account.  Anna Stephonova stepped forward, she wanted to be counted amongst the first, and also she had something she wanted to share with her new American and English friends.  She started with the pledge.


'I am Anna Stephonova, my husband is Gregori Stephonovich Ivanskiy.  He is General in Russian Army.  He too, like my friends, has the Alien Bodyguards.  He took order to have the bodyguards and so, he decided that if General Staff feel his life in danger then he should have more protection.  Now he has his own troops guarding him and the aliens.  The General Staff do not like this, but what can they say?  He could not extend this to me though.  So I, like some of you, have the alien bodyguards outside now too.  I am prisoner in my own life.  My husband cannot act with my life in the hands of aliens.  He too is therefore prisoner.  I, we, pledge our lives to being free.'


Anna sat back down, a small tear of fear and frustration streaking her mascara down her left cheek.  Elizabeth held out a hand and gently squeezed Anna's, she passed her a tissue and whispered to her. 


'We will be free my friend, we will.'


The group were seated in an arc; Elizabeth, Mary, and Anna on the outside, William's sister Tiffany was seated next to Anna and felt that she had to go next.  She felt unprepared and out of her depth, however the actress in her rose to the occasion.  She took the pledge and then introduced herself.


'Hi, my name is Tiffany.  I'm not really sure why I am here, only my brother, William insisted I come.  William is Jayanti's aide.'


Jay stepped forward, interrupting Tiffany.


'I asked William to invite Tiffany.  She will be your contact with me through William.  If that's alright Tiffany?'


              'Yes.  Yes of course.'  Tiffany brightened, 'I'm an actress you see.'  Her confidence ebbed away, conscious that there were women of import in the room.


'Well I will do my best by you all.  Thank you Jayanti for your confidence in me.  I won't let you down.'


As Tiffany sat down, Severine seated next to her took the floor.


'I'm Severine Pascal.  I was a soldier in the French Army.  I have served my country many times, undertaking special operations.  I....'  She faltered, she wanted to be honest with this group, felt that it was the right thing to do, but.  They asked me to come here, they must know of this group and trust them.  Besides if it were an issue then they would have told me not to reveal their existence, she reasoned to herself. 


'I have since been recruited by the soixant-dix neurf, the seventy nine, it was at their request that I attend.  I now see that I was right to accept their offer.  That I am in the service of a higher cause.  I willingly offer my life to the cause of freedom.'


'What are the seventy nine?'  Tiffany piped up, not wanting to be left out.


Again, it was Jayanti who interjected.


'I think it is best that I explain.  I was contacted, before the arrival of the Sunarr, by an organisation called Group Seventy Nine.  They told me of the impending arrival of the Sunarr and that they could not be trusted.  They have proved correct in everything they have told me, I believe that they, like us, are working for the good of mankind.  I have placed my trust in them.  I can only ask that you do the same.'


There was some murmuring at this, however as Anne-Marie approached the front of the group it died down, allowing her to speak.  She too gave the pledge.


'I am Anne-Marie Courtine.  I have not had the best of lives, but I have always valued my freedom.  Freedom to roam, freedom to think and say what I want, freedom to be happy.  I came here with my friend Severine.  I came because she wanted me to and because I was invited.  However, I see that the fates have given me the opportunity to do something meaningful with my life.  I will make a stand for humanity, for France and for Freedom.  This I swear.'


Sameena was up next.  She looked at her mother, Jay standing to the side.  Jay couldn't start to imagine what she was making of all this.  She held her breath, waiting for her daughter to speak.


Sameena, her eyes cast down, took a deep breath and recited the pledge.


'As you know, I am Sameena Kapoor.  My mother is Jayanti Kapoor, Secretary-General of the United Nations and now I see a woman who has been carrying the weight of the entire world on her shoulders.  I too have Sunarr bodyguards.  I accepted them because I thought my mother was scared for me.  I did it to make her feel better.  I now know that she had no choice in this.  That they were assigned to me not for my protection, but for my mother's obedience.  I guess I have been too self-involved to see what has been happening around me.  No more.  I don't know how I can serve, only that I will do anything and everything in my power to help.'


The last woman to speak slowly rose from her seat.  She was obviously in some pain, elderly and the only black member of the group, except for Severine.  A large lady, she had a presence about her that was almost tangible.  A quiet confidence, born of a lifetime of struggle.  When she finally spoke to give the pledge, she gave the clear impression of someone who was bright, but hadn't benefitted from a good education.


'My name is Hillary Banks.  My grandnephew is Leroy Banks.  He is stuck in a camp in Mexico.  I got a letter from him telling me how bad things are there.  I know that according to the Mexicans, he committed a crime, but really, he was just protecting people.  He and I are quite wealthy, and perhaps this is how I can help.  I know that he would want me to.  I only have one thing in the world that I care about and if this group can help free him then count me in.’ Hillary moved slowly back to her seat, she was walking taller this time though.


'Thank you Hillary.  Thank you all.  I think that we need to agree what this group should achieve, how we will do it, who and what else we need, but first I think we should take a break for refreshments and to just talk amongst ourselves so we get to know each other better.'


They retired to the refreshment buffet, the caterers delivering fresh coffee and tea for the group.  Once they left, Jayanti sought out Hillary.


'Hillary, thank you so much for coming.'


'I must admit the invitation was out of the blue and I've never been into these women helping women things.'  Hillary replied.


'Oh really,' asked Jay, 'and why is that?'  She was genuinely interested.


'Cause they tend to be rich folks helping each other to get rich.'  Hillary replied, gauging Jay's reaction.


'You're right of course.  Real people, real women, are generally too busy to have meetings.'  Jay sighed at this; her face was shadowed with deep regret.


Hillary stared intently at Jay, taking her measure.  'You really care, don't you?'


‘What,’ Jay had been elsewhere, 'Yes I do.  My parents were uneducated, house servants.  If I don't care about the least fortunate then what am I doing with my life?'


'I'll tell you a secret.'  Hillary leaned in closer to Jay.  'I hardly spend my income.  When Leroy gave me half the business, half his business I was set for life.  But I know my roots, I know the people I grew up with.  So I bought a little store back where I grew up.  I used it to set up a community loan and savings club.  People save for a year and then I lend them up to three times what they have saved.  They pay back at the rate they saved at, so I know that they can afford it.  If it’s for a business, I tend to invest a similar sum.  If they want to buy out my investment in them they can do this or not as they choose.  I employ a couple of retired folks who know accounts and stuff and they help those with businesses to work out costs, sales prices, and profits.  The businesses also bank with us so their profits are effectively re-invested in the neighbourhood.  Those that grow beyond the owner-worker, tend to employ from the area too.  It seems to be making a real difference too.  Shops are re-opening, crime is going down, and health is improving too.'


'And you've done all this yourself.'  Jay commented.


‘No.’ Hillary replied, 'I have had a lot of help.  Once I got the idea, I got those with businesses in the area to be part of the solution.  At first, they thought that they might be creating competition for what little business there was in the area.  I persuaded them that these new businesses could be customers of theirs and would also attract more shoppers and opportunities.  The results have been very good.'


'I envy you, you know.'  Jay said.


Hillary, somewhat taken aback by this statement, asked her why.


'You have made a real difference in people’s lives.  You have seen the improvements yourself.  I just deal with numbers, people in the abstract.  The worst is I can't do what I want to do.'


'What do you want to do?'


'I want every person born on earth to have the opportunity to fulfil their potential.'


'And what's stopping you?'


'It's complicated.  National governments, regional conflicts, acts of god you name it.  It’s the politics of it really that's what complicates it all.'


'Complicated is just a word for saying you haven't found the right way yet.  Just change the way you do things, that's all.'


Jay was about to retort, but she stopped herself and looked at Hillary, thinking about what she had said.


'You know, you're right.  It can't be done the complicated way, so I have to find a simple way.  Thanks.' 


Jay smiled at Hillary and headed off to mingle feeling much more positive.  The meeting recommenced with Jay taking the lead.  She wrote three headings to give them some structure to their discussions.  Political.  Military.  Social.  She decided to hand over to Severine to lead the discussion on the Military situation.


'Our situation can be described in both simple and complex terms.'  Severine began, 'In simple terms we are prisoners of the Sunarr.  However, we have the advantage in terms of numbers.  It is, unfortunately, more complex than that.  The Sunarr have effective control of our Political and Military leaders.  This means, in essence, that any act against the Sunarr is an act against the state and that state can use the military, our own people, to fight us.  It also means that they can use the civilian forces against us.  The police and intelligence services for example.  Our objective, I suggest, should be two fold.  Firstly to free ourselves from the control of the Sunarr.  Secondly, to secure our gold and ensure that it doesn't leave the Earth.  If we are to prevent further invasions we will have to do so in space and for that we need the Gold.'


'Have you any idea how many Sunarr are on Earth?'  Elizabeth asked.


'I would estimate anywhere from around eighty to a hundred and forty thousand.  Although the actual number is probably in the middle of that range.'


'How do we kill so many?'  Mary asked.


'Who said anything about killing people?'  Hillary interjected.


'It is Malovyero-yatno,' Anna Stephonova observed, 'excuse me, unlikely, that they will leave if we ask.  Proklyatye, after all why should they?  We have what they want, they are taking it.' 


'And', Severine continued, taking back the conversation, 'they are not, technically speaking, people.  Our choice is simple.  Take action or not.  Taking action means using force.  Besides it is not the death of the Sunarr that concerns me, it is the collateral damage.'


'Collateral damage?'  Jay hadn't considered this.


'Yes.  Put simply we will have to expect some humans to die in the fight for freedom.  I would expect this to be high.'


'How high?'  Again, this was Hillary's concern.


'Probably at least ten per cent of our Political and Military leaders.  Up to seventy per cent of their human bodyguards.  Plus non-combatants.'


'What about in the camps?'  Hillary was becoming more and more worried about her Leroy.


'That depends on how the camps are liberated.  There are a lot of unknowns there.  Look I think it best if we defer further discussion until we know more and have had chance for the others to be party to the solution.'


'Others?  What others?'  Anne-Marie inquired.


'We cannot do this alone.  We need to build a network of people dedicated to the cause.  We will have to be organised and have a command structure.  It will need to be global and local at the same time.  We will effectively be resistance fighters.'


              'I think,’ Jay said, interjecting 'that this is the perfect time to talk about the Political situation.'


The room went silent.  The only politician present was Jay and they were all looking to her to tell them the situation.  The silence continued. 


'Doesn't anyone have an opinion?  Don't any of you vote?' Jay asked.


'I vote.'  Hillary responded.


'Well what do you think?'


'About what?'


'About...,’ Jay hesitated before going on, aware that it might not be apparent to this group what the situation facing them was.


'Okay.  I think we are at a turning point in our history.  The human race faces a single foe.  If we are not united in our response to this threat then I suggest that we are finished.'


'But what can we do?'  Hillary was looking lost.


'Tell me Hillary, or rather please tell the group what you have done in your old neighbourhood.'


Hillary explained about how she had set up a Savings and Loan, engaging with local traders and local people and how her old neighbourhood was now starting to flourish again.


'That's what I think we should do, but on a global scale.'  Jay said.


'A Savings and Loan for the world.  Why?'  Mary asked, knowing that in her country Savings and Loans hadn't had a terribly good time of it in the past.


'Of a sorts yes.  As Severine pointed out, our security in the future will depend on our ability to fight in space and having gold to build ships.  No single nation on Earth has the resources to do this.  Every nation must contribute to the protection of Earth.  This can only be achieved through a new organisation.  It will be part military, part economic but it must be politically run.  The question before us is what the Political structure will look like.  How will it function?  How should decisions be made?  This is what we need to decide.  To make winning this war worthwhile we need to have a plan for peace and protection.'


Jay started by drawing up the structure she had outlined.  Two boxes, one with Military written in it and the other with Economic in it.  Over this, she drew a long, oblong box and wrote Political in it.  The discussion centred on the Political.  It was clear and sensible that the Political strata would have control of the Military and Economic functions.  What was not clear was how the Political strata would be controlled or chosen.  Elizabeth pointed out that the Political should be answerable to the Legal; otherwise, they might be replacing one despot with another.  Jay drew another oblong box on top of Political and wrote Law in it.  This provided oversight of the Political strata.  In order to make it work they put Elected in brackets under the Law, establishing the convention that the people would elect the ultimate arbiters of what the new organisation could and could not do. 


‘Now the Political strata could be appointed rather than elected.’  Jayanti observed, then added upon reflection, ‘Although the Law strata would be very large and this may make it difficult to make decisions.’


‘Maybe we have a Secretariat in Law strata?’  Anna Stephonova offered.


‘You mean like an Executive?  Elected by the Law strata from its own members and responsible for appointing and ratifying all the Senior Politicians.’  Jayanti said.


Mary jumped in, getting it.  ‘Then they would directly select and appoint the leader of the Political strata and that leader would be free to choose their own Political Senior Staff.  The Senior Staff would need to be ratified by the Executive however.’ 


In this way, they envisaged that the organisation would be a fair balance of what the people want, against who are the best people to get things done.  They knew that they had more to do.  They needed to have the Law strata fairly represent the opinions and values of every individual.  This was why the Law strata was going to be so big and why they would need to elect an Executive.


Time was now running against them.  Jay wrote Social up and underlined.  She wasn't clear in her own mind what she meant this to be, but she felt that it was right to discuss it.


'Shouldn't that be Social and Cultural?'  Asked Hillary.


‘Yes,’ Jay replied, 'that makes sense.  Social and Cultural it is.'  She added Cultural to the heading and looked expectantly at the group.  Fortunately, they were quicker coming forward this time.


'How do we balance this against the Political and Military objectives?'  Severine asked.  'After all, I'm guessing that you want to respect all Social and Cultural values of people.  However, often they are in opposition to hard Political and Military facts.  What are we to do then?'


'Your right, on both accounts.'  Jay replied.  'I do believe that we have to respect everyone's beliefs.  If we do not, then what is the purpose of liberating Earth?  I also realise that people's Social and Cultural beliefs often clash.  However, I feel that we must find a way forward.  This cannot be something that we just pay lip service to, it must be fundamental to the organisation that we create.  This must be our moral compass.'


This started a heated debate.  Everyone had an opinion, several opinions.  The discussion went round and round.  They argued amongst themselves about what rights, whose rights should be paramount.  They couldn't decide, indeed it appeared impossible to decide, they moved instead to create a list.  A list of fundamental rights for every person they had titled it “The Twelve Laws of the Individual”   and it would inform the Law strata when they were deciding upon an issue.  Jay read it out to the group.


'Every individual of Earth has the right to:


Life


Religion


Protection


Privacy


Expression


Over throw their government


Representation


Pursue happiness


Pursue procreation


Pursue learning


Pursue trade


Pursue change'


They reviewed the list, no one could fault it.  It would mean that every person’s Social and Cultural views were considered equal.  How it would work in practice would be up to the Law strata to decide.






 




 


 


 


 


 


 


20 The Dead Letter


 


 


08:45               13 December  [07:45  13 December GMT]


Porto Garibaldi, Milan, Italy.


 


Solomon and Natasha arrived back to the bus station having spent the night in a hostel.  The bus timetable was very confusing; Solomon continued to stare at it hoping it would miraculously make sense to her. 


Since their arrest and subsequent release she had relaxed a little, they had had some pasta and now, somewhat revitalised, Solomon was trying to decide where they should go next.  Admitting defeat, she led Natasha to the Tourist Information stand she had noticed earlier.  A small queue was ahead of her and this gave her the opportunity to browse through the leaflets, some of which had been thoughtfully translated into English.  As she scanned the leaflets, one had a pretty view of what appeared to be a very beautiful lake on it.  “Visit Lake Como” it declared.  I'd love to, Solomon thought, but I have to get to Switzerland.  Something about it seemed familiar though so she pulled out her atlas and thumbed her way through it looking for Lake Como.  She found it close to the Swiss border.  She looked closer at her map; within a few miles of the lake was a Swiss border town, Chiasso.  If we get to Lake Como, then it’s only a short distance to the border.  Solomon was now at the front of the queue, the people in front of her apparently being just one large group.


'I would like to see Lake Como.'  She said in her best English.


'Si, you can take a tour from the coaches.'  He replied amiably.


'Where are the coaches please?'


He pointed to the west exit.  'The coach park is next to the bus station.'


'Thank you'


Solomon led her daughter away in the direction of the coach park.  She was starting to feel nervous again but she took her mind away by thinking about what she would do with the rest of her life.  The only job she had ever had was in the army, and she didn't feel very much like enlisting again.  Besides, she thought, I can't go back to Russia and I doubt very much that any other country would want me in their army. 


Having led such a privileged and sheltered life she knew little of what other people did with their lives.  She thought about her short time washing dishes in the cafe; whilst it had suited her purposes, she knew that it would not offer the life she had promised her daughter.  She started to think about her mother, had she had a job?  What had her life been like growing up?  Slowly she realised that there had to have been more to her mother than she had ever known.  A woman who had the foresight to plan her own daughter's escape years beforehand.  A woman who suspected that her own husband was planning to kill her but didn't go to the authorities. 


Solomon took her place in another queue, this one for coach tickets.  The coach park was busy, and clearly, a central point for people visiting parts of northern Italy.  She held Natasha's hand and this seemed to calm her.  She looked down at her daughter waiting patiently in line with her, how have we come so far?  She wondered to herself.  Images of their time on the run paraded through her mind.  We're not free yet, she reminded herself, I don't know what Switzerland holds for us but it must, it must provide the answers.


'One adult and one child one-way for Lake Como please.’  Solomon asked absentmindedly.


'We only do return' the man said.


Damn, damn and blast, she raged at herself, such a stupid mistake!


'Oh I thought you bought the return there, this is better.'  She replied trying to cover her mistake, she accepted the two return tickets.  'Thank you, which coach is it?'


'Number ninety-five, over there.'  He pointed vaguely.


Solomon led Natasha away cursing her own stupidity under her breath.


The coach was a clean, modern air-conditioned one.  The seats generous for a coach, they relaxed into them and waited for the remaining passengers to board.  The coach pulled out of the park on time, easing its way into the dense traffic to make its way out of Milan to join the E35 north for Como.


Solomon sighed, both with regret at not having seen what Milan had to offer and from the sudden relief of stress.  She stared out the window, not really taking in the scenery but instead letting her mind wander and feel its way.  There was a part of her, a part of her mind, which had become numb reading the letter from her mother.  It had remained numb ever since.  Like any human organ, the brain has a self-protection mechanism, honed over thousands of years.  Traumatic events are compartmentalised, sealed off from the rest to protect the whole.  There was something different in Solomon's mind, something hidden there from birth.  It called to her in her dreams, it helped her in times of crises, but mostly it sat there observing, waiting, and biding its time.  She was aware of it now, lurking there, but every time she focused on it, it vanished from view, like the flash of light that lingers in the eye, just out of direct vision.  It called to her, whispering to her, the words indistinct but the message clear.  You do not belong here, you have never belonged here.  I'm on the run, she reasoned to herself, of course I don't belong here.  Unconvinced, the whispering continued.


'What's her name?' 


The voice registered but the direction from which it had come did not.  Solomon looked around; she locked eyes with the woman on the other side of the coach.


'Excuse me?' 


'Your daughter, what's her name?' 


The woman was polite, well dressed, and persistent.  Her accent placed her as an American or Canadian.  Solomon's heart skipped a beat, the woman was smiling, leaning forward, interested.  Be calm, be polite, be forgettable.  'Georgina.'  Solomon finally announced.  'She's eleven.'


'She's adorable, very pretty, obviously still in the tom-boy phase though.  It will pass.'  The woman caught the look of confusion on Solomon's face.  'The baseball cap.  My daughters both went through the same thing.  They even played in a league.  A couple of years later and they were cheerleaders.  It’s nice though, having the chance to explore your personality.  When I grew up I was always a little girl, up until I got married of course then I became a housewife.  I didn't mind it really, he was very good to me, and I have my children of course.  It’s just, well, sometimes, sometimes I do wonder.'


Solomon relaxed again now it was clear that the woman just liked to talk.  Must be travelling on her own.  Solomon looked at Natasha.  She does look like a tomboy.  The thought planted itself in her mind. 


'Have you been to Italy before?'


'No, no I haven’t’ Solomon replied without really thinking.


'Oh it’s marvellous.  Just marvellous.  I've been five times and it still thrills me.'                The woman carried on talking, with Solomon only having to make occasional replies.  She tuned the woman out, just a little, so she didn't have to concentrate.  At least it will make the journey seem quicker.


 


Lake Como proved to be everything the brochure had promised.  A little too commercialised for Solomon's taste, but beautiful none the less.  The lake wasn't what really interested her though.  It was its proximity to the Swiss border that did. 


Free of the coach, Solomon found them a table at a cafe overlooking the lake.  Switzerland awaited them just a few miles away but she was sure that the border guards had been informed that they were probably heading for Switzerland.  She had no doubt that the mother and daughter arrested before would have been freed by now.  The mistaken identity realised and corrected, the guards put back on alert.  She wondered briefly about the two poliziotti and what had happened to them.  Probably nothing, she thought, after all they had been told there was no reason to hold us.  However, it means that they know where we are headed, not precisely but closer than I would like.  Solomon's vision focused away from the lake, to the foreground.  The place was quite busy she noted to herself.  Lots of children playing.  Must be a school trip, she reflected noting the school uniforms.  They look a lot like the ones in the suitcase.  She took a sip of her coffee and looked at Natasha.  She really is quite a tomboy, that is when she isn't cuddling her toy sheep. 


The cafe was quite busy now and seats were scarce.  A woman holding a tray caught Solomon's eye and spoke to her in Italian.


'È questa sedia disponibile?'


'Excuse me?' 


'Is this chair available?'  The woman said in good English.


'Yes, please take it.'  Solomon waved the woman to take the seat.


The woman had bottle blonde hair, slim and probably in her mid-twenties.  She was quite attractive too, Solomon noted.


'Where are you from?'  The woman asked taking a bite of her sandwich.


'We are from Georgia.'  The lie slipped out easily this time.


'How long are you in Italy for?' 


Again, another bite, it was becoming apparent that the woman liked to talk whilst eating.


'We have been here a week, we are touring Europe.  It is lovely.  I'm Irina and this is my daughter Georgina.'  Solomon offered her hand. 


The woman wiped hers on a napkin before taking Solomon's.  'I'm Carmela, pleased to meet you.'


Carmela then started chatting to Solomon as if they were old friends who hadn't seen each other in years.  She was a newly qualified teacher at the “Scuola Primaria Di Castelli” a primary school for boys in Chiasso, here on a school day trip.  She pointed to some of her children; Solomon noted that they were the ones wearing the uniforms similar to the one in the suitcase.  Sometimes, Solomon thought, coincidence can be a real blessing.  They are looking for a mother and daughter, travelling together.  They are not looking for a schoolboy on his own or a woman travelling by herself. 


Solomon paid the bill, said goodbye to Carmela and led Natasha back to where the coach had dropped them off.  There were a good number of coaches parked up now and they slowly made their way round them checking the name on each.  The Castelli School had its own private coach, with the name written on the side.  Must be one impressive and expensive school, she thought.  The driver was sitting in a foldaway chair on the shady side of the coach, deeply engrossed in reading.


'Excuse me what time to do you return to the school?'


'Six o'clock.' the driver replied, not bothering to look up.


Solomon checked the time, a quarter to two, we have plenty of time to make this work.  She led Natasha to the toilets and set about turning her daughter into a boy.


 


Solomon had to admit that the transformation was amazing.  Natasha had not yet hit puberty so they didn't have to deal with that.  The voice was a problem.  If she had spoken Italian or French then maybe, she could have sounded like an effeminate boy or at best one who also hadn't hit puberty.  The Russian accent on her English however wasn't something they could do anything about.  Finally, Solomon had Natasha practice one sentence over and over again.


'My name is Chekov, I am new to school.' 


Solomon hoped it would be enough if Natasha were spoken to.  If it isn't, well..., Solomon stopped that line of thought.  She daren’t think of the consequences.


The time for boarding came, Solomon holding Natasha back until the coach was at least half-full.  She let Natasha go with instructions to take a window seat half way up the coach if possible.  Natasha walked off without a look back, this was the first time since they had left home that Natasha didn't have Sheepy with her.  Solomon had it tucked under her own arm.  She squeezed it gently and said a prayer.


The coach pulled off with Natasha on board.  Well, that much has worked so far.  She watched it disappear from view and then made her way to the bus stop.  Time to decipher the Italian timetable again, she sighed to herself.              She found Chiasso mentioned on the timetable, the next one due at eighteen minutes past the hour. 


 


No bus arrived at eighteen minutes past; instead, two busses arrived together at twenty-two minutes past.  Solomon scurried past the queue of people and joined what she quickly realised was a separate queue for the Chiasso bus.


'A return to Chiasso please.'


They arrived at the border crossing very quickly.  The bus came to a standstill, a long queue ahead. 


'What is the problem?'  Solomon asked the elderly woman next to her.


'It has been like this for the last few days.  Everything is being searched, escaped criminals or something.'


'How exciting.'  Solomon tried to sound in awe of the situation.


'A nuisance is what it is.  I've lived in Chiasso for over ten years and this is the worst I have seen it.'


The bus pulled forward; clear of the queue it joined a much shorter queue of other buses and coaches.  After twenty minutes, the bus pulled up to the barrier.  A Guardia di Finanza, an Italian border guard stepped on to the bus.  He scanned the passengers.  There were no children on the bus, so he stepped off again and waved it through.  Solomon was sweating, her breath shallow gasps.


'Are you OK sweetie?  You seem awfully pale.'


'I am OK thank you.  It is just my allergies.'


The Swiss side didn't even bother to stop the bus, just waved it through.  Just like that, she thought, just like that and we are in Switzerland.  Then she remembered that she was alone, Natasha was elsewhere, her status unknown.  I hope she is waiting by the school as I told her to.


Solomon asked the driver which stop was closest to the school.


‘It is just three stops ahead; from there it is only a five minute walk to the school.  I will tell you when we get to the stop.’


 


“Scuola Primaria Di Castelli.”  The driver announced.


Solomon made her way forward and asked the driver which in which direction the school was.  He pointed down a long road and said that it should be sign posted along the way.  Solomon struggled with their luggage walking down the road, she saw the sign he had mentioned with what she guessed was the name of the school on it and headed up a side road.  She could see the school now.  The school was an old brick building, in the typical chalet style of the region, with ornate but imposing iron railings around it.  There was no sign of Natasha.  She walked closer and now she could make out slight movement in the hedge on the same side of the road as her, opposite the school.  There it was again, just poking out.  Then it stepped out on to the path.  Solomon recognised her daughter instantly, dropping their belongings she ran towards her daughter, sweeping her up in her arms and holding her tightly, so tightly that she gave out a small squeal.  Solomon relaxed her grip, just a little and started to sob with relief and exhaustion.  Finally, Natasha broke the silence.


'Mummy, where is Sheepy?'


Solomon started to laugh, then cry, then laugh again.  Still holding Natasha in her arms, she walked back up the road to collect their belongings and to reunite a very special daughter with her favourite toy.


They took the train to Zurich, with just one change at Lugano they arrived at just after ten at night taking a room at the Sleepinzurich Hostel on Alfred-Escher-Strasse near the lake and in the centre of Zurich.  The beds were comfortable and they both slept soundly, feeling like they had finally arrived somewhere.


 


In the morning, they left their luggage in their room and ventured out for breakfast and to try to solve the last mystery.


 


Into the land of clocks and chocolate,


they stopped where it was              both safe and familiar,


“Do you have anything for me?”


“What is your name?”


She told him her name and her date of birth


and then she received the gift.


 


Solomon ran it repeatedly through her mind trying to make sense of it.  We need a map, we need a map and some time to think about this.


The map was easy enough to come by; tourist maps of Zurich seemed to be everywhere.  She bought two different ones, trying to cover her bases.  They settled in a cafe called Zeughauskellar at Paradeplatz close to the heart of the city.  Solomon ordered them both a simple breakfast and proceeded to unfold the map and study it, trying to find something familiar.  It wasn't working, she had no idea what she was looking for, and she didn't even know if Zurich was the right place to look for it.  It felt like the right place, but she couldn't be sure.  If not here, then where?  She put the maps to one side and asked the woman at the next table if she would give her a cigarette.  It had been years since Solomon had smoked, that was back in her army days.  Now she just felt like she needed and deserved one.  Natasha looked disapprovingly at her mother, but said nothing.  Just like I used to.  Her mother had smoked, especially on theatre nights.  She had loved the theatre.  The romance, the glamour, and the wonderful companionship of other theatregoers.  Her father had never gone with her; he had no heart for the theatre.  No soul for it.  Looking back that was when her mother had been at her happiest, going to the theatre.  Theatre, wondered though Solomon's mind, theatre.  I have seen that today, on the map.  She picked up the last map she had been studying and looked over it again.  There it is Theaterstrasse, Theatre Street.  Close to the lake and probably only a five-minute walk away.  Solomon still had no idea what, exactly, she was looking for but if it existed it would be on Theaterstrasse, of this she was sure.


             


There was no theatre on the street.  The closet she could find was an old, small theatre that had since been converted into a bank.  This must be it, she hoped earnestly to herself.  She led Natasha by the hand and walked into the bank.


The AU Bank of Zurich is a small, hardly known private bank.  It is styled internally in keeping with the buildings previous use as a theatre, with mezzanine floors providing offices where the rows of seats were.  The entire building was underpinned with steel and concrete when the vault was moved underground at the turn of the twentieth century.  The vault itself having been upgraded every twenty to thirty years.  Which was always a delicate, costly, and complicated operation.  It essentially meant having to build the new vault away from the existing one so that the safe deposit boxes were in no way compromised.  Then, when the new vault was finished and approved, the bank's staff could transfer the boxes from the old vault to the new one.  The old vault was then removed making way for the next new vault in another two or three decades.


Solomon approached one of the members of staff.


'Excuse me; I believe I am supposed to collect something from here.'  Solomon felt foolish as soon as the words had left her lips. 


'I'll have one of our client managers see you.  Won't you please take a seat?'  The woman pointed to a chair at a polished oak table.  She moved another chair next to the first so Natasha could be seated as well.  'Can I get you something to drink?  Tea or Coffee perhaps?'


'Thank you, no, we are fine.'


The woman disappeared into a back office, returning promptly with a man beside her. 


'I'm Wilfred Schulz how may I help you?'


'I believe my mother left something with you for me.'


'What is your mother’s name?'


'Her name was Anastasia Bondarenko'


'I'm sorry for your loss.'  Wilfred had noted the use of the past tense.  'I'll have a look on our system.'


He made a few keystrokes, and then looked up.


'What is your name please?'


'Solomon Bondarenko'


'And your date of birth?'


Solomon gave him this too.


'That's fine Ms. Bondarenko, everything is in order.  If you would like to follow me I will take you to one of our client rooms.'


He led her and Natasha through the open offices into the back of the building and settled her in a pleasant, but windowless room.


'I will be back shortly with your safe deposit box.'


He returned carrying a long metal box placing it on the table he made to leave.  'If you need anything or you are finished, please just close the box and press the button and I will return.'


Solomon stared at the box.  She had come a long way to see the contents and was more than a little afraid at what she might find.  Disappointment hung in the air like a bad smell, waiting to spoil her day. 


'Go on mummy, it’s OK.’


Solomon took a deep breath and pulled the box closer to her.  It was remarkably heavy.  She lifted the lid and peaked inside.  The first thing to catch her eye was a letter, unmistakably in her mother’s handwriting addressed to her.  She picked up the letter and placed it reverently on the table.  She turned back to the contents of the box.  A purple drawstring purse.  It was quite large and unusually heavy, it must be at least two kilos, and it clinked when she picked it up.  She pulled at the strings and looked inside it.  It was full of gold coins.  Krugerrands, each weighing exactly one troy ounce, there must be forty or fifty in here.  She pulled the string tight and looked back in the safe deposit box.  There were stacks of money, different denominations, and currencies.  Each one had been parcelled like a brick.  She made a stack of bricks on the table, but decided not to count it, after all there is more than enough there for our needs.  There was one thing left, hiding in the back, she reached in and clasped it.  It was warm to the touch, heavy and cube shaped.  She pulled it free and examined it.  It was about ten centimetres on each side, gold in appearance and completely sealed.  There were no markings or anything to indicate its function or purpose.  There was no way to open it; although it was heavy, it was still too light to be solid.  She set it down on the table and picked up the letter from her mother.


Solomon read the letter to herself slowly, savouring each word at first, then her daughter saw her face fall.  Natasha wanted desperately to ask what was wrong, but anything that could make her mother react like this she didn't really want to know.  Natasha moved closer to her mother and rested her head gently on her side.  Solomon reached out instinctively and placed her hand on her daughter's head, stroking her hair.  Giving comfort and receiving it.  Solomon read on, a tear slowly finding its way down her cheek, the pain and the knowledge becoming overwhelming.  Finally, she reached the end.  There was some good news here at least, some hope for them both.  And all the others. 


Solomon folded the letter up and replaced it in its envelope.  This is for me, and me alone.  Until it is time.


Solomon took some money from one of the stacks and replaced all the contents back in the safe deposit box, except for the letter, which she placed in her pocket.  She pressed the button.  Wilfred returned promptly.


'Is it OK to leave some items in the box?'


'Of course madam.  The box is yours; it has been paid for in perpetuity.  You may access it and use it as you wish.'


'Thank you.  In that case, could you return the box?  I will be back in a few days for the rest.'


'Of course madam.  May I show you out?'


As Wilfred showed them to the door one of the cashiers dialled the number for the Russian Embassy, she figured the reward offered would make a welcome addition to what she considered to be her low pay.


Solomon and Natasha returned to their hotel.  Solomon deciding that as they now had money a change of hotel was in order.  They booked into the Hotel California on Schifflaende, still in the city centre but in the prettier old part.  It also offered a swimming pool, which she figured, would provide a nice change of pace for them both.


Once checked in Solomon realised that now they had someone to call for help and she wanted to lose no time in contacting them.  Besides, he knew my mother.


 


 


10:40               27 December  [10:40  27 December GMT] 


Stately Home of the 19th Duke of Hertfordshire,  England.


 


The Duke was in his gardens, personally attending to his roses.  The bushes in question were very old having been planted by the 15th Duke over a hundred and fifty years before.  He held a stem in his hand and smelt its scent.  Still as fragrant as when it first went in, he reflected.  He liked his home, its grounds, and the privacy it offered.  He continued his spraying.  He could hear a car approaching now, up the long gravel drive.  He turned and saw it.  It stopped in front of the formal entrance.  Like anyone uses that these days.  He thought about when it had been in regular use.  The precession of horse drawn carriages that brought friends from all corners of the country to stay for a couple of weeks at a time.  Those had been good days; life was simpler then, much simpler.  He walked over to meet the people in the car, who were just getting out.


'Can I help you?'  He asked simply.


'We are here to see the Duke, is he at home?'


The Duke looked down at his clothes.  A rough work shirt under overalls.  I guess I must really look like the gardener.


'Whom may I say is calling?'  


'My name is Jack Hamilton, this is my brother George, this is Jane Spencer-Brown, and the gentleman engrossed with his data pad is John Deeth.' 


John wasn't even looking up.  Ever since they had asked him to join them in seeing the Duke, he had been busy tapping away and muttering to himself.


'Is the Duke expecting you?'


'No.  We tried calling ahead but were told that the Duke was unavailable.  However it is really important that we speak with him.'


'Is it indeed.  Is it?  Well since you are here now I might as well see if the Duke is accepting callers.  Won't you follow me?'  The Duke led them up the stairs to the formal entrance.  Might as well have a little more fun.


The hall was truly exceptional.  The marble flooring seemed to stretch as far as the eye could see.  At the far end was a staircase flowing up either side of the hall to the next floor some twenty-five feet above.  They all fell silent, taken aback by the ornate splendour of it, except for John who was still tapping away and muttering to himself.  Jane gave him a gentle nudge.  He looked up.


'Nice.'  John said and carried on with what he was doing.


The Duke showed them into the drawing room.  Jack suddenly realised that wealth and privilege are relative.  His own home, in which he had always felt somewhat awkward, was regarded with awe by most of his guests.  This however was truly palatial.  Kings and Queens would feel at home here, he noted.


'If you would wait here the Duke will be with you shortly.  Can I offer you some refreshments whilst you wait?'


'That would be kind.  Thank you.'  Jane replied.


The Duke departed and asked the butler to send in tea for five.  He headed upstairs to change.


'So what do you think Jack.'  George asked his brother.


'I think this guy must be worth a fortune.  Several fortunes probably.'


'I meant how do you think we should approach him?'


'Well if Jane's information is correct, and I have no reason to doubt it, we should just be direct.  If he responds in kind then we can tell him what we know.  If not, well, then we might have a problem.'


'The information should be sound.’  Jane said.  ‘However he is part of a very secret organisation and he might not want to admit that.  The others, apparently, are very cagey.'


'What are you up to John?'  Jack asked.


'I'm busy.'


'I can see that.  What are you busy doing?' 


'Research.'


The door opened and a maid entered bearing a silver tray.  She placed it on one of the tables and laid out the tea, coffee and a platter of assorted sandwiches.  She left without saying a word.


John immediately stopped what he was doing and helped himself to a coffee and a plate of sandwiches.  He took these and walked out through the French doors so he could smoke in the garden.  Jane helped herself and followed him into the garden.


'What are you doing exactly?'  She said, nibbling on the corner of a sandwich.


John stopped and looked up at Jane.  'Genealogy.'  He turned back to what he was doing.


'Well OK then.'  Jane said, not understanding at all.  She wondered back in to the drawing room.


The drawing room door opened and a well-dressed man walked in.  It was clearly the same man they had met in the garden.


'You're the Duke?'  Jack asked incredulously.


'Frederick Lambert-Hurst, 19th Duke of Hertfordshire at your service.'  The look on their faces was reward enough for his subterfuge.  He shook hands with Jack and George and kissed Jane's politely.  John was still in the garden.


Jane took the initiative.  She explained who they were, their involvement now with Group 79 and that they had been informed that he was a member too.


'A very interesting story.  Yes very interesting.  Tell me Jane, for arguments sake, why such a group would be in existence and why should I be a member?'


'I don't know.'  This was not going at all how she had hoped.


'Well then, there you go.  Any other questions?'  The Duke asked.


'Yes actually.'  John said entering both the room and the conversation.  'Tell me when you were the first Duke of Hertfordshire how did you come about your wealth and title?'


'Well the title was fairly easy actually.  You see the then King of England, Charles the first, was fighting an expensive war and he needed money which I provided.....that is the .....I mean.....my ancestor provided the King with money and got the title in return.'  The Duke's face flushed with anger and embarrassment at being caught out so easily.


'What on earth are you on about John?'  Jack exclaimed, annoyed that John hadn't shared this with the group previously.


'It appears that this gentleman, if I can use the term, has a way to cheat death.'


The Duke sighed, this he had decided, would be his last incarnation.  He was tired in a way that sleep could not fix.  There was nothing he had to fear now.  Death would be welcome.


'Not cheat exactly.  I just have the ability to transfer my consciousness from one host to another.'


'How old exactly are you?'  John asked, pleased that his research had proved correct.


'Exactly I'm not sure.  However, you are right; I was the first Duke of Hertfordshire.  I was many things before that too.'


'Such as what?'


'Well I once lived in a small village next to the River Tiber in what is now Italy.  I saw it grow quite substantially.'


'You lived through the Roman Empire?'  Jane couldn't take it all in.


'Oh yes.  I also lived through the Babylonian and Egyptian as well.  Before that, well, things were not so civilised.'


'How do you...'  Jane inquired, her journalistic instinct taking over.


'Transfer my consciousness?  Trade secret I'm afraid.  So you know about our little group then.  What are you plans?'


'We want to free earth.'  Jack said, still somewhat sceptical.


'Ah yes.  Freedom.  Freedom is good.  It is right.  How can I help?'


There was silence now.  In their haste to meet a member of Group 79, they had not considered what they needed from the group, or what assistance they could provide.


'What would you suggest?'  John said.


'Very good, err...'  The Duke hadn't been properly introduced.


'John Deeth.'  John said, holding out his hand. 


The Duke took his hand and shook it warmly.


'Very good Mr Deeth.  That is the right question.  Tell me first though, how did you uncover my little secret?'


'I wrote a genealogy program a few years back.  It wasn't supposed to be that mind you.  Originally, it was going to be a stock market program, but it failed miserably to predict the market in any way I could exploit.  Then I was facing the submission deadline for my project and didn't want to scrap all my work so I looked at other things.  Genealogy was the best fit.'


'You must show me this program sometime.'  The Duke seemed genuinely interested.


'I'd be happy to.'  John said, aware that he was being flattered.  'However if you could first answer my question.'


'I, we have good connections.  We also have considerable resources.  For example, it was our group who have been funding your work, Mr Deeth.  What we couldn't have anticipated was the enormous breakthrough that your work provided.  For everything we are, we are not scientists or engineers.'


'You still haven't answered my question in practical terms.'  John noted.


'No I haven't, have I?  We will provide direction and support.  Your plans I'm afraid will have to be your own.'


'Oh and who decided that?'  Jack insisted.


'We did.  A long time before you were born.'  There was a strength and finality in how the Duke said this that left no room for negotiation.


'OK.’  Said Jane.  ‘Provide us with some direction then.'  Open ended and leading, that's the way forward with this guy.  Jane reflected whether guy was the right term.


'Well, have you considered what you are up against?'


Jack decided to field that one.  'We estimate that there are somewhere around a hundred thousand Sunarr soldiers on earth, who are strategically placed to control the governments, the media and the military.'


'So get rid of them and you're free then?  Is that the plan?'  The Duke asked incredulously.


'Basically yes.'  George replied.


'And how long do you think your freedom would last?'


Again, there was silence; it came to Jack to break it.


'I guess until they send reinforcements.'  Jack admitted, starting to realise the enormity of the task ahead.


'They probably wouldn't even land.  They could destroy this planet from space.  Not literally of course, but suffice so there wouldn't be any human resistance when they did land.'


'So we have to remove the aliens and protect the world from further invasions.'  John said, as much for clarification as anything.


'Precisely.  Not an easy task I grant you.  I don't envy you having to do it.  But do it you must.'


'And you won't help us with this?'  George asked.


'I think I already have.  But no, the details are yours to decide.  Tell me Mr Deeth, how proceeds your research?'


John outlined his findings to date.


'So one of these particles, what did you call them?  Deeth particles?  One of these Deeth particles destroyed a solid steel structure and a wall.  That sounds quite impressive doesn't it?'


'Yes, I'm really lucky, if it had been more than one then...’  The light came on in John's head.  'If we could create a stream of these particles or increase the number that react at a time then....'


'Then what?'  Jack asked.


'Then, we would have a weapon of incredible power.'


'But I thought you said that these Deeth particles could be captured and used like wind in a sail to travel in space.'  Jane said.


'That too.  But this way we would have a weapon with which to defend ourselves.'


'But what about Earth?'  George asked.


'Good question George.  So John what about Earth?'  Jack asked.


'Well…'  John was thinking on his feet now, ‘I guess we would need a number of the weapons, with considerable fire power.  They would also need to be space born as well.'


'Why space born?'  Jane asked.


'Well this kind of battle would involve incredible forces.  If their weapons are similar, and I guess they probably are, then we would want to keep the fight as far away from earth as possible.  In addition, the earth's atmosphere would provide some additional protection.  Not much perhaps, but some.  Also we would need as much warning of their approach as possible and for that we would also need to be in space.'


'What sort of forces are we talking about?'  Jack asked.


'I’ll need to do some proper calculation but roughly speaking, in terms of force, probably something like small tactical nuclear weapons, but confined to the point of impact.  Think of them as nuclear bullets.'


Nuclear bullets, thought Jack, now there's a cheerful thought.
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08:55               28 December  [08:55  28 December GMT] 


Stately Home of 19th Duke of Hertfordshire, England.


 


The Duke worked through his morning post.  It was always neatly piled on his desk here in his private study, laid there by his butler who removed the non-private letters passing those to the Duke's secretary.  The remaining private correspondence was depressingly small.  He longed for the days gone past when post was the only means of long distance communication.  Then he would have huge piles of letters from home and abroad, informing him of the latest developments in peoples’ lives and the world in general.  Now it was just an occasional few.  The plethora of instant communications had impacted on the written word.  Gone was the long flowing text, the complex but pleasing prose.  Now it was more formal, more like a business letter than personal communication.  He had to admit though that he too had become a victim of the trend.  He didn't send letters like those he used to, so he knew that he had little reason to expect others to.


He opened the humidor on his desk and withdrew one of his personal cigars.  Hand rolled in Cuba these were his personal stock and produced just for him.  The air thickened as the smoke rose.  He savoured the flavour, especially when it mixed with his coffee.  The combination was intoxicating.  He reached for the next letter and started to read.  An irritating electronic noise interrupted him.  He glanced up and was surprised to see it was his private line.  Only a few people had this number.  He picked up the receiver and spoke.


'This is Frederick'


'You do not know me,' the woman's voice said, with a distinct Eastern European accent, 'but you knew my mother when you were Consul-General in St. Petersburg.'


'Solomon?'


'Yes.  Look I need your help.'


After some twenty minutes and constant reassurances, Frederick was finally able to bring the conversation to an end.  He had made a note of the hotel in which Solomon and Natasha were staying and the name under which they had booked in.  He flipped through his notebook and found the number for Jane Spencer-Brown.


'Jane.'


'It’s Frederick, the Duke of Hertfordshire, I'm afraid that it is I who needs your help.'  He explained the phone call from Solomon and that her late mother was a member of Group 79.  He left out the relationship the two had enjoyed; after all, it's personal and doesn't have any bearing on the situation, well not much.


'I can't express how important it is that she and her daughter are brought back here safely.  It's imperative.'


'I will do what I can.  You have my word on that.  I'll be in touch.'


 


Jane dialled the number for George's phone, which was still in the possession of Jayanti Kapoor.  Jay took the phone into her private bathroom, out of earshot of her bodyguards, once the door was closed she answered.  Jane explained about the phone call from the Duke.  Jay listened patiently for Jane to finish.


'I take it from this call that you do not think you are in a position to fetch this Solomon woman and her daughter on your own.'  Jay inquired.


'No, I don't.  The Duke emphasised how important he felt it was and that she was in danger.  I don't mind going into dangerous situations but, frankly, I have no expertise in what should be a covert operation.'  Jane replied.


'Well I can't go!'  Jay’s frustration, mostly at her own confinement, rather than anyone or anything in particular.


'I realise that Jayanti, I do.'  Jane remained calm, the better to help Jay regain her composure.  'However I thought that you might have someone to send.  What about Severine?  Doesn't she have a military background?'


'Yes.  Yes she does.  Moreover, she has performed a number of covert operations herself...you’re right Severine would be perfect.  Give me the details and I'll make it happen.'


 


 


10:35               28 December  [09:35  28 December GMT] 


Home of Mme Margaret-Julia Pascal, Felletin, Central France.


 


The ducks on her grandmother’s pond were happily nibbling at the food that was being provided.  They didn't question why, how or whom.  They just kept their heads down and enjoyed it whilst it lasted.  Severine sighed as she threw some more food on to the edge of the pond.  She couldn't remember when she had last felt this relaxed or content.  She looked up and into the eyes of her lover.  Anne-Marie returned the look, pausing from her own food throwing to do so.  The ducks paused too, the food had stopped falling from the sky, and they looked up, wondering if it would come again.  One of the ducks quacked, then another and another, soon they were all at it, calling to the sky for more food.  The food returned and they were content.  Severine envied the life of these ducks.  Their peace was disturbed by Severine's grandmother calling her from the house.  There was someone on the phone for her.


Severine hung up the phone.  Her grandmother saw the look on her face and resigned herself to confronting Anne-Marie.  Whatever that woman has done or is doing, my Severine deserves to know where she stands.  She deserves to know, before she goes off risking her life.


Severine disappeared into the garden to tell Anne-Marie the news.  Margaret-Julia watched her granddaughter talk to her lover through the kitchen window.  There was no mistaking it, it was love on Severine's side, but what Anne-Marie truly felt was hidden.  Only Severine could uncover the truth, and only then if Anne-Marie wished it.  She could see that Anne-Marie was crying now, the news broken to her.  Tears, she wondered, of what type are you?  Loss, Joy, Sorrow, Frustration or just plain crocodile?  I will have it out with you and I will do so now.  Margaret-Julia's blood was continuing to rise; it had been doing so since she had had the news back from her friend in the police.  Anne-Marie La Courtine did not exist.  Not the name nor the person.  He had been quite thorough and had only halted his investigation when he had come up against resistance at a senior level.  Whoever this imposter is, she is heavily connected, he had informed Margaret-Julia.


Severine finished hugging Anne-Marie; she left her by the pond and came into the house.


'I'm going to be gone for a while, so I need to pack.'  Severine informed her grandmother as she headed towards her room.


'OK mon cheri, call if you need anything.'


Margaret-Julia took the opportunity and headed over to the pond where Anne-Marie was.


'It's about time you told Severine the truth.'  She was not one to beat about the bush.


Anne-Marie's face flashed cold for an instance.  There it is, again.  Margaret-Julia noted.  That brief look of guilt, anger, and shame.


'Excuse me?'  Anne-Marie replied.


'You are not who you say you are.  You are not Anne-Marie La Courtine.  Even if you have changed your surname, you are not the person you pretend to be.  I don't know who or what you are but know these two things.  First, tell Severine the truth, she deserves it.  If you don't I shall before she leaves.  Secondly if you cause her any harm you will have me to deal with...and I don't care how important your connections are.'


She turned promptly on her heels and left before Anne-Marie could protest or respond in any way.  As Margaret-Julia walked back towards her house, her hands were shaking as the adrenaline in her system turned sour.  She had done and experienced much in her long life.  More than she had ever admitted to Severine.  She knew she was not a woman to trifle with.


Severine placed her suitcase in the hall.  Unlike her days in the army when she had packed her kit bag, she didn't have any protocol to follow.  This was a mission without a mission.  The rules were hers to make or break.  She had no weapons, no uniform, and no camouflage.  Civilian clothes were the only option and she packed those that she thought would attract the least attention.  Skirts rather than trousers, cut just above the knee, white blouses, heeled shoes but nothing like stilettos.  In short she had decided to go for moderate dressy and attractive, the image she wanted was of a personal assistant, low management grade or similar.  Someone to look at and forget in an instant. 


She walked out into the garden.  Anne-Marie had been crying again, Severine took Anne-Marie's hands and held them in hers.  She squeezed them gently them kissed them and looked into her eyes.


'What is it?'  Severine asked.


'This is not how I wanted to tell you.  I wanted to pick the right time.  The right place.  I wanted...I need you to know how things have changed since we first met.'


'You're scaring me.  Whatever it is we can deal with it.  Just tell me.'  The walls around Severine's heart, so recently disassembled were rapidly being rebuilt to protect against the trauma she could feel about to descend on her.


'Know that I love you.  Have fallen deeply in love with you.'  Anne-Marie began, 'There is no easy way to say this so I will just say it.  I too work for Group 79.  I have done so for the past ten years.  It was not an accident that we met.  The Group have been monitoring you closely long before your Courts-Martial.  I was tasked with making contact with you and evaluating you for recruitment.  I have undertaken other such assignments, but never have I fallen in love with them.  I have never fallen in love with anyone before.  You are my first, my only and I promise to you always to be honest.  I too was on a mission.  I hope you can understand that and forgive me.  By the way, I am Julianne Chevalier.  The man who recruited you, Monsieur Chevalier is my Uncle.' 


As she finished Julianne was speaking very fast, almost tripping over her words, trying desperately to get everything out before Severine started to judge her.  She could see that she was too late.  Severine's face had taken on the quality of stone, the colour all drained away, the jaw set ridged, her eyes cold and hard.  Julianne shrank back from her, afraid.


'I trusted you.  I gave myself to you.  It was all a lie.  All a terrible, planned lie.  I told you what had happened to me.  You held me in your arms as I cried.  Telling me you loved me, telling me how you cared for me.  All a lie.'


'Please Severine, please.'


'I can't deal with this now.  I have a mission.'  Severine said as she made to leave.


'Severine please let's talk.  Please!'


Severine didn't look back.  She kissed her grandmother on both cheeks and left, the taxi ready for her outside.  Margaret-Julia waited while the taxi pulled away, she lifted the phone and dialled.  She had been watching the whole opera unfold in her own garden.  Seen the looks the two had shared.  She had decided.  She wandered back into the garden and walked up to Julianne.  The tears were real, no doubt about it this time.


'I have called a taxi for you.'  She said evenly.


'I know I am not welcome here anymore.  I'll collect my things and go.'  Julianne said, thoroughly defeated.


'Actually,' Margaret-Julia said, 'I was thinking that if you were quick you could still catch Severine at the train station.  Her train doesn't leave until half past.  Time enough for a drink and a chance to talk some more, don't you think?'


'You.  I was right about you.'  Julianne said, wiping the tears from her cheeks.


'Why?  What did you say about me?'


'A wily old bird.  One to watch.'  Julianne embraced her and whispered in her ear, 'Thank you so much.'


 


 


11:20               28 December  [10:20  28 December GMT] 


Train Station,  Clermont-Ferrand, Central France.


 


Severine relaxed into the seat as the train continued to gather speed.  I still can't believe that Julianne called Mamie a Wily Old Bird, and to her face!  Severine had cried most of the way from her grandmother's house to the train station.  She had instantly regretted leaving like that, but was too stubborn to go back.  Seeing Julianne walk onto the platform and then hearing that it was Mamie who had sent her there was not something she had been prepared to question.  The look on Julianne's face, her touch, the smell of her hair; all combined to remind her, the things that truly matter.  As her grandmother had once told her, if there is no room in your heart for forgiveness, then there is no room for love. 


We only had twenty minutes before my train, she reflected, but it is amazing how much changed in those twenty minutes.  Now she turned her mind towards the mission, confident for the first time that she had a real life to return to.  As the train reached its maximum speed she smiled to herself and watched the countryside go by.


 


 


15:50               28 December  [14:50  28 December GMT] 


Charles de Gaul Airport, Paris, France.


 


Severine handed over her passport to the check-in clerk.  She had been informed that a ticket would be waiting for her in her name.  There was no need, yet, for false identities as no one was looking for her.  She wondered if and when that might change.  A woman called Solomon and her daughter Natasha, collect from Zurich and deliver to the Duke of Hertfordshire in England.  That was all she had been told.  She could guess more though.  They must be in trouble, on the run from someone, else they could merely hop on a plane direct to England.  Their lives must be threatened otherwise why send me?  Above all, they must be important.  These and other thoughts lounged around her mind, looking for somewhere to settle.  She had little experience of this kind of thing.  The missions she had undertaken normally ended with a single shot.  Enemies of France beyond the normal reaches of the authorities.  Some of her assignments had been troublesome; not technically, she was far too experienced for that, but morally.  One person's despot is another's great leader; a revolutionary solider is another's freedom fighter.  Nevertheless, for one reason or another, they had threatened France and it had been her duty to remove that threat.  This appeared to be a simple rescue mission, why this mother and daughter were so important she couldn't imagine.


'The flight is not for an hour madam.  If you would like to go to the Business Lounge while you wait.’


Severine had barley registered what the woman had said.  She looked at her ticket and on it was printed Business Class.  That was thoughtful of them, she thought, never having travelled in anything other than standard class.


'Thank you.  The Business Lounge is....'


'That way madam.'  The woman replied pointing the way.


The Business Lounge was quite busy she noted.  Predominately men in suits talking loudly on the phone or to each other.  Severine hated and pitied them at the same time.  They seem to care so much about what they do.  “Sales are up and that's fantastic.”  “We have sold more this month than the competition.”  “My bonus is going to be huge and bigger than my colleagues are.”  If they all fell down dead I'm sure there would be ten more to replace each one.  If all their companies stopped trading, would the world miss their products?  I wonder if I should kill one and find out....


'Excuse me is this seat taken?'  The gentleman in question was tall, good looking and another suit.  Severine waved him to sit down. 


'So where are you headed?'  The man asked brightly.


'Zurich.'  Severine replied without thinking.


'Cool.  Conference or meeting?'


'Funeral.'  She said wanting to end the conversation before it properly began.


'Oh.  I'm so sorry.  Anyone close?'


Damn is this guy trying to network or hit on me?  'My Great-Aunt.'  Oh what...  Severine defrosted and engaged the man in conversation.  She had time to kill and she realised whilst this man sat here others were unlikely to join them.  He was thirty-eight, claimed to be divorced, although she doubted this from the white ring where his wedding ring normally resided.  Probably takes it off on every trip.  He worked for one of the multi-nationals as some kind of consultant.  He seemed pleased with himself, but more pleased to be talking to Severine.  I bet he claims his wife doesn't understand him.  She laughed out loud, unable to stop herself.


'What's so funny?'  He asked.


'I'm sorry,’ she replied easily, 'I was just remembering my Great-Aunt, she was quite a woman.'


'Like her Great-Niece.' 


Smooth, but a bit cheesy, Severine thought.


He looked at his watch.  'I must be going.  Well it was nice to meet you Severine.'  He reached out his hand to shake hers.  Severine smiled and took his hand.  She wrapped her hand around his thumb, held his forearm with her other hand and pulled him across the table, enough to unbalance him, but not so much that he fell.  She whispered into his ear.


'How do you know my name?  I never told you.  Who are you and what do you want?'  She put more pressure on his thumb.  He groaned satisfactorily. 


'OK' he said calmly, 'I work for Group 79.  I was sent here to check up on you.'


She relaxed her grip a little.


‘I've never heard of them.  I am on my way to a funeral.'


'In that case my apologies madam.  It was my mistake.'


'Yes it was.'  Severine released him and let him go on his way.


Jesus, they are everywhere. 


The Tannoy announced her flight was boarding.


 


 


18:35               28 December  [17:35  28 December GMT] 


Zurich, Switzerland.


 


The taxi seemed to find its own way though the traffic and the streets.  The driver was hardly involved.  Severine relaxed and left him to find the hotel.  She did however keep an eye on where they were going and where they had been.  The incident in the airport had pulled her out of her slumber and placed her on high alert.  If he had been an enemy, I would probably be dead now.


The taxi stopped outside the hotel.  The driver got out to retrieve her suitcase from the boot and place it on the pavement for her.  Severine walked into the lobby and realised this was the nicest hotel she had ever been in.  Not that her experience of hotels was that extensive, it wasn't.  However, she realised that this must be on the quality end of the scale.  After checking in the porter showed her to her room, waiting anxiously for his tip, which after she realised what he was waiting for, she duly produced from her purse.  The porter left, compensated but not impressed.  Severine picked up the phone and dialled the room number she had for Solomon.  She let it ring for a full minute and not getting any answer she showered and changed.  Refreshed, she flipped through the hotel manual to discover it had a swimming pool and sauna.  I could be waiting ages.  Then she realised that she hadn't packed any swimwear.  She called down to reception.


'But madam we have swimwear available in our shop.'  The voice said.


'Excellent I'll be right down.'


The pool wasn't busy.  A few guests were swimming, a couple more lying on loungers by the side.  Severine eased herself into the water, the coolness enveloping her made a dramatic change from the stuffiness of the flight.  She pulled a couple of gentle laps to loosen up and then began to exercise in earnest.  On a return lap, a woman swam beside her, matching her stroke for stroke.  She must have forgotten her costume too, as she is wearing one identical to mine.  They continued like this for several more laps.  The woman stopping first, she swam to one side where a young girl was doing widths.  The girl had on the same patterned costume.


What are the odds?  She wondered.  How do I approach this?  Severine swam over to them.


‘Hi’ Severine said, smiling at them both.  'I've just arrived.  Could you recommend anywhere to eat?'


The woman blinked.  'No I'm sorry, we have not been here long ourselves.'


Severine noted the woman's strong accent.  'Oh that's a shame.  I believe that there is a good restaurant here it was recommended by a friend, the Duke of Hertfordshire.'


The woman's eyes flashed noticeably.  'Oh really?'  She was giving nothing more away.


'Yes.  I am meant to be meeting some friends of his here.  Solomon and Natasha, do you know them?'


'Who are you?'


'I'm Severine, and you are Solomon, aren't you.'


'Yes.'  Solomon said quietly.  She held her daughter close.


'Good.  The Duke gave me a message for you.  He said, he has tickets to the ballet.'


Solomon relaxed so much that she involuntarily bobbed under the water.  She came back up spitting water at Severine.


'Sorry.'  Solomon apologised.  'I don't know why I did that.'


'Fatigue.  It's OK.  I hear you have been on quite a journey.  It's almost over.  How about we get showered and dressed?  Then we can talk about getting you to England.'


England, thought Solomon, paradise could not be more welcoming.


They met in the lobby after showering and changing.  Severine had already asked at reception about a suitable restaurant.  She wanted something busy, so it would be noisy, but where they could get a table without booking.  The restaurant lived up to her hopes.  It was a steak house furnished and decorated in the style of an American ranch.  The food and service were efficient and edible, which was all they required.  Natasha had a burger and fries coupled with a milkshake, it was a delightful pink colour, and she spent many happy minutes blowing bubbles through it with her straw.  Ordinarily Solomon would have corrected such behaviour, but she could not deny her this chance to be a nine year old. 


They discussed how to get to England.  The lack of official identification for Solomon and Natasha was the main issue.  Flying was out of the question.  Money was not an issue, but money could not solve every problem.  They could get false documents, but Severine judged that the risk was too high.  Anyone who dealt with such things would surely sell them out, especially as the Russian Government had offered a substantial reward.  This left the train or the road.  The train would be quicker, but the road offered more routes, anonymity and wouldn't leave them trapped.  They agreed to buy a second-hand car, as renting would leave a trail.


 


The following morning at breakfast, they decided that Severine would go to buy the car whilst Solomon and Natasha headed to the bank to collect the remaining items.  Severine would then pick them both up from the bank and they could head off from there.             


The car salesman looked Severine up and down, he then showed her a nice respectable Peugeot in dark blue.  It was a few years old, had many miles on the clock, but otherwise was in fine shape.  She took it, negotiating a small discount to avoid seeming desperate.  She paid in cash and the salesman was busy counting it rather than checking what information she put down on the sales paperwork.  She had been there less than half an hour when she accepted the keys and drove away in it.  Low on fuel she stopped at a garage and filled up.


Severine parked on the opposite side of the street to the bank's entrance.  The radio was playing a song she didn't recognise but she was tapping her fingers along to it.  The road was quite clear except for two cars parked next to the bank.  They were both dark in colour, almost identical, she noted.  There was a gap between them of about a hundred feet.  This put one either side of the entrance to the bank.  Good place for an ambush, she reflected.  Why did I think that?  She concentrated on their licence plates and then realised that they too were nearly identical.  Two cars of the same make and model with consecutive licence plates, this cannot be good. 


Severine started the car, slipped into first and pulled down the street.  She turned the car around, but parked back on the opposite side of the street so she had a good view of the bank's entrance.  She unlocked all the doors, opened all the windows, and waited.


 


Solomon thanked the clerk again.  She had everything now, all stowed away safely in her new wheeled suitcase.  It was raining outside now, she could see.  She opened her umbrella in the covered entrance.  Two men got out of a car and looked straight at her.  She didn't care for them at all.  She turned round to glance at Natasha, and saw two more men getting out of another car.  Shit.  Shit, shit, shit.  She heard an engine scream, a car drove directly at them, bumping on to the kerb.  Her heart stopped.  It was Severine, she screamed at them and Solomon froze.  The men started to run towards her.  Severine jumped out of the car and headed for two of the men.  Solomon saw one man's face explode in a fountain of blood, the other fall to the floor.  The second group were nearly upon Solomon now.  Her heart started again and she thrust the umbrella in the face of the first man.  The other one grabbed her arm and she started struggling, forgetting her military training in the heat of it all.  Severine slammed into the man; he fell over pulling Solomon to the ground, still holding her arm.  Severine grabbed Natasha and threw her into the back seat of the car.  Then she kicked the man holding Solomon and he let go, instinctively protecting his head from further assault.  Severine dragged Solomon towards the car, Solomon's feet scrabbling to gain traction. 


'My bag!  My bag!  I must have it!'  Solomon was shouting.


Severine let go of Solomon and yanked open the passenger door for her.  She spun round and went for the bag.  The man who had received the umbrella was in her way.  Big mistake.  Severine kicked at the man's left knee, it gave way instantly sending him crashing on top of his colleague.  She grabbed the bag and tried to shove it into the car but the handle got in the way.  She struggled with it, deciding to leave it poking out of the window with the bulk of it on top of Solomon.  Severine darted round the car and jumped into the driver's seat.  She floored the accelerator and sped off down the street.  She had no idea where she was going.


Think Severine, think!  She rounded the street corner and sped on, taking a left then a right at random.  She entered a one-way system, and at the bottom turned right.  Now they were driving alongside the Zürichsee, the lake that extends from the south of the city.  Severine felt trapped, it is never good to have the sea to your back, she reflected.  She took the next right trying to head back into the city.  Gottfried-Keller-Strasse, she noted, her heart began to sink as she realised that she had been down this road before.  She slowed down; this leads back to Theaterstrasse and the bank!  It was too late.  The two cars from outside the bank were driving down the other side of the road.  With their windows all wound down, suitcase handle still sticking out of the passenger window, they were more than easy to spot.  Severine watched her rear-view mirror and saw the two cars turn around to follow. 


'That's them isn't it?'  Solomon asked, still shaken from the rapid events.


'Yes.  Don't worry I will not let them get you.  Could you ask Natasha to lie down in the back, it will improve my rear view.' 


Severine could see perfectly well, what concerned her was if the men started to shoot at their car.


'Natasha lay down will you, there's a good girl.'


Natasha did as she was asked.  Pulling Sheepy out of her rucksack, she cradled it for comfort.


The lead car pulled closer.  Severine made the turn into Theaterstrasse and headed in the opposite direction from which they had originally come.  If they are local agents then they will know Zurich far better than I will, plus there are two of them so they have the advantage there.  What advantages do I have?  She struggled to think.  Tactics and the element of surprise.  I have trained for snatch missions, both offensively and defensively.  They don't know what I am going to do, but I would guess that they will wait for an opportunity to get one car in front and then do a forced stop, just like the police are trained to do.  The Police.  Severine's mind was starting to work properly now.  I doubt that the men following are “legals”, more likely they are security officers posing as businessmen.  Either way they can only snatch or kill us, they won't have any means of arresting us, but the local police do.  They could apply for extradition, but that will take time, more so if we commit a crime...or a road traffic accident…


Severine headed north out of the city in the general direction of the airport.  Where there is an airport there usually are police.  Once we start to see airport signs, they should decide to wait for us to stop there.  Which we will, albeit abruptly.  She managed a chuckle, and Solomon asked what she found funny.


'Oh I've just figured out how we are going to get out of this.  Fasten your seat-belt and ask Natasha to as well.'


Severine drove quickly but not excessively so.  She needed speed to keep them from overtaking, but didn't want to have an accident.  Not yet anyway.


They made the turn off the 51 for the airport and Severine did as expected and headed for the Departures terminal.  She was driving carefully and slowly.  I only get one attempt at this, have to get it right.  There was a section right outside the Departures entrance signposted “Nur autorisierte Träger” which she knew from her limited German to mean “Authorised Vehicles Only.”  She ignored the warning and drove past the sign.  The two cars followed at a discrete distance.  There was a police car parked to one side.  The officers stood next to their vehicle.  Severine took a deep breath, turned the steering wheel slightly to point towards the police car, and floored the accelerator.  The impact was not great.  In the limited distance, the old Peugeot only managed to reach twenty-five miles per hour.  It was enough though.  The front of the Peugeot was wrecked.  Its driving days were over.  The police car was badly damaged and had been shunted forward into a bus with the impact.  The officers drew their weapons.  Bonus.  They held their weapons up high and trained them on Severine and Solomon.


'Verlassen Sie einen Träger!'  One of the officers shouted.


Severine didn't catch it, but guessed that they were being ordered to get out.  She told Solomon and Natasha to get out as she unbuckled her own seat belt, making sure to keep her hands visible.  She walked around the front of their car and stood simply in front of the officers offering no resistance, posing no threat.  They saw Solomon get out next and she held the back door open for Natasha.  The two officers visibly relaxed when they saw her.  A small girl with a toy.


'Do you speak English?'  Severine asked, 'I'm so sorry, my foot slipped.  Are you OK?'


The officers returned their weapons to their holsters and approached Severine.  They did speak English and began by asking her if they were injured.  Severine made a show of checking Solomon and Natasha and looking despondently at the front of their car.  She saw the two cars that had been following them drive off.  Their opportunity to snatch them gone.


The Swiss police were efficient.  Another patrol car arrived to relieve the damaged one; the two officers were going to spend the rest of the day filling out forms.  Two breakdown vehicles arrived to remove the vehicles.  Severine had expected them all to be arrested, or just her at the very least.  However, she was informed that as no one had been injured and Severine's documents were in order then it could be sorted out between Severine's insurance company and the police's motor vehicle department.  She had admitted liability to the two officers and as they were stationary and were not even in their car, they were confident that all would end well.  Severine was breathalysed, purely routine, and when that showed zero it was the end of their interest.


'Is there somewhere we can hire a car?'  Severine asked.


'Of course.  There is a company just inside the terminal.'  The older officer replied.


Severine apologised again and led Solomon and Natasha away and into the terminal building.  She used a credit card to hire a car and they left to pick it up.  As they pulled out of the rental compound Severine drove past the airport exit.


'Where are we going?'  Solomon asked, confused and still a bit shaken up.


'Long term parking.  We are dumping this and taking the train.  Once they know we are not at the police station they will come looking for us.  I'd rather they were looking in the wrong place.'
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12:15               29 December  [11:15  29 December GMT] 


Train from Zurich to Geneva, Switzerland


 


Although, geographically, Switzerland is a small country its borders with Italy, France, and Germany have meant that politically and economically it has always punched well above its weight.  Severine had opted for the train to Geneva, within Switzerland, so as to avoid any possible need for identification.  The journey was only three hours and she figured they had at least that before the Russians figured out that they were not using the hire car.  Geneva was also very close to the French border, and she felt that as a native speaker of French, France was their best bet at getting to England safely.  One thought was troubling her however.  By using her true identity to hire the car, she had now placed herself on the security grid.  This did not concern her directly but it did mean that her grandmother would also be on the grid.  They could get to me that way.  She knew that her grandmother had many good friends in Felletin, the local police amongst them, so any official inquiries would be handled discretely.  It was the unofficial ones that were of concern.  The thought of two burly Russian agents presenting themselves on her grandmother's doorstep and threatening her was as much as she could bear.  I need to do something about this, as soon as we get to Geneva I'll make some calls, she promised herself.


She was starting to like Solomon, the more that she opened up to her the more she realised how much she had lost.  She still had no idea why this woman was so important though.  Solomon kept tight lipped on that point.  However, the escape from her father and the false accusation of murder helped to explain her caution.  Severine had inquired after Natasha's father and Solomon had been coy about that as well, saying that she wasn't in touch with the father and leaving it at that.  At twenty-five Solomon was junior to Severine by eleven years, but being a mother had made her much more mature.  Severine wondered if children were in her future, she couldn't imagine it so, but it must be wonderful to be a mother.


Their train arrived at Geneva on time.  Severine used a public phone to call Anne-Marie, Julianne, she corrected herself.  She explained the situation to her and asked her to have her uncle look in on her grandmother, update her as to what was happening and provide any protection he could.  In this way, she felt that the Russians or anyone else wouldn't be able to trace the calls back to her.  It would have to do, calling her direct would only increase the risk to her grandmother and would not do anything more to reduce the threat.


They took a taxi from the rank and asked the driver where they could get a Mercedes on the cheap.  Severine wanted to be in a faster, more substantial vehicle this time and she wanted it cheap to avoid a main dealer and the additional questions they ask.  The taxi driver took them to back-street car trader who was obviously a friend or close acquaintance of the taxi driver.  The two of them shook hands warmly and the taxi driver waved in their direction when he spoke. 


'I have spoken to Henri, the owner.  This is where I buy my cars; he should give you a good deal.'


Severine thanked him and paid him the fare plus a reasonable tip.  Henri didn't have a great selection, only a dozen or so vehicles, but they were all Mercedes and they chose a large one with many kilometres on the clock.  It had been a taxi in a former life, but this meant that it would have been well maintained and not overly exerted.  The offer of a cash payment elicited an additional discount, but Solomon struggled to extract the payment without showing the large bundles of cash she was carrying.  They falsified their registration details, Severine using an old address she had once stayed at with a friend in Paris.  That had been more than ten years previously and had no connection to her now.


Key in hand they left in their new purchase and headed in the direction of Lyon across the border.  They stopped at a furnishings store on the outskirts of Geneva, purchasing some thick woollen blankets.  Severine also purchased a small, mahogany coffee table, which she placed on the back seat.  The plan was for Solomon and Natasha to hide in the boot, sandwiched between the blankets to dampen any sounds they might make whilst Severine could use her real identification to go through the border checks, should they be stopped.  The coffee table would appear to make Severine a local who had been on a day trip to Switzerland.  It's risky but the least risky option we have.


The border crossing was busy, Severine was pleased to see.  Less chance they would want to stop a single female driver, I hope.  They had checked the sound insulation by Solomon making noise whilst in the boot, the combination of blankets and the solid construction of the vehicle provided a good level of dampening.


Severine waited patiently in line, moving ever closer as the vehicles in front were waved through.  Wave us through, please wave us through.  She was waved to one side.  The border guard approached her window and she wound it down.


The border guard said it was just routine, but Severine's pulse quickened.  She assured the guard that she wasn't carrying any contraband, told him she had been visiting relatives for a couple of days.  The guard wasn't at all interested; he made no notes except to write down the registration number of the vehicle to show he had stopped it.  He had nearly made his quota for the day and he was only half way through his shift.  He liked to make his numbers early and this way he could relax for the rest of his shift.  There was also a game on later and one of his colleagues had a small TV they could watch it on.  He waved Severine on.


              As she watched the border crossing disappearing in her rear-view mirror Severine let out a long deep breath and relaxed her shoulders from the hunched position they had adopted with nervous stress.  She found a suitable place to stop a few miles on to let Solomon and Natasha out of the boot. 


'Are we safe now mummy?'  Natasha asked, looking up at her mother with wide, inquiring eyes.


'Not yet darling, we are nearly there.  Once we get to England then we will be safe.' 


She hugged her; grateful that Natasha hadn't made a sound all the time they were in the boot.  She had just laid there holding her mother's hand, her eyes shut, her breathing shallow.


They headed north towards Dijon picking up the E60 following it towards Paris, where they spent the night Severine choosing a small mid-market hotel, comfortable but anonymous.  She gave them a brief tour of the city by car, they couldn't afford the time for anything more except a meal at a typical Parisian cafe.  Memories, good and bad, flooded back into Severine's mind.  She still absolutely loved the city, but she hated some of the time she had spent there.  Paris is an intimate city, and like any intimate relationship, the good and the bad are both accentuated. 


 


Severine still had mixed emotions, leaving Paris for her was like leaving a bad lover, you need to go, but it is still painful.  She turned her mind to practical matters.  The question now is, how do we get safely into England?  A train or plane is still out of the question.  So too is going on foot.  That leaves driving across or taking a boat.  The English Channel is too unpredictable for a small boat and I doubt we could handle a big enough boat.  That leaves a vehicular crossing, either by Eurotunnel or on a ferry.  Both are not without risk, but I would bet that the Eurotunnel would have the more stringent security of the two.  That just leaves the ferry...


Severine considered making the crossing with refugees, hiding in the back of a lorry.  But, she reasoned, that would be the main focus of the border guards and therefore should be discounted.  They made for the port of Cherbourg, as they drew near Solomon and Natasha were confined again to the boot.  They had opted for the high-speed crossing, at just over two hours it was the best choice considering that Solomon and Natasha would have to stay in the boot the entire time.  The French side provided little in the way of inspection.  Severine was waved onto the ferry and pointed to where she should park.  She clicked the boot open, just slightly, so as to provide ventilation for them before leaving to join the other passengers on the upper deck.


 


About an hour into the crossing, the smell was becoming intolerable.  Natasha had soiled herself, but hadn't made a sound.  Solomon was proud, but also concerned about the smell.  In their confinement, it was so strong they were both starting to gasp for air.  She also started to worry that someone might notice the smell and get curious.  In her mind, there was no other option.  We will have to leave and get Natasha cleaned up.  Solomon pulled back the blankets on top of them and let her eyes adjust to the slight increase in light.  She listened intently but could hear nothing above the thrum of the engines and the roar of the water as the large catamaran cut through the water at high speed.  She slowly raised the boot lid, waiting again for her eyes to adjust.  She peeked out, and seeing no one about, climbed out before helping Natasha.  There was a door about thirty feet away, above it was the international green exit sign.  The door was unlocked and they stole up the stairs to the level above.


There were a lot of people on this level, just milling about as people do when they have time on their hands.  Those who walked close by scrunched up their noses when they were assaulted by the smell.  Better find a toilet, and quick.  They didn't have to go far, and once inside Solomon helped Natasha undress.  Luckily, her knickers had withstood the worst of it, they went in the bin.  Her trousers she rinsed under the hot tap and dried them under the hand dryer.  After Natasha was dressed, they headed back towards the stairs to the car deck.  As they approached the door to the stairs, a passing member of the crew called to them.


'I'm sorry you can't go down to the vehicle level until we dock.'


'But I have to get something from my car.'  Solomon pleaded.


'It will have to wait.  It’s only another hour and we will be docking.'


Solomon didn't push the point, didn't want to make any kind of scene.  She led Natasha by her hand and entered one of the lounges.  The smell of freshly cooked food hit them instantly.  It would be torture to sit here and not to have something to eat.  They joined the queue.


They ate and relaxed, but Solomon kept a constant eye on the time.  After fifty minutes, she could wait no longer.  We have to get back down there before the others.  It is time to go.  They walked back out into the corridor and opened the door to the deck below.  No one stopped them this time.  They crept down the stairs and opened the lower door.  Solomon peeked out, all was clear.  They snuck back into the boot of their car and Solomon pulled the lid down on them.  As she drew the blankets over them, she let out a sigh of relief, confident they had not been spotted.


The security officer monitoring the CCTV turned to his boss.  He had just watched a woman and child climb into the boot of a Mercedes.


'What do you think?'


'Leave it to the customs agents.  Let them know the details.  No point in us making a fuss.'


Severine joined the queue of people working their way down the stairs to their cars.  She had purchased some wine from the shop and she put this in the boot.


'We are at the port now.  Stay quiet until I get you out.'


She closed the boot lid and got into the car.  There was more impatience with the drivers getting off than there had been boarding.  Their Mercedes nearly hit twice by others rushing to leave.  Eventually they made it outside and joined the queue for customs.  She was pleased to note that again most were just being waved through.  She pulled forward, level with the customs agent.


'Good day madam.  Your papers please.'


Severine handed them over.


'Travelling alone?'


'Yes'


'Where are you headed?'


'To London, I'm visiting my brother.'


'I see.  What have you got in your boot?'


'Just some wine.  I bought it on the trip over.' 


'I need to see it, please pull in over there.'  He pointed to a lay-by.


Severine's heart stopped.  Perhaps he will just see the wine and the blankets.  It was a slim hope but she clung resolutely to it.  She pulled into the lay-by and switched off her engine.  The border guard asked her to step out of her vehicle and open the boot.  Two more customs agents appeared.  No, she realised, those are armed police.  They stood either side of her car.  She opened the boot with her key and stood to one side showing the guard that there was nothing to see.


'Please remove the blankets.'  He asked.


'They are just blankets.  I use them for picnics.'  Solomon pleaded.


'The blankets.  Remove them for me.' 


There was no point in protesting further she realised.  The game, for whatever reason, was up.


'Look I can explain.'  She said, not even convincing herself as she pulled back the blankets to reveal her stowaways.


They were ordered out of the car and all three were placed under arrest.  It then became something of a blur.  The handcuffs, the questions, the holding cells.  Natasha becoming distraught at being separated from her mother, the appropriate adult she didn't take to in the slightest.  The immigration officers got a hit on the international database.  Solomon was pulled back in for questioning.


'So you are Solomon Bondarenko and you are wanted for murder'


The words rang through her mind.  Seeing it on posters was one thing, but having an official state it as a matter of fact was another entirely.  There was no point in denying it either.  She was wanted for murder and the fact he knew her name meant that she had been positively identified.


'We have informed the Russian authorities and they are keen to speak with you.  Very keen.  I would suggest that if there is anything you want to say you should say it now.'


He seemed genuinely concerned.  However he gave no indication that he could affect events.  She knew that the deportation order would already be going through the system and guessed that by the time the Russians arrived she and Natasha would be taken straight to the airport and be back in Russia within hours.  She started to cry.  Not for herself but for her little angel.  Natasha would no doubt be placed in the hands of her grandfather and knowing what she knew now that was a fate worse than death.  The immigration officer offered her a tissue, which she took gratefully.  She wiped her tears and blew her nose.  She looked up at him.


'I didn't do it.  I had nothing to do with it.  I never even met him.  I am trying to escape from my father.' 


The immigration officer looked at her.  His heart went out to her, guessing that she was the victim of domestic violence.  Memories of his own father flooded his mind.  The times he hid under the stairs.  The shouting.  Things breaking.  His own punishments.  He wanted to fling open the door and look the other way.  However, his time in the job had hardened him.  He had seen too many people, heard too many stories.  Found too many to be lies.  He would do what he could for her and for her daughter.  However, that was limited.


'Is there anyone you want to call?'


'No there isn't.  However, if you could let Severine make a call...and please tell her the Russians are coming.  Please.'


There's no harm in the truth I always say, he thought to himself.


'OK.  I will.  I need to return you to your cell in the meantime though.'


'May I see my daughter please?'


'Of course.'  There was no harm in this, Solomon had been positively identified as her mother, and the social worker had confirmed that the girl had not been mistreated.


'Although I think we can do better than that.  How about I put the two of you together?'


Solomon's face positively beamed.  'Thank you so much.  You are a good man.'


As the officer opened the cell door Natasha ran into her mother's arms.  Solomon hugged her deeply.  The officer smiled to himself and closed the door.  He was allowed a little discretion and he had used it wisely he felt.


Severine was taken back into the interview room.  He explained about the murder charge and that the Russians were coming to collect Solomon and Natasha.  They had no interest in her and he was awaiting instructions as to how they would proceed.  Likely, she would be charged, with what he couldn't say.


'There is a phone there.  You may make a call if you wish.  I will be outside.'


Severine immediately rang Jane and explained their predicament and the pressure they were under with the Russians on their way.


 


 


14:33               30 December  [14:33  30 December GMT] 


Stately Home of 19th Duke of Hertfordshire, England.


 


The Duke inhaled deeply on his cigar.  The smoke traced out the air currents in the room as it rose to the ceiling.  This was the only room he permitted himself to smoke in, apart from the occasional dinner party when he would join his guests.  The arrival of the Sunarr had raised in him many deep emotions and memories.  The loses he had suffered where beyond the comprehension of man.  His future was uncertain.  He had decided that this would be his last life, but their arrival had called that into question.  There was still much to do, so much pain and suffering ahead that he could hardly bear to think about it.  Nevertheless, think about it he had to.  His was the legacy.  There were others true, but not so many as there had once been.  The phone rang and brought him back to the present.


'Hertfordshire.'  He said, characteristically using his title.


'It's Jane.  I'm afraid I have some bad news.'  She went on to explain the situation.


She doesn't know what bad news is, he thought to himself.


'Don't worry Jane, leave it with me.  I'll take care of it.'


‘Thanks let me know if there is anything I can do.'


He looked through his list of contacts and settled on one name.  He dialled using his public line.


'The Secretary please, it's Hertfordshire.' 


'One moment your grace.'  There was a pause, 'I'm putting you through now.'


'Frederick what can the Home Secretary do for you today?'


'I want someone, three people actually, released by immigration.' 


'That's quite something.  May I ask who they are?'


'I'll give you their names but as to why I am interested, that's my business.'


'Look your grace I can't simply turn up and free them....'


The Duke cut him off mid-sentence.  'I don't care how you do it, just do it.  You're not the only one who wanted to be Home Secretary you know.'


'OK I'll see what I can do.'
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Poole Police Station, Joint Emergency Services Building, Dorset, England.


 


The senior immigration officer hadn't known anything like it.  They had a woman in custody wanted for murder.  Another who had tried to smuggle her and her daughter into the country.  Then there was the question of their possessions.  The large amount of various currencies, the Krugerrands, and the Gold box, perfectly sealed and opaque to X-rays.


Now he orders to release them.  None of it made any sense.  However, the papers he was holding were official and now he had no legal basis on which to hold them.  He had protested strongly, pushing the point that the Russians were only an hour away and they should wait for them to question the suspects.  He had been informed that this was by order of the Home Secretary and to ignore it or play with it in any way would be a career-limiting move.  It was unusual for him to be threatened for just doing his job.  However, he had no wish to be shelved or worse moved to another post.  My family are settled here, my children in good schools, it's not worth that, is it?  He called downstairs and informed the immigration officer dealing with the case of the turn in events.  The officer sounded elated by it, which he thought was odd.  Fellow must be going native.


The officer pushed through the paperwork as quickly as he could.  Severine, Solomon, and Natasha were all gathered in the interview room wondering what was happening when the officer joined them.


'I am pleased to tell you that you are all free to go.  Here are your papers and if you could sign that you have received your possessions.'  He said as he handed them over.


'We are free?'  Solomon could hardly believe it.


'Yes.  However I was just informed that the Russians are only fifteen minutes away, so I would suggest that you leave promptly.'


'Don't worry,’ Severine said, 'We will.'


The officer led them outside to the vehicle compound.  Unfortunately, their Mercedes was in pieces.  The entire interior had been stripped out as they had searched the vehicle thoroughly.  It was clearly going to take more than fifteen minutes to reassemble the car.


'I've an idea.'  The officer said.  He opened his own car to them and drove them down the road to a cafe.


'Wait here and I will come for you when your car is ready.'


The officer got back to his office just as the Russians arrived.  They were furious.


'I'm sorry but I had orders to release them.'


'But you knew we were coming.  Your government said we could take custody of them!'


'I understand your dilemma, I really do.'  The officer was keeping his tone level and his language neutral.  'However we could only hold them as long as we had legal authority to.  That authority ceased and so we had to release them.'


'Where have they gone?'  The Russian in charge demanded.


'They didn't say where they were going I'm afraid.'  He kept to the truth, however tenuously.


'What car are they in?'


'I'm afraid that I have not been authorised to release that information.'


'Why not?'  The Russian boomed.


'Because no official request for that information has been lodged.  I would suggest that if you require it you do so through official channels.'  That should keep them busy for a while.


The Russians, exasperated at his bureaucratic intransigence left in disgust, saying how their ambassador would hear of this.  The officer just reflected to himself that he worked for the British Government and no other.  Two hours later, the Russians long gone, he drove back to the cafe and picked up the three of them.  They left the compound in their car after thanking him for all his help.  The officer returned to his office, quietly pleased with himself.


They headed north for Hertfordshire.
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Stately Home of 19th Duke of Hertfordshire, England.


 


The drive to the main entrance was incredibly long.  The house itself, if it could be referred to as such, was on the large side of grand.  Unlike most stately homes, this one had not been opened to the public.  The Duke had sufficient funds to keep his home private and well maintained.  The grounds were immaculate, the gardens well tended and the acres of trees just added to its charm.  What excited Solomon the most was that she was going to meet him.  He had been a close friend of her mothers.  Now he was the only one she could turn to.  The only one who would understand her and the one she could trust with almost anything.  No more running.  No more hiding.  Now we are finally free.


They were shown into the drawing room by the butler, drinks and sandwiches laid out for them.  They didn't have to wait long for the Duke to join them.  He entered the room and then stood their open-mouthed staring at Solomon.


'You are the picture of your mother.'  He hugged her warmly.


'I know so little about you and yet.'


'Yes.'


'It feels like I have known you forever.'


'Let's sit down shall we.  We have much to discuss.'


'Would it be OK if Severine stayed here with Natasha?'


'Of course.  So good to meet you Severine.  I cannot thank you enough for what you have done.'  He kissed Severine's hand.


'We won't be long Severine, just some family stuff we have to discuss.'


'Sure.'  Severine replied, 'No rush.' 


Severine was too tired to care what they discussed or for how long.  There was a music system in the corner and she put some on to help pass the time.  They were gone for over an hour and when they returned Solomon's face looked like it carried the weight of the world.


 


'We need to go.'  She said to Severine.


'Go?  Go where?  Why?'


'The Duke is concerned that by intervening on our behalf, it was him who got us freed from immigration, he has made himself known to the Russians and therefore it won't be safe for us here.  However, he has given us a safe contact in London.  A Jack Hamilton.  He is expecting us.'


They said goodbye to the Duke, thanked him again for arranging their release from immigration, and headed south to London.  The traffic increased all the way and soon they were crawling along, but eventually they made it to Chester Square.  They waited for Jack to answer the door.


'Hi.'  He said brightly, 'You must be the three wise women.'


Natasha giggled at this.  Jack bent down to be level with Natasha.


'And I bet you are the wisest of all aren't you?' 


Natasha looked down, suddenly shy. 


'What's your friends name then?'  He asked referring to her toy sheep.


'This is Sheepy.'  She said proudly.  He took hold of one of the toy's front legs and shook it.


'Pleased to meet you Sheepy.  Welcome to my home.'


Jack showed them into his home and introduced them to Sally and Anita who immediately took to Natasha and led her off to the snug to play board games.  Jack sat down with Solomon and Severine and listened whilst they recounted their stories to him.  Jack took notes as they spoke and had them go over some things when it wasn't clear to him.  Eventually they both finished.


'May I see the letter?'  Jack asked Solomon.


'No.  Sorry, but my mother was most clear on this point, it is for my eyes only.'


'I see.'  Jack said, not really understanding the reasoning but leaving it for now.  'You know as the Duke asked me to ensure your safety, I think it would be best if I found you somewhere to live where it will not raise any questions.  Excuse me a minute.'  Jack popped out of the room but was back in short order.


'OK you will be staying at Sally and Anita's place in Brixton.  It’s a busy part of London with a good ethnic mix so the three of you should fit right in.'


'The three of us?'  Severine asked pointedly.


'Yes.  I would like you to stay with them and provide protection.  I'm not anticipating any trouble, but just in case...'


'Just in case you want me on babysitting duty?' 


'While you are not on active missions.  Yes.  Are you OK with this or not?  I need to know.'


Severine looked at Solomon and then at Jack.  There was seriousness about him she recognised from her time undertaking assignments for the French government. 


'I will still be on active missions then?'


'Yes, absolutely.  I rather hope that you will be my liaison to Group 79 through the spa days and that you will be actively recruiting personnel and planning missions.  That is, if you are up to it.'


That did it, Jack saw, the flash of indignation in Severine's eyes told him all he needed to know.  Besides, he had called in a couple of favours and had read the full military history of Severine Pascal.


'Yes.  I'm up to it.'  She replied.


'Good.  I'll make the arrangements.  You'll also need false papers.  I've never dealt with that before however I do know a lawyer who works extensively with asylum seekers.  I'll give you an introduction and say that you researching the area.  That way he should be forthcoming.  I'll leave the rest in your capable hands Severine.  Once you have your new identities, set up a bank account, and let me know the details and I'll have some money transferred into it.  Here's my card, you can contact me day or night.'


'What about this?'  Solomon asked holding aloft the gold box.


'Ah yes,’ Jack said, 'I had almost forgotten.  If it is OK with you Solomon I would like to hand it over to a Scientist we have for analysis.'


'It was my mother's...'  Solomon hesitated.


'I'm sure it will be in good hands.'


Solomon handed over the gold box, her hands trembling as she did so.  However once out of her hands she relaxed considerably.  The shaking had gone.
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Research Laboratory, Cambridge University, Cambridge, England.


 


Jack had left soon after dropping off the small gold box.  John had been staring at it ever since.  It was as if he was trying to open it through sheer will power.  Instead, he was just letting his mind wander as he often did when presented with a new problem.  He had weighed it, measured it, and calculated its average density at 2.7 g /cc, which was a lot lower than solid gold at 19.32 g /cc.  This confirmed what he already knew instinctively that it was a box and contained something.  How it opened, he didn't have a clue.  Every side was the same.  Flat with no markings.  Every edge was perfectly sealed, with no evidence of how it was sealed.  It was essentially a locked box.  Not only did he not have the key, he couldn't even find the lock so had no idea what the key would look like.  He starred at it some more.  The X-ray hadn't provided anything, as they didn't seem to penetrate it, even at the highest setting.


He placed it under a tunnelling electron microscope; this should allow me to see its atomic construction, at least on the surface.  The machine activated with a soft hum, the probe moved closer to the surface and when it reached one nanometre, about the size of a single atom, it would start to scan the surface and produce an image.  The machine's status changed as it reached one nanometre.  John watched the screen.


NO DATA, it blinked. 


He continued to watch, giving it a few minutes. 


NO DATA continued to flash on the screen. 


He sighed, realising that he wasn't going to get anywhere with this either.  He tried a simple conductivity test on the box.  Damn, he thought as he read the instrument, its non-conductive, but it looks and feels like gold.  He set it up on the test bench, which he usually used to construct devices and fixed it to the bed of a pillar drill.  He tried a tungsten carbide drill.  The machine whirred at high speed and the drill made contact with the box's surface.  The drill screamed and sent up a plume of acrid smoke.  So much for tungsten carbide.  He switched it off and changed it for a diamond drill.  This produced less smoke but it too failed to penetrate the box. 


He decamped to the materials testing laboratory with the box.  There they had a Universal Testing Machine.  He started with the Brinell Hardness Test.  He set it up installing the tungsten carbide indenter for the standard steel one.  This machine had been used to test the hardness of all known materials by applying forces of tonnes to the indenter.  He started with a force of one tonne.  He released the box and measured the indentation.  He couldn't find one.  He re-ran the test with two tonnes of pressure and ran the test for a full sixty seconds, double the usual thirty.  Still no indentation.  He changed the indenter for a five-millimetre ball thereby increasing the pressure at the contact point and he raised the pressure to ten tonnes, way beyond the normal maximum load of three tonnes.  This last test still provided no indentation.  With no indentation, he had no way to measure the hardness of the box.  He decided, just for the hell of it, to say that it had made a small indentation of zero point zero one millimetres.  He ran the calculation.  It was in excess of one hundred and twenty seven million.  That compared to one thousand five hundred to one thousand nine hundred for hardened tool steel.  At over sixty-six thousand times harder than tool steel this box should weigh over five hundred tonnes, whilst it actually weighs nearer three kilogrammes. 


This stuff is amazing.  It’s defied all testing so far and it isn’t even scratched.  If you built something out of this, it would be virtually indestructible.  Of course, he realised, someone has.  He wanted to ask the materials specialists, but couldn't.  He didn't want to raise any awkward questions that he couldn't answer.  He phoned a colleague in the medical department.


'Hi Stephen, its John Deeth.  I wonder if I could borrow one of your MRI scanners this afternoon?'


After some initial reluctance Stephen finally agreed once John offered to cross-fund one of Stephen's research projects. 


In the medical lab, he placed the box in the Magnetic Resonance Imaging machine and set up the initial test.  As the box was so small compared to a human body, the test took only took a few minutes.  The result was a cube shaped image with no internal imaging.  Not surprised, John set about writing an entire test program.  This would vary the intensity and frequency of the magnetic pulses.  It was well outside the normal use of the machine and John had to set it into test mode to achieve it. 


Finally, he was ready.  Even with such a small test subject, the program would take over two hours to run.  He sat back, cleared his mind, and watched the box on both the video monitor and the MRI screen.  Forty minutes in to the test program, with his mind focused on other things the MRI screen was still blank but the box suddenly ceased to be a box.  Each corner had disappeared to be replaced by a flat section.  It now had fourteen sides instead of six. 


Curious.  He decided to let the program run.  The box refused to change shape again.  The test over, he reviewed the test conditions around the time that the box had altered shape.  Now I'm getting somewhere, the index on the video indicates that the box changed shape when the magnetic field changed in both frequency and intensity to, 1.3GHz and 45Kw.  He wrote another program limiting the range of frequency and intensity from 1.2GHz and 43Kw to 1.4GHz and 48Kw.  This program only took twenty minutes to run and produced six shape changes, each shape geometric in construction.  The box was still sealed however.  He again noted the values each time when the box had changed shape.  He phoned one of the lab technicians and had them replace the standard video camera with a high-speed one.  He fed the control of the camera into the program and set it to record the shape change.  He re-ran the last program.


As he watched the box changing shape in slow motion, it didn't provide any clue as to what it contained but it did yield the result that the box remained sealed whilst it changed shape.  The skin, or whatever it was, simply reformed itself.  Edges appeared or disappeared as if it was a plant he was watching grow in time-lapse photography.  But a plant has DNA to tell it how to grow, where is the box getting its instructions?  He now knew more than he did.  The box must have some kind of power source to change its shape, it must have some kind of programming or intelligence to know what shape to assume and it must be controlled or influenced by magnetic impulses, as that was the only variable I have changed. 


Not bad for a few hours’ work.  Now he wanted to get it open.  Now, where to start.  Getting it to change shape is one thing, getting it to open up is another.  It just remains completely sealed when changing shape.  If this were a safe, I would just blow it open....  That, he suddenly realised, was it.  Brute force.  Knowing the frequency at which it changes shape I can vastly increase the magnetic field.  He went back into the MRI scanners’ test mode and removed all the safety overrides.  He was going to apply the full power of the device to the box and hope to overwhelm it.


When the program kicked into life, the noise, even in his observation room, was deafening.  The pulses, created by the interference between the electro-magnetic and magnetic fields, felt like the Earth itself were splitting in two and causing the scanner to scream in pain.  The box was changing shape rapidly now, each shape more complex than the previous one.  Finally, the box lost its coherence and changed into three interconnected shapes, leaving an opening.  John shut down the program and his ears were blessed with silence, but the loud pounding continued to ring in his ears.  He walked over to the scanner and pulled out the box.  He peaked inside.


The box contained what appeared to be a large diamond, about the size of a tennis ball.  He took it out and its brilliance shone like a bright star, casting rainbows around the room.  Holding it between his index finger and thumb the sight of it stunned him.  He looked inside the box.  There was a small dark object, about the size of a box of matches.  Thousands of tiny fibres, no thicker than a strand of a cobweb, protruded from each end and were connected to the interior of the box.  He picked up the box and left to return to his own lab.






 




 


 


 


 


 


 


23 The Teacher


 


 


09:20              31 December  [09:20  31 December GMT] 


Moore Terraces, Flat 4d, Brixton Road, Brixton, London, England.


 


Solomon looked around the top floor flat.  It was not what she had hoped for, longed for all this time.  The flat was in stark contrast to her former home and life in St. Petersburg.  But then, she reflected, it is a world away from there, which is what I wanted.  Natasha was happy though, she was looking around the entire flat, poking into every nook and cranny.  Whilst they had been bringing their luggage up, Natasha had met a girl about her own age, living in the flat below.  She was from the Czech Republic, her blonde hair and blue eyes contrasting with Natasha’s now back to her natural Chestnut.  Natasha had unfortunately introduced herself, which was a problem, as they hadn't yet decided on new names for their new identities.  It wasn't Natasha's fault; she just hadn't been told yet as Solomon couldn't think how to broach the subject.  She turned her mind to more practical matters.  There were two bedrooms, she would have the larger for her and Natasha and Severine the slightly smaller room.  Sally and Anita had already removed their belongings and had told them that they could change anything they wanted.  Solomon dearly wanted to; she wanted to create a home for her daughter that she would finally feel settled in.  For the moment, she reminded herself, we will be moving on at some point. 


The windows in the combined lounge-kitchen were open.  The sound of the traffic and people outside was deeply intrusive.  The flat was situated on a busy junction.  There was a taxi rank outside and the noise from this would go on through the night.  It didn't matter though; it was warm, dry, and safe.  It was also theirs.


There was a knock at the door.  Solomon's heart froze.  Severine ushered Solomon and Natasha into one of the bedrooms and closed the door.  She took off the chain and undid the latch.  Her handbag slung over her right shoulder, her hand inside resting lightly on her silenced Heckler & Koch P30.  Severine stiffened slightly and opened the door.  She was aiming at nothing.  She looked down.  A small blonde girl was stood in front of her.


'Is Natasha coming out?  We can play in the garden.  See,' she said holding aloft two small badminton rackets, 'I have a spare.'  She looked very pleased with herself.


'I'll go and see.'  Severine closed the door on the girl and went into the bedroom.  Solomon looked out the back window, indeed there was a large area of grass behind the block of flats.  It was fenced all around and there appeared to be a sturdy locked gate to the car park behind.  I guess normality has to start somewhere.  Solomon looked at her daughter, Natasha was reserved, but Solomon could see in her daughter's eyes how desperate she was just to play.  Solomon relented.  Natasha ran to the front door and didn't look back as she disappeared from view.


Severine and Solomon took the time to discuss their living arrangements and their urgent need for new identities.  Severine suggested that Natasha take the second room and she would sleep on the sofa bed in the lounge.  Solomon wouldn't hear of it, instead arguing that for appearances sake it made more sense to decorate the smaller bedroom as a child's room but that Severine would occupy it.  In this way, they could pretend to be a couple, which would be a better cover story anyhow. 


Their discussion on new identities involved deciding upon new names.  Solomon didn't have a clue.  Her surname already gone, she wasn't too keen to lose her forename.  Severine suggested a compromise.  New official forenames and surnames were essential to their cover.  These would be publicly available and therefore available to the Russian authorities.  However, there was nothing to stop them from using their 'new' middle names in everyday conversation.  It was elegant, Solomon agreed.  As long as their middle names were listed as initials in official documents then the risk was minimal.  Smaller than the risk of inadvertently using the wrong names, they decided.  Solomon chose the surname of a Russian composer in memory of her mother.  Solomon would become Anastasia Solomon Kasparov and her daughter Valentina Natasha Kasparov.  Now all Severine had to do was to get in touch with the lawyer who, she hoped, would know where they could purchase false identities.  No small task, she thought.
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Research Laboratory, Cambridge University, Cambridge, England.


 


John looked at the box.  It interested him far more than the diamond, as he had decided to refer to it.  Unsure of how to proceed, he decided to remove the black matchbox device and investigate it further.  There were no screws or fixings of any recognisable description that he could remove.  He tried picking it out, the box came with it.  He held the box in his hand and tried moving it.  It was stuck fast.  He tried pulling out some of the threads.  They wouldn't budge either.  He placed it under a high-powered optical microscope and examined it further.  The threads were six hundred and fifty nanometres in diameter, which put them about two thirds the thickness of a spiders web.  The tensile strength was incredible though.  He tried cutting a thread with a pair of high-tensile steel cutters.  He managed it, but he strained doing it. 


He looked at the cross-section of the fibre.  It was crystalline in appearance, but with a thin film of gold atoms about one third of the way in.  It is almost as if it is a combined data and power cable… shit, of course, that’s e exactly what it is.  The atoms of the box's walls must require power of some kind so as to be able to re-orientate themselves, plus the message of how to change.  This means that the key to the power and intelligence of the box must be in the interior of the black matchbox device.


He had to know what was inside.  He moved the box to his workbench for further investigation.  He tried the drill.  This time there was little resistance, the matchbox device composed of a different material.  He only penetrated the surface slightly.  He transferred it to a vertical milling machine and began milling away the surface of the box.  It was just two millimetres thick.  Inside were a small, thumbnail sized disc and a fleshy substance that was soft to the touch.  The surface of the disc was warm to the touch.  He recoiled instinctively.  It was radioactive.  He left the box where it was and headed off to the physics department in search of a Geiger counter.


 


He returned with the Geiger counter, switching it on before he re-entered his laboratory, he read the display, little more than background radiation...  He opened the door and stepped in, the clicking of the counter seemed to increase, but the display didn’t change.  He slowly approached his workbench, trying his best to keep one eye on the display and the other on the gold box with the radioactive material inside.  He sidled up to it and extended his arm, tilting the counter so he could read the display.  The material was not hazardous.  He relaxed, just a little, and managed to remove it from the box. 


He weighed it and calculated its half-life as somewhere between fifty thousand and a hundred thousand years.  Then he back calculated the amount it had decayed to gauge how long it had been since it was sealed inside the gold box.  He arrived at a figure of twenty thousand years.  Twenty thousand years, it wondered through his mind.  This places it squarely in the Stone Age during the last glacial period.  Man had not discovered metal then, wouldn't for thousands of years and yet someone constructed this box and placed inside it this radioactive material, obviously designed to power it for thousands of years.  That makes it alien.  I am looking at an alien device that is twenty thousand years old and still far advanced by modern standards.  Modern human standards, he corrected himself. 


Why?  He wondered.  Then he realised that the answer was close to hand.  The diamond.  It was the only thing in the box other than the box and its mechanism.  Someone wanted to preserve the diamond for a long time; they thought it was that important.  If they thought it was that important that long ago, then it must be even more important now.  He was in the horns of a dilemma.  The box represented a source of technical wonders.  The diamond's secrets were unknown, but of equal or greater value.  Where to focus his efforts, that was the question.  His mind reviewed his priorities, the Deeth particles were the key, of this he was certain.  The box represented the best option for this he thought.


If only I could get a sample of the box's material for analysis.  He tried milling it, it was extremely hard going, but he managed it.  That's odd, it wouldn't budge before.  Then he realised that he had removed the radioactive disc, which must have been its power source.  He removed a small section of the box and placed it in the tunnelling electron microscope.  Now he was getting an image.  The material was composed of gold, iron and carbon atoms.  They were arranged in a Buckyball structure, like the outside of a football, sixty atoms arranged to make an almost perfect sphere.  He knew of the nature of Buckyballs.  Carbon 60 had been identified as one.  It was incredibly strong; a single Buckyball had been tested by slamming it into a stainless steel object at fifteen thousand miles per hour, it survived totally unaffected


He let the microscope continue to trace the surface of the material.  The image grew on the display; dozens of the Buckyballs were now visible.  They were all orientated in the same direction.  He removed another section of the box, from an adjacent side to the first.  These Buckyballs were also orientated in one direction, but different to the first sample.  However when he compared the original orientation of the first sample to the second they were all pointing in the same direction, regardless of their place on the cube.  He tried another sample from each of the remaining surfaces.  They all pointed in the same direction when they were on the cube.  He had seen the box change shape several times and it appeared that each time the Buckyballs were orientated in the same direction.  They must be able to be orientated, steered to point in one direction.  The question was why.  Why would you want to be able to steer the atoms?  What advantage would it bring?  He decided it was time for a coffee and a cigarette.


 


The air outside was fresh in his face, the coffee hot but not scolding.  As he drew on his cigarette, his mind floated over the surface of the material.  He let it wander.  He looked down on the sea of Buckyballs below, noting their orientation.  They changed direction whilst he was looking.  They changed again and again.  His mind swooped lower skimming the surface.  Still it didn't make sense.  It came to hover above just one Buckyball and then descended down inside it.  It floated there watching the Buckyball move around it.  The movement reminded him of something but he wasn't sure what it was.  Their movement was orchestrated like a wind farm, continually making adjustments to face the wind.  He imagined a wind blowing though at a sub-atomic level.  He added some colour to the wind so he could see it interact with the Buckyballs.  The wind passed through the surface, right through the material itself.  Some of it was stuck though.  The Buckyballs seemed to capture an exact amount of wind each, held within each of the moving spheres.  It was only held for an instant, and then released to allow the next particles of wind to enter.  The wind is the key, his mind said.  The magnetic properties of the iron atoms could combine with the diamagnetic ones of the carbon atoms to steer the Buckyballs.  They could also be used to pass power from one Buckyball to the next.  That leaves the gold atoms, which are the most abundant as well.  They must be providing the temporary capture of the wind.  The wind must be composed of Deeth particles, he realised.  If you could capture Deeth particles, no matter how briefly, you would have an enormous force at your disposal.  That must be where its strength comes from.  I was trying to drill through layers of Deeth particles!  Moving at a billion times the speed of light and with incredible mass it would have been like trying to push a drinking straw through a brick wall…


He headed back into his laboratory wondering to himself, how do I validate my theory without blowing up my lab again?  I need to build a software model to test the theory.  Shit, I have so much to do and so little time...I’m going to need some help with all this.


He remembered that both his computer and the entire web were still infected with the virus.  That is going to make it even more tricky.  What I need is a virtual classroom, where I can bring in the brightest minds from around the world to work on the problems with me.  But I need a way of doing this that protects them from the contagion.  He sighed, realising that he needed some initial help before he could get more help, meant that he was initially limited to the students on the campus.  He headed over to the vice chancellor’s office.


 


He didn't have an appointment, but felt that the amount of funding he was bringing in to the university allowed him considerable latitude.  Besides, by making this request the vice-chancellor will be able to claim even more money from Research Angel.              


'Oh hi John, good to see you how's things going?'  The vice-chancellor rose from his desk and moved round it so he could shake John warmly by the hand.  It’s amazing how the smell of money changes people, John reflected.


'Fine thanks.  However I do have a request.'  He decided that it would be best to keep things pleasant, and his manner deferential. 


'Sure.  How can I help?'


'I would like two research students, Computer Science and Physics if possible.'


'I don't see a problem with that.  I'll have Mary look in to it for you.  Anything else?'


'That's the thing, I'd really like to do it myself, if that's OK.  I don't know quite what I'm looking for but I'll know it when I see it.'


'I see.'  The vice-chancellor replied.  ‘I must say it is an unusual request as it would mean giving you direct access to the permanent records of students which you aren’t really cleared for…and that could leave the university exposed in all sorts of ways, particularly discrimination…’  He mulled it over some more.  'OK John.  I'll have Mary give you the access you need.  Just...be careful OK?'


'I will, don't worry.'


 


The student personnel system was a little cumbersome to use, but after a while, he got used to it.  Little information was held within the system, so he had to keep dropping out of it to look directly at the relevant students file.  It made for depressing reading.  Cambridge students are amongst the brightest in the country.  They generally come from good backgrounds, have excelled academically in good schools, the vast majority of which were private.  Birds of a feather, John thought.  He was being unfair and he knew it.  They had applied themselves diligently and achieved a great deal.  He knew he could choose almost any of them and they would do a brilliant job.  However he wasn't looking for just brilliant, he was looking for exceptional. 


This is getting me nowhere fast.  He had looked at dozens of students now but none of their records spoke to him.  He decided to change direction.  The system supported limited queries, so he ran a search for students with very good exam scores but with poor attendance or other negative marks against them.  The search brought back just five names with the requisite Computing and Physics courses.  He pulled a copy of their full records and decided to read these before interviewing them personally.  If he didn't find what he wanted, he would come back and try something different.


John didn't like doing this kind of work.  He generally considered it to be a waste of his time; he had to remind himself that this was an investment of his time.  The return would be two people helping him, which in turn would lead to dozens of people helping all around the world.  It will be worth it, he assured himself.  The candidates were at least an interesting bunch. 


One in particular stood out.  Barry Edgers.  He was currently facing a major disciplinary.  Amazingly, in his last year, with only his dissertation outstanding, he had finally been caught and identified as the Phantom.  John had heard of the Phantom, even crossed swords with him so to speak.  He had hacked into every university system three years before.  All that is except John's.  He had leaked all the staff's pay and benefits, posting them on the university's intranet, much to the embarrassment of the faculty staff.  It was rumoured that he had hacked most of the finance, security, and military systems worldwide from right inside the university.  That had never been admitted or proved.  His attendance record was frankly abysmal.  His attendance at lectures in his first year had been sporadic to say the least, then when he was confronted by the Computer Science lecturer he not only argued with him, he walked up to the front of the lecture hall and disproved the theory that the lecturer had spent the previous hour expounding.  He didn't attend lectures much at all after that, and frankly, his presence wasn't missed.  He had joined the Computer Science club, but was ejected for solving the monthly problems the same day and posting them on the intranet.  According to his personal tutor, Barry had recently taken to spend much of his time in the college bar, doing what, he didn't know.  John looked at his watch; no reason I can't interview and have a beer at the same time is there?


 


He smiled at the girl serving him in the bar.  The last time he had seen her was when he had been slipping out of her room on the way back to his own.  She smiled back.  No hard feelings then, he took his pint and headed off in the direction she had indicated that Barry would be.  Doesn't spend much time in the gym by the looks of things.  Barry was overweight, not seriously so, but he was in contrast to most of his fellow students.  He was hunched over his computer, fully engrossed in whatever he was doing.  John took the seat opposite him.  John stared at Barry, his eyes burrowing into him.  Barry started to stir; he was becoming aware of the presence of someone opposite.  He ignored it.  It didn't go away.  He continued to ignore it.  It persisted.  He gave up and looked at the person opposite him.


'Can I help you?'  Barry asked, not trying in the least to keep the irritation out of his voice.


'Yes, you can.'  John replied evenly.


Barry blinked.  He wasn't used to this, people normally just went away, or better yet didn't trouble him in the first place.  He looked at the guy opposite; he had a grin he wanted to punch.


'What do you want?'  Barry asked.


'You.  Or more precisely your assistance.'


'To do what?'


'I can't tell you that.'


'Oh and why not?'


'I can't tell you that either I'm afraid.'


'So you can't tell me what you want me to do and you can't tell me why you can't tell me.'


'Got it in one.'  John slowly clapped his hands, hoping this was working.  It was.


'Is it illegal?'


'I'd prefer not to answer that.' 


'So how am I supposed to decide whether I should help you or not?'


'Good question.  Let me put it this way.  I think you arrived here looking for something.  I think you were looking for the best and brightest minds in the country to help you develop your skills.  I think you found what you consider to be fairly ordinary and not very bright minds, and those were the tutors and lecturers.  What you thought of your fellow students I can only guess at, but not repeat in polite society.  I think you found other things to challenge you, but were not and are not satisfied by the challenge.  I think you will leave here a very unhappy person unless....'


'Unless what?'


'Unless you put your trust in me.  I have a challenge for you that might be beyond you, but I'm willing to give you a go.  That is, if you want a challenge.'


Barry looked at him, considering carefully what he had said.


'Who are you?'


'John Deeth, pleased to meet you.'  John extended his hand.  Barry grabbed it.


'Barry Edgers, count me in, but I doubt it will be that interesting.'


'We'll see.'


John told Barry to report to his lab the next morning as he still had four others to see.  Unfortunately, for John none of the others had the spark he was looking for and so he reluctantly returned to the personnel system to start again.  This time he widened his search parameters by looking at all computer science awards, one name consistently appeared, Neil Tavistock.  His file was not there though.  He called Mary about it.


'Neil, yes I know Neil.  He wouldn't be in the main system as he is special needs and we have to administer their needs separately.'  She told him where to find his file.


'What sort of special needs is he?'  John was a bit worried.


'It’s all in his file, but he is an autistic savant.  He's incredible, truly incredible.  He has at least five degrees, plus a masters and PhD in Pure Mathematics, however he has virtually no interpersonal skills and has a part time helper without whom he would forget to wash, dress and eat.'


'Thanks Mary, much appreciated.'  John hung up.  He wasn’t sure he had found the right person so he looked through Neil Tavistock’s personnel file.


Neil Tavistock was on a full grant.  His fees and expenses paid for by a philanthropic businessman who, after winning the battle with his own autism, had established a foundation to help others with autism and particularly savants.  Neil was pretty much unaware of all this.  According to his file he hadn’t liked moving out of his mum’s house, he had felt settled there, but they had moved most of his belongings into his new room on campus and decorated it in the same style as his old bedroom.  Through the tireless efforts of his support worker Debbie, he had managed to attend both lectures and tutorials.  Debbie, apparently, was ever at his side for reassurance and he had even made a few friends on campus.  Mostly support staff, he seemed to have a preference for cleaners and cooks.  Debbie had noted “Neil finds that other students talk too much, too fast and all about non-things, like what they did off campus and to each other.  This is the kind of conversation that Neil doesn’t care for at all.”


 


John approached Neil's personal tutor.  She listened politely whilst John outlined, in rough, what he was looking for, and why he wanted Neil.  When asked how Neil would react to such a proposal she just laughed.


'What's so funny?'  John asked.


'Sorry, it’s not you.  It’s just that Neil is, well, particular in what he will and will not do.  You can ask him by all means but he will just give you a simple yes or no.  He doesn't negotiate, doesn't understand any such concept.  He is very black and white.  Talk to his carer Debbie first, she will be able to help you as much as anyone.  Otherwise I just wish you good luck.'


He took her advice and found Debbie on her own.  Neil was in a tutorial having learned to cope with most of these on his own.  Debbie was outside the refectory, smoking.  John introduced himself and joined her.  He explained what he wanted and waited for her response.


'So you can't tell me anything about it and just expect me to help you get Neil to agree?'


'Firstly I expect nothing.  Secondly I suspect that you will do whatever you feel is in Neil's best interests anyway so there is no point in my trying to persuade you.'


'That's true.  Can you at least tell me what type of work and what would be involved?'


'I'll do my best.  It’s very difficult work, or at least I suspect it to be.  If Neil were a builder, it would be like asking him to design and build a house within another house without the occupants knowing.  Every room, every hall, every staircase must exactly fit with the existing one and no one should be able to detect it.'


'Sounds impossible.'


'It may be.  But it’s what is needed and it really is needed.  Will you help?'


'I think Neil would enjoy the impossible.  OK we'll see him when he is next free.  One thing though.'


'What's that?'


'If this is so secret how will you persuade Neil not to say anything to anyone?  He doesn't really do espionage.'


'Oh.  I hadn't considered that.'  John desperately wanted Neil now he had found him.  I’ll have to find some way of dealing with the security risk though... 


 


Neil was in the refectory.  It was five minutes past four in the afternoon and he had a cup of tea and a scone at five minutes past four.  That was what he did.  His favourite seat was free today.  The days when it wasn’t, he remembered as not being good days.  So the fact his seat was free helped him to decide it was a good day today.  He arranged his cup handle to point at forty-five degrees and sliced his scone with his table knife.  He spread the butter on each side, turning the half scone clockwise as he spread.  He then put on the Apricot jam, this went on counter-clockwise.  He placed both scone halves back on his side plate, the top side to the top of the plate and the bottom side to the bottom of the plate.  He wiped the knife clean with his paper napkin and placed it next to the side plate on the table.  He lifted his cup and took a sip of tea.  He replaced his cup and took a bite from the top half of the scone.  He knew it would be easier to bite the scone first then sip the tea but this was his pattern and he had learned to deal with it.


Someone sat down next to him on his left making him feel instantly uncomfortable.  He looked to see who it was.  He relaxed a little when he saw it was Debbie.  Then someone sat in front of him.  He looked at him but didn't recognise him.  He tensed up.  Only the comfort of the tea and scone was keeping him going.  It wasn't time to see Debbie.  He saw Debbie at fifteen minutes past four in his room.  It was only eight minutes past four, he didn't need to look at his watch his mind just kept track of the time.  She is seven minutes early and in the wrong place.  He felt distinctly awkward.  Remember what you have been taught, different or unusual can be a good thing.  He repeated this mantra to himself several times.  He started to feel a bit better.  Debbie broke the silence.


'Neil, this is John.  He wants you to help him with something special.  Would you like to hear what he has to say?'


'OK.' 


Debbie looked at John and nodded.  She had told him to speak slowly, distinctly and to keep his speech even, avoiding any emphasis.


'Hello Neil.  I'm John.'


'I know that.'  Neil replied.


'Good.'  John managed not to react.  'I have something special I would like you to do.'


'I know that too.'  Neil took another sip and bite.


'That's good too.  I work in Physics, but I have a very important computer problem I would like you to help to solve.  Would you like to do that?'


'What problem?'


John looked at Debbie.


'I'll go and get a cup of tea.  Excuse me.'  Debbie left them to talk.


'Well I need to setup virtual classrooms around the world but there is a problem with the web and I need to circumvent it to avoid being noticed.'


Neil stopped his biting and sipping and looked straight at John.  'You mean the alien code?'


'How do you know about it?'


'It interests me.'  Neil replied.


'OK, then yes.  I need to have a virtual classroom that is undetected and protected.  Do you think you can help?'


'Yes.'  He continued with his tea and scone routine.


John sensed there was something more.


'Will you help me?'


Neil looked off into the distance.  It was as if he had forgotten that he was engaged in a conversation with another person, in a room full of people, he just simply zoned out.  Neil stayed like this for a full minute before returning back to the room.  He looked at John again, seeming to size him up and consider what he had been asked.


'Yes.  But I will stick to my timetable.'


'Great, I'll see you at my lab first thing in the morning.'


'No you won't.  In the morning I shower, clean my teeth and get dressed, then I come here for breakfast.  I will see you after that.'


'OK.'  John replied, aware of the elementary error he had made.  'I will see you tomorrow when you are ready.' 


'Yes, you will.'  Neil carried on with his tea and scone.  He now had four minutes before he was due back in his room.


John left Neil to his tea and scone and thanked Debbie on his way out.  He felt nervous taking such a huge risk but knew he couldn't avoid it.  His preference had always been to work on his own but now he was going to have two people working directly with him, and dozens more virtually around the world.  He started to hate the aliens, it was their fault, they put this pressure on him.  He had been happy in his research.  He had been happy in himself.  Now he had to engage and interact with others.  Worse still, they were depending upon him to perform.  He needed to relax, stay calm, and maintain his focus.  Just get yourself into the work and forget about everything else, he told himself.  The key to happiness is action, not reflection.  This, above all else, the clinic had taught him.  He held it now as a talisman against the return of the bad thoughts.


 


In his lab, he started to collect his thoughts and prepare for the next day.  He wrote the problem on his whiteboard.  Then he realised that anyone could walk in and see what he was working on.  Not a good way to maintain security.  He looked up a locksmith in Cambridge; they could install a standalone keypad entry and camera system, plus a safe today if cost was not an issue.  He assured them it wasn't.  Don't know why I didn't think of this before, he asked himself.  Because you have had so much to think about!


The locksmith arrived promptly and installed the new system and safe.  John watched them like a hawk whilst they were there, monitoring their every move.  They were used to it, having worked for banks and other security conscious organisations.  Once they had left, John returned to his planning; now he put security at the top of his list of actions.  He had to admit it was a long list.  He figured he had done enough for today so he locked the box and diamond away in the newly installed safe and left his lab, locking it securely behind him.


John headed over to the bar.  He fancied his relaxation in pint form this evening.  As he sipped his pint, his mind started to relax a little.  It wandered back to what he had been told about the domes.  It was as if the wall simply disappeared and then reappeared.  A gold dome.  The gold box.  Both alien.  Both could change shape, almost at will it seemed.  Another sip on his beer.  They seemed to be very security conscious of a large building with cables running out to the domes interior.  The gold box had wires in its interior, he had noted.  Another sip.  The wires ran to what appeared to be the intelligence controlling the box, which in turn was fed by the radioactive disc.  He imagined looking down on the dome, from the inside.  Both geometric shapes.  Both capable of changing shape.  Both had a power source he realised.  That must be what that building in the dome is, a control and power source for the dome.  Then it follows that the dome must be constructed of the same material as the box.  A material, which can capture and control Deeth particles.  The wall of the dome they had estimated at two feet thick.  The box was less than two millimetres thick.  Proportionally the dome's wall is thinner than the box, but if they have a much greater source of power then the force exhibited by the wall could be orders of magnitude greater than the box and that had been all but impossible to crack open.  John made a note to do some calculations, but he felt confident that the domes couldn't be cracked from the outside.


 


 


10:08              02 January  [10:08  02 January GMT] 


Research Laboratory, Cambridge University, Cambridge, England.


 


Neil arrived right on schedule after his breakfast.  Barry was late.  Very late.  It was after ten in the morning when he finally showed up.  No explanation, just a good morning as he took his coat off.  Neil had been rocking backwards and forwards now for the last twenty minutes.  John had just told him that morning that he would be working with someone else.  The fact that this other person was late as well just added to Neil’s stress and confusion.  Neil just couldn't comprehend why someone would be late. 


The session lasted the rest of the morning.  It was fraught with difficulties at the start as Neil and Barry couldn't relate.  That was until the discussion of how the virtual classrooms could be created without showing up to the Contagion. 


‘I reckon it wouldn’t take much to re-design my anti-virus program.’  John began, watching his new students’ reactions, ‘we could retrofit it with some kind of secure tunnel to bypass the Contagion and allow global communications.’


‘That won’t work.’  Barry replied.


‘No, it will not.’  Neil added, a second after Barry.


‘Oh and why’s that?’


Barry looked to Neil, allowing him first response this time.


‘The Alien code, Contagion you call it.’  Neil said, ‘It operates in an entirely different manner to your program.  Your program is self-aware, that is it has an inbuilt ability to self-monitor not that it shows any signs of cognisance.  However the Contagion code works like an arterial network, like the very veins and arteries in our own bodies with different programs working like blood cells, some monitoring, some relaying messages others attacking and defending like White Cells.  Running a secure pipe through this would only result in two things.  Discovery and destruction.’


‘Plus,’ Barry chipped in, ‘your program is frankly, well a bit shit.’


‘Really?  Well you’ve never managed to hack it.’


Barry said nothing; instead, he reached for the projector lead and plugged it straight into his handheld device.  The image on the wall blinked into life showing the contents of the device’s storage.  Barry stopped on a folder named John Deeth.


John watched in horror and amazement whilst Barry showed how much of John’s personal data he had, it stretched back over two years.


‘Shit Barry.  I had no idea.  I thought mine was secure, the Phantom never claimed, I mean you never claimed that you had hacked my system.  But you always publicised your hacking.’


‘I publicised what I wanted to, no more or less.  Plus, it was generally to show how shared systems were not secure.  Yours was not shared, so no one else was affected.’


‘OK, point well made by you both, so what do we do?’  John said.


Between them, they suggested that a pipe could be built in the artery only if they could design it to appear as an alien artery and coat it with a vaccine, Alien code that had been deactivated.  The question of who would do what was, amazingly, easily answered.  Barry wanted to build the virtual classroom network, putting to good use all he knew about hacking.  Neil had no interest in classrooms, virtual or otherwise.  However using his knowledge of biochemistry, physics, computer science, programming, and networks to capture, deactivate, alter, and utilise the alien code appealed to him. 


 


Now he had set the two of them off John felt that he could continue with his own work.  He reviewed his notes from the previous night against the others he had made along the way.  It was clear that the box was constructed of the same material as the domes.  He downloaded a copy of a ballistics program one of the physics students had written.  It was based on a military program but had been altered and refined to provide much better control of the parameters.  He made some educated guesses about the properties of the material and fed these into the program.  He created two test subjects in the program.  One was a replica of the box, the other, of a dome.  He tried impacting the replica box with a high speed revolving drill shaped object.  The replica box was unaffected just like the real box.  A couple more tweaks and the program was ready.  The box withstood impact after impact, even the most advanced military weaponry failed to dent it.  He moved outside of normal physical limits.  Eventually the box gave way to a quarter tonne, shaped projectile travelling at nine thousand miles per second.  Way outside what was currently possible.  The problem was that long before the box cracked open the diamond inside had vaporised from the impact of the inside of the box hitting it.


He moved on to the dome replica.  This proved even harder to affect.  He had to guess at the amount of power it would be using and therefore the resistance the Deeth shielding would provide.  The news was not good.  Not for them anyway.  The dome would easily resist any known weapon.  No bullet, shell, explosive device would penetrate it.  Not even the largest atomic weapon.  He tried impacting the box with electro-magnetic pulses like he had done in the MRI scanner.  The box reformed.  He applied the same to the dome.  It worked.  Unfortunately, scaling up to make it work involved building fifty hill-sized electro-magnets and powering them from five large nuclear power stations.  He reasoned that the Sunarr might notice them building all this outside their domes.  Especially as it would take years to construct even one.  The dome could be penetrated by a shell but only if that shell was travelling faster than the speed of light.  A lot faster.  However take out the power source for the domes and they could, theoretically, be penetrated with conventional weapons.  High energy or explosive rounds, but penetrated nonetheless.  Somehow, the prisoners will have to cut the power source before any rescue attempt can be made.
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Research Laboratory, Cambridge University, Cambridge, England.


 


Two months had passed since John had recruited Neil and Barry.  In that time they had built a secure, worldwide network for the virtual classroom, overcoming and negating the alien Contagion.  They had also become heavily involved in selecting the students and tutoring them.  The students were more like them than most.  Individuals more committed to understanding, learning and creating than partying.  They were the outcasts, loners in the main or they had a few friends who were like them, setting them apart from the other students.  A significant proportion were post-graduates working with large defence contractors; recruited through forums for scientific discussion they were needed for Project Constellation.


They worked in cells.  None of them had access to any more information than absolutely necessary.  Some had made informed guesses as to the true nature of their work, but those that did kept such speculation to themselves believing that this was a secret project by their own government.  The work was challenging and rewarding.  Days had slipped into nights, weekdays into weekends.  The further in they got, the more the game became real for them.  The more they could start to see the fruits of their labour.  They became hungrier with each success.  Barry had taken on the role of mentor.  These were his kind of people.  He knew what motivated them.  The challenge.  Just the challenge.  Neil became the gatekeeper.  He seemed to know exactly who was working on what at any one time, and how they were progressing.  He became more computer than person.  However, at the same time the magnitude of the job seemed to bring him out of himself.  He even started to converse happily with Barry and they had become, if not firm friends, then good colleagues, which was probably as much as they could have both hoped for.  Someone to challenge them and push them on, but also someone who understood how they ticked.


The timing had been good for John.  He had come under pressure from the faculty to accept the offer of assistance from the Sunarr, the faculty believing that being the first in the world to have this would bring them additional prestige.  He had stalled long enough.  Once he was happy that Neil and Barry had a handle on things, which had taken a couple of weeks, he accepted the Sunarr offer and they had given him access to one of their Sekkos data devices. 


The Sekkos device delivered to John was a standalone system.  The Sunarr said that their security systems prevented them giving him access to an online one.  The device required no external power and was about the size of a small domestic tabletop oven.  There was an open section at the bottom of the front of the device, into which the Sunarr engineer who delivered it showed that John could place his hands.  There was no keyboard inside, or anything he could remotely recognise as an input device, instead every movement of his hands was tracked whilst in the device and the system seemed to be self-learning.  It had no display screen either; it came instead with a version of the Sunarr communications device.  However, this one worked on the visual cortex of the brain.  The first time he wore it, it was quite unnerving.  It was as if someone had switched on a cinema inside his mind.  He could still see everything around him, but at the same time, he could see everything the device was displaying.  He felt dizzy using it and had to take some medication for vertigo until he got used to it.  The more he used the Sekkos device, the more it adapted to his needs.  He couldn't translate any of the Sunarr language, he found it was better to concentrate on something he knew and wanted, a database for example, and the Sekkos would display one labelled in English.  He then found he could physically manipulate it with his hands and enter or change information by simply thinking about it when the correct item was selected.  It was a little like learning to ski and juggle at the same time, but over the weeks he had become quite adept at it.


The Sekkos device was in a side room, which John had shielded against electromagnetic radiation, having moved it there straight after the Sunarr engineer left.  He couldn't do anything about Deeth particles, not yet.  If it was actually networked, which is what he feared, and the device used Deeth particles to communicate, then he was screwed.  He figured that the Sunarr had probably been honest when they said it was not networked, only because the risk to them of his gaining access would have been too great.  Therefore, he figured that he was probably OK.  Probably.


 


John now felt confident in using the Sekkos.  He had let his Sunarr contact know that he was ready to take his research further by combining it with theirs.  The same Sunarr engineer arrived but wasn't there for long.  He opened the case he was carrying and removed a small gold box.  He placed this next to the Sekkos, removed a small black device about the size of a credit card from the chain around his neck, and held it above the gold box.  The box reformed revealing a diamond inside.  He placed the diamond inside the scanning section of the Sekkos and waited a couple of minutes.  The flashing light of the scanners ceased and he removed the diamond and replaced it in its box.


Could it be that simple?  He wondered, thinking about the alien diamond he had locked up in his safe.  Could I just shove it in and find out what it contains, if anything?


The Sunarr engineer left in short order.  Now John was in a quandary.  He wanted desperately to insert his diamond and see what would happen.  He worried that if he did, and information was loaded into the Sekkos he might not be able to erase it and the next time the engineer called he would be found out.  Any information he might discover was weighed against the risk to Earth.  The risk he judged was just too great, the reward unknown.  It will have to wait.  At least for now.


He turned his mind to the task in hand.  The Sunarr research on gold extraction.  He fitted the visual communications device and inserted his hands into the scanner.  The research was in two parts, information contained in a database type structure and what appeared to be file types supporting this information.  He opened a file at random.


It contained an image of a gold mine.  He could see the whole of it, able to fly between the different layers of rock.  He could see the veins of gold running between the rock layers.  Each of the layers had information attached to it and now he could see that they had calculated the exact amount of gold in each layer.  Even the intervening layers had the traces amounts noted.  He opened another file, it was the same layout, just a different mine.  He tried another.  This time it appeared to be a sea or ocean, he couldn't tell which.  Again, it was marked up with amounts of gold.  He knew that there were trace amounts of gold in seawater, but nobody had ever produced a commercial way of extracting it.  It appeared that the Sunarr wanted it as well.                Something at the back of his mind spoke, but it was too quiet amongst the noise of the display.  Instinctively he turned to the database and managed to do a search.  It pointed him to a file.  He opened it.  His blood ran cold, he shivered, and a little bile leapt up into his mouth.  He recoiled away from the Sekkos pulling off his headset.  He was sweating now, cold drips of fear running down his face.  I have to make a call.  I have to tell the others.
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Chester Square, Belgravia, London, England.


 


Anita showed Jane and George into the drawing room.  Jack and Sally were already in there.  Now they were just waiting for John to arrive. 


'So what's the big fuss then?  What's John found?  Anybody know?'  Jane asked the group, for which she got just shaken heads in reply. 


It was most unlike John.  Getting information on how he was progressing had always been difficult to say the least.  The rest of the group talked almost on a daily basis.  They were getting close, nothing really said, just a general feeling that they now had most of the pieces in place.  Severine had been exceptional in making contacts.  They had groups all around the world now, mostly ex-military, but they had also established contacts with serving officers to make this work.  Pre-eminent amongst these had been the American, British and Russian Generals; Colt, Beaconsfield and Ivanskiy.  Now they had added officers from South Africa, Australia, Canada, and even China plus a dozen or so smaller countries.  All were major gold mining countries.  Everything had to go through the wives and in some cases mistresses.  Where this was not possible, close female relatives were used instead.  The military hadn't yet been told what, exactly, was being planned just that they would need to be ready to fight and when successful take control.  Some objected strongly to this, arguing that they would be caught and shot for inciting an uprising and effecting a military coup.  Each time this had come up the answer was the same.  Yes, that is true, but history is written by the victors.  To do nothing would be to hand the world over to the Sunarr.  Better to try and fail, than live as a slave. 


They all agreed in the end.  To do otherwise would have been to ignore their duty, to protect their country against all enemies, foreign and domestic.  The countries themselves had not become rotten or corrupt.  Yet.  However, they had all been subverted by the alien influence.  They had all seen it, experienced it for themselves in their own lands. 


The doorbell rang, echoing through the house announcing John's arrival.  Jack went this time.  As he opened the door, he saw a man aged beyond his years, all the youth drained out of his face.  John looked like he had just been handed a death sentence.  Jack let him in without a word, suddenly feeling a cold chill moving though his own body.  He pointed to the drawing room, closing the door he followed.  A deep hole had opened up in the pit of Jack's stomach, all hope, and joy drained into it, releasing despair and misery in their place.


The chill followed John into the drawing room.  As each face turned to look at John their reactions were the same, the fear and hopelessness was almost tangible.  Their faces dropped, Sally involuntarily shivered.  George gulped.  The news was obviously bad, very bad by the look on John's face. 


'Thank you all for coming.'  The words came out of John's mouth without any emotion.  'I have something to tell you, but I think it is best if the news is delivered to the Group as well.  Have you the web access I asked for?' 


John had sent out details of how to join his conference system to the Group before he had left.  The conference system was part of his virtual classroom so he knew it would be secure.  He could have just asked them all to join, but he wanted the reassurance of people around him when he delivered the news.  He didn't know why, he just did.


The screen blinked into life.  He logged into the virtual classroom and initiated the conference.  Everyone invited was waiting.  Now they could see John and one another. 


'Hello.  My name is John Deeth, some of you know me others do not.  For those who do not know me I am a scientist working for the group.  I am also working for the Sunarr; they wanted me for my expertise in gold extraction.  I agreed, reluctantly, so that I could gain information about the Sunarr, their technology and plans.  Several weeks ago, I received one of their computers, called a Sekkos device.  I spent some time getting used to operating it.  Today I received what appears to be their geological survey of the gold resources on Earth.  At first I found little unusual in it.  The detail was incredible, they have, I suspect, every vein of gold on Earth mapped for extraction.  On top of this, they have other sources mapped too.  The seas for example have trace amounts of gold in them.  They are planning, at some stage, to extract that too.  This brings me to why I have called you all together.  There is another source of trace amounts of gold that they are planning on harvesting.  Us.'


The room was quiet.  So too were those in the conference.  Jayanti Kapoor spoke up, voicing the question they all had.


'What do you mean us?'


'We, that is humans, have trace amounts of gold in our bodies.  The Sunarr are planning to extract this too.'


'How?'  Jayanti couldn't grasp what he was saying.


'I don't know, yet.  But if I had to guess it would be through liquefaction.'


'What's that?'


'In this instance it would be the process of converting a water saturated mass into a liquid to settle out the heavier elements.'


'That's gross.'  Sally said, feeling sick at the thought of it.


'I still don't get it.'  Jayanti said, refusing to believe it   'What exactly would happen?'


John looked directly at the screen, keeping his tone even he explained.  'Once the Sunarr have extracted all the gold vein deposits, the mines, they will turn to other sources.  One of those sources is humans.  They will take us, probably a hundred or so at a time and place us in a large cylindrical device.  The device will be pressurised and heated, then it will spin at very high speeds.  Once finished they will siphon off everything else, leaving the trace amounts of gold behind.  They are planning on exterminating the human race in order to get as much gold as they can.'


Anita rushed out of the room, heading for the toilet, Sally went after her.  The rest were stunned, numb, no one had expected this.  It didn't change their mission but it raised the stakes far beyond anything they could have imagined. 


'They couldn't do that.  People would object, we wouldn't stand for it.'  Jay was still in denial.


'Who are the people?  They have control of the governments and the military.  I would guess that they would start with those peoples in each country that were considered inferior.  Criminals, the insane, the homeless, and the elderly.  Then it could be immigrants or minorities.  We have seen this in our own histories, have we not?  Why are you so surprised that aliens would value us more than we do ourselves?'


Jay couldn't answer.  John had spoken calmly and without overt emotion.  His argument was sound, Jay knew this, but even so, it was a horror beyond comprehension.  Jay needed to get back on top of this.


'So what do we do?'  Jay asked.


'That's not really for me to say.  I have just presented you all with the facts.  I believe it should be up to the group to decide what additional action to take, if any.'  He paused before continuing, 'There is something else.'


'Oh and what's that?'  Jay asked, wondering how anything else could be deemed to be important after this news.


'The Sekkos device scans hand movements allowing it to be operated.  It also uses the same scanning system to upload data.  The information on the geological survey was delivered on a crystal or diamond.  It was similar in appearance to the one that was contained in the Solomon’s gold box.  I believe that I could insert it into the Sekkos device and find out what it contains.  However, I have not done so as it would expose the knowledge of this to the Sunarr if they came to inspect the device.  That is if it is genuinely not connected to their systems.  Otherwise, I guess they would be alerted automatically.  I just want the group’s approval that it is wise not to take the risk at this juncture.'


Jack replied before anyone else.  'I think you have made the right decision John.  You're right the risk to the operation is too great.  Especially in light of the new information.'


There were murmurs of agreement from the group.  Jay made the decision official for the group.


'You are correct John.  The group agrees to wait until it is safe to investigate the diamond.'


'Thank you.'


The group went on to discuss how this new information would be handled, to whom it would be divulged, then they moved on to other business.  John left the room heading outside for a cigarette, Jane followed him.


'How are you doing?’  Jane asked.


'Well let me see.  I am currently running four major projects each of which would easily make the Manhattan Project seem like a school science project.  I am teaching, which is something I swore I'd never do and that to over a hundred students around the world.  I have two assistants, students themselves really, one of whom seems to think it is pretty much a game and the other who genuinely doesn't care for anything but the research.  I am working on things that are probably a thousand years ahead of anything we would have developed.  I hardly get any sleep and I haven't had a day off....' he tried to think, '…well in a very long time.  Then I have to pretend to do research for the Sunarr which looks real but isn't, which is actually much harder than doing real research.  I have learned how to operate one alien device, whilst at the same time I have reverse-engineered another into schematics for a propulsion system, defence system and weapons system.  Then to top it all I am the one who finds out that the Sunarr are planning to exterminate the human race.  So all in all I've been pretty busy.'  His rant over he turned to look at Jane.


Jane stepped forward, pushed her body against his, her arms around his waist, and hugged him tight, resting her head on his chest.  She stayed like that whilst she could feel the tension and frustration ebb from his body.  Finally, she looked up into his face and kissed him gently on the end of his nose.  'Well I think you're doing a fantastic job.'


‘Thanks,’ John said, 'I needed that.'


'It was my pleasure.'  She said, winking at him.  'Come on, let’s get something to eat.  Need to keep our strength up don't we?'


Jane looped her arm through John's and guided him into the house. 


The discussion was now centred on the plan for liberation.  In order to make it work and to avoid as much as possible the loss of human life it would need to be coordinated and timed to happen almost simultaneously around the world.  However with the Sunarr communications network linking every Sunarr solider with every other worldwide they would be alerted as soon as the first move was made.  Any plan would almost certainly fail right there and then. 


'We need their communications network to be put off line right before we strike.'  Jack said looking at John.


Great, he thought, more work for me.  'I would have thought that if that was going to work you would need them not to react.  Not to go on the offensive or react defensively but just to continue as if everything was normal?'


'Yes, that's true.'  Jack wondering where John was going with this.


'Well in that case we will need to take their communications offline several times before we strike.  So that when we do, they will just presume that everything will be OK as it has every time before.  It will also need to look like a natural phenomenon or a problem with their system, not that someone is bringing it down from the outside.'


'Can you make that happen?'  Jack asked.


‘Sure,’ John replied, ‘it’s not like I'm doing much else at the moment...'


'Look John I know we are asking an awful lot of you and if you think it is too much just say and we will find someone else.'


'It is too much but there is no one else.  Don't worry I'll make it happen.  Either that or I'll make a mistake and get myself killed.  However if they torture me I'm telling them it’s all your idea!'


'Fair enough.'  Jack replied, 'and when they ask me I'll say John who?'


'I think it is time to announce the party plans.'  Jay said interrupting the banter and putting the group back on track.


'Party plans?' asked John, 'What are we celebrating?'


'I'm sorry John you have not been included in this until now.  We, that is I, am going to approach the Sunarr with the idea of holding worldwide celebrations on the first anniversary of their arrival.  This will be our opportunity to take control in one coordinated effort.  I hope that the very suggestion of a worldwide party in honour of their arrival will help put them to sleep, or at least make them relax a bit.  That is when we will strike.  We will get only one chance to do this, so we have to throw everything we have at it.  Will the projects be ready in time?'


'I guess you mean get the projects ready in time 'cause late ain't going to be any good.  I'll make sure they are ready.'  John replied, annoyed but not surprised by this added pressure.  Well I'll just have to make my students work harder, he thought unhappily, knowing that he was already working them far too hard.


'Good.  We are all counting on you.  Freeing the politicians and military is only the first part, without your projects it will all be for nothing.'  Jay could feel that she was adding too much pressure but just couldn't help herself, it was just that important.  'We have most of the guests needed for each of the dinner parties; there are only a few more seats to fill.  The hosts obviously know nothing of this, except for those that we needed to inform, most of the guests will be totally on their own.  I don't envy them that.'


John gave them a brief run down on the four projects.


'Longbow is a little behind schedule, but that's to be expected as we are working completely on guesswork and testing is a problem.'


'Why's that?'  Jack inquired, expecting to be aboard Longbow when it is launched.


'Well the maths are a little crazy, I won't bore you with the details, but I've had to create a new mathematical discipline to make it work.  The testing is all theoretical which is making the engineers nervous and the materials and machining is well....'  He tried to find the right words.


'Is well what?'  Jack said, becoming increasingly worried by what he was hearing.


'...is well, tricky.'  John said.


'Tricky?  Define tricky please.'


'Well it’s a bit like trying to make a hammer from jelly.'  It was the best analogy he could think of.


'Why not freeze it?'  Anita joked.


'What did you say?'  John barked at Anita.


‘Sorry,’ Anita said looking at the floor, 'it’s just that when I was little my mum used to make frozen jelly treats...I guess she couldn't afford anything else.'


'Freeze the jelly.  Freeze the jelly.  Freeze...the jelly.'  John was starring off into space again, 'Yes!  Freeze the Jelly!'  He rushed over to Anita and kissed her square on the mouth.  He turned to the group smiling.  Anita rubbed her mouth.


'We need to freeze the jelly!'  He announced to everyone.  They all looked at him as if he was mad.  'Sorry I'm not making much sense am I?'


There was a resounding look of no.


'Project Longbow involves extreme velocities.  The main problem we are getting is friction, both materials and air.  By freezing the whole thing, we will obviate the heat associated with the friction, which has been the real killer.  In tests, the thing simply exploded after three or four cycles.  We need super-cooling for the primary drive but if we extend that to the whole of it we should be able to achieve a working prototype.  Which is I guess all we need for the party.'


'OK what about Project Square?'  Jack asked.


'Well, as you know Project Square is closely related to Project Cover so I'll deal with them as one.  They are both making good progress, mainly because we have a good model for them in the gold box.  We are probably slightly ahead of schedule there.'


'Well that's good news.  What about Project Constellation?'  This time it was Jay who asked.


'That's technically the most straight forward, assuming Longbow comes to fruition.  I know we have to thank our three Generals.  There is no way we could have done this without the basic building blocks and requisite materials.  Not in this time frame anyhow.  Constellation should be ready at D-Day plus two to three weeks.  Anything else?'


'No.  That's fine John.  Thank you for the update and of course all your hard work.'  Jay said, trying to make John feel better.


'You're welcome.  I do have one question, concern really.  It’s not my area but, well, one of the subjects I studied was ethical science.  How the discoveries we make have implications in the real world.'


'What's your question John?'  Jay asked.


'How is control of Constellation going to be governed?'


'Why is that an ethical question?'  Jay asked.


'Well as you all know Constellation is designed to be a defensive platform.  However, its capability could easily be turned to offensive use against Earth.  According to my calculations it would render any Earth bound military capability redundant.  Whoever is in charge of Constellation, would, de facto, control the Earth.'


Silence fell across the room and moved over the delegates in the conference.  In their clamour to free Earth and keep it free there had been little debate about any negative outcomes.  That a civilian, a scientist at that, should be the one to question their actions, their motives, and the unintended consequences that may be spawned was enough to make them stop and question themselves now.  Jay spoke for the group.


'A point well-made and one we hadn't considered.  We will have to discuss this and develop a plan for Earth post-freedom.  Thank you again John.'


The conference ended the delegates signed out and John closed the session.  Jack had his cook prepare lunch.  It was a good opportunity to just get together as colleagues, as people and enjoy one another's company.  The conversation was strained, these were not a genuine group of friends, they had little in common as a group except the fight for freedom.  None of them had much of a social life now; no news to share that wasn't about plans, strategy, resources or developments.  Almost inexorably, the conversation turned back to the fight.


'How many do you think will be killed?'  John asked Jack.


'All of them hopefully.'


'I meant how many humans.'


'It’s hard to say.  We will lose some in the celebrations.  Security officers probably, plus if the Sunarr react a good number of the guests.'


'What about in the camps?'


'That's a good question.  Again, it depends on how the Sunarr react.  Some will die in the struggle to bring down the defence grid's power source.  Others when we breach the domes.  That is almost inevitable.  The best we can hope for is that once we have breached the dome they pack up and leave, rather than stand and fight.  We want them in the open rather than have a fire-fight with civilians in between.'  Jack took another mouthful of the roast lamb, it was quite pink, bloody really, and this combined with the conversation took him back to some unpleasant memories.  He had seen action with both the British and American armies; he had killed and seen people killed.  However, it was always the injuries that were the worst.  These were what haunted him.


'What about the Sunarr?'  Sally asked joining their conversation.


'What about them?'  Jack replied, less interested in his lamb than he had been.


'You said, all of them hopefully, you don't really mean that do you?'  Sally inquired, unsure of her position in all of this but needing to ask the question.


Jack placed his knife and fork down on his plate.  He looked at Sally and saw in her the combination of youthful innocence and civilian ignorance.  He collected his thoughts; he didn't want to punish her for just asking a question, and especially not when it was one he constantly asked himself.


'I do mean that and I'll tell you why.  The more of them that die, the fewer of us they can kill.  They don't have any military system that we can recognise and therefore no one to negotiate their surrender with.  We have no idea whether they even recognise the concept of surrender.  Everything we know about the Sunarr soldiers, if that is what they are, implies that they are without concern or conscience.  If we did capture a significant number of them, how would they react?  What would we do with them?  How could we communicate with them without the devices and could we let even one of them have access to such a device?  What capabilities might it have?  What range?  I know this is hard to grasp, I really do.  But try to think of this as a hostage situation.  You go in, neutralise the enemy and free the hostages.  That's it.  No more no less.'


'But neutralising doesn't always have to mean killing them does it?  It’s just removing their capacity to act.'  Sally replied.


George had been trying to keep out of the conversation, but the analogy with a hostage situation left him no choice but to join in.  He reached out to his brother and gently squeezed his bicep.


'Jack…'


‘Sorry.’  Jack took three deep breaths before continuing.  ‘I was merely illustrating that this is not a normal military conflict.'


Jane broke off her conversation with John.


'Sally, remember what John said they have planned for us.  Extermination of our entire race.  We can't take risks with that.'  Jane smiled as she said this, a serious smile not meant to engender affection but just to show her human side.  That she understood and cared.


'I know.'  Sally replied.  'I know, but it’s just that...’


'Go on.'  Jane prompted.


'I'm part German on my mother’s side and one of her ancestors was a German solider.  He was just a soldier, just fought for his country.  But he was captured by the Russians.  They treated him very badly before...he died.'


'I have covered many conflicts,’ George began, ‘and all of them have the same common theme.  They did this to us so we will do this to them.  It’s not a happy scenario.  The greatest fight in any conflict is the one you have with yourself not to lose your humanity.  Most people win that fight, some do not.'


'Sally I will put your concern to the group.  I promise.'  Jack said.


'Thanks Jack, I'd appreciate it.'






 




 


 


 


 


 


 


25 The Dinner Party


 


 


07:45               10 November  [07:45  10 November GMT]


Moore Terraces, Flat 4d, Brixton Road, Brixton, London, England.


 


Nine months had now passed since the discovery of the Sunarr's plans to exterminate humanity.  This morning, the first anniversary of the arrival of the Sunarr, found Severine in bed, beginning to stir.  She turned over, tucking her left leg in between Julianne's and her left arm around her waist.  Julianne sighed, pushing her body backwards into Severine's. 


Julianne had become quite a regular feature in the flat now.  Severine had discussed it at length with Solomon.  She had desperately wanted Julianne back in her life but hadn't wanted it to impact adversely on Solomon or Natasha.  They had been through enough after all.  Solomon hadn't the slightest reservation personally, but wanted Natasha to be comfortable with it.  Severine understood completely.  Natasha had taken to calling Severine auntie and although she had been initially uncomfortable with this, Severine had grown to appreciate the title and even take on the role.  When she was there, Severine would take Natasha to school, having helped her get ready as well.  It had made her start to think for the first time about whether she wanted children and whether it would happen if she did. 


'What are you thinking?'  Julianne asked in that way she had of knowing the answer but wanting her to tell her anyway.


Severine froze, aware that she had again been caught thinking.  Julianne felt the change in Severine's body.


'It’s OK, whatever it is.  I'd just like to know.'


‘Actually,’ Severine confessed nervously, 'I was thinking about having children.'


'Oh?  How many?'


'Funny!'  Severine replied.  She dug her fingers into Julianne's left side causing her to yelp in surprise.


There was a quiet, timid knock on their bedroom door.  A small voice called out.


'Are you OK auntie Sev?'


'Yes Nat, we are both fine.'  Severine replied.


'Is auntie Julianne here?'  Natasha called out.


'Hi Nat, I'm here.'  Julianne replied.


The door burst open and Natasha made a flying leap at the bed.  They had little time to brace themselves for the impact.  They both hurriedly pulled at the duvet, trying to cover their modesty.  Natasha settled in between them, kneeling on the bed facing them.  She had a look of great expectation about her.  Julianne had arrived late the night before and hadn't seen Natasha or her mother.  She reached over the side of her bed and retrieved her rucksack.  Natasha's eyes were wide, she didn't say anything but whenever Julianne or Severine returned from abroad they normally brought her back a little something.  As Julianne pulled her hand out of her rucksack, she revealed a soft toy.  It was about a foot in height and was mainly white.  She offered it to Natasha's outstretched hands.


'I thought you could call it Lamby.' 


Lamby was about the same size as Sheepy, maybe a little bigger, it made no logical sense but that didn't matter to Natasha.  She hugged it dearly and scrambled off the bed making for the door.


'Aren't you forgetting something?'  Severine called after her.


Natasha stopped on the spot and turned round, her face was a picture.


'Thank you auntie Julianne.'  She emphasised the words and did a sort of small curtsy at the same time.


'That's better.'  Severine said.


'You're welcome Nat, go have fun.'  Julianne said winking at her.


Natasha launched herself out of the bedroom at full speed, a girl on a mission to unite sheep and lamb.


'You see,’ Julianne said, turning to Severine, 'you're not the only one who has been thinking about children.'


After a breakfast of French toast and coffee, they assembled their belongings to spend a couple of nights at Jack's place in Chester Square.  The theory was that they would be safer in numbers and Jack's place was large enough for them all.


 


 


08:15               10 November  [13:15  10 November GMT]


Office of the Secretary-General, United Nations, New York.


 


So today's the day, Jay reflected.  It wasn't as if she hadn't expected it.  They had been planning this day for months now.  Nevertheless, even when you have planned for something its arrival can still take you by surprise.  There was no turning back now.  No last minute change of plans.  The future of the entire human race on one throw of the dice.  Her aide William, a statistician by education, but a diplomat by career had calculated their odds of complete success.  They were not good.  Too many variables.  However, their chances of operational success, where things went wrong but the overall objective is achieved were slightly better at one in six.


One in six is still a huge gamble.  Surprise was one of the few things that were in their favour.  So too were numbers.  They had an average of two point three operatives targeted against each Sunarr bodyguard.  The problem was that the Sunarr were armed with advanced weapons and the operatives only with what they would have to hand at the time. 


Jay was holding an official reception at home tonight.  Thirty-five guests had been invited including Shiwanevar.  Jay had no way of guessing how many body guards she might bring along, there would be at least eight bodyguards, her own two plus her daughter Sameena's two, plus there were two dignitaries invited.  On her side, Jay had ten operatives down as guests, plus eight of the guests were in on the plan.  That made a total of eighteen, twenty including Sameena and herself.  It probably wasn't enough but it would have to do. 


Jay looked at her diary for the day.  William had thoughtfully kept it light, but busy enough so as to help stop her mind from lingering on the dinner party to come.  She looked at her two bodyguards standing by the wall, impassive.  If all goes well tonight, you two will be dead.  It had started already she realised, thoughts of what was to come, plaguing her, burrowing their way into her resolve.  Jay by nature was a pacifist, she disliked violence in all its forms but her journey through the Indian diplomatic corps and latterly her rise in the United Nations had taught her that force is necessary when all else fails. 


When all else fails…  That was what troubled her so much.  They had not once approached the Sunarr to talk, to negotiate, to try to reach an understanding.  Instead, they were simply going to kill as many of the Sunarr as possible.  Tonight.  Why didn't I make the approach?  What stopped me?  I have negotiated countless settlements peacefully, why not this one?  She reminded herself that the Sunarr were duplicitous.  They said they had come in peace.  A lie.  They said they would offer us cures.  None so far.  Another lie.  They never said they wanted our gold.  A lie of omission.  Now she knew the ultimate truth, they would eventually kill every man, woman and child to extract trace amounts of gold from their bodies.  Worse than a lie, it was the ultimate in evil.  These are not people with whom you can negotiate.  These are not people.


She shook herself, trying to bring her focus back to the present.  She buzzed William to send in the first of her appointments.  Time for work.


 


 


13:30               10 November  [13:30  10 November GMT]


Chester Square, Belgravia, London, England.


 


Sally showed Julianne to her room, whilst Anita did the same for Solomon and Natasha.  They were sharing out of preference rather than due to any lack of space.  George was downstairs in the kitchen ordering a take away for them all.  He was actually ordering from both an Indian restaurant as well as an Oriental one.  They were going to have quite a feast.  It was nerves, George knew, they were all on edge with the possible exception of Natasha who always seemed well composed.  Perhaps it is her age, he wondered, maybe she is just too young to really understand what is happening, or about to happen anyway.  George knew all too well.  He had seen war up close, the smell of charred and putrefying human flesh.  The sounds of men, women, and children screaming, sobbing, or just groaning.  As a war photographer, he viewed everything through his camera lens; this had provided some emotional detachment.  He could frame each picture without concerning himself as to the subject matter.  Sometimes however, sometimes it too was more than he could cope with. 


 


 


16:30               10 November  [13:30  10 November GMT]


Kremlin, Moscow, Russia.


 


General Ivanskiy’s mood seemed focused but upbeat, his aide Nickolai Andreovich Petrov noted.  The General had been busy these past months.  Ever since the end of the tripartite exercise, the General had made some extraordinary orders.  None in themselves particularly unusual, granted, but when combined together they were one of the largest peacetime troop movements in Russian history.  Ordinarily the troop movements would not have been allowed on grounds of cost.  The main cost being fuel.  Military vehicles are not known for their fuel efficiency and Russian military vehicles are amongst the thirstiest of all.  He was aware that the General had done some kind of deal.  He didn't know the details, but it included fuel provided by the Gulf States and funds for other material from an unknown source.  As his aide and an aspiring officer himself, Petrov had kept a secret note of all the orders and he had plotted these on a map of Russia.  The results were interesting.  The General had personally promoted over seventeen hundred officers.  The structure of units had changed radically as enlisted men replaced conscripts to a much higher degree than was the norm.  All of the Special Forces units, the Spetsnaz, had now been formed into one force, the Razdeyelyenye Zolota or the Gold Division.  A large number of Brigades and even Divisions were moving from East to West and others from West to East.  The majority of these were transiting through Moscow, even though it was against standing orders.  Now, apparently, there was a problem with the rail system.  Forces were building up around Moscow and even within the city itself.  This is no accident, Petrov thought; the General has planned this to coincide with the first anniversary of the Sunarr's arrival.  The General is plotting, that much is clear and if he is successful and I am by his side, well careers have been built on less, he reflected.


 


 


13:30              10 November  [13:30  10 November GMT]


Research Laboratory, Cambridge University, Cambridge, England.


 


John looked at the clock, Just a few hours to go.  Hopefully, this will be the last time I will have to disrupt the Sunarr communications.  Any hope he had had of making the disruption appear to be a natural phenomenon had disappeared in the days after he had suggested it.  That meant making it appear to be a fault with the devices themselves, a much more complex task.  He hadn't needed the extra work; the projects had all taken so much of his time.  However, it had to be done so he had just gotten on with it. 


The devices worked in a similar way to the Doran communications system.  Two or more devices within range of each other created their own network.  A device in-between two or more of these networks would link them to create an area-network, when several of these connected it became a super-network.  This was both the fundamental strength and weakness of the system.  The high resiliency of the self-creating network provided range and reliability, the down side was that the essentially viral system was open to both hacking and attacks by a virus. 


John had two of the best hackers in the world working for him and it hadn't taken Barry and Neil long to crack the system.  What they had produced was tremendously elegant.  Essentially an anti-virus virus, like artificial white blood cells believing themselves to be the legitimate occupiers of the system, they sought out and cleaned anything alien.  It worked like a charm, spreading itself through the networks and stopping all communications without adversely affecting the status of the devices.  Their self-diagnostics reported that all was well with the devices, they were linked to one another, but all non-status traffic between them ceased.


Up until now, the devices had been down for defined periods.  The Sunarr had what equated to a thirty-eight hour seventeen minute day, based on Earth time.  This was divided into one hundred Demar, equivalent in use to Earth hours and each Demar was sub-divided into one thousand Demaray, like an Earth second.  This made each Demaray one point one five seven Earth seconds long.  It was this time measurement that John used to calculate the length that the Sunarr system went down for.  He started with fifty Demaray, or forty-three point two seconds.  This he felt was sufficient to be noticed and investigated but not so long as to send the Sunarr into spasms of panic.  The second time he increased it threefold.  He increased it again threefold on the third and fourth times.  That would make the fifth time, today, anticipated to last four thousand and fifty Demaray, just under three thousand five hundred seconds, or fifty-eight minutes and twenty seconds.  He hoped it would be enough. 


Of course, just to be on the safe side the plan was that the communications would go down and stay down.  However, the Sunarr didn't know this.  They hadn't let on that there was anything wrong with their communications system.  Nevertheless, the evidence had been there each time it had happened.  At first, they had reacted swiftly to the loss in communications.  They drew their weapons and ordered all of the people in the room they weren't guarding out.  However, by the fourth time they hadn't panicked, they just secured the humans they were guarding in their current location along with any others and waited until communications were restored.  They even let the humans continue with what they were doing. 


 


 


13:30               10 November  [13:30  10 November GMT]


Unity Command HQ, Berkshire Downs, West Berkshire, England.


 


General Sir Charles Beaconsfield lifted the phone.  It was a secure line to his counterpart in the USA, but with the Sunarr around he was not counting on it being that secure.


'Hi Sam, how are you?'


'I'm fine.  Looking forward to the dinner later.  All my guests are coming with no exceptions and the preparations have all been made.  How about you.'  General Sam Colt replied.


So, Charlie translated, he has all of his forces in place and everything is ready, good.


'I'm good too, better than that actually.  I've had to expand my guest list for another couple of people.  The catering is all set, as are the seating arrangements.  The last minute additions will have their own table, they will be all right they are used to winging it.'  Charlie replied, letting Sam know he too had all of his forces in place plus an additional two squadrons of fighter aircraft.


'That's great to hear Charlie.  I hope your party goes well.' 


'Yours too old friend.  Don't be a stranger.' 


'Nor you.  Take care.'  Sam acknowledged.


Both the Generals had spent the last few months working quietly behind the scenes.  They had used the success of the tripartite exercise to make some changes in their respective forces.  Unlike their Russian counterpart their forces were much more closely scrutinised, this was why they had had to use the exercise as a launching pad for a joint forces strategy.  By gaining approval for this new strategy, they managed to circumvent the normal command structure and create their own from scratch.  The new force, named Unity, quickly became the focal point for career hungry officers and service personnel.  In some instances, existing bases had been moved over to Unity, but mostly they had new temporary bases as Unity was designed to be a mobile and quick reaction force.  This had been the real lesson of the tripartite exercise. 


Although most battle plans don't survive the first engagement, the tripartite exercise had shown what could be achieved with smaller, more mobile forces.  In one engagement alone, a force of just three thousand had taken the offensive against a defending force of five thousand.  Normal military doctrine called for attacking forces to be three times the defending force to achieve victory.  The commanding officer of the attacking force was well aware of this and the three generals had expected to see them quickly defeated.  This was not the case however.  The commanding officer split his forces, again against doctrine and created two main forces one thousand strong each and ten of just a hundred.  These he called his berserkers. 


The berserkers found small gaps in the defending force and engaged them in close quarters thereby removing the defender’s advantage in numbers.  The berserkers kept the opposition so busy that the two main forces managed to circumvent the defenders and attack from the rear.  They cut the defenders in two and seized their HQ, further debilitating them.  They then issued false orders and had them in total disarray. 


The generals had watched in complete amazement as the defender’s artillery and air support, obeying the false orders, consolidated their fire on their own troops.  When the defenders finally surrendered they had calculated what the effect would have been if it had been a real battle.  The results were incredible.  Fifteen hundred defenders dead plus two thousand wounded.  The attacking force only sustaining fifty dead and eighty wounded. 


The following day two more commanding officers followed this new tactic and found similar results.  It worked equally well for both offence and defence.  After the exercise concluded the commanding officers were interviewed all observing that it was the new Doran communications system that had allowed such flexibility and responsiveness.  The final paragraph in the official report summed it up.


The Doran communications system permitted each commanding officer to monitor and order all his forces in real time whilst monitoring how each unit was holding up.  It also allowed each unit to report back the forces it had engaged.  This meant that the commanding officer was presented with a real-time map of both his own forces and the opposition.  Those using traditional battle plans were essentially constrained by them.  Their reactions were slow and information gained was not used to good effect.  Real time information became the ultimate weapon.  The future had arrived.


 


The Americans and British had both licensed the Doran technology from the Russians for Unity.  They had been practising with it ever since.  Unity, outside of the American and British command structures also borrowed from the past.  Gone were the commercial businesses providing support services such as catering or vehicle maintenance.  These were now the sole responsibility of the troops themselves.  “Cooks can Kill” became a mantra in Unity with every member of Unity becoming a soldier first and a cook or vehicle mechanic second.  The combined force also left behind their traditional service ranking.  There was no separation between those in the air, at sea or on land.  They were one force, with one uniform and one command structure.  Even their pay and benefits were standardised. 


The Unity project was being funded jointly by the USA and Great Britain with an initial agreement for three years.  The funds had been made directly available to Unity’s Commanding Officers making it the first military force in history to be free from civilian control.  If Unity was successful then the Russians would join it at the end of the three years.  Until then General Sam Colt and General Charles Beaconsfield jointly had control of their own private army. 


 


 


16:30               10 November  [13:30  10 November GMT]


Kremlin, Moscow, Russia.


 


Gregori Stephonovich Ivanskiy inspected his honour guard.  They were all Spetsnaz.  All under his control.  All handpicked.  They were here, in the Kremlin itself, to demonstrate Russian training, as part of the anniversary celebrations.  They would be performing for the invited dignitaries, including the Sunarr.  Especially the Sunarr, he thought quietly chuckling to himself.  The officer saluted smartly at the General, which he returned.


'You have a fine body of men here Dimitryi Yevganiv, you should be very proud.'


Dimitryi swelled at the praise, especially the General's use of the word very.  The General was not known for his over use of praise.  New to his position, Dimitryi Yevganiv was keenly aware of the anniversary plans and the pivotal role he would play.  He was not about to let down his General or his Motherland.


Gregori Stephonovich left the officer to his men and headed into the Georgievsky Hall of the Grand Kremlin Palace where the reception was being prepared.  The last time he had been in here was the reception he had given for the Americans and British prior to the tripartite exercise.  That seemed like a lifetime ago.  So much has changed since then, not least my perception as to who the real enemy of Russia is.


After the tripartite exercise, he had had his officers debrief their men, and they in turn were debriefed.  The fighting effectiveness of the Americans and British had never been in question, but what they learned was that they were ordinary men.  They worried about their children, about their own futures and often questioned their role.  In short, they were just like Russians in every respect except language.  However, what they all said was the same.  The rich seem to get richer and we fight other people’s wars.  Nevertheless, that's the job.


General Ivanskiy was pleased.  For once, we are all fighting the same enemy.  All for the right reasons.  This is the people's war and one I fully intended on winning.


 


 


12:30               10 November  [17:30  10 November GMT]


Northeast Corner and East 57th Street, New York.


 


Jay arrived home with mixed emotions.  Keen to get the evening over, she was not looking forward to it.  She struggled again with the idea of killing.  The Sunarr had been on Earth for a year now and it hadn't been a good year as far as she was concerned.  They had spread distrust and envy.  They had undone a lot of the good work she had spent so much of her life trying to achieve.  Old rivalries had flared up, new ones had appeared.  The rush for gold had caused enormous problems.  Border conflicts raged.  All the time the Sunarr mouthed platitudes.  All the time they were removing the future of mankind.  Some nations were facing bankruptcy; the rise in the price of gold had created an unhealthy amount of inflation.  Some countries greeted all this believing that their gold reserves were making them more prosperous.  Even though it was all an illusion, the effects were very real.  All the time the Sunarr were making more and more promises of technology and medicines whilst taking the gold for themselves.  It seemed like every day another of the scout vessels would dock with the mother ship, undoubtedly off-loading another consignment of gold.  Sometimes she saw two or three in the same day.  It was as if the very lifeblood of the Earth was being drained away.


Her two Sunarr bodyguards, soldiers, she reminded herself, after all I am their prisoner, escorted her into her house.  One in front the other behind her.  The caterers had arrived some time before half of them were busy in the kitchen preparing the food the rest laying out the formal dining service and silverware in the Dining Room.  A single catering firm had supplied all the staff, including the butler who met Jay in the entrance hall.  He's young and fit for a butler, she thought.  He looked quite handsome in a virile kind of way.  He didn't seem very much at ease.  Normally the butlers she employed took control of the house in which they worked, this one seemed like it was all new to him.  Perhaps it is, we all have to start somewhere.


He took her coat welcoming her, but then seemed unsure as to what to do with the coat or what to do next.  Jay smiled warmly at him and decided to help out.


'Would you like to show me how the preparations are going?  You can put my coat in the closet.'  She pointed to a door in the hall.


'Thank you ma’am’ He said.


He showed her into the Dining Room; it looked resplendent with all the fine china laid out and the candelabra lit.  It lifted her spirits; she had forgotten how stunning the room looked on formal occasions.


'Is my daughter home?'  She asked.


'Miss Kapoor I believe is overseeing preparations in the kitchen.'  His tone implied that this was neither warranted nor desired on his part, but his face was impassive.


'Thank you.  Please carry on; I'm not expecting the guests until seven thirty.'


The butler withdrew and Jay headed off into the kitchen to see her daughter.  Sam was drinking a glass of wine and inspecting the menu.  Sam had been a real dilemma for Jay.  She had not wanted her daughter to be here this evening, but neither had she wanted her to be elsewhere when the plan was put into effect.  She wanted to know that her daughter was safe, but that meant putting her in harm's way.  They had talked about it at length on the last spa day.  Sam had been adamant that she wanted to be here for the anniversary dinner.  She knew the risks but Jay still couldn't think of her as a grown woman capable of making her own decisions.  To her she was still the little girl that she had read bedtime stories to.  Sam stood as her mother approached and kissed her gently on both cheeks.  The time she had spent in Europe several years before still evident in some of her mannerisms. 


'It’s good to see you mother.'


'And you too pumpkin.'


Sam looked at her mother; she hadn't called her pumpkin in years, decades.  It showed where her mother's mind was.


'This pumpkin has grown out of the pumpkin patch you know.'  Sam said.  It was a gentle rebuke, designed to reassure her mother rather than chastise her.  Jay took it and her face brightened.


'Thank you Sam.  I'll be glad when tonight is over.'


'So will I.  Come on, let’s take this bottle upstairs, and get ready.'


Sam grabbed another glass for her mother and guided her upstairs so they could take their time getting ready.  It was the best way to wait for the dinner party to begin.


 


 


17:30               10 November  [17:30  10 November GMT]


No.1 Carlton Gardens, Westminster, London, England.


 


The car pulled up in front of the official residence of the British Foreign Secretary, gliding to a halt in front of the entrance.  Jack had hired a chauffeured limousine, normally preferring to drive himself, it was just too inconvenient for these official functions.  He waited as the chauffeur opened his door, and stepped out of the Bentley.  He stood patiently whilst the chauffeur opened Severine's door so she could join him to walk into the reception together.  It was one of the countless dinner parties being held all around the world today celebrating the first anniversary of the arrival of the Sunarr.  This one was the government’s official reception being held by the Foreign Secretary.  All of the ambassadors to Great Britain, known formally as ambassadors to the Court of St. James, that were available were due here tonight.  It was a ministerial function and not a state one so the Royal Family were not being represented.  That is just as well, Jack thought, with what we are preparing to do this night, better if Royalty are not in harm’s way.


It was a huge affair.  Jack would have preferred a smaller one in truth.  However, it was necessary to have ambassadors of most nations in one place to make the transition easier.  They were not going to like it, but once it was done, it could not be undone.  They would have no choice, or rather, the choice was to stand alone or accept salvation.  Stark but true.  Jack didn't know everyone who was in on the plan tonight or who wasn't.  Obviously, there had been no official announcement about what was planned, but how far the grapevine had taken the knowledge was anyone's guess.  Jack took two glasses of champagne from a waiter and passed one to Severine.


'To the future.'  He offered.


'The future.'


Jack and Severine spotted some of those who were aware and they decided to split up and meet them.  Not to discuss things, there was after all nothing more to discuss.  Just to confirm, in an oblique way, that everything was ready, that they were ready.  An ambassador from a small, West African nation engaged Jack in conversation.


'So Mr Hamilton, I understand you are a gold dealer.  I trust you have profited well these past months?'  The ambassador inquired jovially.


'Please call me Jack.  I have err...'  Jack had to think if he had made any money from gold dealing, he realised that he had and quite a substantial amount at that.  '...Yes, I have actually.  Your country must have benefitted from the substantial rise in the gold price.'


'You would think wouldn't you?  However money is not the most important thing in life, don't you agree?'


Jack caught the underlying message in the ambassador's tone and inflection.  He decided to play innocent.  The ambassador wasn't having any of it.


'Of course you agree.  You know what is at stake more than most.  How do you think the gold price will be tomorrow after tonight's activities?  Up or down?  I think up then down then up to a new high.'  The ambassador grinned at Jack.


So, you are in the know.  He too had thought about what effect their actions would have on the price of gold.  First, it would go up, as people rush to the safety of gold.  Then down sharply as they realise that it had been artificially high due to the intervention of the Sunarr.  Finally up again, when news of its true value and purpose becomes widespread.  Yes, Jack thought, a new high is likely indeed.  He couldn't really care less about its price anymore.  It is a vital resource for Earth and it has to be protected.  At any cost.


'I guess I will see you later.'  Jack said to the ambassador, giving him a subtle wink at the same time.  The ambassador returned the gesture.


'Yes, you will.  Should be Fun.'  The ambassador said shaking Jack's hand.


That is it, Jack thought, Should be Fun, this guy is ex-army, Sandhurst if I'm not mistaken.  “Should be Fun,” it’s obviously been a long time since he has seen any real action.  People dying is never fun.  It had been a long time for Jack too and he was worried.


Severine walked amongst the other guests, aware that most eyes, both male and female followed her as she walked.  She knew that she was attractive, but when she made a real effort she was simply stunning and she had forgotten how much of an effect she had on others.  Just then, she saw him.  Time stopped, her heart became still and quiet, her rivers of blood ceased to flow; she felt dizzy, panicked, lost.  Jacques Fleubert stood not more than twenty feet away, the same sickening grin on his face.  Her rapist had returned to haunt her.


He looks attractive in his dinner suit, she thought.  Damn, where did that thought come?  I hate that bastard more than words can describe.  If I had a knife....  She was furious with herself for the idle thought.  The truth was that she evaluated everyone in terms of their attractiveness, men and women both.  Intensively on first meeting and then causally each subsequent time.  It was just the way her brain was wired.  It doesn't mean anything, she assured herself. 


She tried to turn away.  She was fixed in time and space.  The room shrank, the walls closing in on her.  Her heart, recently restarted; now beating like the march of soldiers to the battlefront.  The guests in the room seemed to move with slow precision, their incessant chatter had transformed into a dull monotonous drone.  She tried to move again, this time only her head, her eyes, but they were fixed on Fleubert.  She wanted desperately not to catch his eye, but she could see his head turning towards her, motivated by the stare of the guest he was talking to.  Last chance, move!, she screamed at herself.  No too late, he's seen me.  Despair rained down on her, causing her to shiver.  He looked directly at her, his grin, the one she had always hated, now turned into a distinct sneer, a look of pure malevolence mixed with victory written across his face. 


Time re-started, the noise of the guests returned to her ears, disorientating her momentarily.  Fleubert was now moving towards her, his strides confident, purposeful.  Her feet were glued to the spot, her legs weak but heavy, barely able to maintain her weight.  He stopped right in front of her, his breath a foulness upon her face.  She tried to breath. 


'Hi Sev, how have you been?  I've missed you, you know.'  He attempted a smile but it fell far short.


'I'm fine.'  She hissed, then, dropping her voice to a whisper that only he could hear, she continued, 'you snivelling, disgusting, little fraction of a man.'


'I've missed you too honey.'  He replied as if she had just given him the warmest of greetings, 'I bet you miss our special time together.  We must catch up after.  You look great, really sexy.'  He walked away, not allowing her a response or to be the first to walk away.  He felt another victory was his.  She heard him laughing to himself as he went.  Her head began to swim, her hands tracing circles in the air.  She pulled herself through, not allowing herself to faint or fall.  That would be too much.  That would be to give in.


'Are you OK my dear?'


She jumped at the sound of a voice next to her.  Her head spun round, causing more dizziness.  She looked at the person who had spoken.  A woman of indeterminate years, maybe late fifties, maybe early seventies, she was quite striking with well-defined features and a good figure, if slightly padded.  She had a kindly face, but an authoritarian presence. 


'Allow me to introduce myself.  I'm Lady Worthington.  I believe you know my cousin, The Duke of Hertfordshire?'


'Yes, yes I do.'  Severine replied before she could stop herself.  She was supposed to be, if not undercover, then at least discrete.  'I'm Severine Pascal.'  She shook Lady Worthington's hand, which was offered in greeting.


'Of course you are dear, who else could you be?  The most beautiful woman in the room, with, if I may say, the most striking colouring.'


Severine never liked being considered different to others.  The thought of being assessed by her colour was the least desirable of all.  The way that Lady Worthington had said it though was as a compliment of the highest order, like referring to the colouring a great artist had used on a canvas.  Severine's appearance was distinct; others appeared too pale in comparison.


'Should be quite an evening when the action starts.'  Lady Worthington said as a matter of fact.  'It's OK dear; I'm one of those in the know.  No need to reply, just wanted you to know.  Who was that thoroughly disagreeable man you were talking to?'


'He was...’  Severine searched for the right words, '...someone from my past.'


'The past has a way of surfacing in our present.  It must be dealt with otherwise it lies in our future.'


Severine was not entirely clear whether Lady Worthington was referring to her or not.


'If I were you I would do something about it.  Well it’s been lovely chatting but I must mingle.  Ah there's the French Ambassador, if you'll excuse me.'


Lady Worthington left Severine's side moving off amongst the other guests.  Severine took a moment to compose herself fully before going to find Jack.  It was nearing the time.


 


 


17:30               10 November  [17:30  10 November GMT]


Unity Command HQ, Berkshire Downs, West Berkshire, England.


 


The clocks on the wall displaying the time around the world ticked ever closer to the start of Operation Grand Slam.  Named after the four great tennis matches because like them, it involved winning four major battles.  The first for the imprisoned officials, the second for the mines and the third for the stolen gold and the ships it was contained in.  The fourth battle would be political and for another day.


It is time.  General Beaconsfield opened the secure communications channel to the leader of Unity in the USA, General Sam Colt.


'Sam, I have confirmation that the Sunarr are communications negative.  I am going ahead with Operation Grand Slam.'


'Roger that, Charlie.  We have a GO for Grand Slam.'  General Colt replied.


General Beaconsfield changed channel and took a deep breath as he issued his first order.


'Red Command, you are cleared to proceed.'  He switched channel again, 'Blue Command you are cleared to proceed.'  He continued like this until all twelve of the Command Groups were activated, knowing that Sam would be doing precisely the same.  It all had an air of unreality to it.  He was just a man and he was committing himself and the forces he commanded to acts of high treason.  I wonder if they'd still hang you for this old boy?  He smiled at the thought; I bet Sam would at least get the honour of a firing squad.  He snorted at this, gaining the attention of some of the other officers in the room.  At least I won't swing alone.  Another snort.  Time to get back to it. 


He ran his hand along the edge of the map table, the Hungarian Oak smooth to his touch.  It was the same one he had used in the tripartite exercise.  A thoughtful gift from his Russian friend, it allowed him to watch over all of his forces and even those in the US.  Sam had one too, which meant that if one of the Unity Headquarters were neutralised, the other could take full control.
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17:58               10 November  [17:58  10 November GMT]


No.1 Carlton Gardens, Westminster, London, England.


 


The meal had been exceptional.  Not that Jack or Severine had enjoyed it or even eaten that much.  Their focus was on the speeches, which were just beginning, and the action to follow.  The Foreign Secretary began what was an unexceptional speech.  Full of bland statements about mutual respect and understanding it focused on the future and gave precious little to the accomplishments over the preceding year.  Those had been few and far between.  Most was of things yet to come, of promises made but yet to be delivered.  Jack surreptitiously checked his watch.  Nearly time, the speech was right on cue.  He nodded at Severine, she nodded back.  The Foreign Secretary was just drawing to a close.


'And so it falls to me, on this the first anniversary of the arrival of our friends the Sunarr to thank them for all that they have done for us and to a mutually beneficial future.  Ladies and Gentleman I would like you to be upstanding and the toast is, the Sunarr.'  The Foreign Secretary stood and raised his glass, the guests followed suit.


'The Sunarr!'  The guests said as one.


The lights went out.  The black lights came on.  The Sunarr soldiers stood out in the room, glowing like beacons.  Jack and Severine grabbed their steak knives and headed for their assigned targets.  There was no way to know if this was going to work, but it had been agreed that, visually, the Sunarr soldiers were vulnerable between their helmets and their shoulders.  Severine, with a clearer path to her target, leapt on the solider, wrapping her legs around his torso pushing him backwards on to the floor.  The shock of the impact stunned him; she pushed at the chin section of his helmet with the palm of her left hand as hard as she could, forcing it up, exposing his neck.  She had her steak knife in her right hand, fingers clasped tightly around it as she clenched her fist, the blade pointing down, her thumb covering the end of the handle to maximise the pressure she could exert on the blade.  She hacked at the Sunarr soldier’s throat, from left to right, using a sawing action as she went to great effect.  She could feel the warmth of the soldiers blood as it sprayed across her face, the soldier struggling with her, fighting for life, gasping for air as his traumatised throat had to deal with an influx of blood.  His heart beat quickened as he lost blood pressure and this only exacerbated his situation as more blood leached from his arteries.  The soldier finally stopped struggling and Severine withdrew the knife and shouted out.


'Four down!'


She looked around and could see the Sunarr soldiers partially covered by the resistance fighters.  Their dark shapes against the luminescence of the soldiers armour a confusion of bodies.  More numbers were called out, seven, twelve, two, nine.  Then she heard fifteen, Jack had taken out his assigned target.  Two more soldiers appeared, from where she had no idea, that didn't matter now, she charged them both, striking in between them like a bowling ball, sending them both to the ground.  Someone, she couldn't tell who, jumped on one of them.  She leapt sideways onto the other, splashing down on the soldier like a wrestler, with her left elbow outermost, her right hand in her left, adding strength to the force of the blow.  This one struggled more than the first; she couldn't get a grip on his helmet, his head thrashing about.  She stabbed at his neck with the steak knife, unable to get a clear run at his throat.  The blade snapped in his neck, and now she was without a weapon.  She put her knees on his chest and pulled at his weapon, it came free from his hands and she turned it on him.  The blast momentarily lit up the room, the smell was of burning flesh.  She felt with one hand, there was a considerable hole in his chest.  He was quite dead.


Two more soldiers entered the room, this time from the other side.  She pulled the weapon up and fired, they both fell before they knew what was happening.  The final numbers were called out and a voice from the room replied.


'All down, all accounted for!'


The lights came back on.  Most of the guests were still stood at their tables, too stunned to have moved.  Some were under the tables, peeking out into the light, trying to see if it was safe.  Jack stood up, in front of the guests, wiping his bloodied hands on a cloth.  There was a rising commotion in the room now, voices shouting, demanding to know what had just happened.  His officer training took over.


'Quiet!  May I have your attention please?'  His voice a deep resonating blast through the noise.


Cowed by the authority of his voice the guests quietened down.  All eyes turning to Jack, those under the table sheepishly climbing up to return to their seats.


'I am Colonel Jack Hamilton.  You are quiet safe now.  I have led a group of resistance fighters and we have overthrown the Sunarr.  As you may be aware the Sunarr placed soldiers with all top officials, military and civilian.  They suborned our governments.  They silenced the media and effectively took over control of the entire Earth.  As I speak, other groups of resistance fighters are freeing the senior officials of your governments.  We are taking back the Earth.'


A pair of hands from the back of the room started clapping, then another and another.  The room erupted in applause.  Jack waved them to silence again.


'There is much to be done.  We need the support of each and every one of you.  You must contact your governments when it is safe to do so and confirm what I have told you.  Then we must coordinate a strike against the Sunarr forces.  First, however we need to consolidate our defence.  I would like you all to move to the centre of the room and sit on the floor.  There may be other Sunarr soldiers outside and we need to protect you all.  You,’ Jack said pointing to one of the resistance fighters, 'grab their weapons, and set up a perimeter.  Windows and doors first.  Then send two groups outside for reconnaissance.  Severine you’re with me.'


 


 


13:08               10 November  [18:08  10 November GMT]


Unity Command, The Pentagon, Washington DC, USA.


 


Shit, this is not good!  The communications officer was monitoring the Sunarr, essentially, he was supposed to listen to nothing for hours or at least until the first three phases of Operation Grand Slam were complete.  Now however it was chattering like a cocktail party.  There were hundreds of simultaneous conversations occurring which not only meant that the Sunarr had got their communications working again but even worse that they knew what was happening and were obviously trying to do something about it.


'General!'  The officer shouted across the command centre, 'The Sunarr are Comms Positive.  I repeat the Sunarr are Comms Positive!'


General Colt bolted across the room to the communications officer.  There was no planned contingency for this, none. 


'What have you got Franklin?'  General Colt asked.


'Sir, I have confirmed communications amongst the Sunarr.  At least two hundred events.'


'How long?'


The officer looked at the display.  'Eight seconds and counting.'


'OK, get me General Beaconsfield.'


The officer switched consoles and dialled Unity Command in the UK on a secure channel.  There was a brief pause and then the officer handed the headset to the General.


'Charlie, its Sam.  We have identified Sunarr Communications.  OK you too, we have to assume it’s worldwide.  Yes, that's what I thought.  OK I'll let you get on to him; I don't need to tell you how imperative it is that those communications are brought down.'


 


 


18:10               10 November  [18:10 10 November GMT]


Unity Command HQ, Berkshire Downs, West Berkshire, England.


 


General Beaconsfield ended the conversation with his US counterpart and told his communications officer to contact John Deeth.  The officer gave him a thumbs up when he was connected.


'John its General Beaconsfield.  The Sunarr communications are back online and I need you to do all that you can to take them offline.  Lives depend on it.'


The officer watched as General Beaconsfield visibly shrank from whatever rebuke he received.  This John Deeth must have one hell of a bark on him, he thought.


'OK, OK.  I'll let you get on.'  The General hung up.  'Fucking civilians.'  He muttered under his breath as he walked away.


 


 


21:08               10 November  [18:08  10 November GMT]


Kremlin, Moscow, Russia.


 


Shit we're running late!  All those fucking toasts, the politicians like the sound of their own voices far too much.  It shouldn't matter; they said that once the communications go down it would be permanent.  Gregori Stephonovich was still worried though.  He liked things running to plan.  They were nearly ten minutes late, and were just assembling in the Presidential Regiment parade ground for the demonstration of his Spetsnaz troops.  The Sunarr and the rest of the guests had walked from the Georgievsky Hall of the Grand Kremlin Palace, through the Arsenal building and out into the parade ground enclosed within its walls.  His men were already assembled.  Four rows of fifteen, all armed.  The last of the guests were just spilling out of the Arsenal having already indulged too much.  The Sunarr soldiers were arrayed around the parade ground just observing, not interfering in any way.  Then the mood changed.  The Sunarr dignitary started shouting for everyone to go back inside.  The soldiers readied their weapons, pointing at both the guests and the Spetsnaz troops.  It had turned ugly real quick.  If we go back into the building, we are as good as dead.  Gregori Stephonovich had no choice; this will not be a clean kill.


'Spetsnaz Open fire!'  He yelled at his men.  They responded instantly, but so too did the Sunarr soldiers.  Fire streamed in both directions, men and Sunarr falling at an appalling rate.  The guests were being hit too, and this created panic.  They ran in all directions, some straight into the crossfire, dying instantly.  Gregori Stephonovich barked out another order.


'Snipers open fire!'  On the roof, all around the parade ground appeared Russian soldiers with heavy calibre sniper rifles.  Each hit on the Sunarr soldiers saw a large explosion of blood, bone, and flesh erupting from their chests, the impact knocking them off their feet, dead before they hit the ground.  The Sunarr dignitary started ordering his soldiers, Gregori Stephonovich pulled out the pistol he had been given by his aide Petrov and shot the Sunarr through the back of his head.  Brain matter and bone flew out of the Sunarr's face, covering several of the guests who were still trying to escape.  The General placed his right foot on the body and spat on it, 'Eta moray zyemlya'.


As it has so often happened in Russia's history it came down to numbers.  The Sunarr numbered thirty-eight.  The Russian's were sixty Spetsnaz and forty Snipers.  The Spetsnaz trained in close quarters combat, the Snipers were up high and well protected.  Inside of three minutes, the Sunarr were all dead.  Gregori Stephonovich called to his signals officer who brought him a Doran communications device.  He switched it on and gave the order.


'Execute Operation zashsheeteetye rodeenoo.'


With this one order to protect the motherland, General Gregori Stephonovich Ivanskiy planned to take complete control of Russia inside of one hour. 


 


 


13:09               10 November  [18:09  10 November GMT]


Northeast Corner and East 57th Street, New York.


 


The dinner party was in full swing now.  Jay was picking at her food, not really interested.  I wish I hadn't drunk that wine earlier.  She was on mineral water now, but she knew her senses were slightly dulled.  She kept looking at Shiwanevar sitting opposite her.  Have you any idea what is going to happen?  Do you have a clue?  She knew she shouldn't be worrying about that now.  If, she reasoned, Shiwanevar does know then why would she expose herself by being here?


So many questions.  So many pointless, futile questions.  Jay looked at her watch, suddenly self-conscious about how many other times she had checked it before that evening.  They were running late.  It hadn't helped that some of the guests had stopped for drinks beforehand and consequently arrived late.  These same guests then proceeded to invest themselves in the aperitifs in the Drawing Room prior to joining the rest in the Dining Room.  It was all bad form really but on any other night Jay would have not given it a second thought.  Thank goodness that the communications are going down indefinitely this time.  One of Shiwanevar's personal guards, who were distinct in their red armour, had spoken to her, precisely at the time the communications were scheduled to go down.  Jay was pleased; it was going to plan, albeit a little late.  It was nearly time for her to speak, the cue for the overthrow of the Sunarr.  She picked up her champagne glass and tapped it with a fork, politely drawing everyone's attention.


The Sunarr soldiers spread out, fanning themselves across the room, weapons raised.  Two of Shiwanevar's personal guards stepped forward, protecting her on both sides.  All conversation ceased.  The eyes of the room were transfixed by the open display of hostility.  Jay hadn't even made it to her feet; she sat there wondering what had gone wrong.  She didn't have to wait long for an answer.


'You have betrayed us!'  Shiwanevar said as she rose to her feet, stepping back from the table.  'You are trying to kill us!'


A deep loud thrumming noise interrupted her.  It grew louder very quickly as two helicopters moved into view outside.  Armed forces descending by ropes. 


'You!'  Shiwanevar said to her soldiers.  'Keep these people here.  Command group,' she said to her personal guards, 'get me out of here.  And take her with us!'  With this last remark, she pointed at Sameena.  One of the guards in red grabbed her by the wrist and yanked her out of her seat.  Shiwanevar looked directly at Jay.  'If anyone tries to stop me I'll have her killed!'


'No please!'  Jay screamed, 'please take me instead!'


Shiwanevar already had her back to Jay, ignoring her plea, escaping before the armed forces had all landed. 


There were some shouts from outside, now that the armed forces had assembled.  Then the windows crashed in as three objects passed through them simultaneously.  They dropped harmlessly onto the floor and everyone in the room looked at them, including the Sunarr soldiers.  The world turned white and quiet as the thunder-flashes exploded emitting light three times the brightness of the sun and a hundred and sixty decibels of noise, louder than a jet taking off.  It was more than enough to render senseless anyone in the room for a good few seconds.


They came in from all three sides.  The window frames blown out, the first unit abseiling down from the roof whilst the second unit gave support from outside.  They came in firing, shooting at the Sunarr soldiers even before their feet hit the ground.  The Sunarr, partially protected by their armour and helmets, opened fire at any shape they could see.  It was a short battle, but the loss was great on both sides.  The assault unit bore the brunt of human casualties.  Moving targets, they were easier for the Sunarr to spot with their impaired vision.  Five of the unit died, two more were injured, but in the seconds the conflict lasted, all the Sunarr were killed plus three of the guests and another injured.  The second unit made a forced entry through the front and burst into the Dining Room witnessing the carnage. 


It took several more seconds for the civilians to recover enough to be able to see and hear.  They looked at the devastation all around them.  Jay forced herself to her feet, barely able to stand upright she barked at her rescuers.


'Who’s in charge?'


A young officer stood forward, his left arm burned, flesh missing, he still managed a salute.


'I am ma'am.  Captain Henry Hoffenbach.' 


'I'm Jayanti Kapoor, Secretary-General of the United Nations.  Their leader, Shiwanevar has escaped with her personal guard.  They have kidnapped my daughter, Sameena, and have threatened to kill her if they are pursued.'


'What do you want me to do?'  The officer had only been briefed on this rescue mission.


'I don't know!’


'I'll report it into Unity Headquarters then.'  Hoffenbach said.


'Unity?'  Jay said, suddenly starting to make sense of things, 'Tell General Colt that the Sunarr must not be allowed to escape and save my daughter if you can!'  Jay had struggled with this decision, but she had pledged her life to humanity and she could not, would not, jeopardise that for any one person, even her own flesh and blood.


'Yes Ma'am!'  Hoffenbach replied.


 


 


18:09              10 November  [18:09  10 November GMT]


Research Laboratory, Cambridge University, Cambridge, England.


 


John had been monitoring the Sunarr communications.  At precisely eighteen hundred hours Greenwich Mean Time, they went down.  Right on schedule, he'd noted to himself.  It had been pleasing to see.  Months of preparations had come to fruition.  He could only imagine what was happening at dinner parties all around the world.  The desperate fight for dominance, the Sunarr reacting to the attacks, probably killing people indiscriminately.  This was the crucial time; the next hour would decide the fate of the human race.  He lit a cigarette, ignoring the no smoking rule for the first time.  After all, what can the faculty do to me now?  He reasoned.  I'll be either a live hero or a dead traitor.  His terminal beeped at him, he looked at his watch, it had been just ten minutes.  He opened the program and his heart sank.  The Sunarr communications were working again.  Shit.  Shit, shit, shit, fuck!  He screamed at himself.  How the fuck did that happen? 


His Doran communications device squawked at him.  What now?  He grabbed the device and barked into it. 


Great, thought John as he slammed the device down ending the conversation, you called me to let me know something I already know!  Fucking military!  He returned his focus to the task at hand.


He ran a trace program over the Sunarr communications network.  It took two valuable minutes to report.  The news was not good.  The Sunarr had created a new security protocol and the anti-virus virus was now effectively dead.  What to do, what to do?  His mind was racing, running through dozens of possible scenarios to bring down their communications again.  He tried running an interference program, essentially to scramble their communications.  It wouldn't upload.  His system was not recognised under the new security protocol.  Damn, damn it all!  He stood stark still staring at a blank white-board, allowing his mind free reign to come up with a solution.  The minutes ticked by. 


As he stared blankly, his focus was kept being drawn to the Sekkos device.  It had never shown any signs of connectivity.  None.  What the hell.  He put on the visor and placed his hands in the device.  He ran a search for keywords around networks and connectivity, instantly translated by the device, it came back with one entry.  He opened it.  The image it presented him with was of a handle, pointing out at ninety degrees.  It appeared a dull red, lifeless.  He grabbed it with one of his hands and pushed it straight up.  It moved into the vertical position and changed colour to a bright green.  Then images and sound were projected into the visor, the unmistakable chatter of communications.  Yes, oh shit yes!  He had direct access to the Sunarr communications network.  Now I need to get the interference program in here somehow.  More minutes ticked by as his mind again scrambled with this new problem. 


The Sekkos device isn't compatible with my equipment.  This is my only method of accessing the Sunarr network.  The only input it can take is a diamond encoded with data or my thoughts.  His mind was a whirlwind of ideas now.  That's it, my thoughts!  He took off the visor and switched on his overhead projector, which was connected, to his terminal.  He brought the interference program up on the terminal and projected the pseudo-code onto the white-board.  The pseudo-code was a program independent language, it represented what the code was designed to do, but in a universal format, one that could be used to program in any language.  He put the visor back on and turned up the brightness of the projector to maximum so he could read it with the visor on.  He started to read it to himself and as he did, the Sekkos device started to encode the program.  It is working.  It took him a full six and a half minutes to read it all, but when he did, it was ready.  He ran the program.  The communications handle dropped ninety degrees and returned to its dull red status.  He took off the visor and went to his own terminal.  All communications traffic on the Sunarr network had ceased.  He looked at his watch.  Twenty minutes had passed since it had started working.  He worried how much of an impact it had had on the resistance operation.  Fuck it, I've done my best.  It didn't feel like nearly enough.


 


 


18:10               10 November  [18:10  10 November GMT]


Chester Square, Belgravia, London, England.


 


'I don't know why you can't just tell us a bit about what's in the letter.  After all, it’s been years since your mother wrote it, it can't be that relevant now surely?'  Anita pestered Solomon.


'She asked me not to.  It was essentially her dying wish.  I'm not going to betray her memory.'  Solomon replied, annoyed at Anita's incessant questioning.  It had been the subject of the conversation for the last half an hour and she was beyond bored with it.


'But can't you just tell us what kind of stuff is in it?  Not the details, just a hint at what it contains.'  Anita said trying a different tack.


Solomon sighed, she put down her fork, leaving her food alone for a moment and looked at Anita.  Anita seems to have good intentions, but she is just too damned inquisitive.


'I will tell you this.'  Solomon began.  All the plates except for Natasha's were now being ignored, the focus moving to Solomon.  'The contents of the letter will be revealed at the appropriate time.  I can't tell you when that will be only that more than you can possibly imagine rests upon it.  I wish I didn't know what I do.  I wish that I had never received the first letter.  Really, I wish my mother was still alive and that I could have a normal life.  I know more about myself than anyone should have to know.  I have to live with that knowledge every day.  Now please can we change the subject?'


'I wish my parents were still alive too.'  George said, more to himself than the others, but they all looked at him, his sorrow a heavy weight pushing down on the room.  Natasha looked up at George and put her hand on his, squeezed it gently and kept on holding it.  The pain and anguish drained from his face and a look of serenity emerged.  He looked down at Natasha; her eyes sparkled with a light that appeared to originate behind them.  She smiled at George, continuing to squeeze his hand, and when she spoke, it was with an authority far beyond her years.


'Your parents loved you dearly.  They knew that you loved them too.'


George's mind returned to when he was seven, Christmas at home.  He had a lot of presents that year, an embarrassment of them really.  However, one above all else he still cherished.  They had given him a collection of books, scientific and religious.  In the card that accompanied it, they had written the words The Truth Lies In-between.  He had enjoyed reading them all, but never understood the meaning of the message.  Now, here in this room he finally understood.  Science is the question, Religion is the answer, and what lies in between is the truth.


'Thank you.'  He said simply.  He had been touched in a way he never thought possible.  What is it about this child that gives me such hope for the future?


'Who’s up for a board game?'  George asked the rest, changing the subject for Solomon's benefit and his own.


'Now that's a great idea!'  Sally chipped in, closing down the previous subject.


They retired to the Drawing Room and found an original version of Monopoly amongst all the board games that Jack had.  Natasha chose it and no one objected, neither did they object when Natasha insisted that they all sit on the rug in front of the fireplace.  They moved the coffee table placing it in front of the French doors, pushing the four heavy armchairs up to the coffee table out of the way so they could all sit on the rug.  Jane set out the board and started to deal out the Monopoly money.


They were aware of the flash first, although it only preceded the rest by much less than a second.  It was like a blue-white wave, crashing over them and assaulting their eyes.  The power of the flash was tremendous, a physical force insisting itself on their visual cortex, their brains scrambling to react, to protect them from the trauma.  Then came the pressure wave, forcing the air out of the room, up through the chimneybreast to make way for the higher-pressure air pressing against the French Doors.  The hinges and lock strained against the pressure but it was the glass that gave way first, before any of the debris collided with it.  The shards of glass flew across the room like a large flock of birds attacking in close formation.  The armchairs, solid oak with deep leather padding took the brunt of the attack, the rest passing overhead spanning the length of the room and embedding themselves in the side and end walls.  The pressure wave continued without taking a breath, pulling the debris into the room.  Chunks of brick and stone sprayed across the Drawing Room, the armchairs again providing protection to the group.  Lastly came the dust cloud, charging into the room like a fast moving dense fog, enveloping everything in the room.  It forced its way up their noses and down their throats choking them in an instant.  Their eyes, still blinded by the light, now had to cope with an invasion of particles.  Their ears rang constantly, a deafening silence with a reverberating noise seeming to emanate from their skulls.


             


The dust cloud started to clear and their senses to return.  Each of them was alive, but they didn't know it yet.  Another flash, much less than the first and they could hear the noise this time.  Dazed and in no shape to understand, George managed to stand and stumble his way out into the garden.  He was joined by the others, too stunned to make sense of what had happened, they looked around for answers.  A helicopter gunship swooped low over the house; it was hit by a streak of light and exploded, spiralling down into buildings beyond their view.  There was another explosion as it hit, flames leaping into the air illuminating the surrounding buildings with a glowing redness.


It had begun.  Whether we were fighting the aliens or them us, there was no way to tell.  However, a war was waging above their very heads and lives were being lost.  Now suddenly George felt very exposed.


'Get back in!'  George screamed at them, herding them inside.


The Drawing Room was wrecked.  They made their way into the Sitting Room at the front of the house; it was intact and gave them a view of the square.  It was a good view, but what they saw wasn't.  There were Sunarr soldiers in the square.


There appeared to be about a dozen.  Just stood there waiting.  George decided not to take any chances.  He ordered all the exterior doors locked, and the interior ones be barred with sturdy furniture.  He went into the kitchen and retrieved all the kitchen knives, handing these out to the rest of the group.  Then they returned to the Sitting Room to keep a watch on the Sunarr.  Now they could only see two standing there.  The rest had disappeared from view.  Shit, thought George, shit shit shit.  Where the hell are they and why didn't I station someone here to keep an eye on them?  Because you are a lecturer not a soldier!  He didn't have to wait long for the answer to his first question.  There was a loud explosion as the front door was destroyed by weapons fire.  George and Solomon took positions either side of the door to the Sitting Room.  They had no idea how many were inside the house now; they heard nothing save for the firefight still raging outside in the skies above them.  The door handle twitched downwards.  George's breathing became shallow, almost none existent.  The long barrel of the Sunarr weapon poked through the increasing gap in the door.  George, changing tack, dropped his knife and grabbed hold of the weapon.  Pulling with all his might, he jerked at the weapon sending the Sunarr soldier crashing into the room.  Still holding the weapon's barrel, he fell upon the soldier as a second soldier came into the room pointing his weapon at George's head.  Solomon pushed the soldier to the side, ruining his aim.  The weapon discharged into one of the sofas, blowing it apart as if were matchwood.  The soldier was on one knee and now bringing his weapon up to fire again.  Solomon leapt on top of him, pushing the blade of her knife into the soldier’s chest.  It broke in two.  The soldier was fighting back now, and Solomon hit him square in the helmet.  She screamed in pain as three of the bones in her fingers snapped on impact.  Natasha called out.


'Mummy!'


Solomon looked up at her daughter's voice to see her struggling to free herself from Sally's arms.  I have not come this far to lose my daughter now or to leave her as an orphan!  The soldier was still dazed from the impact of the blow, Solomon looked around desperately, and then she saw the knife that George had dropped.  She lunged for it, taking it in her good left hand, managing to keep her right knee on the soldier's chest.  This time she would not make a mistake, seeing the gap between the soldier's body armour and his helmet she leaned in close to him and pushed his helmet up with her right forearm.  The long kitchen knife found its mark as she thrust it into his neck and upwards into his brain.  Waggling the handle around the soldier fell still.


Solomon stood up, pulling the weapon from the dead soldier's hands.  She held the weapons grip with her good left hand and propped up the barrel with her right forearm. 


'Move!’ she shouted at George.


George needed no additional encouragement, rolling over onto his back, exposing the chest of the Sunarr solider to Solomon.  She fired a single round into his chest, turning it into a crater.  George, winded, managed to get to his feet, and grabbed the second weapon.  George poked his head out of the Sitting Room door into the hall.  A shot blasted at the doorframe, narrowly missing him, shards of wood however embedded themselves in the side of his face.  He pulled back into the room, blood flowing down his face from the multiple lacerations.


'We've got company!'  He announced unnecessarily.


There was no time to take good defensive positions.  Solomon and George knelt down a few feet from the entrance, again on opposite sides.  A Sunarr solider rushed at the doorway, hit by both weapons the soldier slumped in the doorway.  Now the next one would have to climb over the body to get in.  The Sunarr realised this and started blasting at the walls.  There was nothing they could do now.  Just wait for the inevitable. 


A helicopter passed overhead, then swooped back to hover.  They could still see the two Sunarr soldiers out in the square; they were looking up at the helicopter as its mini-gun opened fire, literally blowing their bodies apart.  The helicopter hovered lower and now several ropes dropped down from it, swiftly followed by British soldiers.  They assembled on the ground and made a rush for the house.  The fighting intensified inside the house.  The wall between the Sitting Room and the Hall was vanishing quickly.  They could here machine-gun fire inside the house now.  Orders being given in English.  They waited, weapons still trained on the doorway.


Silence fell upon the house.  A voice called out to them in English.


'I'm Captain James Brennan.  I'm coming into the room.  Don't shoot!'


A face appeared in the doorway.  He seemed short for a soldier thought George, but he was unmistakably a British officer.  He relaxed his weapon down, but still held on to it.


'Looks like you folks have been busy.'  Captain Brennan said with a grin as he stepped over the dead Sunarr soldier in the doorway and observed the other two in the room. 


'Anyone hurt?'


'No, not really.'  George replied standing.  'It’s a good thing you arrived I was just about to....'  He couldn't think how to finish his sentence.  'Well, probably ask them to leave.  They were not invited after all.'  George offered his hand to the officer, who shook it warmly.


'That's the thing about gate crashers, no one ever invites them.'


'How did you know we needed help anyway?'  George asked, grateful for it but curious.


'We got a call, there's a protection squad based in the square.  The officer in charge, D752 Sergeant Dave Riccar called it in when the Sunarr landed.  His radio has a direct feed into the military and we took it from there.  I've got a medic with me; I'll have her look at your face.'


'Thanks.'


 


 


18:17               10 November  [18:17  10 November GMT]


No.1 Carlton Gardens, Westminster, London, England.


 


The word was out now.  It had to be.  There were Sunarr troops gathering outside and they didn't look like an official reception.  Jack counted at least two dozen.  Reports came in from other sides of the building that there were soldiers there too. 


'I think they are planning an assault.  I figure they don't need the officials anymore.'  Jack looked at Severine for her response.


'So do we wait for them to attack en mass or do we start shooting them now?' 


It was clear to Jack what Severine's preference was.  He thought about it.  The only weapons they had were those they had taken from the dead Sunarr soldiers.  He figured that they would be as effective at a distance as they had been in close quarters here.  He had no idea how many rounds, or whatever they discharged, they had.  They needed to conserve their fire.  He called out to the resistance fighters.


'Pick your targets, make every shot count.  Fire at will.'


Severine was the first to fire.  Her target went down cleanly from the single burst to his chest.  A burst of fire erupted from the other side of the room, the resistance fighter shouting victory as another went down.  Others opened fire, and the soldiers fell like targets in a fairground attraction.  They are coming in dumb, Jack thought as the soldiers were walking towards the building.  It didn't last, as a group they opened fire and ran at the building.  Now it became about pure survival, the animal in each of the resistance fighters took over and they started to fire wildly, switching targets as the soldiers ran an evasive pattern.


A large white vessel moved into view, it was one of the Sunarr transport ships.  It fired at the building, the south side erupting in flame from the blast.  Two more like that and we're gone, Jack realised.  The transport ship took fire from the east.  Not enough to seriously damage it, but just enough to make it take evasive action.  A helicopter gunship swooped low over the building and fired again at the ship.  Then there was more fire, from the west.  Another gunship was up there but out of view.  The transport ship returned fire and the gunship from the west was lost, going down in flames over London, crashing out of view.


The Sunarr soldiers made a tactical error.  Instead of pushing their advantage, they took up defensive positions, planning for their transport ship to destroy the building, killing everyone inside.  Two more gunships joined the battle and now the Sunarr ship was fully engaged.  Jack pulled four of his fighters from the other side of the building to bolster their position and increase their firepower.  It was working.  The Sunarr only had weak defensive positions and therefore could be blasted out into the open by concentrated fire.  Another gunship hovered overhead, this one turned its attention to the Sunarr troops on the ground.  The mini-gun mounted on the side of the gunship opened fire, spraying the soldiers at a rate of over three thousand rounds per minute.  Once it ceased fire, there was no movement from Jack's side of the building.  He quickly sent all but two of his fighters to bolster his other lines of defence.  We might just live through this, he thought.






 




 


 


 


 


 


 


27 The Four Liberators


 


 


11:55               10 November  [17:55  10 November GMT]


La Guitarra Mine, Nr. San Simon de Guerrero, 60 miles South West of Mexico City.


 


Benjamin Yogev looked at his watch, it is nearly time.  He made his final entry in his notebook and pushed it under his pillow.  The build-up had been long and tiring, months of slow communications by letter, encoding and decoding their contents.  Making meticulous plans for this day.  How many soldiers, where, when.  Their forces were quite strong now, numbering over a hundred.  The hope was that when it started the others would join in, whether to fight for freedom or just simply riot, the effect on the Sunarr soldiers would essentially be the same.  They would be forced to react and try to quell the revolt.  This would weaken the defences around the installations, most importantly of which was the power plant.  He picked up his rucksack; it was heavy and identical to three others in the camp.  He wished they could have made more, but they only had enough explosives for four suicide packs.  Only one was needed to get through, but one in four odds were not good.  If they failed then he expected all of the prisoners to suffer the consequences. 


He met Saeb Tibi outside.  Saeb was carrying his own rucksack.  They walked together in silence to meet up with the others.  Benjamin was sure that his friend had written his own last notes.  It had been agreed that the other would read, hold, and publish the other's if one of them were successful in gaining access to the power plant.  It was not a happy thought, but it did bring them both some sense of solace to know that their memory and their thoughts would out live them.  After more than a year together, the only thing that seemed strange to them both was that their friendship seemed perfectly normal and rational.  The fears and prejudices of their pasts had left them both.  Replaced by mutual admiration and respect upon finding that what they shared far outweighed everything else.  They were both well aware it was the extraordinary situation that they were in that had cultivated their relationship from one of need to want.  They looked forward to each other’s company now and the thought that they might lose that today weighed heavy on their hearts.  They knew the mission and they knew the risks.  They had had plenty of offers from others willing to do the job, even some lifers who figured that they had nothing to lose.  Benjamin and Saeb told them no, we planned this and we must be a part of it.  Leadership has its price and this was it.  Neither wanted to die, but to fail would be a worse fate for them and everyone.  Benjamin broke the silence.


'Have you placed yourself in Allah's hands my friend.  I have myself in God's hands.'


'I have indeed.  It is his will that we are here, now for the sake of our peoples.'  Saeb replied.


'I feel it a great shame that only one of us can be right, I will miss you.'


'Not so Benjamin.  I believe that the divine shows himself in ways that we can understand.  For me that is Allah, for you it is God.  For a non-believer it is the Big Bang.  All is his will.  We will meet again and when we do the brilliance that is the Truth will shine upon us both.'


'Have I ever told you that I like the way you think?'


'Yes Benjamin, many times.'  Saeb replied as they both laughed at their own peculiar friendship.


What is it, Benjamin thought to himself, that I prefer the company of this man to any other?  We were once bitter enemies and now we are closer than brothers.  I would lay down my life for him and I know he would do the same.  Benjamin thought back to his time in the military, he couldn't guess at how many Palestinian lives he had ended prematurely.  Now he felt each one to be both a stain on his character and the loss of a potential friend.  Would that my friends, family, and colleagues could see me now.  


'What troubles you my friend?'  Saeb asked, seeing the look on Benjamin's face.


'I was just,’ Benjamin struggled to find the right words, 'thinking about the troubles between our peoples.'


'We can concern ourselves with the past or the future.  Tell me which do you think will help our peoples the most?'  Saeb replied.


'You're right of course.  We must look to the future to have a positive one.  For now, we must attend to the present.'


They approached the gathering; the men seemed tense, focused.  The group parted to let Saeb and Benjamin into the centre, next to the two others who had sworn to give their lives to destroy the power plant.  They didn't like the term suicide bombers, nor martyrs, the first having negative overtones and the second was too pretentious, too dramatic.  The four of them were all dedicated to the same mission, one that required of them to not only get their explosive packs into the power plant but also to ensure that it was detonated inside.  They had spent a long time trying to find the best way to do this, and every time the answer was the same.  Someone would have to be inside the power plant and detonate the explosives there.  Any other way and the risk of failure was too high.  As it was the risks were still great, the Sunarr would do everything they could to prevent the attack.  That is why they needed the uprising, the rioting, and four people with backpacks.  That was why, for the four of them, it would probably be a one-way mission.  They had sought no title but the rest of the group had started calling them the Four Liberators.  Benjamin spoke to them, his voice quiet, his tone even but purposeful.


'In a few moments we will we will make a stand.  In a few moments, we will throw down our differences and pick up our tools.  In a few moments, we will attack our persecutors and overthrow their rule.  In a few moments, we will turn this prison into a shining example of humanities capacity to pull together.  In a few moments, we will become men again and stand shoulder to shoulder with those who history has judged to be great.  In a few moments we will take down these walls and once again breathe as free men.’  He paused before continuing.


‘However I must tell you this before we start.  There is more resting on us than we could have ever imagined.  I have discovered that once the Sunarr have mined all of the mineral gold on Earth they will turn to other sources.  I have to tell you that we are one of those sources.  Each of us has within us a small amount of gold.  They want to harvest that.  They want to burn our bodies to enrich themselves.  They want to kill all of us, every man, woman and child on Earth.  All of your families, all of your friends.  Everyone.  So, in a few moments, we will not be fighting just for ourselves but for everyone we know and care about.  In a few moments, unleash hell on them.  For us, for our families, for humanity!'


The crowd responded, spontaneously chanting.


'For humanity!  For humanity!  For humanity!’


Neither Benjamin nor Saeb tried to prevent them from their chanting.  It was time and they wouldn't be stopped now, indeed any intervention by the Sunarr at this moment would only inflame them more towards their goal.  Benjamin instructed the leaders of the sub-groups to go to their targets.  They walked with purpose now, backs straight, heads up, they were more than just prisoners now, they were men again, men with a mission. 


Saeb and Benjamin led their own group.  They had managed to persuade, bribe actually, one of the mineworkers to get them on the work detail closest to the power plant.  It was still a good one hundred and fifty yards away, but it was the best they could do.  However, there were some mounds and vehicles between their work location and the power plant, which they hoped would provide some cover.  They both felt that they would need it.


 


It began on schedule.  In the southeast corner of the mine the rioting started, led by Leroy Banks.  Shouting at first, and then banging their tools, it soon escalated as they set fire to a couple of trucks and a building.  The second truck was carrying compressed gas canisters.  As the fire took hold, they heated up rapidly.  The first to ignite took off like a rocket, as the canister ruptured and the pressurised gas forced its way out violently, sending it skyward.  The gas burnt as soon as it left the canister adding to its thrust, burning a bright arc through the air for all to see.  It hadn't been planned this way, but the effect was perfect.  Drawing the attention of everyone in the camp, it exploded over the main complex sending burning fragments of steel and a cloud of burning gas over it.  More canisters started to fire off, and the rioting spread to the southwest and northeast of the camp where Chuck Holford was leading the rioting in the prisoner barracks.  Saeb and Benjamin were in the northwest corner behind one of the sheds, watching the power plant on the mound, and the heavy weapon mounted outside it.  A number of the guards came running from the power plant heading towards the rioting areas.  The heavy weapon remained in operation, the Sunarr soldiers maintaining their posts.


It looks like this is going to be the best it will be, Benjamin thought as he signalled to the three attack groups.  Two of the groups were situated about fifty yards closer to the power plant approaching the heavy weapon emplacement from either side.  The third was directly ahead of the Four Liberators and was split into two groups, the lead, and the shield.  The two groups started running towards the power plant, shouting and waiving their pick-axes, sledgehammers and shovel handles wildly in the air.  Those who had petrol bombs threw them, though most fell harmlessly short but they did add to the general confusion.  The lead group then started running to join them.  It was then that the heavy weapon opened fire.  It was like a hosepipe of death, the attackers falling in waves.  The Four Liberators started their run, the shield group starting theirs as the Liberators drew near.  The shield was essentially that, a human shield to protect the Liberators for as long as possible.  Long enough they hoped for one of them to make it inside the power plant and detonate their explosives. 


The plan was working, but they were dying too quickly.  The fire rate of the heavy weapon was tremendous; Benjamin could see them running out of attackers before their mission was achieved.  He had always considered himself to be fit, but he was lagging behind Saeb, as Saeb was behind the other two Liberators.  They were getting close.  Benjamin could see the entrance to the power plant now.  The heavy weapon turned on their group. 


The shield was almost gone.  The two Liberators out in front virtually disappeared before Benjamin's eyes as the weapon hit them.  A petrol bomb landed beside the weapon and the Sunarr soldier jerked as the flames leapt up in front of his face.  His aim ruined, the soldier was still firing.  It traced a path harmlessly in front of Benjamin's feet, but the arc took it across the path of Saeb.  Blood splattered out as Saeb's legs were hit.  He watched as his friend fell to the ground, helpless to move. 


Benjamin was now on level ground, the reduced effort he translated into greater speed, ignoring his screaming muscles he now knew beyond any doubt that he wouldn't have to worry about pulling a muscle or anything so mundane.  He was between the heavy weapon emplacement and the power plant.  Ordinarily the Sunarr soldier would not have fired for fear of hitting the power plant but the rucksack that Benjamin was carrying changed everything.  The soldier correctly guessed its significance and concentrated on trying to trace his fire into Benjamin.  Although moving fast, Benjamin was moving faster still.  As he came within paces of the entrance, he turned to look at his friend one last time.  Saeb was down but not out.  He was up propped up on one elbow, he waved with the other.  Benjamin waved and smiled at his friend, just as he disappeared into the power plant. 


Inside all was calm.  Time seemed to take on a whole new pulse.  Benjamin was aware of his own heartbeat, but now it seemed to be ebbing and flowing like a slow but powerful tide.  Boom..., whoosh..., boom..., whoosh..., slowly pumping his lifeblood around his system.  His breathing, which had been deep and rapid, now seemed deep and slow.  He looked around the power plant as he moved into its centre.  There were five Sunarr, two appeared to be engineers, he guessed, both bent over a panel of lights with tools in their hands.  The other three, one by the entrance to his right and the other two down the far end to his left, were Sunarr soldiers.  They were all dressed in the Sunarr soldiers armour suits, two in the standard white, one in red.  None were wearing helmets.  They all turned to see who had entered.  It was then that Benjamin got his first and last look at the Sunarr soldiers.  They were all identical.  All clones.  They looked like the other Sunarr, in that they resembled humans, but there was something about the eyes he didn't like.  They were distant, lost in a sea of their own consciousness. 


He was still moving.  The momentum of the sprint to the entrance carrying him forward.  He reached up with his right hand and clasped the cord.  He pulled it all the way down, as far as it would go.  The other end of the cord went tight and pulled against the plunger.  Forcing the plunger upwards, it in turn forced the two liquids together, mixing them as it went.  Relatively harmless on their own, mixed together they started to react.  One rich in oxygen, the other in an accelerant, the reaction expanded and with the heat generated it accelerated further.  There was so much pressure now in the containers that they strained to contain the mixture.  Finally, the seam gave way and the explosive reached the surrounding air.  Here it met another source of oxygen, which further increased its burning intensity.  Expanding exponentially now, it enveloped the whole of the backpack, which had been lined with several containers of a petrol and diesel mix.  Heating and freeing the mix, it ignited too, adding to the growing pressure wave expanding inside the power plant. 


The first casualty had to be Benjamin.  He was closest to the centre of the explosion.  It burned and forced its way through his back, sending bone, and other matter forwards, shredding his internal organs before finally erupting out of his chest.  He knew that he was milliseconds from death as he saw his chest explode.  His mind was calm now though.  He had, they had, achieved their mission.  The power plant would be destroyed and without it, the dome would fail.  He thought of his brothers Ishmael and Toby and how they would be waiting for him.  He thought of his parents, Abraham and Nina and of his sister Bess and how he would miss them, but wait for them also on the other side.  Finally, he thought of his own life and how he wished that he had lived in peaceful times and had the opportunity to marry and raise a family.  He was generally content though.  He had served his people.  He had served Earth.


The explosion continued to expand outwards.  Tearing at the panels, they gave way exposing the delicate equipment beneath.  It burned with a growing intensity as the flammable parts of the components caught fire and added to the growing carnage.  The explosion continued its journey through the interior of the power plant.  The two engineers were next.  The fire had grown enough to envelope them whole, whether they died from heat, trauma, or shock only an autopsy would tell now.  The final three watched as the now walls of flame raced towards them at twenty thousand feet per second.  They had no time to react.  No time for sending any message or indication of their plight.  What little life these three Sunarr soldiers enjoyed was extinguished and with them so was the power plant.  The explosion now reached the heart of the power plant and the volatile source of energy used to run it.


The explosion was tremendous.  The force of it directed outwards.  This time the angle of the embankment where Saeb had fallen saved his life as the pressure wave and flames passed over his head.  The heavy weapon emplacement however had no such protection and was completely destroyed.  The expanding fireball pulled at the air below, forcing it from Saeb's lungs.  Deprived of oxygen he lost consciousness and passed out.


 


 


18:01               10 November  [18:01  10 November GMT]


Outside La Guitarra Mine, Nr. San Simon de Guerrero, 60 miles SW of Mexico City.


 


Colonel Mike Jackson stood looking at the dome through his binoculars.  It was nearing the time.  He nodded at the Major who gave the instruction to fire a single test round.  The instruction went to the Battalion Commander, a Lieutenant Colonel who issued it to the Captain in charge of one of the tank companies.  This was relayed to the second tank platoon and finally to the commander of the tank, a sergeant.  The whole process took only a few seconds.  The tank commander issued the order to his gunner who aimed by sight as the range finder had difficulty locking on to the dome.  He selected a HEAT round and punched the appropriate button.  The mechanism whirred as the auto-loader engaged, removing the HEAT round from the magazine, and placing it into the barrel. 


'One HEAT round loaded and ready!'  The gunner called out.


'Fire!'


The HEAT round, short for High Explosive Anti-Tank round, exited the end of the tank's barrel at eighteen hundred metres per second.  It closed the one-mile distance to the dome's exterior in less than a second.  HEAT rounds are designed to punch straight through a tank's armour.  It contains a shaped charge, surround by a lining of pure copper.  The shell detonates very close to impact, less than two metres.  The copper becomes heated to such a high degree it achieves a state of superplasticity.  It is this state of superplasticity combined with it travelling at twenty five times the speed of sound, which allows it to erode the armour at the point of contact.  As it erodes its way through the armour, its contact area reduces producing a cone shaped hole. 


The shell performed flawlessly.  It impacted on the skin of the dome, the copper in its superplasticity state made contact with the outside of the dome.  It ended there.  The skin was still active, the Buckyballs spinning in accordance with the instructions sent from its control centre, they captured the passing Deeth particles and these repelled both the shell and the copper in its superplasticity state.  They compacted into a molten disc, which slid harmlessly down the outside of the dome.  The battalion's spotter reported this back to the Colonel.


Colonel Jackson looked at the live video feed of the impact.  'Shit, it didn't even scratch it!'  He checked his watch, this was the right time, the shield was supposed to be non-operational.  The minutes ticked by as he gave the resistance fighters in the camp more time.  Five minutes had passed before he called for another round.  He watched this closely on the video.  The impact looked good, but so too had it before, the operator zoomed in on the impact site.  There was no hole, but they could clearly see an indentation.  Jeez, even with the power off this stuff is far tougher than a tank, the Colonel observed with a mixture of anger and admiration.


'Target that site and give a full volley!' 


This time the entire platoon all fired HEAT rounds at the same point.  Four shells arced through the air and impacted on the damaged section of the dome.  The result was a larger damaged section, but no breakthrough. 


'All platoons target that site and fire at will!'


Every tank opened fire, round after round.  The impact site was lost in a sea of flame and smoke. 


The tank assault lasted for barely two minutes, but in that time, each tank had fired an average of twenty rounds at the target site.  The three battalions of tanks, which comprised Colonel Mike Jackson’s Brigade, provided forty-eight tanks.  The targeted area of the dome had been hit by nearly a thousand rounds of anti-tank shells.  There was a slight southerly wind blowing and the Colonel waited impatiently whist the smoke cleared.  When it did, he was not disappointed.  There was a hole in the side of the dome.  It wasn't large by any means, certainly not for a tank or other vehicle, but it was large enough for people.  Colonel Jackson could finally launch a military assault into the dome.  He turned to his Lieutenant Colonel, who commanded the Brigade's Infantry Battalion. 


'Steve, take your men and capture that dome!'


'Prisoners Sir?'  Lieutenant-Colonel Steve Campbell asked his commanding officer, not wishing to make the decision himself.


'If you must.'  Mike Jackson replied, allowing the Lieutenant Colonel to take any Sunarr as prisoners if they surrendered.


'Sir!'  Steve saluted smartly and left to lead his men into combat.


Colonel Jackson turned to his communications officer.  'Contact General Colt and inform him that we have breached the dome and are preparing for an infantry assault.' 


The communications officer contacted HQ and relayed the message; he then turned back to the Colonel.  'Sir, I have General Colt for you.'


Colonel Jackson took the headset from the officer.  'Jackson here.  Yes sir.  The HEAT rounds had absolutely no effect whilst the power was on.  That's right sir, none.  Without the power we have achieved penetration, but at a cost of a thousand HEAT.  Yes sir, you did hear right.  One thousand HEAT rounds and we can't even drive a tank through.  That's why I have ordered an infantry assault.  Yes sir, I'll keep you informed.'


 


 


12:08               10 November  [18:08  10 November GMT]


Outside La Guitarra Mine, Nr. San Simon de Guerrero, 60 miles SW of Mexico City.


 


Lieutenant-Colonel Steve Campbell was not the first through the breach in the dome, there were others specially trained for the job, but he was with the first group inside.  What greeted him wasn't anything he had expected.  There in front of him was a large mound of earth.  It rose about forty feet into the air and was at least three or four times that in width.  He relayed an order to send three companies around each side, leaving him with one company who were going to scale the mound.  The going was tough, the spill-off, or whatever it was, moved easily under foot so for every step up they took, they slid back down most of it.  The steep angle didn't help either, forcing them to climb on all fours in order to make any progress. 


The view from the top was a vision of hell.  There were fires raging everywhere, thick clouds of smoke billowed up from the ground, condensing towards the top of the dome they fell like a shroud over the interior wall.  The dark background gave an intensity to the scene before him that made him feel quite sick.  Then he started to see the bodies.  There were dozens and dozens of them, all over the place, the Sunarr were exterminating the prisoners.  He saw a group of Sunarr amongst the buildings and the rage he felt was a living, breathing thing.  It spoke for him.


'Open fire!’


The company responded as one man, firing at the Sunarr soldiers below.  It clearly took them by surprise as they were concentrating on killing the prisoners.  Several went down in the opening volley.  The exchange and the unfamiliar sounds of earth weapons brought the attention of the other Sunarr soldiers around the mine who turned to fire at the figures on the mound.  Steve ordered his two spotters to relay the positions of the Sunarr.  The six companies, now at the edges of the mound, received the information and split into their constituent platoons.  As they ran amongst the mine's buildings the first company continued to give covering fire.  Now supported by four heavy machine-guns.


It was not exactly a rout, but with their tactical advantages of support and precise knowledge of the opposing forces, plus their far superior number, the battle didn't last long.  In the end, Steve didn't have to worry about enemy prisoners, as the Sunarr didn't offer to surrender.  He walked around the mine, amongst the dead and injured until he came upon the site of what had previously been another battle.  The dead here were arranged around the base of another mound; upon its top were the remains of what appeared to be a Sunarr building, still smouldering.  As he climbed towards the top, he stepped over another corpse.  This one moaned.  He called for a medic and then knelt down besides the man.  His legs were shattered, his shirt bloody, but otherwise he appeared uninjured. 


'What's your name fella?'  Steve asked, trying to gauge whether his analysis of the man's injuries was accurate or not.


'Saeb...' the man replied, coughing a little blood up as he spoke, 'Saeb Tibi.  Who are you?'


'I'm Lieutenant-Colonel Steve Campbell Commanding Officer of Third Brigade of the Second US Division of Unity.'


'Unity?'  Saeb replied trying to comprehend its meaning, 'Sam Colt's boys?'


'Yes, that's right.  General Colt is in charge of the Unity US Army.'


'Allah be praised.'  Saeb lapsed back into unconsciousness.


 


 


13:15               10 November  [18:15 10 November GMT]


FDR Drive, New York, USA.


 


They had less than two city blocks to go.  Shiwanevar realised that they were close, but they were also in hostile territory now and she cursed these humans who seemed to be everywhere and nowhere at the same time.  She realised that she had picked the right hostage.  They were observed but not fired upon as they walked along the expressway.  If I had taken the Secretary-General, she thought, then there would have been no one in authority to prevent us from being attacked.  The daughter was less than cooperative though.  She struggled with the soldiers every step of the way, slowing their escape considerably.  That may be her intent, Shiwanevar thought; maybe she is trying to slow us down so the other humans can lay a trap for us.


She could see her ship, sitting there on the East River next to the UN building.  If only I could contact them, they could send a scout vessel to pick us up or provide cover.  Damn this communications loss!  She wasn't used to being out of touch with her troops.  It didn't sit well with her, not at all.  She had always been in charge.  Her thoughts were others commands and now she had to actually speak her commands it was so frustrating, so demeaning. 


They passed Fifty-Third Street and were now less than a block from the ship.  At Fifty-Second Street, a spotter from her ship saw their approach and dispatched two squads of soldiers to support them.  Now she felt safer.             


It was all something of a blur for Sameena.  Snatched from the dinner party, she was still disorientated from the stun grenade attack.  She knew that she was being kidnapped and guessed it was more for protection than ransom.  That means once they are safe I am expendable, it was an unhappy thought, and it plagued her consciousness.  It is unlikely that they will simply let me go.  So, I am either dead or a captive.  No way!  She kicked and struggled with renewed vigour, but the grip of the two Sunarr soldiers never wavered, not for a second. 


They were now on the grounds of the UN plaza, just a couple of hundred metres from the ship.  She relaxed and concentrated on her breathing.  She walked now with purpose, the struggle over.  They neared the rear access to the ship, the ramp spanning out from the ship like a bridge over the river.  They walked onto the ramp, the East River cold and brooding below.  It's my only hope, Sameena realised.  She threw herself to the ground with all her might.  It worked, the soldiers lost their grip on her; she rolled over and over to her right, then sprang to her feet and ran. 


Sameena found herself running in mid-air.  It was a curious sensation, but it didn't last long as she plunged into the cold, dark waters below.  She lost consciousness as she hit the water.


Shiwanevar looked over the edge.  'Forget her, get me aboard!' she boomed at the soldiers.  The ramp withdrew behind her as she disappeared into the ship.


             


Sam looked around her.  She was in a room.  There were people there, shouting and cheering.  Her father walked up to her and hugged her, which she thought rather odd, him being dead and all.  The scene shifted outside and she looked into the air as a huge shadow passed overhead, again people were waving and cheering.  There was a pram in front of her, the baby inside was hers, again she knew that she had never been pregnant.  OK, I'm dreaming, she realised, let’s see where this goes, she relaxed and let herself go.  Now she could feel lips pressing upon hers, but she could not see to whom they belonged.  She tried closing her eyes in the dream but that didn't help, now she couldn't see anything at all.  A voice called to her, it sounded urgent, but deep and resonate.


'Are you OK Miss?' 


Sameena threw out a loud of water.  She was suddenly aware of being wet and very, very cold.  She was shivering, soaking wet and had no idea why.


'Are you OK?'  Again the urgent, deep voice.


Sam opened her eyes, the man before her had no cap on, but his was clearly a policeman.  He was bent over her, she reached out placing her hand upon his chest she pushed him gently backwards to give herself some room.  The officer didn't resist. 


'I'm alive?'  Sam asked.


'Yes.  You weren't when I pulled you out mind.  But I did some CPR and here you are.'  He smiled down at her.  She could see he was much older than she was, but still attractive in the way an older man can be.  It didn't hurt that he had apparently saved her life.


'CPR?  You kissed me?  Gave me the kiss of life?' 


'Well we don't call it that anymore, but yes I did.  In my defence you did need it.'  He smiled as he placed his right hand over his heart to show that he was being honest.


'I guess I should thank you.'  The words troubled her even as she spoke them, she corrected herself.  'I mean thank you, thank you so much.'


They were interrupted by a deep throbbing sound, so loud that it penetrated their bones making them resonate.  They both turned and watched in awe as the Sunarr ship lifted off.  It swung majestically through ninety degrees and then moved straight up.  Neither of them spoke, but Sam just thought to herself, thank God I'm not on there.
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18:20               10 November  [18:20  10 November GMT]


No.1 Carlton Gardens, Westminster, London, England.


 


The building is going to need a shit load of work doing, Jack reflected on the scene of devastation confronting him.  It was amazing really.  There were casualties, a few dead, others injured, mainly from the blast to the building.  Nevertheless, overall they had been incredibly lucky.  The ambassadors had been busy.  Once the fighting had stopped and after being reassured that they were safe, they had calmed down enough to go about the business of getting in contact with their governments.  First with their Embassies or Consulates, then speaking directly with their countries.  The news was spreading fast.  Two things were becoming very clear.  The first was the palpable relief of the senior politicians and military officers at being freed from their virtual incarceration.  The second was the pivotal role being played by Unity. 


Unity, in cooperation with the Russians, had helped to free countless countries.  Ordinarily the arrival of a foreign armed force in their countries would have led to a serious diplomatic situation, if not an outright declaration of war.  This is where Group 79 had played its own crucial role behind the scenes.  Every country involved had at least one or two senior figures directed by Group 79.  Some were full members, others had been recruited as agents in the past year.  They were on hand when the forces arrived to smooth both the local politicians and the military.  The situation had been fraught, but as they were freed, they came to see the bigger picture.  Now with their ambassadors reporting in from around the world their anger and frustration was turning away from the friendly invasions by Unity and the Russians, to the object of the military conflict, the Sunarr.


The leaders of each country were briefed on the situation.  Each in turn contacting their own military.  The senior military officers, almost to a person, were ahead of their political masters.  Alerts had gone out to divisional commanders; throw all you can against the Sunarr forces.  Then, in most instances, they received their official orders calling for mass mobilisation.  There were pitched battles in the streets as the Sunarr forces found themselves overwhelmed.  The gold mines were a particular focus.  As the Sunarr realised that their time on Earth had come to an end, they took what they could and boarded their scout ships.  Most had a surprise waiting for them when they exited the domes.  Thousands of frightened and angry troops who had been ordered to stop the Sunarr by all and any necessary means.  The officers in command held nothing back.  The scout ships, designed for use within an atmosphere were well armed, but unlike the domes, they didn't have the special shielding.  They fought well, and took extreme punishment.  About half fell to the strength and blind fury of the combined local and Unity forces.  The rest made it away from the area to rendezvous with the Sunarr survey ship.


 


 


21:30               10 November  [18:30  10 November GMT]


Kremlin, Moscow, Russia.


 


Nickolai Andreovich Petrov paused for a moment outside the command centre.  He was not bringing his boss wholly good news and this worried him.  He knocked rapidly on the door and entered.  His boss, General Gregori Stephonovich Ivanskiy had his head down, absorbing information as it came in, displayed on the map table.  The situation was good and getting better.  He now had control over fully ninety per cent of Russia, including all the main military bases, the major cities and the nuclear arsenal.  He looked up at his aide.


'What is it Nickolai Andreovich?'


Petrov took a deep breath, straightened his back, and looked his boss square in the eyes.  He knew that Gregori Stephonovich appreciated directness.


'It’s Bondarenko, he has left town.  It is reported that he is making for the Sunarr mining camp at Blagodatnoye.'


'I see.  What do you propose I should do about it?'


'He should not be allowed to leave the Motherland General.'  Nickolai Andreovich kept a firm eye on the General's reaction; he could see that it was positive.


'Very good, Nickolai Andreovich.'  General Ivanskiy replied turning to his communications officer, 'Dispatch the 2nd Army Group's rapid reaction force.'


 


 


21:30               10 November  [18:30  10 November GMT]


50 Km from Blagodatnoye near Svetlograd, Stavropol Krai, SW Russia.


 


General Bondarenko was well strapped into the Russian Mi-24 Hind troop carrying assault helicopter.  He had been on this planet for long enough and had no wish to become a permanent resident.  He cursed Ivanskiy and the fact that the Sunarr had rejected his suggestion to have Ivanskiy killed.  If Ivanskiy were dead, I wouldn't have to be running like a common criminal.  He consoled himself that it wouldn't matter in the end; this was only a temporary setback.  A minor one at that, in the grand scheme of things.  He was leaving today but he promised himself that he would be back.  When he did he would see that dog Ivanskiy crushed, but not before he turned Ivanskiy's beloved Russia into a wasteland. 


He looked around at his men, wondering idly about their fates.  They will probably be shot for helping the enemy.  Good, that will be six less to deal with later.  He had never cared for his men, or anyone really.  They were just a means to an end.  True, there had been some that he had grown close to, but none for over a century now.  Now they could burn, would burn for the greater glory. 


His aide saw him smile, but the look was not pleasant.  The general's face was contorted; it reminded him of when he was at school.  There had been a boy who had the same look on his face as he had knelt on his chest after beating him to the ground, and fed him grass to eat.  He shuddered at the memory and tried not to think about the thoughts going through his boss’s mind that generated such a look.


The helicopter was descending now, and they could see the battle raging at the mine below.  The distinct shapes of the Russian tanks firing on the dome over the Blagodatnoye mine.  As they came lower, a shape appeared out of the side of the dome, it moved quickly, dodging the artillery fire and soared into the air.  Bondarenko shouted at the pilot.


'Follow that craft!'


The pilot hesitated, unsure as to what to do.  He knew instinctively that the craft was Sunarr, he had served in the Russian forces for nearly thirty years and had never seen anything remotely close to it, and besides his comrades were raining fire down on it, which was a dead giveaway.  The helicopter continued to hover and the General exploded.


'Follow that craft now or I'll have you shot for insubordination!'


The helicopter pitched forward as the pilot obeyed.  It gained speed and closed on the craft.  Bondarenko slipped his communications device out of his pocket and put it to his ear.  He spoke into it in a language his aide did not recognise.


'Shoota hee nar fey, dorall te ney ve laripsocol!'


Almost instantly, the Sunarr craft descended towards the ground.  The pilot needed no further order; he took the helicopter lower following the Sunarr craft in its descent.  He landed within a couple of hundred feet from the Sunarr craft, but kept the rotor ticking over, his hand on the control.


'Wait here!'  The General boomed as he slid open the door and jumped out, remembering to keep his head low lest he were to lose it.  Bondarenko ran off in the direction of the Sunarr craft, the rear opening up, he disappearing inside it.  It took off almost immediately.  Sergey, Bondarenko's aide sat there, he was relieved to see his boss go, but now was worried what he had helped him to do.  True I was under orders, but others before me have said the same.


 


 


16:30               10 November  [13:30  10 November GMT]


Security Council, UN Building, New York, USA.


 


The meeting was fraught.  Delegates were talking over each other, some even on the verge of shouting, trying to be heard above the din.  Jay wasn't listening.  She was sat there, transfixed.  She didn't know it but she was heavily in shock.  Her mind kept replaying the events, always ending with seeing her daughter, her own flesh and blood, being dragged from the room.  A voice called to her.  Again.  The voice moved closer to her ear, she could feel the breath on her shoulder.  The voice insisted itself upon her consciousness.


'Jay, I have a call you must take.'


Jay looked up.  William was standing next to her, leaning in close.  He held a phone in his hand and was offering it to her.  Jay looked into his face.  It was a kind face she thought.  A face you could trust and rely upon.  He was saying something.  She could see his lips moving.  She tried concentrating and then she got it.


'Jay!  Please take this call!' 


'I thought I said no calls.'  Jay knew that she always said that when she went into a Security Council meeting and she was sure she had said it this time too.  She was a little annoyed at William.


'You must take this call.'  He placed the phone in her hand.


Jay was so out of it she didn't even ask William who was on the phone.  She placed the phone to her ear and spoke in to the mouthpiece.


'Hello who is it?'


'It's me mummy.  It's Sam.'


'Sam?'


'Yes mummy it's me.  I'm free and I'm OK'


'Sam?...Sam...SAM!’  Jay shrieked, causing the other delegates to stop their arguing for a moment to stare at her.


'Oh Sam, Sam my beautiful Sam.  Are you OK?  Where are you?  What happened?'


'I'm OK.  I'm on the shore, a little way down from your building.  I'll make my way up to see you when I can.  I jumped off the back of the Sunarr craft into the river and was rescued by this lovely policeman.'  She winked at the policeman as she spoke.  'Are you OK mummy, you sound really awful?'


'Oh Sam, I'm OK.  Just a little shaken up.'  Jay's mind was already kicking back into gear.  'Look, have the policeman help you get here; I'd like to thank him personally as well.  I must just deal with something first, but I should be free when you get here.  I love you, see you soon.'


'Love you too mummy, bye’ Sam couldn't quite believe how much of a girl she felt.  Calling her mother mummy and telling her she loved her, she hadn't done that in years.  It had felt good though, it had felt right.  She asked the policeman if he could help her to the UN building, he gallantly agreed, helping her to her feet as he did so.


Jay hung up the phone.  She could focus now and what she saw around the table she did not like.  She rose to her feet and picked up the quartz block paperweight, a gift from the Tanzanian ambassador.  She slammed it down on the table, exploding it into several pieces they shot across the top of the table.  The sudden noise and coming under fire from quartz projectiles shocked the delegates into silence.  They all turned to Jay.


'Good.  Now I have your attention, this is what is going to happen.  You will instruct your governments that they are to mobilise their forces and attack the Sunarr with everything they have.'


'And if we don't?'  One voice spoke out, but several thought the same.  They were not used to being issued orders.


'Then the world will know you for cowards and you will be expelled from this council and the UN.  You will stand alone in the world.'  Jay glowered at them; she had always been the consummate diplomat, soft spoken and patient.  This was a new side to her.  Everyone who knew her, knew that she didn't bluff, it wasn't in her nature.  She would have any nation out of their seat, no matter the cost.  The voice spoke up again, this time softer, more considered.


'Of course I for one have no intention of not following your direction Madam Secretary-General.  I will be speaking to my government forthwith.'


Nods of agreement flowed around the table, accompanied by verbal assurances that they would put the matter to their governments with the utmost urgency. 


'In that case,’ Jay said, still on her feet, 'this meeting is over.  I will let you all contact your governments.  Let me know when they agree.'  The emphasis she gave to her last sentence left them in no doubt.  Jay still had an ace up her sleeve.


 


 


18:11               10 November  [18:11  10 November GMT]


Disused Airbase, Alconbury, Cambridgeshire, England.


 


There was no time for the normal, full pre-flight checks.  The Sunarr ship was leaving and so were they.  John Deeth sat in one of the seats normally occupied by an image analyst.  The Sentinel R1 turned off the taxiway and pulled onto the runway.                Originally a surveillance aircraft this one had been heavily modified.  Longbow was a huge and complex piece of hardware and the entire radar system had been removed from the underneath of the aircraft to accommodate it.  The twin Rolls Royce BR710 engines roared as the amount of thrust required to achieve lift off had been increased due to the weight of Longbow.


The noise became punishing as the aircraft hurtled along the runway, gaining speed like a runaway train.  John was trying to concentrate.  He had only done this in simulation before, never for real.  Today is about as real as it could ever get...  He went through the checklist methodically, fully aware that if everything was not done just right it could malfunction and blow up in the most dramatic and fatal way imaginable.  The checklist was a simple sheet of paper laminated in plastic.  It swung gently from the drawing pin that had been used to suspend it at eye level so John could work on the screen without having to bob his head up and down.  As he looked at the drawing pin, he couldn't help thinking about the proverb about the loss of a nail.  He shook his head and returned to the matter at hand, priming Longbow.


Longbow was the culmination of a huge amount of work by a lot of very dedicated people.  Most did not know at the time what they were working on.  Some guessed, but kept it to themselves.  It, and Constellation, had made all projects, civilian and military, including the Manhattan Project and the Moon Landing seem small and straightforward by comparison.  Longbow was a simple concept, but fiendishly complex in its execution.  Longbow was a sixty barrelled Gatling gun. 


Like its predecessors, the multi-barrel arrangement was to provide each barrel time to cool down after firing.  Longbow however had taken this to new extremes.  Each barrel was like a rail-gun, a longitudinal electromagnetic chamber used to accelerate objects within the barrel to extreme velocities.  However, instead of electromagnetism, Longbow used Deeth particles to accelerate its projectiles.  The projectiles, shaped like a normal shell were constructed of Gold, Iron, and Carbon Buckyballs.  Extreme velocities in Longbow's terms meant a quarter the speed of light, or around seventy-five thousand kilometres a second.  Even with the super smooth bore in the barrels, they had to be cooled to five degrees Kelvin, or around two hundred and seventy degrees below freezing point.  During firing, the barrel would heat up to around thirteen hundred degrees Celsius and although each barrel was cooled with liquid nitrogen, it still required having sixty barrels to avoid it seizing.


The shells that Longbow fires are necessarily smaller than the bore of the barrels.  The firing barrel is fed by a shell carriage system that uses an electromagnetic rail system.  This is timed into the firing mechanism so that when the barrel has opened sufficiently to allow the front of the shell in, the shell starts to load.  The “firing pin,” another electromagnetic rail, continues to move the shell into the barrel so that the end of the shell arrives in the barrel as the barrel is fully aligned.  In this way the rotating barrels do not have to stop, or even slow down, for the next shell to be loaded.  For practical use, the only limit on the firing rate of Longbow is the rate at which the barrels could be cooled, rather than shells loaded.


The Sentinel R1, call sign Phoenix, lifted into the air as it reached its take off speed.  The pilot, a senior aviator with over twenty years’ experience flying military birds, kept the power on as it began its steep ascent.  He was used to maiden flights, he was after all one of the test pilots for the Royal Air Force, but he had never taken a test flight into harm’s way before.  First time for everything, he thought as he checked his gauges to ensure, as far as was possible, that Phoenix was behaving herself.  Fuel was his main concern.  Phoenix was a thirsty bird who drank like an over exercised dog on a hot day.  The R1 was based on a commercial bird that was designed to fly efficiently in straight lines, the R1 military variant having been redesigned to fly in large circles high over a battlefield, again efficiently.  Phoenix however was expected to engage an enemy aircraft.  This would likely entail a dogfight, with the Phoenix having to climb and dive, changing direction, anything to both engage the enemy aircraft and at the same time avoid coming under fire itself.  In terms of fuel usage, it was the highest cost a fixed wing aircraft would ever have to pay.


 


 


19:14               10 November  [19:14  10 November GMT]


Phoenix,  15,000 ft. above the North Atlantic.


 


John was now two thirds of the way through his checklist.  It was looking good.  The monitoring program was reporting that each component was in operational shape, now he could move onto the system testing.  This would involve test firing the weapon.  He reported this to the mission controller, seated to his left, so that she could ascertain when it would be safe to fire the weapon.  Safe to others that is.  As they had no operational radar aboard they had to rely upon the aircraft's sister, another R1, which had now joined them at a distance, to ensure that there were no ships in their path across the Atlantic.  Communications had also been established with a Royal Naval vessel using a towed array sonar to look for submarines.  They weren't expecting any, they had been warned off, but they didn't want to take any chances.  The shells would be passing through the ocean and embedding themselves in the bedrock of the ocean floor.  Nothing in-between would survive the encounter.


The mission controller received the green light from her communications officer to proceed and she informed John and the Pilot.  The pressure on the fuselage changed as the pilot brought Phoenix down to five thousand feet for the test fire.  John got a thumbs up from the mission controller.  He angled Longbow down fifteen degrees and crossed his fingers as he pushed the fire button to initiate a three second burst.  The Phoenix immediately pitched to the right, the wing dropping like a stone.  The pilot screamed as he wrestled with the controls. 


'What the fuck was that?'  The pilot had never experienced anything like that before; it had felt like his starboard wing had fallen off for an instant.


'Sorry.'  John replied meekly, keenly aware that it had been Longbow that had caused the aircraft to roll radically like that.  'It seems that the stabilisers aren't compensating for the screw effect one hundred per cent.'


'No shit.'  The pilot was not impressed with this civilian.  This lunatic will get us killed unless we are very lucky.


John put Longbow into standby and walked forward with the mission controller into the cockpit.  The sweat on the pilot's brow immediately testified as to how serious the roll had been. 


'Don't do that again.'  The pilot said.


'Sorry but I'm afraid I'm going to have to.  The stabilisers are at maximum and the only way to improve them would mean landing and stripping them apart.'  John replied.


'Isn't there anything else we could do?'  The mission controller didn't want this to turn into a, you can't do this, oh yes I can, argument.  There had to be a way forward.  The mission had to succeed.


'OK.' the pilot said, his breathing slowing as he calmed down, 'Keep the bursts short and give me a three, two, one, fire, when you initiate the weapon.  I'll do what I can to compensate.  Let's do a couple of practice runs.'  I just hope the wing doesn't fall off with all the stress.


Although he was somewhat ready for it this time, it still came as a shock, as if someone had yanked his control stick sharply whilst he was holding it.  Phoenix rolled again, but less this time and recovery was quicker.  They tried again and found another improvement.  Two more attempts and the pilot was almost becoming comfortable with it. 


'Let's try for a longer burst this time.  Give it five seconds.'  The pilot called to John and the mission controller.


The pilot was holding on for the five count when the stall indicator went off, screaming at him. 


'What now!'  He was about to call cease-fire when the time lapsed anyway.  He handed over to his co-pilot and headed back to talk to them.


'We went into a stall there, what the hell was that about?'  The pilot was just about ready to see John out of the aircraft, personally and at five thousand feet above a very cold ocean.


He flipped on the view screen for the on-board data recorder and reviewed the telemetry.  The news was not good.  Each time the gun was fired it not only caused a radical roll, but it also slowed the Phoenix considerably.  He hadn't noticed it before because he had been more concerned with keeping the aircraft level than watching the airspeed indicator.


'Looks like four seconds is going to be the maximum fire time, unless we want to get very wet.'


The mission controller nodded grimly.  'Four seconds it is then Captain.' 


John sighed.  It wasn't supposed to be this way.  He sighed again and then started to worry about what problems they might encounter with Constellation.  If four-second bursts are all we can do, then four-second bursts will have to do.  He would have liked a lot longer; especially as they had no idea how heavily armed the Sunarr vessel would prove to be.  Perhaps I can hit it with lots of four-second bursts, he thought optimistically.


They were tracking the Sunarr ship over the North-West Atlantic.  It had left New York and had passed over Newfoundland, climbing as it went; they estimated that they would intercept it over Greenland in just under two hours from now.


 


 


18:30               10 November  [18:30  10 November GMT]


Unity Headquarters, England.


 


The reports were coming in now thick and fast.  They had been successful in some areas and less so in others.  In every case where the organised inmates had managed to disable the power plant, the Unity forces were able to break through the protective dome.  It was not easy.  Even with the power neutralised the structure of the domes was still incredibly strong.  It took concentrated artillery fire to penetrate it; other means such as shaped explosive charges had no impact at all.  However, once they managed to breach the dome, they were universally successful, albeit at varying levels of cost in terms of Unity and civilian lives lost.


The domes where the power plant were not incapacitated were a different matter however.  Nothing they had would even remotely touch them.  In the end, it was the Sunarr who defeated themselves.  Recalled by the survey ship, they opened a portal in the dome to make good their escape.  Some made it, others did not.  Brought down by a barrage of artillery shells, the scout vessels were only lightly armoured and totally out gunned.  Troops were sent into the domes, the Sunarr soldiers fought to the last. 


General Charles Beaconsfield read the reports with satisfaction.  They were winning the battle for the mines but too many of the scout vessels were getting away.  Getting away with their precious cargoes of Gold.  Charlie picked up the line to his counterpart in the US.


'Sam, its Charlie.  I guess you are seeing the same situation developing that I am.'


'They are heading for the main vessel.  Is Longbow active?'  Sam replied.


'Longbow is airborne as we speak and on an intercept course over Greenland.  If Longbow is successful we will need troops on the ground to secure it.'


'I have the 3rd US Unity Airborne on standby.  Maybe you could rustle up some from your side of the pond.'


'I have the 7th and 9th UK Unity Combined standing by.  Time to get them both going, don't you think?'


'Roger that.'  Sam turned to his commanders and gave them the order.  ‘The 3rd are on their way.'


'As are the 7th and 9th.  How's the situation otherwise?'  Charlie inquired.


'It’s under control.  The Sunarr won't quit, so we have had to put in more troops to flush them out.  Unfortunately, they seem to be holding their positions and executing their hostages, so I am putting in as many forces as possible.  How's things with you?'


'We have a similar picture.  They fight extremely well, but they lack tactics.  In two instances, we started controlled fires and they popped out straight away.  However in most cases the civilians are too close to the Sunarr to permit that.'


'So it all hangs on Longbow then?'  Sam said.


'I don't like having our fates in the hands of a civilian either, especially one who has suffered from suicidal depression, likes the drink a bit too much and seems to think himself better than others, but we have to remember that he has delivered when it counts.'


 


 


18:17               10 November  [21:17  10 November GMT]


Phoenix, 11,000 ft. above Greenland.


 


They could see them gathering now.  They were still about ten minutes away from them, but the radar reported the unmistakable arrangement of many small craft around one much larger.  The small craft were disappearing off the radar screen after closing in on the large craft; they realised that they must be docking with it.  They were still within the earth's atmosphere, the smaller craft presumably not capable of space flight.  If they were aware of their approach, they showed no signs of it.  Less than five minutes away now and there were only six Sunarr craft left to dock. 


Unity had informed them that ground troops were on their way to give support.  They were not on radar yet and had to be some way off.  John hadn't considered the need for ground troops.  He hadn't given much thought to the mission at all.  He had, truth be told, been studiously avoiding thinking about the realities of the mission altogether.  He kept the objective in mind though.  Stopping the Sunarr leaving with the gold and if possible stopping the Sunarr from leaving altogether.  The fact that he was aboard what had become the world's most expensive aeroplane, at the control of the world's most powerful and technically advanced weapon, wasn't lost on him.  He just tried not thinking about it.  He had never killed anyone before.  Apart from a few brawls when he was younger, he had never had any time for violence believing it to be the refuge of the inarticulate.  Now I am here, in control of a massive weapon and about to unleash it against...well, not people.  They are Aliens and they had planned to exterminate him and the rest of humanity. 


Is that enough?  He wondered.  Can I kill these people, these Sunarr for what they had planned?  It may have been a misunderstanding; I might have gotten it wrong.  But, but they have imprisoned people haven't they?  The politicians were under virtual house arrest.  And then there are the mines, convicts have rights too, don't they?  In truth, the Sunarr had done nothing directly or indirectly against him and he knew it.  Three minutes out.


It came from nowhere.  The burst of fire sprayed across their path, piercing the skin of the plane.  The mission controller screamed out in pain.  The pilot put the plane into a steep dive, turning to starboard as he did so.  John held on tight to the fixed desk he was seated at.  His face was wet and he didn't know why.  The plane levelled off and he wiped his face with his hand.  He glanced at his hand as he went to grip the desk again.  It was covered in blood.  He knew instinctively it was not his.  He looked around and saw the mission controller lying on the floor.  Her shoulder was a mess, she had obviously been hit, she was losing a lot of blood, the radar operator was doing his best to stem her blood loss.  Must have hit the carotid artery, John thought, hence the spray.  There was bone jutting out from the flesh he noticed, and then he noticed something else.  The mission controller had a lump in her abdomen.  Not much, he hadn't noticed it before, but now she was lying down it was more pronounced for some reason.  He had no doubt the mission controller was pregnant.


I didn't ask to be here, John thought to himself.  No one asked you to come here either, but here you are, threatening this world, stealing our resources and now you have shot a mother with child!  John's rage grew inside him, he didn't know this woman, had not met her before today.  However, he had always had a secret desire, beyond dreams of wealth and Nobel prizes.  He wanted to be a father, to have a son or daughter to call his own.  To nurture and cherish and occasionally spoil.  Now as he looked down at this woman he saw the fragility of the human existence, of a life once full of promise now hanging perilously in the balance.  The mother was a serving officer who knew the risks, but her child…  Her child knew nothing of this life yet; it had made no choices because life for it had not yet fully begun.  The child is innocent, the Sunarr are not.


'Bring us around on a firing run!'  John yelled to the pilot.  He didn't know if this was correct terminology or not and frankly didn't care. 


The pilot pulled on the control and the plane came round, its course firmed up putting it at ninety degrees to the Sunarr survey ship and at an approach angle of thirty degrees negative from the lateral.  The Sunarr ship opened fire again, but this time the pilot was ready for it and manoeuvred accordingly, all the time keeping his general approach.  John set the control for three-second bursts, not wishing to push it now that the pilot had to worry about incoming fire.  He watched the screen intently, the earpiece trilling in his ear, informing him that it had not yet established a lock.  Then the tone went continuous and he squeezed the trigger, just as the pilot had to manoeuvre.  He watched as the stream of shells missed the survey ship, but made contact with one of the scout vessels.  It was quite a sight.  The shells passed straight through the scout ship, like bullets through a cardboard box.  The ship was cut in two.  The close-up video display showed the ship breaking apart and he could even see the Sunarr soldiers falling out, thousands of feet above Greenland.


The survey ship opened fire again, forcing Phoenix to veer off course and make for the ground to gain the speed it needed to manoeuvre.  The pilot swung the plane around, putting it back on course.  The last of the scout ships was aboard now and John could see that it was making to leave the atmosphere.  He pulled off a burst, missing completely.  Another, this time a hit, but the ship carried on.  He aimed and got another hit, full on for the whole three seconds this time.  The ship faltered then regained its exit trajectory.  The pilot pushed the engines, trying to close the gap, but the gap was widening as the Sunarr ship gathered speed.  John fired again, hitting it square.  It faltered slightly, then recovered.  John screamed out to the pilot.


'Hold on I'm going for a long burst!'


'How long!'  The pilot screamed back.


'Long!  Three, Two One, Fire!’


The control was set at nine seconds as John's index fingered closed on the trigger.  The first shell arrived just under twenty-four millionths of a second later.  Its brief but intensive journey through the dense earth atmosphere had heated it beyond the melting point of normal materials, the Buckyballs held it together though, but it burned the air as it passed through, leaving a streak of fire in its wake.  Weighing about a kilo but travelling at one quarter the speed of light it impacted with the rear of the Sunarr ship.  The impact force was equivalent to a one thousand tonne train travelling at one hundred and sixty miles per hour.  It never touched the skin of the ship, impacting instead with the Deeth particles that the ship's skin formed around it.  It did however cause a drain on the local power grid for that section.  It only lasted a fraction of a second, barely two one thousands of a second.  However, the second shell arrived less than one point seven thousands of a second later.  This caused a further, deeper power drain in the area that was hit.  It was hit by another and another and another.  Forty two thousand shells in seven seconds.  All in the same area.  It was too much for the skin to withstand and it gave way, the last eighty or so shells exploding inside.  The remaining two seconds of the attack, and the twelve thousand additional shells, just added to the carnage.  The ship exploded over Greenland, dropping like a stone from the stratosphere. 


John sat back in his chair.  Now he could hear someone screaming.  He looked at the mission controller, no it’s not her.  The voice was shouting loudly and swearing.  A lot.  Ah, it’s the pilot, John said to himself suddenly realising where it was coming from.  Something about a major stall and we are going to crash.  John relaxed.  He had achieved his mission and dying in a plane crash, well that would be unfortunate, but it wasn't his responsibility.  Figuring he had only moments to live he ignored the no smoking sign and lit up.


 


 


21:34               10 November  [21:34  10 November GMT]


Unity Command HQ, Berkshire Downs, West Berkshire, England.


 


The information was being relayed live back to both US and UK Unity headquarters through the Doran communications system.  The room erupted into cheers as the Sunarr ship exploded.  Then came the loss of the signal from Phoenix.  It had gone down over Greenland as well.  The troops were on their way, but the first were still an hour away.


 


 


18:40               10 November  [21:40  10 November GMT]


Phoenix Crash Site, 200 Km North of Ammassalik, Eastern Greenland.


 


John opened his eyes.  He still couldn't see anything.  His head felt like it had a screwdriver driven through it.  He tried moving, but his body wouldn't respond as it normally did so he didn't push it.  He tried wiggling his toes, that worked.  Then his fingers, they also worked.  So I should be able to move, he reasoned.  He tried moving his head, the pain was constant but it didn't increase so he moved it some more.  Shapes started to appear, he had been facing the floor, and what little light there was in the cabin hadn't wanted to venture down that far.  He pushed himself up onto his hands.  Now to accompany the sharp pain, he was experiencing a throbbing ache.  He looked around the cabin.  The mission controller was lying on the floor not moving.  He pulled himself to his feet, wobbling slightly, and moved over to check her pulse.  He could feel it, but it was weak and she had obviously lost a lot of blood.  He moved forward, noting sadly that the station at which the communications officer had been seated at was missing, along with a fair chunk of the fuselage.  He forced the door to the cockpit.  The co-pilot was also dead.  He didn't have to check for a pulse, the lack of a head was enough of an indication as to his welfare.  The pilot however was in one piece, he checked his pulse.  It was strong and stable, the pilot was simply unconscious.  John decided it was best to leave him where he was for the moment.  He headed back to the mission controller.  He checked her pulse again, thankfully, she still had one.  He unbuttoned her blouse and reached inside.  He found her dog tag and looked at, AB negative, that means she can take my B positive blood.


There was a medical kit on the fuselage wall, he pulled it down and opened it.  He was glad to see it was well stocked and had what he wanted inside.  He pulled out two needle tips and the pack of plastic hose.  He clamped one end of the hose and placed one of the needles into the Radial Artery in his left forearm.  He ran the blood through the hose to fill it and then clamped it off again, attaching the needle to it, he released the pressure to remove the air from the needle.  A fine spray came out of the end before he clamped it.  John inserted the other needle into the Median Antebranchial Vein in her right arm.  I hope I've got this right, he thought as he released the clamp. 


 


 


19:53               10 November  [22:53  10 November GMT]


Phoenix Crash Site, 200 Km North of Ammassalik, Eastern Greenland.


 


'Colonel Tyler Moore of the 3rd US Unity Airborne' Colonel Moore said to John, 'just relax and let this medic see to you.' 


'The mission controller?...she's...she's pregnant’ John managed to say.


'The mission controller is doing just fine, so is her baby, thanks to your efforts.  She's probably in better shape than you right now.'  Tyler said as reassuringly as he could.


There were two medics working, one on each patient.  The first had stemmed the flow of blood from the mission controllers wound and the other had given John three units of plasma to make up for the blood he had lost through donation.  It had been a remarkably close call.  John had passed out during the transfusion, whether from the blow to his head or from loss of blood the medic couldn't tell.  He had done enough to keep the both the mother and child alive, that much he knew, but in the process he had come perilously close to losing his own life.  The medic couldn't decide whether John had been heroic or stupid, probably a bit of both, he decided.


Colonel Moore had no such doubts.  Any man who would give his own life's blood to save another, especially a mother and child, was a hero in his mind.  That it was a civilian giving to a serving officer made it all the more special.  His men were all over the Phoenix and the surrounding area whilst the 9th UK Unity Combined were about a hundred and twenty kilometres away, securing the crash site of the Sunarr vessel.  Tyler really wanted to be over there, but they had come across the downed friendly aircraft first and had to respond. 


 


 


20:07               10 November  [23:07  10 November GMT]


Sunarr Crash Site, 160 Km North-East of  Ammassalik, Greenland.


 


They were all dead.  Lieutenant-Colonel Edward Jackson noted this with a mixture of relief and frustration.  The relief was that his men were safe from any attack and his frustration was founded on the fact that the war, if that was what this had been, was apparently already over and he and his men hadn't fired a shot in anger.  The attack from the Phoenix's Gatling gun had not only cut the ship in two, but also had sliced straight through the engine of the ship.  It had obviously lost all function and the two parts had fallen, in a ballistic arc, down to the hard, frozen land below.  Edward looked around the crash site; the impact had been terminal, that much was certain.  The Sunarr bodies, in common with human ones were mostly composed of water.  Like the soft tissue of a tomato, the skin cannot contain it in a violent collision.  There were pieces of Sunarr flesh all over the area.  He had to be careful were he walked. 


He had his men pick through the sight looking for survivors, he knew it was a futile exercise but one that had to be carried out in any case.  He had been given three primary orders, firstly neutralise the enemy, which he considered was done.  Secondly secure the alien craft for investigation, apparently a specialist team was being put together to undertake this task.  Thirdly, secure and recover the gold.  He had an audit team with him from HQ.  It was their responsibility to tag, weigh, and log each gold item as it was found and then loaded on to a transport helicopter.  They had colleagues back at the base to receive each shipment, and they had hand scanners to ensure that no soldier took home a souvenir. 






 




 


 


 


 


 


 


Epilogue Constellation II


 


 


13:00               12 November  [18:00  12 November GMT]


United Nations, New York, USA


 


Saeb Tibi sat in his wheelchair before the entire assembly of the United Nations.  His hands were shaking, holding the most important and precious document he had ever held.  They shook from the nervousness he felt addressing such an august body and from the nervousness he felt at the weight of the subject matter upon which he was due to speak.  They also shook from anger.  Anger at the memory of who had once held the pages in his hands, who had written from the heart upon those pages.  Anger at the losses, the unnecessary losses, he had suffered throughout his life.  The irony that it was the loss of a former enemy, a Jew at that, which had brought him to this most significant point in his life, was not lost on him.  He smiled at the thought of his friend, Benjamin Yogev, now dead, laughing at him.  That he had to give what effectively would be a eulogy for him would have appealed to his sense of humour.  A particular sense of humour that they had shared.  He looked up at the audience and at the cameras that were beaming his image live across the world.  He cleared his throat to indicate he was ready to speak.  The polite applause died down.


'My name is Saeb Tibi and I am a Palestinian Arab.  First, let me thank you for giving me the opportunity to speak to you all today.  As you probably already know I was in the Sunarr forced labour camp at La Guitarra, along with Benjamin Yogev, an Israeli Jew.  What you probably do not know is how we came to be in that camp.  Benjamin and I had been meeting secretly to negotiate a settlement between our peoples.  I can tell you that neither of us believed it would work and in any event, neither of us wanted it to work.  We were both entrenched in our prejudices and the injustices we had suffered at the hands of the other.  At our last meeting, we were arrested by mistake, the Mexican police believing us to be drug dealers.  We were imprisoned awaiting trial and whilst in prison we started to talk.  We had nothing better to do so we continued the negotiations.  I think for both of us that it was a way of avoiding the harsh realities of our situation.  Sometime after the Sunarr arrived, they took over the mining at La Guitarra, many of the men in the prison were taken there, us included.  We continued to talk, to negotiate, and to plan our escape to freedom as well.  In the fight for our freedom, Benjamin Yogev valiantly and courageously gave his life to free us all.  Before the fight, we agreed that the diaries, which we had both been keeping, should be in the safekeeping of the other.  I received his diary after his death and I have here two documents, which he wanted me to read to you.  The first is his final entry and the second, well, that will become apparent.'  Saeb started to read from the papers in his hand.


'If my words are being read now it means that I am dead.  This I do not mind.  It is God's will.  However, I hope and pray that this is being read by Saeb Tibi, my closest and dearest friend.  Yes, you heard me right; Saeb Tibi is my friend, more than that really, he is like a brother to me.  It was not always like this I can tell you.  The first time I ever laid my eyes on Saeb it was with a burning hatred in my heart.  I know now he felt the same.  I have spent most of my life protecting Israel at the cost of Palestinians.  I know now also that Saeb has done the same for his people.  Truly, there has never been two men more alike, the things we have done, in the name of Religion, in the “protection” of our people, because we thought we were right.  I hope that God can forgive me.


Our false arrest gave us something else in common, something we shared and experienced together.  However it has been our time here, in this forced labour camp that we have truly come to understand one another.  It is strange indeed that I have the Sunarr, our mutual oppressor, to thank for bringing us so close together.  It was the Sunarr who also, indirectly, gave me the keystone on the bridge to peace, for most of the rest I have my friend Saeb to thank.  Please now let me tell you of it.


For thousands of years my home, that small piece of land between the Mediterranean and Dead seas has been fought over.  Blood has been spilt by many different peoples, most of it in the name of one religion or another.  The conflict between my people and Saeb's has been long and bloody.  We have both suffered greatly.  However, the two of us, and indeed the entire world, has now known what it is like under the boot of the oppressor.  It is time for our two peoples to know peace and I believe that there is a way forward.  There have been various attempts in the past and most of these have revolved around the concept of a two state strategy.  A state of Israel and a Palestinian state. 


I propose however that this is fundamentally floored as it always involves arguments over the disputed territories, particularly Jerusalem itself.  Instead, I propose a three state solution, one for Israel, one for Palestine and one independent of both.  The keystone to this is the Japanese.  I would like to invite the Japanese to run and control the Independent state. 


The independent state would comprise of Jerusalem and the disputed territories.  Jerusalem would be the capital of all three states and as such would provide all the privileges and duties on the three states that would ensue.  Each state would have a single vote in all cross state issues.  This would mean that the Japanese, who have no interest or history in the region and have no bias against or towards either state or religion, would have the casting vote in all matters.  The Japanese would provide security, both within the Independent state and on the borders between the three states.  The official interstate language would be Japanese and all interstate negotiations and dealings would be written and conducted in Japanese.  This will mean that all officials from both the Palestinian and the Israeli sides would have to learn to write and speak Japanese.  Interpreters would not be allowed.  The two sides would have to work and learn together to speak and understand each other.  I believe that this would provide the right framework for the officials to start to build their own relationships free from the constraints of the past and their own prejudices.  This is my greatest wish and possibly my last wish.'


Saeb looked up, tears rolling down his cheeks, his voice wavering.  'I would like to finish his last entry.'


'I only have two fears left in this world.  The first is that Saeb doesn't survive me and so this is left in the hands of someone who doesn't know its true value.  The second is that if we succeed against the Sunarr, which I believe we will, that we don't learn the lessons and so the plan is left to gather dust and our two peoples don't achieve the peace they so desperately want and deserve.'


'That, my friends, was all he wrote in his last entry.  Now I would like to call upon the Israeli ambassador.  Mister Ambassador.'


All eyes in the room turned towards the ambassador from Israel who rose to his feet, the cameras fixed on him and zoomed in, his face filling their lenses and billions of screens around the world.


'I on behalf of the State of Israel would like to formally propose that the Yogev-Tibi plan be accepted in its entirety.  Do I have a second?'


The newly appointed representative of the Palestinian people stood up. 


'I, on behalf of the Palestinian people do here by second the motion and fully support the Yogev-Tibi plan.  All those in favour?'


All eyes now fell on the Japanese ambassador.  He struggled to his feet, the pain down his left side worse today than normal.  He would not allow a physical ailment to stop him in this moment.  He bowed to the room and then looked up.


'I on behalf of the People of Japan do hereby vote in favour of the Rogev-Tibi plan.'  He blushed ever so slightly, he had been practicing saying Yogev and had managed it, after a fashion, but the pressure of the moment got the better of his pronunciation.


The votes in favour poured in after that with each ambassador making sure that his or her vote was captured on camera for posterity.  Saeb, who up until now had remained relatively composed, now broke down, crying from relief and joy he also wept for his friend Benjamin and the countless lives that had been lost on both sides.  His people had a homeland.  Benjamin's people had security.  Finally, it was over.


Jayanti Kapoor took the floor of the United Nations before the entire assembly.  It felt strange to be here, now, preparing to effectively resign from a post she had held for a little over a year.  A year that had changed world opinion on every aspect of human life.  She stood still behind the podium, taking a sip of water whilst waiting for the applause to die down. 


Jay looked over at the VIP section where her guests were seated.  Jack was seated next to Severine, with Jane and George next to her.  Jack's mind reflected on how his life had changed this past year, and how I want it to change in the future, he thought.  I want someone important in my life, someone with whom I can share my life and God willing, raise a family...


Russia had formally joined Unity the day before and the three Unity Generals, Sam, Charlie, and Gregori Stephonovich were in attendance.  Each of the Generals was wearing the Unity cap badge with their own dress uniform.  The badge, a blue and gold representation of the Earth, shone brightly under the lighting in the room.  The badge held the word Unity at the top of the world, with the words Duty and Honour in the natural language of the wearer, underlining the world.  The badges were not, by any means, general issue.  There were only four examples in the world, the fourth being held by the goldsmith chosen to create them.  She had worked relentlessly over the past forty-eight hours to complete them by hand for this very occasion.  Jay suspected that she would still be awake to watch her craftsmanship live on the news channel. 


Next to the large muscular bulk of Gregori Stephonovich sat the tiny frame of Natasha with her mother, Solomon, next to her.  Jay watched, transfixed, as Natasha sat in her chair swinging her legs back and forth.  Gregori Stephonovich leaned over to the small girl and whispered something to her.  She giggled and smiled up at the general.  I'd love to know what he just said, she thought idly.  Next to Solomon was her own daughter, Sameena. 


              Sameena, unbidden by her mother, had chosen to wear a Lehenga Saree.  Although the material and colour scheme were traditional, mainly red with a gold floral design, she was wearing it along much more modern lines.  Her shoulders were uncovered, as was her midriff, the blouse, or Choli covering her chest, whilst she had the Dupatta, a large scarf, that flowed over her shoulder and mostly covered her exposed waist.  The effect was truly stunning. 


Seated next to Sam, and on the end of the front row of VIPs was John Deeth.  Jay looked at him, she couldn't imagine ever seeing a more bored and anxious person.  He lay back in his chair, hands behind his head, fingers interlocked holding his head.  His feet were stretched out in front of him and he looked like a bored teenager.  He frequently and obsessively kept checking his watch, which just made the image all the more absurd, especially when contrasted against the poise exhibited by the Generals. 


The noise in the hall died down as Jay flicked her eyes over her notes, refreshing her memory.  She had been locked in with the Security Council for the past two days, not negotiating, but cajoling them, which bordered on threatening at times.  All of them had been difficult, especially the Ambassadors of France, India and China.  Once she had laid out her plan, and it was her plan, India and China agreed.  France had still held out, that was until she stated that it was not necessary for all countries to agree, some could stand outside of the plan, if they preferred.  Hurried conference calls between the French representative and his country followed.  France would not be left behind, it decided.  Now for the really hard part, the entire world.


'Delegates, thank you for your warm welcome.  We are here, today, at a historic crossroads.  Our world, our very lives have changed more than we could have possibly imagined in just a year.  We accepted the Sunarr on their word.  They repaid our trust with deceit, lies, and treachery.  They infiltrated our governments, our military, and our free press.  They exerted control through threats to individuals, families, and countries.  They sought nothing less than to steal our resources and exterminate the entire human race.  However, they did not count upon the strength, determination, and ingenuity of the human spirit.  An alliance of people and countries was borne in the face of fascist oppressors.  As you know this alliance managed in secret, to plan and overthrow the Sunarr.  They built a weapon to destroy the main Sunarr ship, defeating them and saving our gold resources in the process.  I would like to take this opportunity to thank both the leaders and everyone else involved.'


The camera panned to the VIP section and they all stood up to accept the applause.  Jay continued with her speech as the applause died down again.


'I, along with your fellow representatives on the Security Council, have discussed at length what took place and where we stand now.  We were unanimous in agreement that we cannot go on as before.  Three things must, and will, change.  The first is security.  In this, I am pleased to say that, subject to your approval, we have the means to provide our future security needs.  Secondly, we cannot sit back and wait for the Sunarr or any other race to come to us.  If we are to fight, let us take the fight to them.  Thirdly, our world and this organisation can no longer focus on petty border disputes and bickering between countries.  The future of our world is at stake and we need, we deserve an institution that can speak for the whole of humanity.  We need an institution that can protect us all and to explore what is out there.  We need an institution dedicated to the truths and ideals that we all hold dear.  I move that we disband the United Nations and in its place we elect a World Government of the people.'


There was uproar.  Most countries knew that something was coming down the pipeline but few had expected this.  Dozens jumped to their feet, shouting, demanding to be heard.  Jay gave them a few minutes to let off some steam, all too aware though that the cameras were still relaying the events live around the world.  Jay waved them back into their seats so she could continue.  She laid out before them her plan, her structure for a World Government.


             


It took some time.  The graphic she had produced helped and the more she explained it, the more the simplicity and fairness of the plan permeated their minds.  The new structure called for a new legislature, the World Parliament.  The parliament would consist of two houses, the lower, and the upper houses.  The lower house, called the House of Civilisation would itself consist of three bodies; the Land Body, the Resources Body and the People Body.  Each body would have an equivalent voting right and would have representation from each country in direct proportion to the percentage of the world it constituted.  The People Body was the easiest for Jay to explain, so she started with that one.  There would be one representative from each country, but they would cast the number of votes equal to their population.  The Land Body came next and here too it was relatively easy, with each representative casting votes proportional to the size of the land mass of his or her country.  The Resources Body was more difficult to explain as it was to be comprised of two parts; gross domestic product, the annual value of the economy of each country, added to that country's holdings of Gold and proven Gold reserves not yet mined. 


This gave countries with higher populations, larger landmasses or more valuable economies more say in the newly formed Parliament.  There was something in the plan for every country.


The upper house called the House of Belief would need to ratify any legislation passed in the House of Civilisation.  It would consist of representatives from every religion or belief.  They would vote the number of votes proportional to the number of people’s beliefs that they represented.  Each representative would also receive an additional one hundred special votes.  In order for a vote to count, it would need a majority of the regular and special votes.  This Jay had added to ensure that the larger beliefs couldn't swamp the smaller beliefs.  One representative from each belief system of each country would be admitted.  Those with no stated belief would be represented by secular representatives to ensure that every voice was heard.


The House of Belief seemed to seal the deal with the audience.  Recognising people’s beliefs or religions and giving these the final say in the legislation that was to be adopted calmed any remaining fears.  Again, it would favour the larger religions, but with the addition of the special votes, the rights and interests of the smaller religions would be protected.


The World Parliament would elect a person to be President and Commander in Chief to hold the executive power of the government.  That person would have full, direct control of all civilian matters pertaining to the proper functioning of the World Government.  They would also, as Commander in Chief, have direct control over all Unity forces.  Unity would be expanded to include some forces from all countries.  To ensure that the President did not abuse their powers a legal structure would be put in place and they could challenge any decision or action of the president, with the ultimate sanction of having that matter debated in the World Parliament.


As Jay finished she looked up at the audience.  She could see that she had them on board.  There would be arguments and challenges for sure, but the essence of the plan was what mattered.


'I would like to call for a vote on this plan and should it be accepted then this body shall be discharged upon the successful implementation of the plan to be not more than one year hence.'  Jay relaxed, just a little, as she completed her speech.  It was up to the delegates now.  However before they would get to vote Jay had one last card to play.


'Delegates.  Before you retire to consider your vote, I must just impart one final crucial item.  As you know the secret alliance built the weapon that destroyed the main Sunarr ship.  What you do not know is that the same alliance has built more of the weapons.  These weapons have been mounted on board re-configured Nuclear Missiles.  They are powered by the very nuclear material that was in the warheads.  In a few minutes, these missiles will launch into space and deploy the weapons platform.  This is to help protect Earth from another invasion by the Sunarr or anyone else.  The weapons will be under Unity control, and their control will be under the new World Government if that is voted for.  I believe we can now switch live to an Earth satellite to watch the launch of the defence system.'


The room was quiet, very quiet Jay noticed, everyone frozen to the spot, their eyes fixed on the large viewing screen as around the world missiles left their silos, each of the nuclear powers was represented so as not to alarm any other.  Didn't want the protection of Earth to cost us a nuclear war, Jay reflected soberly.  Sixty missiles tore through the atmosphere, leaving behind the heavy weight of gravity they moved into a very high Earth orbit.  They had six others prepared in case one or more failed, but they were not needed.  Every missile performed flawlessly, delivering its cargo to its appointed position in space.  Jay motioned to John Deeth to join her on the platform.  John walked up to the lectern, Jay stood to one side allowing John to use it, and the microphone fixed to it.


'Err.  Hi.'  John began, never before having addressed such a large audience.  'My name is John Deeth and I designed Constellation.  That's what I have called the defence platform, Constellation.  There are sixty weapons platforms in all and they are designed in a Buckyball shape.'  John paused for a second realising that few people there would know what a Buckyball was or what shape it was.  'Think of it like a football.  A football appears round because it is made from Pentagons and Hexagons interlocking.  That is five sided shapes and six sided shapes.  I have done the same with Constellation.  There are sixty platforms deployed in space now which surround the earth in the shape of a football, so the whole earth is covered, protected.'  He was making sure that his language was as simple as he could.  'Each platform actually has four weapons on board.  Thus if the surrounding three platforms are destroyed, the remaining one can resupply the other three positions.  This should provide integrity to the system.'  John wanted to end it there; he wasn't enjoying the attention strangely enough.  'Any questions?'  He asked, hoping to draw it to a close.


One of the delegates leaned forward and activated his microphone.


'Who controls it?  Why was a weapon of mass destruction deployed without our approval and what is to stop it from being used against us?'  The questioner’s tone was even, but the anger was evident.


‘Well,’ John began, forgetting where he was and to whom he was talking.  'Firstly, I control it.  Secondly, it is not a weapon of mass destruction; it is a point defence weapon so it would be pretty useless to turn it against earth, except...'  John decided not to finish that point as he remembered where he was.


The delegate switched on his microphone again.  'Except what?'


‘Except,’ John continued, realising that he wouldn't be able to bluff his way out of this one, 'It would be very effective against weapons of mass destruction.  Constellation could, theoretically, shoot down and destroy any nuclear weapons within seconds of them launching.  So you really have nothing to worry about.'  John tried a smile, but he could feel Jay next to him wanting to take the floor again, he stood aside with great relief.


'Just to clarify,’ Jay began, desperate to limit the damage John had caused, 'Constellation is under the control of Unity.  It is a defensive platform designed for the protection of Earth and that is the only purpose to which it will be put.  There will be a further briefing later to answer any other questions, now if you would like to retire and consider your vote.  Thank you.'


Jay hurried John off the podium.  When she was sure that they were out of sight and the reach of microphones, she turned on him.


'What the hell did you tell them that for?'


'What the truth?'  John didn't really grasp what she was getting at.


'That you have personal control of the greatest weapon in human history!'


John stared at Jay, bewildered by her apparent inability to grasp a simple fact.


'But I do.'


'What do you mean you do?' 


'Unity doesn't control Constellation, there is only one access code, and only one person knows it.  Me.  I have full and complete control of Constellation.  It’s the way I designed it.'


John really couldn't understand why Jayanti wasn't pleased.  When the concept of Constellation was first put forward, he had decided that he didn't want to risk his work falling into the wrong hands as that would be dangerous.  He considered any hands other than his own to be the wrong hands and that was why he had designed the system so only he had control.  It really was that simple he thought.  Why do politicians always have difficulty with the simplest of concepts?  John asked himself.


Jay was ready to explode.  Instead, she took a deep breath and decided to let it go for the moment, she would need to take some advice first anyhow.  Control could not be in one person's hands, that much she knew by instinct, but for the moment, it would have to remain so.


'Sorry John,’ Jay said to help John relax, 'I've just had quite a day.  Of course you have done the right thing.'  He doesn't realise the power he has… and I don't want him to.  I'll need to keep him under guard and away from others.  Jay decided that John would have a long, private holiday somewhere.


 


 


Kefallonia, Greek Islands, Greece.


One year on.


 


The Greek government had agreed to lease the island of Kefallonia to the World Government on an indefinite basis.  In this way, Greece didn't have to relinquish territory and the World Government got a permanent base.  The Kefallonians, initially resistant to the agreement, gave their consent when it was decided that they would receive dual Greek and Quasi-Diplomatic status.  This made the island effectively a free trade zone and the arrival of thousands of diplomatic staff and others brought year round employment.  It was not widely known why it had been chosen.  They were not aware that after the vote to establish the World Government had been passed the year before, Jayanti Kapoor had arranged a holiday for all the alliance VIPs including John Deeth.  He had fallen in love with the island and swore he never wanted to leave.  A laboratory had been established there for him so he didn't have to.  Jay, wanting to transfer control of Constellation from John to Unity, decided to build it around him and no one challenged her decision.


Unity had grown.  It was nearly at the point where it had forces from all countries swelling its ranks.  The news that they were building a space borne fleet of ships had been leaked at the appropriate time.  When no one from the World Government denied it, it was reported as fact.  Dozens of countries were involved in the construction, with six major production facilities around the world, and hundreds of smaller, specialist ones too.  The design for the construction of the fleet had fallen to John Deeth.  This plus his increased personal lifestyle had been contributing factors in his agreeing to transfer control of Constellation to Unity. 


After the tumult of freeing themselves from the clutches of the Sunarr, John had managed to spend some more time in his laboratory.  Free of the worry of the Sunarr he had finally put the crystal into the Sekkos device.  The headset threw-up an image and it was one that stunned him cold.  The crystal held a map.  A twenty thousand year old map of the galaxy.  There were dozens of inhabited planets.  It was this discovery that had given the urgency to the construction of the space fleet.  There were others out there.  They had a mission.
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